
PLANNING COMMITTEE
10.00 am

THURSDAY
9 JULY 2020

IMPORTANT NOTICE: 
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY AND CAN BE 

VIEWED VIA:   WWW.GLOUCESTERSHIRE.GOV.UK 

MEETING PAPERS

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 9 July 2020
VENUE: REMOTE MEETING

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Andrea Griffiths
To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests 
(including their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the 
Code of Conduct. Members who have an interest to declare are 
asked to complete the Declarations of Interests form at the back 
of the chamber.

3.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10am on 
Thursday 2nd July 2020.

4.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which 
are within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 
Thursday 2nd July 2020.

5.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 44) Andrea Griffiths
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 14th May 
2020.

6.  APPLICATION NO: 17/0122/FDMAJM      SITE: CLEARWELL 
QUARRIES LTD, STOWE, ST BRIAVELS, LYDNEY, GL15 
6QW (Pages 45 - 200)

Jason Betty

The Committee is asked to consider the extension of Stowe Hill 
Quarry & Retention of Mineral Processing Plant at Clearwell 
Quarry.



GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1.    In the event of the Committee not being able to complete the 

meeting, the Committee will reconvene at 10am on Friday 10th 
July 2020.  

2.    Members of the public will be able to view the Planning 
Committee via www.gloucestershire.gov.uk  

3.    Any person who wishes to register to speak should contact 
Andrea Griffiths on 01452 324206; or Email: 
andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk  from 9:30am on 
Thursday 2nd July 2020.  

4.    Registered speakers will be asked to provide the clerk with a 
copy of their speech at least 24 hours prior to the Committee 
Meeting.  This is to ensure that in the event of any 
technological failures, the clerk will be able to present the 
speech on the registered speakers behalf.  

5.    The recorded meeting will be posted on the GCC Website as 
soon as possible.

NOTES

MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Robert Bird, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Steve Robinson, 
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines, Cllr Simon Wheeler and Cllr Will Windsor-
Clive

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 328506:  
 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the 
meeting. 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact: Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Unit 
: 01452 324206 ; e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training  
before they can sit on the Committee and take part in discussion and vote. 
Substitution arrangements are as set out in  the Constitution. A list of trained 
Members is available from your Political Assistant.

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 14th May 2020 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford 
(Chairman)
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst

Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Will Windsor Clive

Apologies: Cllr Pam Tracey 

10. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Awford declared he represented GCC on the Wessex & Severn and Wye 
Regional Flood Coastal Defence Committees.  

11. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.  

12. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No Member’s questions had been received.  

13. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the Minutes of the meeting held 30th January 2020 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairperson.  

14.  MEMBERS SITE VISIT 

Resolved 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

That the site visit notes for 12th March 2020 be noted.  

15. APPLICATION NUMBER:19/0058/CHR3MJ SITE: LAND BETWEEN FARM 
LANE/KIDNAPPERS LANE, CHELTENHAM, GLOUCESTERSHIRE

The Head of Democratic Services facilitated the meeting and advised the 
Committee and registered speakers of the procedure which would be undertaken 
during the course of the virtual meeting.  For the benefit of the public watching via 
the live YouTube link, Sarah Pearse: Principal Planning Officer for the current 
application introduced, Kevin Phillips: Planning Development Team Manager, 
Dennis Carney: Senior Planning Officer, Gary Kennison: County Ecologist, Brian 
Walker and Mike Sendall: Highways Development Management Team, Peter Siret: 
Flood Risk Management Officer and Martin Evans: Solicitor.   

A summary of the application was presented by the Principal Planning Officer aided 
by a power point presentation (A copy of the presentation is attached to the signed 
Minute book).  

The Officer apologised for the length of the report and the presentation but felt it 
was necessary under the current unusual circumstances in the absence of a site 
visit and an inability to display plans in the Council Chamber.  The Planning 
Application number was confirmed as 19/0058/CHR3MJ19, being a planning 
application by the Head of Property Services for the construction of a new six forms 
of entry secondary school building with a new all-weather pitch, sports playing field, 
and multi-use games area (MUGA), on-site parking and other associated works on 
land between Farm Lane/ Kidnappers Lane in Gloucestershire. 

The Officer explained that she had received a Member question about the site area 
for the school and confirmed that this was 5.66 hectares.  She explained that there 
were other references within the report, but was satisfied the site area was 5.66 
hectares.  In addition, there was a spelling mistake on Page 92 and Section 8.1 of 
the Officer Report - Bullet Point 6 should say ‘protected’ rather than ‘protect’.   The 
Committee were advised that prior to the meeting Councillor Cordwell had asked for 
a plan of the intended alterations to the lanes to cater for the highway 
improvements. The Officer advised that unfortunately the plan was too big to upload 
into the PowerPoint presentation. 

A slide was displayed which depicted an artist’s impression of what the new 
building would look like when viewed from Farm Lane (Slide 2).  It was noted that 
the proposal was for the construction of a new 7921 metre squared six form of entry 
secondary school for 900 Key Stage three and four students accepting pupils from 
Year 7 through to Year 11 (which are the GCSE students). The school was 
proposed to meet the existing and forecast additional demand for secondary school 
places in the local area.   This would be provided over a phased programme of 
entry, with Year 7 commencing first.  Associated facilities would include an all-
weather pitch sports playing field and multi-use games area which would be 
available for community use outside of school hours, such as weekday evenings 
and weekends and onsite car parking and other associated works.  The proposal 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

included a package of improvements and enhancements to the local highway 
network at which were fully detailed within a Transport Statement forming part of 
the application.  The school would comprise two storeys providing different teaching 
spaces offices and halls. The development included the following:  

- 42 general teaching spaces for Drama, Art, Technology and Science on the 
ground floor, with Music, ICT, Humanities, English, Maths and Modern 
Languages on the first floor; 

- A Dining Hall with an outdoor dining area and breakout space;  
- Cafe 
- One main hall;
- One sports hall and associated changing facilities; 
- Activities Studio;
- 17 learning resource centres; 
- 36 staff administration rooms; 
- Circulation space including lockers space for students and toilets.  

Slide 3 displayed a site location plan as displayed in the Committee Report. 
Members were requested to refer this plan for information, as it showed the solid 
red line which defined the application area.  It was noted the dotted redline was the 
land within the applicant's control; this was also the location of the ecology stroke 
biodiversity offset land.  To orientate Members, the Officer identified the following 
on the plan:
  

- Kidnappers Lane was to the North of the site;  
- Farm Lane ran down the West side of the site; 
- Shurdington Road lay to the North;  
- Church Lane lay to the South of the site;  

Church Lane also formed the boundary; 
- The Scheduled Ancient Monument; 
- Policy Site MD5 of the Cheltenham Local Plan;
- New housing development to the West (a recently permitted on appeal 

development for 25 houses);
- The private property known as Little Vatch to the East of the site;
-  Hatherley Brook running  down the East site boundary
-  A public right away which crosses the site.  

Slide 4 showed the same area as an aerial photograph which displayed what the 
areas were like. It was explained that the proposed school site was located within 
the Leckhampton area on the southern outskirts of South Cheltenham.  The 5.66 
hectare site was roughly rectangular in shape and largely comprised of fields which 
had been used for arable agriculture purposes and equestrian use.  There were two 
small farming sheds located in the southern area of the site adjacent to the property 
known as Little Vatch.   A former plant nursery was located to the North of 
Kidnappers Lane.   Existing residential properties lay on the West side of Farm 
Lane comprising predominantly dormer bungalows all east-facing towards the site.  
Views of the site from these units were currently screened by the existing 
established hawthorn hedge that borders the West boundary of the site.   The site 
was not within a protected landscape. , However the Green Belt (GB) and Area of 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) shared a boundary on the southern side of 
Church Road which lay approximately 300 metres from the site.  

A prominent feature of the AONB and the surrounding landscape was Leckhampton 
Hill which incorporated a large footpath network that afforded views across the site 
towards Cheltenham.  

Slide 5 showed the general layout of the site and was regarded to be the 
Landscape Master Plan for the proposal. .   The Officer explained that the site 
sloped from North from South over approximately 7 metres.   It was divided into 3 
distinct areas - buildings to the North on the lowest lying land, the playing fields in 
the middle with the all-weather pitch to the North.  Members were advised that 
Kidnappers Lane lay to the North, with Farm Lane to the West at the front of the 
school.   The property known as Little Vatch was displayed on the eastern boundary 
at the Hatherley Brook.   The Officer identified the Sports Hall on the plan with the 
associated changing rooms.  The dining hall, the teaching areas, the drama studio 
and main hall were also identified. 

That the Officer explained that the plan also showed the outside elements of the 
development; namely: 

- MUGA; 
- Sports pitches;
- All weather pitches (AWP);
- Table tennis tables; 
- External dining area; 
- Terraced seating and a retaining wall;  
- Pupil entrance to the site;
- Staff entrance, car parking area, coach parking area and the delivery area;
- Vehicular entrance and exit, which was a one way system for drop off and 

also for visitor parking; 
- Main entrance to the school site;
- Access to the sports pitches;
- Emergency access.  

Slide 6 displayed a photograph taken from Leckhampton Hill overlooking the site.  
The school site was identified in the centre of the photograph, with the recent 
housing development to the left.   In the foreground were Church Farm and the 
moated site and fishponds scheduled monument.   The GCHQ building was located 
in the background and another school in the middle distance.   

Slide 7 referred to the public right of way which crossed the site.   Members were 
advised that the site was bisected on an East/West axis by the public right of way.   
This was known as the Leckhampton 9 which crossed the site, linking with Farm 
Lane and with Footpath 10, then onto Kidnappers Lane.  The Committee were 
advised that, for reasons of pupil safeguarding, school management and security, it 
was important that the site was not crossed by a public footpath.  The Officer 
informed the Committee that the planning application therefore sought consent to 
stop up Leckhampton Footpath 9.  It was explained that the application to stop up 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

the footpath was being promoted under Section 257 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  

The Officer explained that the footpath could be temporarily stopped up during the 
construction process for public safety reasons.  The Committee was advised that, at 
the time of writing the report, the application to stop at the public right of way 
permanently through the public path order application has been referred to the 
Secretary of State. Provision had been made within the application that, should that 
order to permanently stop it up not be made, there was space within the site to 
facilitate the footpath.  

 Slide 8 – The Officer explained that, unfortunately, she was unable to show the 
plan where the highway improvements would be made. However, she provided a 
detailed list of highway works that were proposed in the area to facilitate this 
development, in addition to the other highway improvement works that were already 
taking place in association with the planning permission for the 377 dwellings 
granted by Tewkesbury Borough Council to the South West of the site.  It was 
explained that these improvements were detailed in Appendix D of the Transport 
Assessment.  The following off-site works were proposed: 

- Over 2 kilometres of upgraded unsegregated footway and cycle away 
provision on the main approaches to the school along the A46 Shurdington 
Road, Woodlands Road and Kidnappers Lane;

- New toucan crossing on the A46 Shurdington Road South of Woodlands 
Road; 

- Upgrade to the existing Pelican crossing on the  A46 Shurdington Road, 
South of Kidnappers Lane/A46 Junction to a Toucan crossing

- These improvements would connect to the existing PROW in the vicinity of 
the site.  It was proposed to upgrade the surfacing of PROW Leckhampton 
13, so that it could be accessed during inclement weather and which 
connected with a good quality unbound surface path through The Burrows, 
as well as PROW Leckhampton 28 that passes along the West side of the 
allotments in Leckhampton.  This would provide a direct link from the South 
of Leckhampton to Kidnappers Lane and a new footway cycle way reducing 
the need for some pupils to travel along some or all of Church Road as well 
as linking Leckhampton C of E primary school with the proposed new 
secondary school.  As part of this process, the feasibility of upgrading this 
link to a shared facility for pedestrians and cyclists would be investigated.

- Positive discussions had taken place with Stagecoach on the potential 
diversion of Bus Route 66 to serve the school site and, to facilitate this, bus 
stop provision was proposed on Farm Lane.

- A safety strategy to raise awareness of the School in the vicinity of 
Kidnappers Lane junction along the A46 involving signage and road 
markings will be developed in conjunction with the County Council Highways 
Development Management Team (GCC HDMT)

- A way of finding a strategy will be developed in conjunction with GCC HDMT 
for within a mile radius of the school.  

-

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

The Officer informed the Committee that, after completing her presentation in 
preparation for the Committee Meeting, her Highways colleagues had pointed out 
that it was also proposed to increase the flare length from Kidnappers Lane at the 
junction with the A46 road and that was referenced in Chapter 10 of the Transport 
Assessment.  

Before going into the detail of the material considerations, the Officer proceeded to 
take the Committee on a virtual site visit using photographs. She referred Members 
to their previous site visit to Leckhampton Primary School, when the current 
secondary school application site had been pointed out by Officers.  .  

Slide 9 - It was noted that the first photograph displayed a site notice taken in 
September 2019 and showed the Farm Lane entrance to the public right of way. 
Photograph two showed a line of the footpath looking to the East. It was explained 
that this area would comprise the playing fields.  Photograph3 showed the other 
end of the footpath, where it joined Kidnappers Lane.  

Slide 10 - the first photograph was taken later in the year and showed the junction 
of Kidnappers Lane with Farm Lane.  The second photograph looked South from 
the same junction and showed the existing tree vegetation and the existing footpath 
along Farm Lane.  Photograph three looked right at the junction, northwards 
towards Shurdington Road.  

Slide 11 showed the existing mature hedges that surrounded the greater part of the 
site.  Photograph one showed the approximate location of the pupil entrance of 
Kidnappers Lane to the North East corner of the site.  Photograph two showed an 
approximate location of the staff vehicular entrance off Kidnappers Lane, and 
photograph three showed the view along Kidnappers Lane towards Farm Lane.  

Slide 12 showed the view along Kidnappers Lane travelling towards Farm Lane in 
the area of the nurseries. Photograph two showed the former farm buildings/stables 
which were proposed to be demolished lying to the rear of Little Vatch.

Slide 13 Photograph one was taken from Farm Lane looking north towards Brizen 
Lane.  Photograph two was taken from Farm Lane looking alongside Little Vatch.   
Photograph three showed Farm Lane, the proposed school frontage.  

It was explained that Slide 14 was an artist’s impression view from the junction of 
Farm Lane and Kidnappers Lane.   Members’ attention was drawn to the Main Hall 
in the foreground and the Sports Hall to the rear.  Slide 15 and 16 were also an 
artist’s impression which displayed the blocks of classrooms overlooking a 
courtyard, the sports hall, main hall and the playing fields in the distance.  

Slide 17 referred to Section 8 of the Officer Report on page 92, which described the 
main considerations material to the determination of the planning application which 
were: 

-  The relevant legislative and planning policy context including, the national 
planning policy context such as the NPPF, the existing development plan 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

and any relevant draft policies, including any proposed allocations within the 
emerging Cheltenham Local Plan (CLP).   This site was now confirmed by 
the CLP Inspector as forming part of the MD5 allocation in the emerging 
CLP. 

- The need to advertise a development plan departure and referral to the 
Secretary of State. It was noted at the time that the application was 
submitted, the development plan for the area was the existing Cheltenham 
Local Plan. The Officer reported that, to her knowledge, the emerging CLP 
had yet to be adopted, although it had been recommended for adoption by 
the Inspector. Due to the Corona virus outbreak, adoption had been delayed.

-  Demonstrable educational needs in the Cheltenham area.
- The suitability of the location to meet those needs.
- Highways and transport.
- Ecological impact including species protected under the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act associated lighting issues.
- Landscape impact. 
- Flood risk. 
- Drainage and sustainable urban drainage strategy. 
- Archaeology. 
- Public rights of way.
- Design of the building. 
- Amenity impact including the effects of dust, noise and air quality both during 

the construction and once the school became operational.
- Energy efficiency and carbon footprint and its relationship with policy on 

climate change. 
- Waste minimisation and management. 
- Community engagement.  
- Other relevant planning issues.

The Officer reminded the Committee that all of these issues were discussed in 
Section 8 of the Officer Report in detail and all needed to be taken into 
consideration and weighed in the planning balance when coming to a decision.  

Members were advised that at the time of writing the report, on the 29th April 
2020 a total of 121 public comments were recorded., However,  since the Officer 
Report had been published, additional late representations had been submitted. 
These were reported as 236 comments, comprising of 59 objections, 164 in 
support and 13 neutral.  This equated to a total of 114 additional people making 
representations.  It was noted that additional information had been circulated to 
Members which summarised theses additional representations that had been 
received from members of the public (a copy is attached to the signed Minutes).  

The Officer explained, in addition, there was an amendment to the 
recommended highways planning conditions, The Highways Authority had 
reviewed their previous recommended conditions and now suggested amended 
wording.  Conditions 5, 8 and 10 were to be deleted and Condition 12 was to be 
amended to read as follows: 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

“The buildings hereby permitted (or part of the buildings were phased handover 
is required) shall not be first brought into use until the vehicular parking, turning 
and loading/unloading facilities and external highway improvements leading to 
the site had been provided in accordance with the approved plans and those 
facilities will be maintained and made available for those purposes all times 
thereafter insofar as a vehicular parking, turning and loading/unloading facilities 
are required to serve the occupied part of the building”.  

Accordingly, the  Principal Planning Officer recommended that the Conditions 
5,8 and 10 be deleted and that Condition 12 be replaced as set out above  It 
was noted that the Highway Authority had provided answers for Members to the 
questions that were raised through the late representations and a couple of 
other letters (copies are attached to the signed minutes).   

The Officer progressed to Slide 18, which referred to the Officer 
Recommendation, namely that the Planning Committee be minded to grant 
planning permission for the reasons summarised in Paragraphs 8.157 to 8.166 
of the Officer Report, subject to the application first being referred to the 
Secretary of State as a departure application, the prior completion of a Section 
106 Agreement to secure the long term safeguarding of the ecological mitigation 
land to the rear of Moat Cottage and in accordance with Regulation 3  of the 
Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 and subject to the 
conditions set out in Section 9 of the Report.  

Members were advised that there was a typographical error, as there were two 
Section 8’s in the report.  

It was explained that Paragraph 47 of the NPPF3 stated that planning law 
required that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance 
with the development plan, unless material considerations indicated otherwise.

Members were reminded that decisions on applications should be made as 
quickly as possible, and within statutory time scales unless a longer period has 
been agreed by the applicant in writing.  

Paragraph 48 of NPPF3 stated that local planning authorities may give weight to 
relevant policies in emerging plans.   The draft CLP had reached a stage 
whereby the Inspector had recommended its adoption including the adoption of 
Policy MD5.  The ongoing pandemic had delayed the adoption of the CLP, but it 
was considered by Officers that the emerging Policy MD5 could be given 
considerable weight in this determination.  

Officers did not consider that the proposal would prejudice the ability to deliver 
the full mixed use allocation of MD5.   It was however recognised this proposal 
was a departure from the adopted local plan as it currently stands and therefore 
would have to be referred to the Secretary of State for consideration.   It was 
proposed that the biodiversity offset land be secured through a Section 106 
planning agreement. 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Therefore the Principal Planning Officer’s recommendation was for approval, on 
the basis that: 

-  there was a demonstrated need for a school in this location; 
- there were no suitable deliverable alternative sites within the required time 

frame;
-  the proposed school had been included in the  draft emerging local plan;
- the design of the school and its surroundings had maximised the energy 

efficiency and reduced the carbon footprint to realistic and achievable levels 
in accordance with the recent GCC  climate change emergency resolution, 
which was declared after the planning application was together formulated; 

- given the constraints of the size of the site, as much as possible had been 
achieved to safeguard and enhance biodiversity, acknowledging protected 
species on site and the concerns highlighted and to be addressed around 
those issues by the County Ecologist;

- highways issues had  been addressed to the satisfaction of the Highway  
Authority 

The Principal Planning Officer summarised that, with the exception of the concerns 
of the Parish Councils, there were no other objections to the proposal from statutory 
consultees that, in the opinion of Officers, could not be addressed through planning 
conditions and the Section 106 Agreement. Therefore, on balance, there were no 
planning reasons why the application should be refused.  

The Principal Planning Officer advised the Committee that responses to some 
Member’s questions had been circulated prior to the meeting. She proceeded to run 
through them: 

Q1: Could the footpath currently running across the playing field be diverted 
around the outside, so that it is not lost?  

A: Various options were discussed for the public right of way. However 
alternative routes were available between Farm Lane and Kidnappers Lane.   
To the East were existing footpaths CHL8 and CHL10 to the North of 
Leckhampton Court Farm.  It was felt by the Applicant that, in the interests of 
site security, the path should be stopped up.

Q2: If the windows are not triple glazed would it be possible to make them so? 
What is the current specification for the windows? 

A: The windows are proposed to be powder coated high performance thermally 
broken aluminium double glazed units.   The main classroom windows are to 
be fixed pane with insulated side louvre providing natural ventilation.  

The windows are to be high performance double glazed units.   Whilst triple 
glazing is becoming more prevalent within the domestic market, the provision 
of large format triple glazed windows within the commercial buildings is more 
problematic. The increased material weight (heavier glass and increased 
size of aluminium extrusion) and labour costs means that triple glazing is not 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

an economically viable option within buildings of this type.  In practise, most 
heat loss from windows is via draughts, rather than whether double or triple 
glazed.  In this case, efficiency has been improved by the provision of fixed 
glazing (significantly reducing air leakage) with ventilation provided via an 
insulated site louvre.

Q3: Has there been provision made for rainwater capture for toilet flushing, etc.?

A. The scheme does not propose to reuse grey water for toilet flushing. The 
scheme does make provision for attenuation of all water run off to ensure 
that the risk of flooding within the surrounding area is not increased during 
the life of the building.  Whilst greywater reuse on the face of it appears an 
attractive option, in practice the very high maintenance costs negate the 
advantage (valves and seals require much more regular maintenance where 
grey water systems are installed).  Furthermore, greywater reuse works 
better within the buildings which are occupied consistently throughout the 
year.   Maintenance issues tend to be exacerbated where greywater is left 
standing within tanks and feed pipes during the school holidays.

Q4:  Japanese toilets? 

A: Auto washing Japanese toilets, due to their cost and risk of mechanical 
breakdown, would not be appropriate within the school environment.   

Q5:   At Paragraph 2.2 of the Officer Report, the Education Department assessed 
the need for a site of approximately 7 Ha but an area of 5.66 Ha is referred 
to throughout the report? 

A: The reference to 7 Ha emanates from the original search criteria set by 
GCC.  Members will appreciate that, until a site is subject to detailed design, 
the exact area of the site cannot be fully assessed and it is better to 
overestimate rather than underestimate.  The final application before the 
Committee includes the main school site at 5.66 hectares plus offset land 
comprising of an additional 2.59 hectares.   Perhaps the smaller school site 
does show that insufficient land was retained within the site to accommodate 
all of the school facilities and the required mitigation (although this was not a 
requirement at the point the application was submitted). The school site was 
at 5.66 Ha and can clearly accommodate all that is required in connection 
with the proposed school and thus it is entirely appropriate that the ‘land 
take’ is proportionate to the proposed development. 

Q6: In Paragraph 1.2 of the Officer Report it states that the County requested a 
formal Environmental Impact Assessment in March 2019. Where is this? If 
this is the case should not the EA be giving an opinion on it? 

A: That part of the Report does not read well.  The issue revolves around the 
need for an Environmental Impact Assessment.  The County Council 
received a request for a screening opinion in March 2019.  The application 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

was screened and, after careful consideration following consultation with the 
statutory consultees, an Environmental Impact Assessment was not 
requested.  

Q7: The Green Belt is noted as possibly being restrictive on other sites. Please 
advise if this applies to this sort of development?

A: The guidance really requires that other areas should be considered before 
the Green Belt is considered.  If an alternative site is available, then it should 
be used in preference to the Green Belt site.  An applicant would have to 
demonstrate that there were no alternative sites available, to progress a 
Green Belt site.  

 Q8: Can you confirm the condition on lighting of the all-weather sport area is 
10:00 PM except Saturday and Sunday where is 8:00 PM?

A: Yes, the times are confirmed and are set out in Condition 21 of the Report.

Q9: The EA states that the flood risk assessment potentially underestimates the 
extent of the flood plain at this location. Are their comments addressed in the 
report? 

A: The EA stated that this was a development they would not normally 
comment on.  There was no further response from the EA, despite 
consultation following the submission of additional information in October 
2019.The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) was satisfied with the proposal. 

Q10: On the footpath, it seems that the advice is just to stop it up post the grant of 
planning permission. Have improvements in the surrounding areas been 
properly considered?

A:  The proposed stopping up needs to be considered as part of the highway 
mitigation scheme in totality.  The application, if approved, will facilitate 
improvement of pedestrian and cycle links on the wider highway network 
from Church Road through to Shurdington Road.   This will provide improved 
linkages between the Public Right of Way (PROW) networks in the area.  An 
enhancement to the existing retained PROW network will be considered by 
the Inspectorate as part of the stopping up process.  In summary, highway 
mitigation, including significant pedestrian and cycle infrastructure 
improvements proposed as part of this planning application, has been 
carefully considered based on the likely local catchment, through extensive 
consultation with the GCC Highway Development Management and from 
feedback from public engagement events.  GCC Highway Development 
Management in their consultation response dated 18th December 2019 
stated:

“10.4 in summary highways development management officers are satisfied 
from all the evidence which has been presented and rigorously scrutinised 
and are satisfied that no objection should be raised secure conditions”

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Q11: Clarification was required for Paragraph 8.61 of the Report, as it seems to 
say a Section 106 would not be enforceable then says the advice is that a 
S106 is required? 

A: Paragraph 8.61 was trying to convey that the implementation of the 
ecological safeguarding measures can be controlled by planning condition 
but the long term safeguarding of the site and the preservation for future 
development should be secured through Section 106 agreement.  The 
County Council could not enter into a S106 Agreement with itself. However it 
could be entered into with Cheltenham Borough Council who would then be 
the enforcing authority in respect of the 106 obligation.  

Q12: Please provide a plan of the intended alterations to the nearby lanes (Farm 
Lane and Kidnappers Lane) to cater for more vehicles, pedestrian and cycle 
traffic.

  
A: The slide presentation listed the road improvements but unfortunately the 

plan was too large to fit into the PowerPoint presentation.   

The Chairperson invited the registered speakers to address the Committee.  The 
facilitator recapped the order of the speakers for the benefit of the public watching 
via YouTube  

Mr Peter Frings (Objecting): 
“I live in Leckhampton and I lead the air pollution monitoring programme for 
Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council.  My concern is that the air pollution 
impact on additional traffic on Shurdington Road has not been properly assessed, 
despite the claim by the CPA that “the findings of the AQC report are valid”.  The 
key facts are the whole assessment exercise was not based on any actual data.  
The model was checked against only one actual data point for nitrogen dioxide.  
DEFRA say you shouldn't use the model if it gives results that are more than 25% 
out.  The AQC model was out, not just by a few percent the consultants had to 
apply “a correction factor of 6” to its results.   

So why did the CPA say the findings were valid because consultants used again “a 
DEFRA approved methodology”.  They omitted to take on board DEFRA’s caveats 
about not using this approach when the model gives estimates that are so far out.  
You don't have to be a statistician to know that a ‘sample of one’ reference check 
means your model is completely unreliable.  

But there is real DEFRA standard data available for air pollution on Shurdington 
Road and in Leckhampton collected by the Parish Council.   

For Nitrogen Dioxide the legal 40 microgram limit is exceeded in winter months at 
the Moorend Park Road/Shurdington Road junction.  It is therefore reckless to 
approve this planning application in the absence of radical proposals which strongly 
discourage private car use.   

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

So, the application must be refused until there is a holistic and countywide 
sustainable transport plan.  The lockdown has shown that there is massive public 
appetite for cycling and walking if traffic is reduced.  The government has just 
published its decarbonizing transport strategy which demands that local authorities 
bring in ‘a new era for cycling and walking.   This is not just a simple task which can 
be done just in relation to Leckhampton and Shurdington Road is some changes to 
junction crossings 

 I urge you to reject this planning application until there is a countywide plan to 
decarbonize travel in the county bringing in a major shift away from travelling by car 
in favour of active transport active travel and public transport and by doing so 
protect school children and local resident’s health from dangerous levels of air 
pollution.  Thank you”.  

Mrs Vivienne Matthews (Objecting): 
“I also live in Leckhampton and I am strongly opposed to this plan to place the 900 
pupils on this particular site in Leckhampton.   In the short time that I have now I will 
not attempt to analyse statistics and figures but rather to apply hopefully some 
overall logic and common sense observations questioning much of the evidence to 
which I do not agree.  

My objection is based on the grounds of traffic density pollution loss of a local 
community the ecological impacts and ensuing loss of wildlife which would entail.  A 
school with tarmacadam areas, playing fields and floodlights will be a blot on the 
landscape which will scar the area irretrievably for generations to come.  

May I respectfully remind Councillors that three local parish councils have rejected 
this plan, as have the CPRE and many residents.  The judgement of these 
organisations is not to be taken lightly and I suggest their expertise and knowledge 
far outweigh the argument of many who say are they “I would like my children to go 
to a local school”.  To a point I can appreciate this view but am equally amazed that 
parents are unwilling to accept the unquestionable view of science and overlook the 
inherent dangers of pollution and the damage it may cause to Children's Health in 
years to come.  

We are told that traffic will not be a problem as this is being mitigated. I'm totally in 
disagreement with this.  The enormous explosion of traffic and queues which we 
presently see at peak times in the area could only be solved by very major road 
construction which is not envisaged at this time.   Should the scheme go ahead, the 
number of pupils at Bournside and the new school close by would collectively 
equate to 2600 children at peak times making their way to school.  1,700 from 
Bournside and 900 from the new school plus teachers, ancillary workers and 
delivery vehicles.  A school creates six times more traffic than housing.  

 In their application the planners state that 80% of children will walk or cycle to 
school, I doubt 80% of children will walk or cycle to school has ever been achieved 
anywhere.   I ask also what responsible parent would countenance their child 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

cycling on any of the overcrowded feeder roads.  I am further sceptical that they 
would access via the adjacent fields on dark winter days.  

 Travelling by bus, I don’t think this is going to happen because it's so expensive, 
children over the age of 14 pay the full adult rate, so I doubt very many children 
don't usually come to school by bus.   The lanes development as a dropping off 
point to vehicles and here is a highly ridiculous idea, hardly worthy of comment 
leading as it is so obviously would do to traffic chaos and mayhem. 

 At present we see traffic queues from the Moorend road traffic lights along the 
Shurdington Road and we have yet to see what effect 1800 houses at Brockworth 
will have.  

Church Road is also completely blocked very often in the mornings.   Pollution 
levels at both Moorend Park Road and close to Leckhampton primary school are 
dangerously high and will surely increase should the plans go ahead.  This in a 
town which has been ordered to cut its pollution levels and wear a County Council 
claims to pride itself on being carbon neutral.  We live in unprecedented times, 
many people have used these fields as it as a point of access away from the 
worries of the virus.  I entreat council this morning to vote with your conscience and 
do not allow this scheme to go ahead. Thank you”.   

Mr Gerry Potter (Objecting): 
“Good morning, I have lived in Leckhampton for many years and know it well.  

Statistical evidence does not support the need for a new 900 pupil, 6 forms of entry 
secondary school in Leckhampton.  Local parents complaining about not getting 
their children into either Balcarras or Bournside are not evidence of need but 
evidence of disappointment.  GCC evidence says any new secondary school 
should be built to the North or West of Cheltenham.  Additionally, what are GCC ‘s 
plans for year 12 and 13 pupils 

Due to the conscious effort to refute where any additional secondary school need is 
actually located in Cheltenham, the planning application does not address the likely 
volume of traffic.  Traffic modelling underestimates the volume of vehicles that will 
be used to get pupils to the school.  The application assumes that 65% or so of 
pupils will walk or cycle this is a significant reduction from the original aspiration of 
over 90% but the revised figure is just as unlikely due to the majority of demand for 
the school coming from beyond the local area.  Traffic congestion on the A46 
Church Rd in Leckhampton Lane is already a problem at peak times and will be 
made worse by a school at this location.  The application confirms there are no 
plans for a bus service to the school.  

It's important that children can access any school safely and reasonably easily, but 
the lack of foot and cycle paths mean that even local pupils will have difficulty 
walking and cycling to school.  Comments on the GCC website show that even 
supporters of the school have great misgivings about the siting of this school.  Many 
of them have reservations about traffic volumes, the lack of pavements and cycle 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

paths, pinch points, blind corners, poor lighting and the lack of adequate plans for 
pupils to commute safely.  

The County Highway Authority has said they have no objections subject to 
conditions.   However similar concerns about the Redrow development near this 
site have not been honoured, as several relevant planning conditions required by 
the highway’s authority had been breached.  Highway improvements due to be 
implemented prior to 50 of the Redrow dwellings being occupied were not in place 
when this milestone of occupation was exceeded.  

All three local parish councils have strongly objected to this proposed school.   
Objections include traffic volumes, air pollution, the narrow and dangerous country 
lanes and landscape impact.  These councils know and understand the locate local 
area well and that their views who deserve meticulous consideration.  

The Planning Committee are not making a site visit due to the current lockdown, 
however, it seems that the officer has not made a site visit either, as for example 
they have said that at least twice in their report that the Redrow Development is 
complete.  A site visit will clearly demonstrate that the Redrow Development is far 
from complete, what else in the officer’s report is not accurate. 
 
This application should be postponed allowing for a site visit to take place, to obtain 
an understanding of the issues such as landscape, AONB, environmental impact, 
poor roads, and total lack of foot and cycle paths.  

The plans suggest that the nearby lanes estate could be used as overspill car 
parking and illustrates the known lack of parking capacity within the school grounds.  
When combined with the under estimated volume of vehicles travelling to the 
school and the potential need for parking or extracurricular school events that 
evening and weekends,  the sanctioned use of the lanes for school parking reveals 
not only considerable underestimation 30 seconds Jerry okay a considerable 
underestimation of the extent to which the lanes will be used a parking but also a 
perturbing lack of concern or respect for local residents.  This is thoughtless 
proposal is just not acceptable.  

The existing local plan does not allow for a school in this location.  The revised draft 
CLP has not yet been adopted and this does not comply with the adopted joint core 
strategy at Leckhampton.   There is outstanding query with the Planning 
Inspectorate, first raised in January this year, after asking for an explanation for this 
discrepancy but to date they not addressed this question.  

 In summary, there are many objective and legitimate reasons why this application 
should not be approved including some I have not had time to cover such as a 
potential closure of public right away, emissions and air quality.  For the benefit of 
residents and pupils alike please reject this planning application.  Thanks”.

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

Councillor Stephen Cook – (Supporting):
“I'm an elected borough councillor for Leckhampton but speaking in a personal 
capacity.  I'm in favour of the application but with several provisos, which I'd be 
grateful if you could consider.

It is clear to me on the doorstep there's a great deal of support for the new school.  
Many Leckhampton parents now have difficulty getting their children to a good local 
school, falling between catchment areas.  Consequently, their children travel 
sometimes significant distances adding to the daily traffic problem.  

The support for the new school is not just from parents or grandparents.   It is also 
from those who do not directly benefit but believe that young families should have 
the same opportunities that they had with their own children many years ago.  

The main risk of this application relates as you heard to the traffic consequences.  

Everyone in Leckhampton, whether for or against the school recognises that there's 
already a severe traffic problem locally, particularly affecting the A46 Shurdington 
Road and Church Road.  These roads are often gridlocked in the rush hour, 
causing tailbacks, environmental degradation and results and economic losses.  

So, for this otherwise welcome proposal to go ahead actions needed not just to 
mitigate the traffic consequences, but to actually improve them as the County 
Council is the overarching authority for both education and highways, this should be 
achievable.  

The current COVID-19 pandemic illustrates why personal fitness, avoiding obesity 
and improving public health are so very important.  During lockdown many more 
have been out active walking cycling and enjoying cleaner air.  

This application represents an opportunity to retain these benefits the main menu 
school a catalyst, Leckhampton an exemplar for sustainable local and active 
transport.  For this to be successful, pupils need walking and cycling facilities as a 
practical, safe and desirable for all ages to use.  The sustainable network created 
within benefit the whole community long term.  

The traffic mitigation proposed in the application is very welcome but needs to go 
further.  More could be done as described in the parish council planning submission 
last October, particularly in annex B detailing The Walking or cycling considerations 
and alluded to in your papers from pages 59 to 62.  I welcome the slide in the 
officer’s report showing the proposed upgrade for footpath13 across Lotts Meadow 
which the landowners hopefully will be prepared to negotiate but preferably we 
should retain if not divert the historic public right away.  Footpath 9 across the 
school site which is been in much use during the recent lockdown and would 
anyway be beside an all-weather fenced off pitch.  

 It’s not yet known with any certainty where the pupils for the school will come from 
and depending on this the travel impact what other mitigation measures might be 
required.  

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

Therefore, if minded to approve this application please will the committee make it 
conditional that the transport mitigation proposals are formally re-examined within a 
year of the school reaching 80% capacity?  To see if they are sufficient, any 
necessary changes or additions should then be funded from the GCC budget.  

With these provisos, I strongly support this application for what should be, given its 
sponsors are a high quality local school for the local children and an asset to the 
community”.  

Anna O'Connor, also spoke on behalf of Sara Reader, who was also present 
at the virtual meeting.  (Supporting): 
“Good morning everyone, I’m speaking today in support of the new planned new 
secondary school in Leckhampton.  I am speaking on behalf of the parent 
population in the Leckhampton and Warden Hill Parish, specifically, the 281 Year 5 
parents who are members of my online communication and engagement group for 
the planned school.  
 
Everyone here is aware of the need for a new secondary school in South 
Cheltenham and the statistics are well documented.   I would therefore like to focus 
on the experiences of parents and implications of the selective local places has had 
on our community in the last decade is also which will continue should this new 
school not be built.  

The Leckhampton triangle is a well-known issue with regards to catchment areas 
for Bournside and Balcarras our existing South Cheltenham secondary schools.  
Pupils living in this area are those most likely not to receive a place at a local 
school.  Leckhampton has suffered from this problem for well over a decade and as 
a result the community continues to be ripped apart yearly as families find 
themselves commuting their children to the North of the town or having to move to 
Charlton Kings or elsewhere.  This is detrimental to our community and I believe we 
are all disadvantage as a result.  This problem has become progressively worse in 
recent years as pupil numbers have continued to increase in the South 
Cheltenham.  

Since January 2016, there has been a campaign running involving councillor Klara 
Sudbury and local Leckhampton parents in response to consecutive years where 
an exceptionally large number of families were not allocated a place for their child 
at either Bournside or Balcarras.  Whenever this happens the impact is huge both 
on the families themselves but also on all of us the community.  

Families must make alternative arrangements to get their child to and from a school 
in North Cheltenham normally via car.  This incurs both a time and financial cost.  
This also impacts all of us in the community because it increases traffic and 
therefore pollution.  

None of us as parents and residents want this.  It is in all our interests to want local 
children to go to look a local school where they can walk or cycle with their friends.  

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

This campaign has contributed to getting us to this point, where funding has been 
agreed, a site located, and plans developed.  

We know now that if a new school does not open in 2021 there is no way for our 
children to go.   There will be in excess of 120 local Leckhampton and Warden Hill 
children who may not get a place at any of the four Cheltenham secondary schools, 
let alone the schools in the South of the town because of a predicted shortfall in 
places.  This is simply not acceptable and is of great concern at present to Year 5 
parents in my group.  

A new school should have built ready to open in 2019 but has been delayed again 
and again causing huge anxiety for parents each year as they have waited to find 
out where temporary expansions will be and if their child will get into a local school.   
Pittville, Balcarras and Bournside have all continued to expand either temporarily or 
permanently in recent years to accommodate the continuing upward trends in pupil 
numbers.  This is not a sustainable plan as an option has now been exhausted.   
There is nowhere left for GCC to go strategically other than to build this new school.  

As a community we cannot fail to see how our parish is developing and changing.   
Leckhampton primary school is halfway through a 50% expansion which will 
increase the number of pupils from 420 to 630.   This will provide a large 
percentage of the pupils for the new school in the future.   In addition, it is inevitable 
that Warden Hill will also eventually expand to meet the increasing upward trend, 
also lending weight to the strategic long term plan to meet the needs of secondary 
school age children in our parish.   We also have a new housing estate Redrow and 
more houses planned.  

 Change is happening and it is up to all of us as a community to work together to 
ensure we all benefit positively.   We are however extremely sympathetic to those 
residents concerned about losing a much loved green space.   We do share 
concerns regarding location and would have preferred the original site however it is 
late in the day and the need is pressing.   This is our green space too and we would 
much prefer a school to houses.   Let us also not forget that the lanes area was 
once green fields and is now housing development.   The same applies to the 
Redrow estate.   Part of the problem we do face however, is a dysfunctional system 
whereby developers are allowed to build housing estates without the necessary 
facilities to support them.   It is now time for GCC directs find this issue and give us 
a school we need.  

 We believe there are many positives and opportunities.   We want therefore to 
reassure our neighbours and the wider community that we are committed as a 
parent group to ensuring where possible, our children by bike or walk to school.  
Our children's generation is environmentally aware and extremely knowledgeable 
and proactive about the issues of congestion and pollution.  A recent survey at 
Leckhampton primary school confirmed that 86% of children walked to and from 
school.  We aim for the new secondary school as part of the group I've organised to 
be well above 90%, but that does rely on the roads is made safer.  

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

 We urge GCC to ensure that serious mitigation such as comprehensive cycling and 
walking infrastructure for this community school is properly planned and funded. 

 As a parent body we are extremely pleased to see the plans have been altered to 
ensure the school is carbon neutral.   Clearly, we are concerned about the 
additional delay which now means there is disruptive start to our children secondary 
school education in 2021 should the school be approved.  However, we accept the 
long term benefits of the new school out outweigh this issue.  

 Finally, I want to make the point that our state schools are unique.   They provide 
the opportunity for our children to be educated in their local community and 
environment.   This provides huge benefits to everybody.  A Community School 
provides facilities for use by all, it encourages our children to respect their 
surroundings and helps create a civic minded generation.  

There is a huge opportunity for the community to forge close relationships with the 
new school.   For example, with Leckhampton primary, local businesses, charities 
such as Sue Ryder, the parish council and so on.  Schools, parents and the 
community can work together to promote the health, well-being and learning of all 
students and to enhance the community.

 As parents we are looking forward to the opportunities this new school presents.   
We believe overall this will be of huge benefit to the community if it is approved, we 
look forward to positively working with all key stakeholders and residents to ensure 
the best possible result for all.  Thank you”.  

 Dominic Burke, Headteacher of Balcarras School (supporting): 
“Balcarras is a Co-educational state comprehensive school with 1380 pupils.   We 
operate on the eastern edge of Cheltenham and generally speaking our children 
live within about a mile of the school.   In June 2018 we were appointed by 
Gloucestershire County Council and the regional school’s commissioner to be the 
sponsor for Cheltenham’s new school.

 We had to sometime argue the case that Cheltenham needed extra secondary 
school capacity and we welcomed the findings of the local authority's consultation.   
There’s been considerable pressure on places for some time and in our view, this 
will become unsustainable without provision of extra places in the system.  

Balcarras is a comprehensive school and we are proud to be so.   Our educational 
philosophy is simple we believe all children deserve a first rate start in life 
regardless of background or prior attainment.   We believe that going to school 
should be a golden time in a young person's life and we actively seek to make 
education enjoyable and rewarding.  If you get the culture right then great things 
can happen, for three consecutive years Balcarras has been named by The Sunday 
Times as the highest performing comprehensive school in the South West.   Under 
our sponsorship the new school will have exactly the same philosophy and scale of 
ambition.  

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 20 -

 One of the greatest assets any community can have is outstanding schools.  
Cheltenham is very fortunate to have such strong and well respected state schools.   
We believe that Balcarras is a huge asset to Charlton Kings and we want to ensure 
that the new school is a similarly prized asset to its local community.   our bid to 
sponsor the school had the subtitle a” flagship school at the heart of its community” 
and that is really what we are setting out to achieve.  

Being part of the design process for the new school has been an exciting and 
rewarding experience.  At every stage expert educator have been able to shape 
and hone the schools building, so that I can say with confidence that when the 
school opens it will have exceptional facilities.   No stone has been left unturned, 
we’ve been involved in designing and planning every detail. 

 These outstanding facilities mean that the children will have the best possible 
environment in which to learn and rather like Balcarras, the school will have the 
wonderful backdrop of the Cotswold escarpment, it will truly be a lovely place to go 
to school.   from the outset we will make a commitment to the local community that 
we will do everything we can to minimise the school’s impact whilst also ensuring 
that the school plays a wider role in that community.  

 I'm delighted that the building will have such impeccable green credentials.   
Balcarras is a green flag school and we continue to do everything we can to limit 
the schools carbon footprint.  One of the best ways we can do this is to ensure that 
the system provides capacity at the point of need or as Gloucestershire County 
Council would say local schools for local children.  Balcarras is essentially a village 
school.   We serve the community of Charlton Kings, so that the vast majority of our 
children walk or cycle to school.  It seems to us that this is the most sustainable 
way for education to fit properly into a full range of policy measures that will be 
needed as we tackle climate change.  

The new school will be the most significant development in the town for some time.  
It represents a significant investment on behalf of Gloucestershire County council. 
Balcarras is proud to have been chosen to offer its experience and expertise to 
develop a school that will be the pride of its local community.   There’s a strong 
team of senior staff and governors involved in the development process and 
together we support this proposal wholeheartedly.  Thanks”

Ro Baillie (Supporting): 
“I am a Leckhampton resident and have lived here for 25 years.   My children are 
grown up and my granddaughters and their parents live near London, so I don't 
have local family who will attend this proposed new school.   However, I’m very 
much in favour of a new secondary school being built so that local families can 
send their children to school that is near to their homes.   This will enable them to 
walk or cycle to school rather than being taken by car and adding to the traffic 
congestion and pollution.  

I believe the site is a correct one as the council already owns the land this saves a 
large sum of money which can be put towards building an environmentally friendly 

Page 20



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 21 -

school and enabling the building of the required road cycle and footpath 
infrastructure to properly mitigate any traffic consequences. 

 I feel we must look to the future regarding the school.   With the recent Redrow 
development and further housing plan to Leckhampton there will inevitably be a 
large increase in the number of children needing secondary school education.   A 
school that they can walk or cycle to is imperative.   If possible, footpath LF13 
across Lotts Meadow from kidnappers Lane to barrow's field should be improved 
for safe all year round use, as originally suggested by GCC and early planning 
documents.   I believe letters were exchanged between the owners of the Vestry 
Homes and the parish council indicate this might be negotiable, and if so, should be 
funded by GCC.  

 GCC should not be tempted to rely on traffic mitigation measures suggested as 
part of future housing projects.  Given the current economic uncertainty these may 
never happen or be executed in a different way from originally planned.   Therefore, 
GCC should be prepared to revisit the traffic and congestion problem when the 
school is fully functioning at a time of year that is representative and review what if 
any additional measures are required to mitigate the traffic, walking and cycling 
issues.   These might include additional crossings over the A46 for children come 
into the school from the warden Hill area or other strategic interventions such as a 
park and ride for South West Cheltenham.  

Yes, traffic may increase in the morning when some of the staff and children drive 
or are driven to school, but this will only be for short period of time.  As schools 
finished well before the end of the working day it should not be a further problem in 
the evening rush hour.  There must be sufficient space on site for staff to park their 
cars and for sports events.  
Parents ‘driving and dropping’ their children should not be allowed to cause 
nuisance or threaten safety on the neighbouring roads.  

 I know a number of parents are really concerned about secondary school situation 
especially those in the area which eliminates them from choosing Balcarras or 
Bournside.   With this in mind I sincerely hope that the plans for building the new 
secondary school will be accepted subject to the above points I've just raised.  
Thank you”

 Claire MEDLAND, GCC (Applicant): 
“The County Council has a statutory duty to ensure that sufficient school places are 
available when it's within its area for every child of school age.   It is a 
commissioner of places rather than being a direct provider, working in partnership 
with providers and stakeholders to meet current and future demand across the 
County.   Since 2007 there's been an increase in birth rates which has resulted in 
sustained growth in demand for school places.   This coupled with additional yield 
from strategic and non-strategic housing developments has resulted in significant 
increase in demand for primary school places year on year in Cheltenham.  

 This council has expanded a range of primary schools to meet this demand and 
the population growth is now moving into the secondary schools. Work has 

Page 21



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 22 -

progressed with secondary schools to provide additional capacity as pupils move 
into the secondary phase of their education.   following a review in 2016 it was 
identified that there will be a shortfall of at least 100 time to Year 7 places by 2021 
increasing to 180 Year 7 places by 2026.   Following extensive consultation in 2017 
this council confirmed the need for a new secondary school in Cheltenham and 
agreed a budget to deliver the new school.  Alternative sites within the target area 
were subject to sequential testing, this culminated in this council taking the decision 
to promote the new school on land at kidnappers Lane, which is owned by the 
council.   This decision was welcomed by parents within the community of 
Leckhampton and Warden Hill.  

The total capital costs at the new school we met from school’s capital grant and 
County borrowing approved by the council.  Previously where local authority 
identifies a need for a new school in its area it must seek proposals to establish a 
free school.   All free school proposals require the Secretary of State's approval.  

 The council held a competition invited bids to run the new school and following an 
interview process and approval by the Secretary of State, Balcarras Academy trust 
was appointed in June 2018.   In February 2019 Kier construction and AHR 
architects were appointed with the project team to deliver a state of the art new 900 
place secondary school.  Two public engagement events were held in June 2019 to 
present initial designs and to listen to the views of the community.   Both events 
were well attended by local residents and perspective parents and pupils.   The 
application before you have responded to and being informed by public comments 
made at those consultation events.  

 in light of the specific concerns raised about traffic and pollution in the area, the 
design team have worked closely with your planning and highways officers to 
ensure appropriate mitigation has been put in place to make the appropriate 
proposal acceptable in planning terms.   Cotswold transport planning was 
commissioned to undertake traffic assessments and will continue to work with GCC 
highways on this programme proposal.   In addition, they will work with Balcarras 
Academy Trust on the new school’s travel plan.  

There is currently a footpath running through the middle of the site.   It is our wish 
on the grounds of child safeguarding and security, to permanently stop up that 
public right of way.   The stopping up application is subject to a separate 
submission which has been determined by the Secretary of State.   Following a 
detailed design process including independent design review panel commentary of 
planning application was submitted in August 2019. The planning portal now 
indicates over 160 people support the proposal and 59 objections.  

 In September 2019 the council declared a climate emergency in order to reduce 
our carbon emissions by 80% by the year 2030.   Following this declaration, the 
design team revisited the design to ensure the building will meet the aims and 
objectives set out by this council.   The planning application before you will achieve 
substantial betterment above current building regulations.   Indeed, the project team 
have been tasked with making further improvements post planning approval to seek 
to enhance carbon reduction.  

Page 22



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 23 -

 climate change also impacts upon ecology thus again post application submission 
this council has sought ecology enhancements two in recognition of the draft 
environmental bill together with draft ecology enhancement matrix published by 
DEFRA.  

 As a consequence, significant work has been undertaken in conjunction with the 
County Council Ecologist.  In addition to the measure on site, GCC will be 
enhancing additional off setting land by planting hedgerows that will be living walls, 
with Ivy and honeysuckle for the wildlife.  

Furthermore, transporting children outside of their local area would be considered 
an unreasonable admissions policy practise by independent appeals panels and 
the local government ombudsman.  

 This is a major project supporting the council's commitment to £100 million 
investment in schools across the County and I look forward to your support for the 
application. Thank you” 

Councillor Adrian Mears (Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council):
“Good morning the Parish Council has long supported the new school in principle.  
Our concerns are about the shortage of places and we worried about that for many 
years.  Our concerns over what is actually being proposed and that's explained in 
section 6.3 in your pack, I want this morning to focus on three major issues the 
value plan escape the traffic congestion and the size of the school.  

 In April 2016 Secretary of State identified the Leckhampton fields as valued 
landscape and thereby requiring protection under the NPPF.  The valued landscape 
is explicitly based on two factors:  the increasing value of the landscape quality of 
the fields and their importance to the view from Leckhampton Hill.   Both factors 
matter in the context of the new school.  The landscape was the reason that in 2016 
Inspector Ord examining the joint core strategy refused to allow housing on GCCs 
land and also refused a school in that area.  The valued landscape also the 
grounds on which a planning application by Robert Hitchin’s for 45 houses was 
refused at appeal in 2018.  

So given up the valued landscape is such a major constraint, you might imagine 
that the requirements are protected by landscape would be prominent in the 
application.  However, in your pack there is no mention of the valued landscape 
except any evidence from the parish council.  This seems a remarkable emission. 
CBCs consultant for landscape in 2019 advised CBC the proposed school would 
affect the landscape so much that it is no longer credible for CBC to fight a second 
appeal by Robert Hitchin’s to build 25 houses and CBC abandoned it case at the 
hearings stage.   To be acceptable the application therefore needs to place rigorous 
emphasis on guaranteeing the protection of the valued landscape on preserving the 
semi-rural character of the area, on screening the school sufficiently from view from 
both Leckhampton Hill and from the surrounding area and on minimising the 
damage to wildlife.  We don't think this has really had sufficiently vigorous attention 
in what’s been done so far.  

Page 23



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 24 -

 In 2016, the secretary of state strongly criticised the County Council for its 
complacency over the morning traffic congestion on the A46, congestion at the 
school would make a lot worse.  The economy and prosperity of Cheltenham’s 
surrounding areas requires that people are able to commute to work reasonably 
easily and in the view of secretary of state in 2016 that requirement is paramount.  
IT is not just people commuting from long distances who are affected by the A46 
traffic queue but also those were close to areas including Shurdington at 
Brockworth.  

 The parish council has done a great deal of work in its submissions on the school 
to survey and analyse the traffic issues and projections.   We have proposed routes 
by which its pupils could   cycle and walk to the school and suggested ways to 
mitigate the congestion including by improving the throughput of the A46 junction 
with Moorend Park Road, that is the origin of the A46 traffic queue.  However, the 
application before you rely instead on the optimistic hope that the vast majority 
pupils would travel to the school by foot cycle or public transport, far more than 
national norm.   Realistically this can only be achieved if the school’s catchment is 
strictly limited to its immediate vicinity and to those areas directly served by No: 10 
bus routes.  

 That is the aspiration which is stated in the application.   But it requires taking 
many people from Bournside school and it seems very likely that in  practice the 
new school because of its size we need to take pupils from further away and many 
more would then come by car so despite GCC optimism the  large new school is 
very lightly to tip the traffic system, into the severe cumulative congestion that 
secretary of  state condemned in 2016,  especially with the extra morning traffic 
added to by the new developments of 1500 new homes at Brockworth,  200 
planned  at Shurdington and around 700 on the Leckhampton Fields.  As you heard 
by Anna O’Connor many families are worried by the current uncertainty over school 
places and we need to move   forward faster.   The application does need to be 
called in for independent review, because of the controversy and its conflict with the 
recent findings of planning inspectors and with the Cheltenham plan for the new 
school was included only if the traffic issues to be satisfactory result resolved.  

The Parish Council also recommends that the County Council should consider 
making the new school smaller, in view of the need to keeps its catchment very 
local and also to reduce its impact on the valued landscape. Thank you” 

District Councillor Martin Horwood: 
 “I'm objecting to this application before us not to the principle of secondary school.  
In my written submission I do explain how a popular new school so close to 
Bournside might still leave the notorious ‘Leckhampton triangle’ with some families 
over a mile from all local schools and still unsure of admission to any of them.  

The few brief paragraphs of educational rationale in your papers don't reassure me 
but my objection is mainly about environmental impact, landscape impact and 
inappropriate design.  

Page 24



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 25 -

 I also commend the very detailed professionally supported parish council 
objections on grounds of air quality and traffic.  This application could be refused on 
biodiversity grounds alone because in the words of the council's own Principal 
Ecologist Gary Kennison in his report.  

Also, in your papers is ecologist Elizabeth Pimley’s even more detailed report for 
the applicants which anticipates a shocking net loss of habitat units down to minus 
57% and that’s with mitigation measures.  Without them the habitat loss would be 
nearly total at minus 95%.  

 In biodiversity terms this application is disastrous, especially for a council that 
promised to protect biodiversity in a full council motion only last June.  Today's the 
day you can act on that motion.  

The report detailed a complete loss of at least nine trees and effects on 30 more, 
the complete loss of 1 hedgerow and significant damage to others.   The catalogue 
rich biodiversity on the site, protected bats and dormice, deer, common toad, bank 
vole and serval mouse species, meadow Brown butterflies and habitat suitable for 
amphibians, Badgers and hedgehogs along with at least 11 bird species and 10 bat 
species all protected from deliberate disturbance in law.  

Light will be a particular problem for bats and the detailed light spillage map shows 
floodlighting spilling into the important Brook and hedgerow habitats.  The 
applicants claim there is little or no bat activity in winter when floodlighting is 
needed but that's don't vanish in winter and disturbing hibernation is very harmful 
causing them to wake and starve.  

According to reports, this habitat loss is so severe that it means development can't 
fully proceed without further Natural England licences being granted which surely 
impacts on the deliverability of this whole scheme.  

A raft of mitigation measures is suggested to limit biodiversity loss to minus 57%, if 
you accept that and grant consent, do please make sure the acceptance of all 
these mitigation measures is a strict planning condition.  

Turning to landscape sensitivity, this is something highlighted by successive 
planning inspectors reports over decades agreeing to protection for this area 
special historical, landscape and amenity value and attractive pastoral character, 
linked strongly into the landscape of the AONB.  

In 2012 the JCS landscape report considered the area a valuable landscape 
resource with a good Brookline and associated tree cover and gave parts of this 
application site the highest category of landscape and visual sensitivity, so much so 
that the inspector took it out of the JCS as a strategic site and ruled out a school on 
this site.  

 The CBC submission you have highlights Cheltenham policy MD5 which requires 
development near to respect the visual sensitivity and landscape character of the 
site as part of the setting of the AONB.  

Page 25



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 26 -

The national NPPF also lays on you a specific duty to protect valued landscapes 
permitting damage to this valued landscape.  Permitting it would set a terrible 
precedent for planning decisions in any division in the County.  

In relation to the AONB statutory Cotswold AONB  management plan policy E1 
says proposals that are likely to impact on the landscape of the Cotswold AONB 
should have regard to the scenic quality of the location and its setting and ensure 
that views, including those into and out of the AONB are conserved and enhanced.  

The JCS also cites key views from within the AONB and again the NPPF requires 
you to ensure that development is sympathetic to the surrounding landscape 
setting.  

This application site is prominent front and centre in iconic AONB views from 
Leckhampton Hill including the devil's chimney.  The large office block design I'm 
afraid would stand out like a sore thumb in contrast to more imaginative 
developments like Gloucester services on the M5 which blends into the landscape.  

So, because of the huge biodiversity losses negative ecological impact, particularly 
light spill and inappropriate urban style design in this highly sensitive rural location 
prominent from the AONB, as well as traffic concerns and inadequate educational 
rationale.   I urge you to reject this application as contrary to national and local 
policy”.  

County Councillor Iain Dobie: 
“There's no secret that I've been generally in favour of the new community 
secondary school in Leckhampton right from the start.  For years now I've heard 
from parents in the east of my constituency towards Old Bath Road, how they had 
fallen between the catchment areas of Balcarras and Bournside and so have been 
unable to get their children into a local secondary of their choice.  

 During my two stints as a governor at Leckhampton Primary I've also heard the 
same sad story.  So, I believe we need a local secondary to fully serve the 
community I represent.  

Let me be clear by a Community School I mean one which pupil can safely walk 
and cycle to:   which brings me to my main concern about the proposed new school 
in Leckhampton, a concern which I know is shared by both our opponents’ 
proponents of the new school.  

 Because Leckhampton residents wouldn't need to use their cars to drive their 
children to the local Community School, rather than to current more distant 
alternatives, the general increase in traffic around the Leckhampton may be 
minimised.   However, there will be some increase in the immediate kidnappers 
Lane area because a number of teachers and other staff who will drive in, as 
realistically will some parents.  

Page 26



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 27 -

 Extra cars on the road around the new school that will increase the risk to children 
walking and cycling to school, and if parents see the risk to their children is too 
high, they will be tempted to drive their own children to the school, even though it is 
so close.   This is a vicious circle.  

 So, to prevent this a substantial slice of the £30m, which GCC has set aside to 
create this has to be spent on making kidnappers Lane, Shurdington Road and 
other approaches is much safer walking and cycling.  This mitigation must be 
comprehensive and funding to complete it must be ring fenced.  

 I also recommend that should this application be approved a proviso be added that 
the adequacy of mitigating cycling and walking infrastructure should be reassessed 
and suitable land enhanced as appropriate perhaps using S106 funding from local 
housing development.  

 As County councillor for Leckhampton I have argued this case for the 
enhancement of infrastructure to encourage sustainable transport tirelessly with 
Shire Hall and have received assurances.   However, I am now appealing to this 
planning committee to absolutely ensure adequate mitigations to promote safe 
walking and cycling are 100% guaranteed and future proofed.  

My second concern about traffic is that rest of this new school will have a major 
effect on traffic flow along the Shurdington Rd A46.   Again, significant GCC 
highways action will be needed to mitigate this risk.   Unfortunately to serve the 
local people in Leckhampton this school must be built on a much loved green 
space.   I grew up a stone's throw away and walked these fields as a boy.   I know 
their value to the community, and we must do everything possible to minimise the 
impact of the build on the lanes, the hedgerows, and the very air of this precious 
corner of Gloucestershire.  

Finally, I recognise and respect that there are differing views in Leckhampton about 
this proposed new school.   Reflecting this, even the parish council of which I am a 
member, was divided when it came to a vote.   Today you've heard a strong case 
made by parents in favour and other powerfully felt words from opponents.  

 Nevertheless, provided the above mitigations are locked into the project, I continue 
to stand by my original opinion that this use school should be built for the benefit of 
the Leckhampton community”. 

Public speakers were invited to remain in the virtual meeting if they wished to do so 
but were advised that they could no longer participate in the meeting.  

The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentations.  

For the purposes of the clarity, the facilitator asked each member individually if they 
had any questions for Officers at this stage. 
 
Councillor David Brown felt the presentation has been comprehensive and thanked 
the Officer for the detailed report.  He advised the Committee that he had looked 

Page 27



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 28 -

through the planning portal, which highlighted lots of comments from objectors and 
supporters.  

Councillor John Cordwell referred to the parking drop off loop and asked if this 
would give any noticeable relief to Farm Lane and the neighbouring Redrow estate, 
when parents were dropping off their children in the morning and also collecting in 
the evening.  He also questioned the potential for a large number of vehicle 
crossing movements, when vehicles return in the direction of which they 
approached the school.  

Michael Sendall, HDM explained that the loop was intended to provide a facility 
where parents drive into the site, drop their children off and then drive out again.  
This was a one-way system that not very many schools had. Many schools won't 
allow any parents to come onto the school site.  In this instance, the loop would 
provide that facility and there would be some parking spaces for those who want to 
park and wait in the afternoon/evening for their children.  

Mr Sendall continued to clarify some of the misconceptions that had occurred with 
respect to The Lanes and other nearby estates.   A survey was undertaken by 
Cotswold Transport Planning which was not intended to show where people could 
park. Its purpose was to show where there was spare capacity on the roads and 
spaces available.   It was never intended that those would be the parking spaces for 
the school, as there was adequate provision made within the school grounds.  With 
regards to the loop, there would be parking restrictions to prevent parents and 
teachers from parking along parts of Farm Lane during school hours.  

Councillor Cordwell added that he had not identified a planning condition requiring 
the works to be carried out on the public highway.  Mr Sendall explained there was 
not a specific condition in respect of implementation of the proposed highways 
works, but recommended Condition 2 on Page 133 of the Officer Report stated that 
the development would be carried out in accordance of the submitted application, 
its accompanying documentation and the approved drawings.  

Mr Sendall advised the Committee that Condition 12 had been revised to say no 
buildings (or part of a building where a phased handover is required) shall be first 
brought into use until the vehicular parking turning and loading and unloading 
facilities and external highway improvement which lead into the site had been 
provided in accordance with the approved plans. Those facilities shall be 
maintained and made available for those purposes at all times thereafter (insofar as 
the vehicle parking turning loading unloading facilities are required to serve the 
occupied part of the building).  

The Committee was informed that external improvements were all shown within the 
Transport Assessment plans.  In terms of improvements around the surrounding 
areas for footway and carriageway widening, in some places those were included 
within the plans and could be referred to at SK 02, 04,05,06,07, 08, 09 and SK 03, 
07 and Appendix D of the Transport Assessment.  

Page 28



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 29 -

Councillor Cordwell asked a second question in relation to the footway and its 
safety for pupils walking and cycling to and from school.   Councillor Cordwell 
stated it would not be possible to know all this information until the school had been 
open for some time.  He wondered whether the predicted model between car, bus, 
cycling and walking was accurate and asked what could be done if it proves not to 
be so.   

It was explained that the Travel Assessment (TA) also included improvements and 
that a Walking, Cycling, Horse Riding Assessment and Review (WCHAR) had also 
been undertaken. In addition, a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit had been undertaken to 
answer questions during the public submissions.  Mr Sendall advised the 
Committee that further Road Safety Audits would be carried out at Stages 2, 3 and 
4 during construction and post opening so that any difficulties that were 
encountered would be looked at and put right in any safety audit.  In addition, the 
school Travel Plan would identify if there were any areas that required 
improvement.  

Councillor Cordwell informed the Committee that he had looked at the footpaths 
using Google street view.  Mr Sendall explained that improvements had been made 
to those areas to enable a footpath to be installed and there would be priority for 
oncoming traffic in the scheme on that southern end.  

Councillor Terry Hale remarked that he was initially unhappy about determining this 
application without actually going on a site visit, but the detailed Officer presentation 
had made up for that.   He referred to climate change and the Environment Agency 
stating the majority this site was in Flood Zones 1 and 3 and no development 
should occur within five metres.   

The Principal Planning Officer replied that the only area in the flood plain was the 
area immediately north of the site where the pupil pedestrian walkways were 
located and none of the built development, with exception of car parks, was within 
the flood plain.   Regarding the water attenuation and what had been designed, she 
confirmed that there was a recommended condition covering this.  

Peter Siret, Flood Risk Management Officer, had assessed the surface water 
management plan for the site.   He confirmed the highest area at risk of flooding 
was in the North East of this site, where Hatherley Brook crossed underneath 
Kidnappers Lane.  He explained that no development was proposed in that area of 
the site and all along the Hatherley brook there was a five metre easement from the 
brook.  In terms of climate change, the drainage had been designed to incorporate 
a predicted increase in the intensity of rainfall as a result of climate change and this 
met the Environment Agency’s latest guidelines and was covered in the drainage 
strategy.  

 Councillor Stephen Hirst asked two questions regarding the astro-turf facilities at 
the site and in particular the floodlighting and unwanted light pollution affecting 
people living near the site and the natural habitat.   The Officer explained that 
floodlighting was addressed in the report in two ways - through ecology and through 
the impact upon local residents.  

Page 29



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 30 -

Members were advised that Condition 21 referred to floodlighting and stipulated 
that all lighting in the school should be turned off by 10:00pm, so it should not 
impose too much on local residents.   There were special restrictions relating to the 
astro-turf pitch to accommodate bats. This was to ensure that the lighting did not 
happen at the time when the bats were flying.   The Officer confirmed Condition 21 
stated that all school lights should be turned off between 10:00pm and 6:00am in 
the week and by 8:00pm on the weekend.  Condition 27 (Page 142 of the Officer 
Report) gave specific times of the year when the lighting was restricted, and slightly 
different times applied to the actual the floodlighting of the astro-turf pitch between 
April and October and November to March.  This was to ensure there were quite 
strict controls over when the site could be lit.  

Councillor Hirst asked a second question relating to Church Road and if there was 
any increasing capacity in space needed to take account of the increased traffic 
flow and the capacity on that road.  

Brian Walker, Senior Transport Consultant advised the Committee that Highways 
had looked at Shurdington Road and Church Road.  He reported there were 
proposals to improve the A46 junction with Moorend Park Road as part of the 
Redrow scheme, which was currently being built and was taken into account in the 
modelling to improve the traffic throughput there.   In terms of Church Road, 
Officers explained that the distribution they were estimating was probably going to 
be no more than 20 additional vehicles using Church Road, so it was less than a 
5% increase.   There were no direct improvements proposed other than the walking 
and cycling improvements.   

Councillor Hirst wondered when Redrow development would be brought forward.  
Mr Sendall explained that Moorend Park Road was part of the Redrow development 
and there were restrictions on their development, which would likely be triggered 
before the school was opened.   It was noted that Redrow was funding the housing 
development and not GCC.  GCC would fund the toucan crossing. Improving the 
other remaining crossing up to the junction of Kidnappers Lane/A46 signals would 
manage the traffic and be helped by a gap creation scheme that will be caused by 
children or anybody using the toucan crossing to get across the Shurdington Road.  

Mr Walker referred to the Redrow development scheme at Moorend Park Road and 
the signal junction condition of their scheme it which was required on completion of 
the 200th house.  It was noted that, of the 377 dwellings on the Redrow site, they 
were probably approaching the 200 dwelling mark, Officers assumed those 
improvements to Moorend Park Road would be happening very soon.  It was noted 
that there was an additional toucan crossing proposed as part of the school 
development, which would be installed on the A46 side of the Woodlands Road 
junction, as there would be a high number of children crossing the road.  Officers 
predicted those signals would be called on a very frequent basis between 8:10am – 
8:30am.   

Page 30



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 31 -

Councillor Graham Morgan referred to Ecology and whether any development of 
the site would be precluded until protected species licences could be obtained or 
confirmation that licences were not required from the EA  

The County Ecologist explained that protected species licences were required from 
Natural England and not the Environment Agency.   He explained protected species 
licences could not be granted until a development had been awarded planning 
permission.  As it wasn’t possible to consider whether a licence was needed and 
could be granted until Natural England had the full details of an approved 
development.  Mr Kennison thought it was quite likely that a licence was needed 
and that it would probably be granted, possibly with further requirements, for the 
works.  

Councillor Morgan referred to mitigation of the site and off-setting.  The County’s 
Ecologist explained that mitigation was proposed by the developer on site, which 
involved how they would go about the works.  There was also planting mitigation on 
the site which had changed quite a bit in from that depicted by the artist's 
impression pictures which were showed earlier in the meeting.    The additional 
planting on off-setting land would be covered by a Section 106 agreement and the 
planning application conditions.   Therefore, mitigation would be covered by the 
planning consent and by planning obligations.  

Councillor Shaun Parsons wished to know if there were any badger setts or activity 
on the land.  The County Ecologist confirmed there were no setts on the land but 
there had been some earlier activity in terms of digging for food in the middle of the 
site.  The mitigation package would include checking for the presence of badger 
setts.  He explained that the presence of badgers was a material consideration, but 
they did not preclude development.   Members were informed if a sett had to be 
destroyed, and this was not the case here, a licence would need to be granted by 
Natural England.   It was noted there were some precautionary measures that 
would be put in place to ensure badgers were not harmed.  

Councillor Parsons referred to the various representations made and noted in the 
papers there were quite a number of residents’ children who had to travel quite 
some way to other schools, presumably in private cars that would not be able to 
come to the new school.   He noted that most users were living within 0.9 miles of 
the new site.   Councillor Parsons wished to know if there would be a net increase 
or decrease the traffic or traffic travelling around Cheltenham.  

Mr Sendall explained there will be journey saving times because it is intended that 
80 - 90% of the children will be coming from less than a mile away and the increase 
there will be marginal.   He informed the Committee that modelling had been 
undertaken, as with any new developments there would be an implication, but this 
would be manageable.  

It was reported that 25% of the children lived within one mile and 65% lived within 
one to two miles, so that equated to 90% within 2 miles.  Therefore, most children 
would walk or cycle to the new school.

Page 31



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 32 -

Mr Walker explained that children going to the new school would walk or cycle, as 
they would live closer to the site.  He added that given the post code information 
from the Education Department, there were at least 500 potential pupil postcodes 
within one mile of the site. Together with the new housing development, it was 
anticipated that over half of pupils would live within one mile and would be able to 
walk to the new school.   

Councillor Alan Preest thanked officers for the detailed presentations and asked a 
question relating to Page 73 of the Officer Report. He wished to know if Western 
Power responded.  

The Officer explained that she had consulted them and had received no further 
response. Therefore she could only assume they were content with the proposal.

Councillor Steve Robinson was pleased to see the new climate change policy had 
been considered.   He referred to Sports England consultation response as they felt 
the storage within the design to be poor both in the Sports Hall and also outside. 
The Officer confirmed that she had addressed this point with applicant, and they 
were quite happy with the amount of storage provision on site.   

Councillor Will Windsor Clive thanked the officers for responding to his submitted 
questions earlier in the presentation.   In addition, he asked about carbon footprint 
and.  Referred to the 32% reduction stated within the report. He asked if the 
application should not make provision for solar panels on the roof at this stage, as it 
would be 30% more expensive to add solar panels later and also whether ground 
source heat pumps should be required.  

The Officer explained because of the constrained nature of the site, ground source 
heat pumps had been ruled out.  Members were advised that there was a technical 
report available online, for information.   The Committee was informed that air 
source heat pumps and some solar panels were included within the application. H 
However, the additional solar panels were not part of the current application.  

Councillor Windsor Clive requested clarification in terms of Green Belt and Valued 
Landscape for this site.   The Officer explained there was no actual designation on 
this land. The land was formally excluded from the Local Green Space (LGS) by the 
emerging Cheltenham Local Plan Planning Inspector.    

The Chairman informed the Committee that he had looked into the flood and 
drainage strategy and asked if the Flood Risk Officer was satisfied with the 
drainage strategy for the site.  

The Flood Risk Management Officer explained that there was little opportunity for 
SUDs in respect of ponds or above ground storage.  The majority of the storage will 
be underneath the MUGA with some connection into swales into the North East 
corner of the site.  He was satisfied with what had been presented.   He added that 
he would like to see the drainage tool connecting to this swale, hence the reason 
for the condition.  

Page 32



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 33 -

The Chairman noted that the Finished Flood Levels of the school would be 150mm, 
which was higher than the industry standard of 60-75mm, and asked why this was 
so if the site was not at risk of flooding. The Flood Risk Management Officer 
explained that the Flood Risk Assessment stated that this was a precaution against 
storms that exceeded the capacity of the drainage. Although the drainage would be 
designed to account for climate change, there would still be storms that exceed it 
and in this situation could lead to localised flooding on the school grounds. Having 
the Finished Floor Levels of 150mm would reduce the risk of the school flooding. 
Other precautions the Flood Risk Assessment mentioned would include 
landscaping the site to direct surface water away from the buildings and into the 
Hatherley Brook and onto Kidnappers Lane, which is standard practice.

The Chairman asked one other question in relation to cycling and the provisions of 
111 cycle places, given the Government's recent drive to improve walking and 
cycling. He wondered if this figure was ambitious enough.  

Mr Sendall explained that 111 cycling spaces would be in place for when the school 
opens.  The school had a Travel Plan that could be adapted to cope with additional 
spaces if required.  The Head teacher and his management team will monitor the 
requirement until the school gets bigger and will adapt, if necessary, to cope with 
demand.   

At this juncture, the Committee took a brief adjournment.   

Members reconvened at 1pm and the Committee entered into debate. 
 
The facilitator invited each Member in turn to debate the application.  

Councillor Bird proposed that the Committee should accept the Officer’s 
recommendation.  Councillor Fisher seconded the proposal.   

Councillor Bird remarked that there was a well-defined and obvious need in this part 
of the County for a new school.  He felt this was the most suitable site for the school 
and fundamentally on balance there were no material planning reasons not to 
accept this application.  

He remarked that there would always be issues of traffic and parking, but felt the 
traffic assessment had been very robust.   Councillor Bird referred to the 
representation by Anna O’Connor which he felt gave an interesting insight into the 
way people move about in the area and the simple fact that, at the moment, 
children had to be driven to the North of Cheltenham, in order to be educated.  He 
added if the Authority could provide capacity in the local area, then there would be 
a benefit overall to traffic movement.  

Councillor Bird considered that it was residential housing that actually made the 
demand on infrastructure and it was a question of dealing with that demand. This 
was a sensible application, hence his proposal.   

Page 33



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 34 -

Councillor Fisher felt there was a positive need for the school. He reiterated that 
many children travelled considerable distances across Cheltenham to attend 
secondary schools. He asked the Committee to bear in mind that the Primary 
School was expanding by 50%.Those children would filter through the system in a 
very short period and would require secondary places.  

Councillor Fisher remarked that the impact on ecology was difficult as you cannot 
put up a building without interfering with ecology. He felt it was a question of 
education versus ecology.  

In terms of the view from the AONB, Councillor Fisher described the lay of the land 
and the elevation which enabled people to see across the border into Wales.  He 
added that many children from outside of Gloucestershire travelled into the County 
to attend schools.  

Councillor Fisher stated that a lot of children walking and cycling to the school 
would be in the catchment area. He added that his biggest fear was that the school 
would not be large enough because of the new housing developments planned 
throughout Cheltenham.  Councillor Fisher felt the balance was sincerely in favour 
of building a community school that would serve the community for a long time.   

The Principal Planning Officer clarified that recommended Conditions 5, 8 and 10 
had been deleted and Condition 12 had been replaced.  Condition 12 now stated 
that: 

“The buildings hereby permitted ( part of buildings where phased handover is 
required) shall not be first brought into use until the vehicular parking, turning, 
loading and unloading facilities and external highway improvements leading to the 
site have been provided in accordance with the approved plans and those facilities 
shall be maintained and made available for those purposes at all times thereafter 
insofar as the vehicular parking, turning, loading and unloading facilities are 
required to serve the occupied part of the site”.  

Councillor Bird confirmed he was happy to continue with his proposal with the 
amended conditions. This was also confirmed by Councillor Fisher as seconder of 
the proposal.  

 Councillor David Brown felt there were many obstacles to overcome here for such 
an important application.  He was really disappointed with the design of the 
buildings, but his main concern was the safety of the children going to and from 
school by safe walking and safe cycling. He hoped the Travel Plan could 
accommodate things like having more cycle spaces.   

Councillor John Cordwell accepted most of the things that had been said and was 
pleased to see the revised Condition 12.    He felt that the school would be big 
enough, but had some concerns if Covid-19 separation continued, given that the 
School Hall only accommodated half the pupils, which maybe of regret in the future.   

Page 34



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 35 -

Councillor Terry Hale initially had concerns but many of these had been put to rest 
in the excellent presentation given by the Principal Planning Officer.   Councillor 
Hale referred to the presentation made by Anna O’Connor and felt that she had 
made a lot of sense.  As such, he was in favour of the application.  

Councillor Stephen Hirst felt there were at least three good reasons to approve this 
application. Firstly due the large number of new houses in and around 
Leckhampton.   Secondly, the number of pupils is living in Leckhampton that have 
to travel to other parts of the Cheltenham to go to school. Thirdly pupils could 
attend a school in their near locality.  

Councillor Graham Morgan explained that his opinion had changed considerably 
over the course of the application.   He still had concerns for the ecology situation 
and had considered the Officer Report and all the representations for and against 
the application.  However, he was now minded to support the application.   

Councillor Shaun Parsons stated that he was in support of the scheme given the 
need in the local area. He could find no particular reasons for not approving the 
Officer Recommendation.  He complimented the Officer on her presentation, which 
he felt was very informative.  Councillor Parsons added that he had looked quite 
carefully at the astro-turf pitch because he knew people were concerned about the 
planning conditions, but he was satisfied this had been covered.  

 Councillor Alan Preest remarked that the Committee had read and listened to a lot 
of representations on this issue and he felt Anna O’Connor’s submission hit the nail 
on the head in terms of the lack of local school places. He commented that for a 
long time councils had allowed houses to be built and then worried about 
infrastructure later. He therefore appreciated the common-sense approach.  Cllr 
Preest also referred to the mitigation measures on cycling.   

Councillor Steve Robinson recognised the need for a local school.  He added that 
his grandson attended Balcarras Academy after struggling to get a place and 
travelled from Charlton Kings.  He added there were many siblings travelling into 
Balcarras Academy, so there was a need in that area for another school.  After 
considering the application, he was willing to support the Officer’s recommendation.  

Councillor Vines very much welcomed the application and was fully supportive of 
the proposal.  He added that there was a definite need for the school but raised 
concern for the junction of Kidnappers Lane and the A46 road, which in the morning 
would be gridlocked with traffic in both directions.  He referred to the submission by 
the Highways Officer that the new improved toucan crossing would create gaps 
while pedestrians cross the road and for cars to escape from Kidnappers Lane. He 
questioned if the toucan crossing would do enough to alleviate the traffic problem 
that will persist in Kidnappers Lane.  

Councillor Simon Wheeler added that he had mixed views on this application but 
appreciated the need for school places in Cheltenham.  He referred to the 
representation made by District Councillor Horwood and biodiversity concerns.   

Page 35



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 36 -

Councillor Wheeler referred to the highways issues in particularly the narrowness of 
Kidnappers Lane.     

Councillor Windsor Clive added that he had major concerns for such a large 
application and referred to concerns made by other Councillors in terms of ecology, 
highways, lighting of the football pitch and the size of the site, etc.     

The Chairman referred to Councillor Vines’ point regarding the A46, traffic and the 
toucan crossings.   He asked if the football pitch was ultimately in the right place or 
if it could be moved around the site.   

In terms of the planning conditions, the Chairman asked Members to confirm if they 
wish to propose any additional conditions.  

Councillor Alan Preest referred to the comment made by District Councillor Stephen 
Cooke and County Councillor Iain Dobie earlier in the representations, regarding 
reviewing the Travel Plan within 12 months of opening the school. Councillor Preest 
felt this should be a condition.   

The Principal Planning Officer  referred the Committee to Condition 7 which already 
required such a review., The details contained within the submitted Interim Travel 
Plan would form the basis of a Detailed Travel Plan to be submitted for the written 
approval of the Authority. This would have to be up and running by the first 
occupation of the new school. Achieved results and targets would be annually 
monitored and reviewed with the results being submitted to the County Council by 
the 31st December.   

The Chairman referred to Councillor Vines’ concerns regarding the junction 
between Kidnappers Lane and the A46.   Councillor Vines had serious reservations 
on this point and requested that the Traffic Plan be reviewed every year in the 
fullness of time, in order to make sure was no burden on that junction.  

Mr Sendall explained some works would be carried out at that junction, and there 
would be 2 toucan crossings spread apart so that gave greater capacity within that 
road space.  In addition, an extra flare would be installed at the end of Kidnappers 
Lane coming out onto the A46 which would allow for another six vehicles to be in 
tandem, and side by side. This would give an extra capacity of 12 vehicles to come 
out when the lights on the toucan crossings change.  A road safety audit had been 
carried out, a yellow box could be installed at that junction to keep traffic flowing.  
Officers explained that the idea of putting a roundabout was considered. However it 
would require a land take of third party land.   

The Chairman also referred to concerns about the position of the astro-turf pitches.  
The Principal Planning Officer explained that the site is very constrained and is 
barely big enough for what is proposed. It had to be configured in a certain way and 
as there was the issue of the footpath cutting the site in half.  Members were 
advised that it had to be designed in such a way to provide a full running track, full 
football pitches, and the astro-turf pitches and accommodate the footpath.   This 
was the best configuration to accommodate all those requirements.   

Page 36



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 37 -

The facilitator once again confirmed with the proposer, Councillor Bird that he was 
satisfied with the Officer Recommendation in light of the responses given by 
Officers.  Councillor Bird confirmed he was satisfied. 

The facilitator explained that, for the purpose of the virtual meeting, Members would 
be asked individually for their vote.  At this point the facilitator referred to the 
Solicitor to confirm he was satisfied with the proceedings to date.   The Solicitor so 
confirmed and reiterated that Conditions 5, 8 and 10 would be deleted and 
Condition 12 would be replaced.  

On being put to the vote, the application was passed unanimously (14 in favour).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved

That the Planning Permission be granted for the reasons summarised in 
Paragraph 8.157 to 8.166  subject to the application being first referred to the 
Secretary of State as requested by him to consider as a departure application 
from the adopted local plan, the prior completion of a S106 planning 
agreement to secure the long term safeguarding of the ecological mitigation 
land to the rear of Moat Cottage  and in accordance with Regulation 3 of the 
Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 and subject to the 
conditions set out in section 8 of this report.

The Chairperson thanked registered speakers for their representations on this 
application.   

16. APPLICATION NUMBER: 19/0025/FDMAJW SITE: WASTE RECYCLING AT 
LYDNEY SKIP HIRE

A detailed summary of the application was presented by the Senior Planning Officer 
aided by a PowerPoint presentation (a copy is attached to the signed minute book).  

The Officer explained that this planning application sought permission to operate a 
waste recycling facility at Unit 37 Lydney Industrial Estate.   

The proposal involved the change of use of an unused part of land to a recycling 
facility designed to accept and manage bulky household items and construction 
waste. The waste brought to the site will be mostly bulky household items, soil, 
stone and some commercial and industrial waste from in local companies. 

Slide 2 of the presentation identified the application site (Unit 37) bulky household 
inert waste recycling.   Unit 48 was the applicant’s existing site which had planning 
permission for a recycling facility with associated storage and ancillary activities.   
This was granted planning permission in October 2004. The Officer also identified 
the Enovert site at Units 46a - 47 which were existing waste transfer stations for 

Page 37



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 38 -

commercial, industrial, household and green waste. He also identified the nearest 
listed buildings.  

The Committee were informed that the proposal involved up to 30,500 tonnes of 
waste per annum, subject to a 3,000 tonne monthly limit.  The volume and type of 
waste to be processed at the site per year would include 24,999 tonnes of inert 
waste, 5,000 tonnes of non-hazardous waste which included commercial, industrial 
and bulky household items, 150 tonnes of metal non-hazardous waste and 240 
tonnes of tyre.  It was explained that hazardous waste would not be permitted.   
Material would be brought onto the site via heavy commercial vehicles, including 
those operated by the company’s skip hire business.  

Members were referred to Slide 3 which displayed the proposed block plan layout, 
showing the open shed, drainage, concrete surface, hardstand standing the 
existing building and storage bays.  

Vehicle access was proposed to the West via a metal double gate capable of 
allowing two-way traffic.   This led onto a concrete surface area.  The proposal 
included use of an existing building on the site to which it is proposed to adjoin a 
lean-to open steel frame building to be constructed to the South of the site.  
Members were advised that the buildings were to be used as a sorting area for 
waste materials, as well as storage of consumables and paper bales.  The site also 
proposed the use of open bay storage areas which were to the Northeast of the 
white building, as displayed on the slide.  

The Committee was advised that the concrete surface area was approximately 59 
metres x 39 metres was proposed for use in offloading the waste materials into the 
covered area.  An L-shaped hard standing area, measuring 100 metres x 27 metres 
x 50 metres x 30 metres was proposed to the East and North of the site to 
accommodate the construction waste, which would be sorted into different grades 
and stored in the proposed storage bays.  

Members were advised that boundary ground drains would guide water off the 
concrete and hard standing areas into two proposed interceptors within the site.   
Further drainage was proposed for foul water.  Staff and operational vehicle parking 
were proposed to the North on the hard standing.  This area would also be used to 
empty and fill containers.  

The Officer explained that, initially the applicant applied for operation hours to be 
from Monday to Friday from 07:00 to 19: 00, Saturdays from 07:00 to 17:00 and 
Sundays and Bank Holidays 7:00 to 19:00.  Following negotiations with the 
applicant, revised operating hours were recommended, namely Monday to Friday 
07:00 to 18:00, Saturdays 07:00 to 13:30, with no waste accepted or processed on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays.  

The following slides were noted: 

- Slide 5 displayed Unit 37 which is existed on the site and the location of the 
open storage.  

Page 38



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 39 -

- Slide 6 displayed the existing Unit 48 and existing waste sites.
- Slide 7 showed the view of the listed buildings from the rear of the site 

boundary.  
- Slide 8 showed the adjoining land, Lydney Harbour and scheduled 

monument.  
- Slide 9 displayed the location of the application site, depicting the Unit 48 

waste site, proposed workers’ accommodation, existed Enovert waste site 
and the location of the listed buildings.  

- Slide 10 showed the hardcore storage yard. 
- Slide 11 showed the perimeter bund in place with the Enovert existing waste 

site to the rear
- Slide 12 displayed the existing perimeter earth bund place with the rooftop of 

listed buildings in the background.
- Slide 13 gave a more distant view of the perimeter bund and trees with listed 

building rooftop glimpse through the trees. 
- Slide 14 showed Unit 37 on the right and the perimeter bund to the rear of 

the site.
- Slide 15 displayed the location of the proposed storage building adjoining 

Unit 37.  

The Officer informed the Committee that consultation responses included 
objections from Lydney Town Council and the Forest of Dean District Council 
(FoDDC) Planning Department.  Members noted that the County Council Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Planning had been asked by local County Councillor 
to comment on the application and he had supported the comments made by the 
FoDDC. .  

The FoDDC raised concerns regarding the proximity of the proposed waste use and 
that of the proposed hybrid application, which included staff accommodation.  They 
were also concerned that the implementation of allocation Policies AP43 and AP44 
would be difficult to achieve if this application was approved.  Members were 
referred to paragraphs 4.7 and 6.2 in the Officer Report.  

Lydney Town Council raised concerns regarding the proximity to the proposed 
fish/food processing plant as well as water/air contamination and flood mitigation, 
as confirmed in paragraph 6.3 of the Officer Report.  

It was noted that no objections had been received from other statutory consultees 
or members of the public.  Subject to planning permission the site would operate 
under an environmental permit issued by the Environment Agency.  

The Officer referred Members to page 214 of the Officer Report. The main issues in 
this application were considered to be: 

- the location of the waste use and the planning policy  context; and 
- the environment impacts of the development.

The location of the waste use and planning policy context were considered in detail 
on pages 214 to 218 of the Officer Report.  The environmental impacts of the 
development, including ecology, noise, dust, traffic, flood risk, visual impact, 

Page 39



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 40 -

heritage, design, hours of operation and contaminated land were considered on 
pages 218 to 225 of the Officer Report.  

The Officer Report concluded on page 227, that the proposed waste recycling 
facility would result in local recycling of waste rather than being sent to landfill or 
transported for recycling further afield (apart from the post recycling residual waste 
and products that require specialist recycling elsewhere).  

The recycling facility was considered to be an acceptable development in this 
employment allocated area, subject to appropriate environmental impact 
compliance which could be achieved through the requirements of planning 
conditions and the environmental permit issued by the Environment Agency.  

In weighing all the issues in the planning balance, including economic, 
environmental and design, it was concluded that the benefits of delivering the 
recycling facilities outweigh any adverse environmental impacts perceived or 
otherwise, which in any case could be appropriately mitigated.  

The Officer confirmed the proposal moved waste up the waste hierarchy avoiding 
the need for landfill. This complies with Government policy and helps achieve the 
targets for landfill diversion. The proposed development therefore accorded with the 
relevant policies of Gloucestershire County Council, the Waste Core Strategy, the 
FoDDC Core Strategy and Allocations Plan as identified in the Officer Report and 
summarised in paragraphs 7.60.

The Officer  advise the Committee that the application was recommended for 
approval subject to 31 planning conditions, including those relating to control of 
noise, dust, ecology, contamination, hours of operation and an import limit of 
30,500 tonnes per annum.  

It was noted there were no registered speakers for this application.  

The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentation.  

The facilitator asked all Members in turn if they had any questions.  

Councillor John Cordwell noted that the hybrid application had still not been 
determined.  The Officer confirmed that he had spoken to the Head of Development 
Management at FoDDC prior to the Committee and confirmed that the application 
had not been determined in light of the Covid 19 situation.   

Councillor Bernard Fisher questioned if tyres were hazardous waste, as they were 
not made of made of rubber anymore and often contained chemicals.  He was 
concerned in case they caught fire and the chemical breakdown could leak into the 
water courses and Lydney Harbour.  

The Officer explained that, given the nature of the waste, it would require an 
environmental permit by the Environment Agency (EA).  The EA would control the 

Page 40



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 41 -

specific waste.  Therefore, no other planning conditions would be required.  The 
Officer did not consider that tyres were hazardous waste by definition.

A separate control regarding the seepage and drainage matters were considered 
and due to the nature of concern by FoDDC, further information was sought from 
the applicant.  The Lead Local Flood Authority was satisfied with the information 
provided.  

Councillor Terry Hale wondered if the lightweight waste being stored could blow 
away because the security fence had gaps in between.  He referred to the site visit 
in March 2020 and how clean and tidy the site was.  

The Officer advised this issue would be covered by the EA permit and the 
operator’s working practices.  However, this could be an additional planning 
condition, if Members were minded to approve the application.   

Councillor Graham Morgan questioned the boundary screening and felt that the site 
would generate employment for the Forest of Dean area.  

The Officer explained that the applicant had already put in some funding for trees 
which would act as a visual screen from other parts of the site, as well noise 
control.  Members were referred to Condition 27, in particular in respect of 
boundary treatments. Within two months of commencement a landscaping scheme 
would need be submitted for approval.  

Councillor Shaun Parsons wanted to confirm that the 7:00am starting times was 
considered the standard for such a site.  

The Officer confirmed this was the case, give the site was on an industrial estate.  

Councillor Robinson questioned if the trees were going to be maintained.  The 
Officer replied if any of these trees were damaged they would be replaced with 
mature trees.  

The Officer confirmed that Condition 23 involves a tree protection plan and 
Condition 25 referred to landscaping aftercare management scheme which included 
planting species, density of planting, etc.   Condition 26 states that if any tree or 
plant is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies within the five years that it shall be 
replaced with similar species in the same location.  

The Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor John Cordwell made a proposal to accept the Officer’s 
Recommendation.   This was seconded by Councillor Steve Robinson.  

Councillor Cordwell felt the application was very straight forward and the application 
site seems ideally suited for this use.  He saw no reason not to approve the 
application.  

Page 41



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 42 -

Councillor Robinson, as seconder, added he was pleased with the Officer’s Report 
and felt it was better to deal with the waste locally rather than it being transported 
out the area.  

Councillor Alan Preest, the local Member, added that he had visited the site on the 
number of occasions and noted the potential regeneration.   He added there was 
only one road in and out of that area and the site was relatively small.   Councillor 
Preest remarked that the site would create employment and he had no reservations 
with this application.   

Councillor Will Windsor Clive added he was pleased to have the local Member’s 
comments and was very comfortable with the recommendation.  

Councillor Simon Wheeler felt it was an ideal site for this type of activity.  

Councillor Vines concurred it was the right thing in the right place.  

Councillor Shaun Parsons added he was happy to support the application.  

Councillor Graham Morgan agreed this was a much needed facility in the area, that 
would create employment in the Forest of Dean and he fully supported the 
application.  

Councillor Terry Hale advised the Committee was impressed by the way the 
compound was designed and the company appeared to be doing a good job as the 
site was tidy, clean and well maintained.  He reiterated his request for a condition 
relating to litter control.  

Mr Canney stated a condition relating to measures for litter control could be added.   
It was explained that measures for litter control would be submitted and approved in 
writing by the waste planning authority, prior to commencement of the development.    

At this point, the facilitator confirmed the proceedings with the Solicitor.  

The Solicitor confirmed that tyres were not regarded as hazardous waste and 
requested the Senior Planning Officer to read out the additional condition, as 
proposed by Councillor Terry Hale.    

Mr Canney clarified that the additional condition would state: 

“No development shall take place until details of measures for litter control have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the waste planning authority and the 
development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
thereafter shall be maintained for the life of the site” 

The Principal Planning Officer suggested the additional condition should not include 
the following: “that no development shall take place until” as it was necessary to 
obtain the applicants approval for a ‘prior to a development’ planning condition.  

Page 42



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 43 -

She suggested that instead of using the words “no development shall take place” 
instead use the words “within three months of the date of the permission”.  

On being put to the vote, the application was passed unanimously (14 in favour).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That Planning Permission be granted for the reasons summarised in 
Paragraphs 7.57 and 7.60 subject to the Planning Conditions in Section 8.0 of 
the Officer Report, to include the additional condition for litter control as 
agreed by the Committee. 

The Chairperson thanked Members of the Committee for their indulgence to ensure 
the meeting went ahead in the current situation.  He added this was the first virtual 
meeting and the quality of the questions and debate was clearly apparent.  

The Chairperson reiterated his thanks to Planning Officers for their well written and 
detailed reports and additional clarity provided by supporting officers.     He also 
wished to thank Democratic Services and Ryan Mitchell from Axonal for all their 
efforts in undertaking the first virtual meeting and making it a success.  In particular 
he wished to thank Andrea Griffiths for all her efforts.  

Meeting closed 14:33

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



APPLICATION NO: 17/0122/FDMAJM DATED 28th November 2017

AGENT: Land & Mineral Management Ltd, Roundhouse 
Cottages, Bridge Street, Frome, Somerset, BA11 1BE

APPLICANT: Clearwell Quarries Ltd, Stowe, St Briavels, Lydney, 
GL15 6QW

SITE: Stowe and Clearwell Quarries

PROPOSAL: Extension of Stowe Hill Quarry & Retention of Mineral 
Processing Plant at Clearwell Quarry.

PARISHIES 
OF

Newland and 
St Briavels

SITE AREA: 28.55Ha

GRID 
REF:

356578 E
206716 N

RECOMMENDED: RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission is 
granted for the reasons set out within this report and 
summarised at paragraphs 7.333 to 7.347, subject to 
the prior completion of a S106 planning agreement to 
secure the long term monitoring and safeguarding of 
Slade Brook SSSI and subject to the conditions set 
out in section 8 of this report.

1.0 LOCATION AND APPLICATION SITE

1.1 The quarries of Clearwell and Stowe Hill lie on a Class III highway about 3km 
south of Coleford.  The village of Clearwell lies approximately 1 km to the 
north of the Clearwell Quarry.  The two small hamlets of Stowe and Stowe 
Green are situated on the local road to the south and north of the quarry 
access respectively.  

1.2 Both quarries are operated as a single operation by Breeden Southern Limited 
(Breedens) with a connecting tunnel, with a conveyor belt, under the highway.  
Quarrying takes place in the southern quarry which is called Stowe Hill 
Quarry.  The processing plant is located in the bottom of the northern, worked 
out, quarry which is Clearwell Quarry.

1.3 The Application Area is 28.55Ha in size which incorporates an extension area 
(13.56 hectares) to the northeast of existing workings), a haul road to the 
primary crusher, primary crusher and conveyor in the existing Stowe Hill 
Quarry and the existing plant, site offices, workshop, staff facilities and 
weighbridge and wheel wash facilities within Clearwell Quarry.

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



Page 46



1.4 The proposed extension area consists mainly of agricultural land divided by 
hedgerows forming part of Longley Farm. The land falls from 197m Above 
Ordnance Datum (AOD) to 184m AOD in a north-easterly direction, towards 
the unclassified road between Shop House Farm and Trow Green. On the 
northern boundary is an unclassified road from Shop House Farm to Stowe. 
Longley Farm including farmhouse and agricultural buildings lies to the south-
east. 

1.5 The main highway access to the site used for the transportation of mineral is 
at the Clearwell Quarry side onto the unclassified local highway.  Lorries travel 
north along this local road, to the junction known as the Shop House Junction, 
crossing over this junction to join the B4228 at Orlepool Inn. 

1.6 There is also a road access at the Stowe Hill Quarry side onto the unclassified 
highway, slightly to the north of the main quarry access at Clearwell. The 
Stowe Hill Quarry access is not used for the exportation or importation of 
stone but as an operational access for plant, machinery and staff.

1.7 An unclassified highway, Margery Lane, runs along the western boundary of 
Clearwell Quarry and this forms the eastern boundary of the Wye Valley Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) which also runs just to the south west 
of the existing Stowe Hill Quarry boundary. Clearwell Castle lies to the north of 
Clearwell Quarry and has been designated as a historic garden.

1.8 The nearest residential properties to Clearwell Quarry (where the plant area 
will be retained) are the Travellers Rest which is located approximately 10 
metres from the boundary of Clearwell Quarry. Margery Corner and Stowe 
Green Farm are 60 and 120 metres away, respectively of Clearwell and Stowe 
Hill quarries. 

1.9 The nearest residential properties to Stowe Hill Quarry boundary are the 
Travellers Rest approximately 20 metres away, Crown Cottages, Longley 
Farm Cottage, Shop House, Longley Farm, Cockshed Barn, Margery Corner, 
Stowe Green and Mount Pleasant which are within a radius of approximately 
300 metres from the plant located in Clearwell Quarry.

1.10 The nearest residential properties to the proposed Extraction Area is Shop 
House (Farm) which lies approximately 185 metres to the north of Phase 1 
boundary and 165 metres from to Phase 2 boundary and Long House Farm 
which lies approximately 200 metres from the Phase 1 boundary.

1.11 Orles Wood Site of Nature Conservation Interest (SNCI) lies approximately 
300m to the south-west of the extension area and the Slade Brook Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is approximately 1.2 km to the south-west. 
The Wye Valley AONB is approximately 800m to the west and 900m to the 
south-west of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area.  

1.12 There is a Public Right of Way (Footpath 66) that crosses the boundary of the 
extension as shown in plan 251L-01-02.

Page 47



2.0 THE PROPOSAL

2.1 The Application Area is 28.55Ha in size which incorporates an extension area 
(13.56Ha) to the east of the existing workings, a haul road to the primary 
crusher, primary crusher and conveyor retained within Stowe Hill Quarry and 
the existing plant, site offices, workshop, staff facilities, weighbridge and wheel 
wash facilities retained within Clearwell Quarry. In addition it is proposed to 
provide a new road access, for the sole use of Longley Farm. 

2.2 The applicant is proposing to extend Stowe Hill Quarry to the north-east by 
13.56 Ha and extract to 170m AoD which is 6m deeper, than currently 
approved (176m AoD) in the existing workings while keeping the haul road to 
the primary crusher, primary crusher and conveyor in Stowe Hill Quarry and 
the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area to epikarst-based 
restoration including a combination of agriculture, grassland, woodland, 
hedgerows and wetland features. 
 

2.3 For Clearwell Quarry the applicant is proposing to keep the site offices, 
workshop, staff facilities, weighbridge and wheel wash facilities in situ while 
improving the existing plant to reduce noise and dust emissions as detailed in 
the supporting information and the restoration of the whole of Clearwell Quarry 
(including the plant area which currently does not have an approved 
restoration scheme) to agriculture with associated landscaping and planting, 
using both indigenous and imported inert materials. 

2.4 In total, the proposed extension area will provide an additional c.2.5 million 
tonnes (mt) of aggregate materials that are required to sustain the quarry in 
production since the current permitted reserves are fast approaching 
exhaustion.

2.5 To support the application the following documents were submitted by the 
applicant which can be seen in full in Public Access: 

 Environmental Statement, Non-Technical Summary v3 dated 
19/12/2018;

 Environmental Statement, Additional Environmental Information Report 
dated December 2018;

 Envireau Water, Technical Note dated 19/12/2018;
 Planning Statement;
 Location Plan, Application Site;
 Existing Site Arrangement - Clearwell Quarry;
 Existing Site Arrangement - Stowe Hill Quarry;
 Topographical Site Survey Plan;
 Extraction Phase 1and  Phase 2;
 Proposed Longley Farm Access Route;
 Proposed Plant Amendment, proposed Plant (Sections);
 Proposed Restoration Scheme at the End of Phase 1;
 Final Restoration Scheme;
 Appendix 1 Site Investigation & Geological Report;

Page 48



 Appendix 2 Stowe Hill Quarry Planning Permission;
 Appendix 3:Clearwell and Stowe Hill Quarries Site Plan, Clearwell; 
 Restoration Phase 1,  Phase 2 and Phase 3, Stowe Hill Revised 

Restoration; 
 Scheme and Proposed Noise Attenuation Bund & Section;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 1:Introduction;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 1:Appendix 1A Scoping Opinion, 

Appendix 1B CV Statement of Experience;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 2:Alternatives;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 3:Cumulative Impacts;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 4:Land Use and Agriculture, Longley 

Farm Survey Observations, Longley Farm Generalised Soil Types, 
Longley Farm Agricultural Quality; 

 Environmental Statement Chapter 5: Cultural Heritage, Desk Based 
Assessment, Geophysical Survey Report, Geophysical Survey Plans 1
Environmental Statement Geophysical Survey Plans 2, Archaeological 
Evaluation; 

 Environmental Statement Chapter 6: Community & Social Effects;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 7: Air Quality;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 8: Ecology,  Appendix 8A to 8C 

Survey Maps;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 9: Traffic & Highways, appendix 9A 

Traffic Survey Results;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 10:Appendix 10D Geochemical 

Assess, site Setting, Hydrology, Regional Geology, Land use, Soils, 
Local Geology,  Limestone Interface, Hydrogeological Cross Section, 
Karst Features Large, Karst Features Small, Environmental Setting, 
Groundwater and Surface Monitoring Plan, Groundwater Contours All 
Boreholes, Groundwater Contours Removed Boreholes, Groundwater 
Contours Seasonal High, Soil CO2 Survey Results, Environment. 
Agency Flood Map, Environment. Agency Risk of Surface Water Flood,  
Hydrology May 2018, Appendix 10A Technical Report May 2018, 
Appendix 10B Monitoring Summary May 2018, Appendix 10C 
Hydrographs, Appendix 10E RA Tables, Appendix 10F Monitoring 
Strategy, Env. Agency Flood Map for Planning, EA Risk of Surface 
Water Flooding, Drainage Routes to Sinkhole, Restoration Cross 
Section;

 Environmental Statement Chapter 11: Noise and Vibration;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 11:Appendices 11A to 11D;
 Environmental Statement: Additional Environmental Info Report May 

2018;
 DRAFT Habitats Regulations Assessment December 2017;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 12:Landscape.

2.6 Below is a summary of the Planning Statement and Non Technical summary 
submitted by the applicant: 

“The ES has been produced in accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The 

Page 49



Regulations require an Environmental Statement which “must include at least 
the information reasonably required to assess the likely significant 
environmental effects of the development”. 

The detailed environmental research into the Development Proposals, known 
as the Environmental Impact Assessment, has critically examined all potential 
impacts. In so doing it has been possible to fully understand the impact it will 
have on the environment and to propose means of mitigation. 
 
In the Environmental Impact Assessment process, environmental information 
has been researched and analysed by specialist consultants. 

There are limited reserves of stone remaining to be worked and it is proposed 
to maintain operations by extending the quarry (the Extension Area) into an 
area that has been proven to contain a commercially workable deposit of 
limestone. Plan No. 251L-01-01 shows the location of Stowe Hill and Clearwell 
Quarries. Plan No: 251L-01-02 shows the Extension Area outlined in red and 
can be viewed in Public Access.

The Extension Area is predominantly agricultural land divided by hedgerows. 
The land slopes downwards in a north-easterly direction, towards the 
unclassified road between Shop House Farm and Stow Green. On the 
northern boundary is an unclassified road from Shop House Farm to Stowe. 
Longley Farm including farmhouse and agricultural buildings lies to the south-
east. 

There is one Public Right of Way which crosses the Extension Area. 

 The Development Proposals 
It is proposed to extend Stowe Hill Quarry to the north-east and by deepening. 
It is currently limited by planning permission to no lower than 176m AOD, but it 
is proposed to extend this to 170m AOD within the Extension Area. Together 
with the later extension, this will yield an additional c.2.5 million tonnes of 
limestone. 

The additional reserves are required to sustain the quarry in production since 
the current permitted reserves are fast approaching exhaustion. As part of the 
Development Proposals, the existing processing plant arrangement within 
Clearwell Quarry will be retained, but with environmental improvements to 
reduce noise and dust. 

Extraction methods will remain the same as present, with drilling and blasting 
of rock from an established face. This is then loaded into dump trucks and 
hauled via internal roads to a crusher at the southern end of Stowe Hill 
Quarry. From here it is transported via conveyor to Clearwell Quarry for further 
processing and then either despatched off site, or used in the on-site 
manufacture of ready-mixed concrete. A scalpings screen will be incorporated 
into the existing crusher in Stowe Hill Quarry which will both be clad to reduce 
noise and dust. 

Page 50



An existing access from Longley Farm, on the Shop House – Stowe Road will 
require relocating. A new road access will be provided for farm use only, as 
part of the Development Proposals. Planning permission was granted in 2013 
to establish a road access in this location. 

It is proposed to progressively work and restore the Extension Area, over two 
phases. This phasing is designed to limit the visual impact of the extraction 
operations, the majority of which will take place below ground level, within the 
void. 

Soils and overburden will be removed and, together with quarry waste, will be 
used to construct landscaped screen mounds, minimising visual impact, or 
used in areas undergoing restoration. The stored materials will be used in 
restoration when the screening is no longer required. 

The production limit is currently 600,000 tonnes per annum of aggregate, as 
specified by planning condition and this will not be exceeded with the current 
Development Proposals. 

The position of the extraction boundary will minimise landscape and visual 
impacts. 

Output & Duration 
Projections indicate that the useable / saleable mineral from the proposed 
Extension Area would sustain extraction for a minimum of 4 years and two 
months. To allow flexibility, a 5-year extraction period is sought with a further 
12 months to restore the Extension Area. Subject to planning permission 
being granted in 2018 for the Extension Area, Stowe Hill and Clearwell 
Quarries would be restored by the end of 2026. 

Working Hours 
The same working hours as those conditioned in the existing planning 
condition will be adopted, i.e. 7.00am to 6.00pm, Monday to Friday; 8.00am to 
1.00pm on Saturdays, with no working on Sunday or Public Holidays. 

Restoration
The Final Restoration Scheme is shown on Plan No: 251L-01-12. The 
Restoration Scheme relating to the permitted mineral extraction area at Stowe 
Hill Quarry comprises a bowl-shaped landform with undulating floor, divided by 
hedgerows. It includes seasonal wetlands, calcareous grassland on the side 
slopes and blocks of woodland around the upper fringes. This scheme seeks 
to maintain the drainage characteristics of the land in relation to the movement 
of groundwater towards Slade Brook SSSI to the south. Restoration here is 
ongoing and thus far has focussed mainly on the southern half of the quarry. 

Clearwell Quarry is undergoing progressive restoration to agriculture with 
associated landscaping and planting, using both indigenous materials and 
imported inert materials to raise the land and provide a growing medium. 

Page 51



The restoration approach to the Extension Area of Stowe Hill Quarry is broadly 
similar to that for the existing area, with the emphasis remaining on Epikarst 
creation, by establishing an undulating floor to agriculture with a full soil profile 
to allow slow infiltration of surface water into the groundwater system. The 
main differences in restoration between the existing area and Extension Area 
are: 

 The ‘best and most versatile’ soils from the Extension Area will be 
conserved and re-used to create better quality agricultural land on the 
quarry floor; 

 Sections of rock faces and benches will be retained and incorporated 
into the restored landscape; and 

 Improved Epikarst creation scheme the delivery of which can be 
controlled by a Legal Agreement (Section 106 Agreement). 

 Restored public footpath alignments will be kept away from retained 
rock faces, partly to avoid danger to trespassers but also to encourage 
raptors to use the faces as nesting habitat. 

Access and Traffic 
Based on HGVs with an average load of 18 tonnes, there is a maximum of 
162 HGVs (324 movements) per day associated with the existing quarry 
operations, assuming there is no backhauling by vehicles importing inert 
restoration materials into Clearwell Quarry. 

When backhauling is included, this removes 15 loads / 30 movements per 
day, leaving approximately 147 loads / 294 movements per day. No change in 
this pattern is anticipated during development of the Extension Area, since 
production from the quarry will not increase. Therefore, no additional impacts 
on intensity of use, capacity or safety are anticipated, except for the beneficial 
impact achieved by the new access arrangement for Longley Farm. 

The routes that will be used by vehicles associated with the proposed 
development have already undergone improvement as part of a Section 106 
Agreement, dated 22nd January 1997. This was done in agreement with the 
Highways Authority, at the expense of the quarry operator, to facilitate use by 
quarry traffic. A Section 73 Agreement, dated 5th January 2007 also saw 
improvements made to highway infrastructure. 

Environmental Considerations 
To establish the aspects of the environment in which the development 
proposal could be significantly impacted upon, a request for a “Scoping 
Opinion” was sought from the Mineral Planning Authority. 

An existing access from Longley Farm, on the Shop House – Stowe Road will 
require relocating. A new road access will be provided for farm use only, as 
part of the Development Proposals. Planning permission was granted in 2013 
to establish a road access in this location. 

It is proposed to progressively work and restore the Extension Area, over two 
phases. This phasing is designed to limit the visual impact of the extraction 

Page 52



operations, the majority of which will take place below ground level, within the 
void. 

The current Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA) recognises that 
Gloucestershire has a close geographical relationship with its surrounding 
counties and regions and that cross-border movement of aggregates do occur. 
The majority of aggregates are, however, moved from and to Gloucestershire 
by road as there are no rail linked quarries or depots in the County. 
Consequently, although Gloucestershire’s aggregate demands could be met 
from outside of the County, the resulting increase in transport costs would 
have a negative economic impact on construction costs in the County. An 
increase in the distance travelled by HGVs delivering aggregate would also 
have a negative environmental impact by increasing vehicular emissions, road 
wear and tear and traffic congestion. 

Alternative Sites
Given the circumstances associated with minerals development, and the 
general planning policy approach favouring extensions to existing sites, 
Breedon Southern Limited (BSL) has not sought to identify any alternative, 
green-field sites. 

In terms of alternative areas into which Stowe Hill Quarry could extend, the 
proposed extension is considered to be the most suitable and a natural 
progression of the existing quarry which will continue to be worked in a north-
easterly direction into a known Carboniferous Limestone resource area. 

In line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), it is proposed 
that the recognised shortfall in provision is met through formal site allocations. 
The Allocation Areas being put forward for public consultation in the FoD, to 
date, include extensions to Stowe Hill, Drybrook and Stowfield Quarries. 

It is, however, clear from the draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire that 
an increase in output from Drybrook and Stowefield, to address any shortfall 
should another quarry close in the FoD, would not be supported. Furthermore, 
Drybrook has been mothballed since 2009 although 1.8mt of reserves remain 
which does bring into question the deliverability of this Allocation Area. 

Although aggregates could feasibly be imported from outside of 
Gloucestershire, this would result in undesirable economic and environmental 
impacts. Gloucestershire is, therefore, reliant on and needs primary won 
construction materials. 

It is clear from the current Local Aggregate Assessment that recycled 
aggregates are limited in availability. In conclusion Gloucestershire is, 
therefore, reliant on and needs primary won construction materials. Should 
sufficient reserves of crushed rock aggregate not become available, primary 
won materials will have to be imported from outside of the County, by road. 
For financial and environmental reasons this is undesirable. 

Alternative: Materials 

Page 53



In terms of recycled aggregates, the current LAA recognises that the 
quantities produced are small and are of limited availability. 

Conclusions 
The published information by the County Council clearly demonstrates a need 
for further reserves of crushed rock aggregate from the FoD to be permitted 
because of the current size of the landbank. 

Although extensions to the existing quarries in the FoD are proposed they may 
not be deliverable and / or may not be capable of replacing any lost capacity 
at Stowe Hill Quarry. Similarly, a shortfall in supply cannot be replaced by 
recycled aggregates which are limited in availability. 

Although aggregates could feasibly be imported from outside of 
Gloucestershire, this would result in undesirable economic and environmental 
impacts. Gloucestershire is, therefore, reliant on and needs primary won 
construction materials. 

It is clear from the current Local Aggregate Assessment that recycled 
aggregates are limited in availability. In conclusion Gloucestershire is, 
therefore, reliant on and needs primary won construction materials. Should 
sufficient reserves of crushed rock aggregate not become available, primary 
won materials will have to be imported from outside of the County, by road. 
For financial and environmental reasons this is undesirable. 

Cumulative Impacts 
Quarrying by its nature has the potential to create negative environmental 
impacts either singularly or cumulatively with other development. The impacts 
of these Development Proposals have been considered in detail in the other 
chapters of the Environmental Statement and found not to create any 
significant adverse on- or off-site impacts, subject to the adoption of 
prescribed mitigation measures. Instead there will be positive economic, social 
and biodiversity benefits. 

There is not any other known major permitted or planned development which, 
on its own or combined with the Development Proposals, could create a 
significant negative environmental impact. 

As there are no unacceptable significant environmental impacts to the 
environment arising from the Development Proposals and, in the absence of 
any known or planned major development in the local area, it follows that any 
receptor would not experience a significant cumulative impact from the 
combined effect of two or more sources. As a result, the cumulative negative 
impacts of the Development Proposals are found to be insignificant. 

Land Use and Agriculture 
The proposed extension could potentially impact on three receptors: 
agricultural land, agricultural users of the site and soil resources.  In order to 

Page 54



assess the effects, a detailed soils and land quality survey was undertaken, 
and information regarding farm businesses operating at the site was obtained. 

The results show the site has a mixture of shallow soils over limestone, deep 
loamy soils and slowly permeable loamy over clayey soils. Agricultural land 
quality varies between grade 2 and grade 4, with most of the land a mixture of 
sub-grades 3a and 3b. 

The proposed restoration scheme will protect soil resources for reuse (by 
using best practice stripping, stockpiling and restoration techniques). 
Adherence to these principles will protect the soil resource and lead to no 
deterioration in land quality following restoration. There would therefore be 
negligible adverse impact on soils or agricultural land. 

A small land area of a short tenancy farm business would be affected by the 
extension. The loss of access to this land, representing a small proportion of 
the total holding would be a moderate adverse impact and does not threaten 
the viability of the business. 

Cultural Heritage
The construction of the Proposed Extension will remove potentially historically 
important hedgerows and the historic legibility of the historic landscape 
character within its footprint. The rural character of the area will be restored 
following the cessation of operations; however, the loss of legibility will remain. 
This is considered to represent a Negligible Adverse residual effect, which is 
not a significant effect. 

The construction and operation of the Proposed Extension will result in a 
change to the settings of the statutorily designated Clearwell Castle, Clearwell 
Park and a number of assets associated with the castle and the park; and to 
the statutorily designated Toll House at Trow Green. These changes are 
considered to constitute a Minor Adverse effect on their significance, which is 
not a significant effect. It will also result in a change to the setting of the non-
designated Longley Farmhouse which is considered to constitute a Minor 
Adverse effect on their significance, which is not a significant effect. 

No cumulative impacts, either direct or indirect, were identified during the 
assessment. 

Community and Social Effects
The environmental impacts of the development in terms of dust, noise, 
vibration, traffic and visual impact on the local community have been 
considered in detail in the Environmental Statement. Here it is established that 
these impacts can be controlled satisfactorily without unacceptable detriment 
to the local community. 

With the diminishing stone reserves in the quarry, the failure to seek an 
extension to the quarry operations would result in the loss of the direct and 
indirect employment and a reduction in goods and services and revenues 
such as taxes, would have a significant negative impact. 

Page 55



The key socio-economic benefits of the scheme are: 
 Provides benefits to the local economy and the employment of local 

people in a rural area; 
 The direct employment of 36 employees on a permanent basis plus 

additional indirect employment required for support services, restoration 
and ancillary functions; and 

 Induced opportunities for local businesses. 

Air Quality 
Chapter 7 of the Environmental Statement looked at the potential impacts on 
Air Quality from particulate matter (dust) from the proposal for the extension of 
Stowe Hill Quarry and associated development. 

At present, Carboniferous limestone is extracted at Stowe Hill Quarry and, 
after initial processing within Stowe Hill Quarry, is transported by conveyor to 
Clearwell Quarry for further processing and distribution as a range of 
aggregate products. 

There would be no change to the basic processes undertaken, which centre 
on the quarrying, processing and distribution of limestone, primarily for use in 
the construction and transport sectors throughout the region. There would, 
however be a significant improvement to the mineral processing plant, with 
more processing taking place within the existing quarry void in Stowe Hill 
Quarry, together with a range of improvements to the existing plant site within 
Clearwell Quarry. 

There is no standard method for assessing the potential impacts from dust 
from mineral operations, but Chapter 7 was carried out with reference to 
relevant documents and best practice guidance. 

It was noted that once planning consent has been obtained, environmental 
regulation at Stowe Hill Quarry will be enacted out by means of an updated 
Dust Management Plan (DMP) for the quarry as a whole. The DMP will be 
approved by the appropriate regulatory authority (in this case Gloucestershire 
County Council (GCC) and Forest of Dean District Council (FDDC)). 

Dust and weather monitoring are ongoing at the site and the data will be used 
in setting site-specific dust limit values as part of the DMP 

Methodology 
In terms of air quality, the assessment considered the possible impacts of the 
proposal in relation to National Air Quality Standards (NAQS) and in 
accordance with national and local guidelines. This stage of the assessment 
was carried out in relation to the Air Quality Objectives (AQO) for PM10, and 
also for nitrogen dioxide (NO2), which is another aspect of the AQO and is 
associated with exhaust emissions (such as from mobile plant and HDV and 
LDV traffic at the quarry). 

Page 56



For PM10, the assessment considered the existing, background, levels of 
PM10 and the levels that might be associated with the development, in 
relation to established best practice guidance.
 
For ‘nuisance’ dust, the assessment followed recently-developed guidance 
developed by Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) for the minerals 
industry that took the distances between, and directions to, neighbouring 
receptors and the quarry operations, together with local average wind speeds 
and directions to determine the ‘risk’ of dust impacts from the development. 
The dust risk assessment was carried out for the current method of operation 
and after mitigation (i.e. with improvements). 

Results 
Using guidance from Environmental Protection UK (together with the Institute 
of Air Quality Management), and the Forest of Dean District Council, the 
assessment found that as there would be no change to the existing volume of 
production or to HGV movements at Stowe Hill Quarry, HGV emissions for 
NO2 or PM10 associated with the development would be insignificant. 

For PM10 associated with mineral operations, Defra provides predictions of 
background PM10 levels for every local authority in the UK. Average 
background PM10 levels in the locality of Stowe Hill Quarry and Clearwell 
Quarry were estimated to be around 13.86 micrograms per cubic metre. This 
is less than 35% of the annual mean AQO for PM10. 

The new IAQM states that ‘If the long-term background PM10 concentration is 
less than 17 μg/m3 there is little risk that the Process Contribution (PC) would 
lead to an exceedance of the annual-mean objective and such a finding can 
be put forward qualitatively, without the need for further consideration, in most 
cases.’. From this, PM10 emissions associated with quarry operations were 
not considered to be significant. 

For nuisance dust, potential impacts arising from dust arising from the different 
aspects of the proposed operation were determined in relation to the new 
IAQM guidance; 

For mineral processing and stockpiles at both Clearwell and Stowe Hill 
Quarry, the Magnitude of Dust Effects was determined to be Negligible at all 
relevant receptor locations except Cockshed Barn, Rose Cottage and Mount 
Pleasant from Clearwell Quarry where it was determined to be Slight Adverse; 

For soil and/or overburden handling the Magnitude of Dust Effects was 
determined to be Negligible at all relevant receptor locations except Shop 
House Farm, where it was determined to be Slight Adverse during screening 
bund formation and removal and during Phase 2 in Stowe Hill Quarry; 

For quarry processes including mobile plant movements the Magnitude of 
Dust Effects was determined to be Negligible at all relevant receptor locations 
except Shop House Farm where it was determined to be Slight Adverse during 
Phase 2 in Stowe Hill Quarry. 

Page 57



Consequently, and with reference to the new IAQM guidance, the overall 
impact of the development was considered to be not significant. 

Dust Sources 
The following were identified as potential sources or site activities that may 
give rise to dust from the proposal: 

 Soil stripping, storage and reinstatement; 
 Overburden removal, storage and reinstatement; 
 Drilling and blasting; 
 Mineral extraction, loading into dump trucks and tipping; 
 Mineral processing (at both Clearwell and Stowe Hill Quarries); 
 Mobile plant (both on-site and off-site vehicle movements), and 
 Wind scouring of exposed surfaces and stockpiles. 

Dust Mitigation 
For each process or activity, the level of risk of dust emission was considered 
and appropriate mitigation measures were outlined. For most operations, dust 
mitigation was set out in terms of best practice guidelines. 

The dust mitigation measures proposed would be supported by a Dust 
Management Plan (DMP) and managed through the site Environmental 
Management System (EMS). 

Residual Effects and Conclusion 
Residual effects are essentially those impacts that cannot reasonably be 
mitigated. 

With mitigation, there is very little potential for a breach of the AQO for NO2 or 
PM10 from this development. 

For nuisance dust, in accordance with the new IAQM guidance the 
assessment found that for all aspects of the proposed operation there could 
be no greater than Slight Adverse effects at any off-site receptor. 
Consequently, the overall impact of the development was considered to be not 
significant. 

From this, and in consequence, the assessment, which was carried out in 
accordance with relevant national and local policy and guidance, showed that 
the proposed extension to Stowe Hill Quarry and continued use of Clearwell 
Quarry plant site can be operated in a manner unlikely to cause adverse air 
quality or dust impacts in their vicinity. 

Traffic and Highways 
Breedon Southern Limited’s planning application for an extension to the quarry 
will allow the supplies to the existing, established markets to continue for a 
further period of 5 years. The workings within the extension would be 
completed before the end date currently permitted at the existing quarry. 

Page 58



In terms of highway matters there would be no change at the quarry or on the 
local road network when compared with the current, as the existing access, 
permitted output limit of 600,000 tonnes per annum, working hours and haul 
routes would all remain. 

To accommodate the extension, it would be necessary to provide a 
replacement access to serve Longley Farm. However, this would be 
constructed on the B4228 in accordance with a design to current standards 
which was previously approved by the Council for an earlier application at 
Stowe Hill Quarry. 

The impact of the Development Proposals has been considered in terms of 
transport matters and cannot be considered to breach the threshold of a 
severe residual cumulative impact set out in national policy. As a result, in 
accordance with national policy, the Development Proposals should not be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds. 

Ecology 
As part of the planning application process, an Ecological Impact Assessment 
was prepared. 

Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy 
Appropriate mitigation and enhancement actions, which will be implemented to 
ensure the scheme protects notable species and complies with relevant 
wildlife legislation, meets national and local biodiversity policies, and supports 
local biodiversity targets. Actions are discussed under the following headings: 

 Translocating species-rich hedgerow. 
 Protecting bats. 
 Protecting badgers. 
 Protecting nesting birds. 
 Habitat creation: 

Native hedgerows and broadleaved woodland; and 
Calcareous grassland. 

 Habitat management. 

Cumulative Effects 
Given the absence of significant residual adverse impacts on ecology 
combined with the predicted overall medium- to long-term positive effect on 
habitats and wildlife associated with the proposed quarry extension the 
following statements regarding the cumulative impact of the proposals can be 
made: 

 The proposed quarry extension will not contribute to or compound any 
existing or future adverse ecological impacts that may be manifest 
within the local landscape; and 

 The proposed quarry extension, in the long-term, will provide an 
opportunity to off-set any existing or future adverse ecological impacts 
that may be manifest within the local landscape. 

Traffic and Highways

Page 59



The impact of the Development Proposals has been considered in terms of 
transport matters and cannot be considered to breach the threshold of a 
severe residual cumulative impact set out in national policy. As a result, in 
accordance with national policy, the Development Proposals should not be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds 

Hydrogeology 
An assessment of the potential effects that the development proposal may 
have on hydrogeology and hydrology has been undertaken for the operational 
and restoration phases. Possible effects that may result from the proposed 
development of Stowe Hill Quarry have been identified by consideration of a 
conceptual hydrogeological model developed for the site through a review and 
verification of the historical monitoring dataset for Slade Brook, new 
monitoring data collected for the extension area and other publicly available 
information sources. The significance of potential effects has been determined 
against predefined baseline conditions defined for the conceptual site model. 

Stowe Hill Quarry is located on a broad, flat plateau of Avon Group limestone, 
comprising massive limestone with minor limestone-shale bands. The 
limestone forming the plateau is generally horizontal and underlain by a 
sequence of sandstone units, separated by an undulating boundary. The 
limestone plateau extends to the north, west, south and south-east of the 
proposed extension area bounded by tributaries of the River Wye and River 
Severn found within valleys to the west and south respectively. Only the 
uppermost reaches of these streams flow over the limestones of the Avon 
Group. To the northeast of the proposed extension area the limestone plateau 
dips more steeply to the north, as part of the Forest of Dean Syncline, 
becoming progressively covered by younger geological units in that direction. 

The limestone geology of the plateau exhibits classic karst features including: 
 Surface depressions and hollows, termed sink holes or swallow 

holes, that represent localised preferential points of surface 
water entry to the ground; 

 Springs that mark the point of groundwater discharge from the 
limestone aquifer system and are typically found at the upstream 
end of watercourses, near the boundary between the Avon 
Group limestone and underlying sandstone/mudstone sequence; 
and 

 Enlarged subsurface conduits and caves that connect the above 
Features.

The karst features specifically identified within the local area include: 

  Multiple sink holes along the edges of Bearse Common and 
Orles Wood situated between the extension area and Slade 
Brook to the south; 

   Longley Farm sink hole and a sink line to the south of Longley 
Farm sink hole; 

Page 60



   At least two other sink holes situated between the quarry and 
Orles Wood including a swallow hole situated at the southern 
end of the existing restored quarry area; 

   Multiple, vigorous springs on the upstream end of the northern 
tributary arm of Slade Brook; 

   Less vigorous springs on the sides of the southern tributary 
arm of Slade Brook; and 

   Other springs from the limestone that include St Margaret’s well 
(a small spring) discharging to Mork Brook in the west. 

The most sensitive groundwater dependent receptor considered in this 
assessment is Slade Brook which is located c. 800m south of the extension 
area. Slade Brook is designated a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) on 
the basis of a system of tufa dams that have formed across the watercourse 
over 700m of the channel, downstream of the spring resurgences on its 
northern tributary arm and below the confluence with the southern tributary 
arm. This represents the longest length of actively forming tufa dams in Britain 
and is a rare example in northern Europe. Tufa is a natural form of calcium 
carbonate that is deposited under certain conditions from groundwater 
discharging from a limestone aquifer system. The formation of tufa is strongly 
dependent on the carbonate chemistry of groundwater being discharged, 
although other physical and biogeochemical processes are important. The 
characteristic carbonate chemistry of water observed at Slade Brook that 
enables tufa formation develops within the soil zone in the catchment and 
during the passage of water through a zone of highly weathered limestone 
termed the “epikarst”. 

Detailed water quality and flow monitoring undertaken in Slade Brook since 
2005 has not demonstrated any effects on the carbonate chemistry in Slade 
Brook and/or tufa forming potential as a result of historical limestone extraction 
associated with past quarry operations, and more particularly following the 
2007 quarry extension. 

The hydrogeology of a karst limestone aquifer is complex and forms a 
continuum of processes which vary depending on location, scale and time. 
Envireau Water describes the system in terms of slow and fast, flow 
processes. 

On-site groundwater level monitoring demonstrates that: 
 Both fast and slow processes are being monitored. 
 The karst continuum is represented in the data. 
 A “background water table” can be defined that takes account of 

the karst continuum. 

Subsurface water flow directions in the limestone beneath the proposed 
extension area are orientated southward towards Slade Brook, following the 
shape and dip of the boundary between the limestone and underlying 
sandstone sequence. 

Page 61



The Avon Group limestone aquifer is classified a Principal Aquifer and is a 
Water Framework Directive groundwater body. However, the karst 
hydrogeology of the limestone system results in limited resource utilisation 
and a limited resource potential. Known groundwater abstractions in closest 
proximity of the extension area are typically small. 

Groundwater is present within the sandstone / mudstone sequence that 
underlies the limestone system. However, there is evidence that these two 
aquifer systems are not connected; hence the deep sandstone aquifer is not 
considered to be at risk from any activities associated with the proposed 
quarry extension. 

Flow data collected from a monitoring point on the Slade Brook has been 
rigorously analysed and we are satisfied that it can be used, in an appropriate 
way, to define a catchment area using a water balance technique. The water 
balance has been completed using rainfall data from an Environment Agency 
rain gauge close to the site and appropriate adjustment to estimate effective 
rainfall. 

The principal activities associated with operational phases that may result in 
effects on hydrogeology have been identified and considered. The potential 
effects associated with quarry restoration / closure phase are also considered. 
These effects are associated with the proposed progressive restoration plan to 
develop an epikarst restoration using waste quarrying material including 
limestone “dust” and limestone-shale. Importation of waste material is not 
proposed. 

The potentially significant effects considered for the operation and restoration / 
closure phase relate to changes in groundwater quality, levels and flow 
associated with the karst hydrogeology of the limestone aquifer system have 
also been considered.

The potential significance of all effects has been considered for the 
following receptors: 

 Surface water drainage - although it is noted that drainage will be 
directed to areas where it will percolate into the limestone and 
will not be discharged directly from the site (In exceptional 
circumstances controlled discharge of clean water, essentially 
free of suspended solids, may be discharged to a sink hole 
within the quarry); 

 The limestone aquifer underlying the extension area which is 
assumed to contribute flows to the Slade Brook; 

 Groundwater abstractors within the surrounding areas; and 
 Springs and baseflow from the aquifer. 

Using a standardised significance of effect and likelihood of occurrence, a 
qualitative risk analysis has been carried out. The risk assessment 
considers both the unmitigated and mitigated risks. 

The incorporated mitigation measures include: 

Page 62



 A depth of quarrying of 170mAOD which is above the 
background water table, except during periods of unusually high 
rainfall; 

 High operational standards; 
 A written protocol to deal with any unexpected conduit karst 

features excavated in the extension area; 
 Progressive restoration of a 2m thick epikarst system.

By ensuring limestone extraction does not extend beneath the water table 
in the deep Avon Group limestone aquifer the need for active quarry 
dewatering is prevented, thus minimising potential effects on level and 
flow. 

A groundwater level assessment will be agreed with the Mineral Planning 
Authority and Natural England in advance of working the lower levels of 
the extension. 

Through the delivery of the mitigation measures proposed the significance 
of possible effects on groundwater beneath the proposed extension area, 
off-site groundwater and groundwater dependant receptors at distance 
from the proposed extension area has been limited to low or very low for 
both the operational and restoration phases. 

A scheme of monitoring has been proposed which builds on and extends 
the existing scheme being carried out at the quarry. The scheme 
comprises two parts, a core scheme contained in a Section 106 
agreement (as is the case now); and an extension scheme, controlled by 
planning condition. The monitoring will increase the scientific 
understanding of the water system and provide evidence on which 
changes to the management of the quarry can be made”. 

Noise and Vibration
Background noise surveys were undertaken by AECOM in 2013 and 2014 at 
the closest noise sensitive properties surrounding the proposed Extension 
Area and the processing site. This has enabled noise level thresholds to be 
defined in accordance with current Planning Practice Guidance. 

Acoustic modelling software has been employed to predict cumulative noise 
levels from both the proposed and existing activities at the identified receptor 
locations. 

With the exception of one receptor, the predicted noise levels as a result of 
extraction and processing activities do not exceed the defined noise 
thresholds and are therefore considered to be of negligible significance. For 
the receptor where the noise level exceeds the defined noise threshold for 
extraction works at the closest approach, the predicted noise level is well 
below the 55 dB LAeq,1h limit (so as not to impose an unreasonable burden 
on the operator). 
Predicted noise levels as a result of soil stripping, bund formation and 
restoration activities are considerably below the Planning Practice Guidance 

Page 63



noise limit for temporary operations at all receptor locations. Consequently, 
the potential noise impact is considered to be of negligible significance.
 
Measured vibration levels as a result of blasting activities have been reviewed 
and recommendations provided for continued monitoring, incorporating best 
available techniques to minimise potential elevated levels so far as is 
reasonably practicable. 

Consequently, the potential impact as a result of blasting activities is 
considered to be of negligible significance. 

Landscape and Visual Impact
The proposed Stowe Hill Quarry restoration, including both the permitted and 
proposed Extension Area and covering approximately 49.6 hectares, would 
comprise: 17.3 hectares (35%) better quality agricultural land; 15.1 hectares 
(30%) agricultural land; 6.1 hectares calcareous grassland (12%); 4.6 
hectares (10%) native woodland; 2.2 hectares (4%) of agricultural access 
track; 1.8 hectares (4%) of retained rock surfaces; 1.3 hectares (3%) of pond 
and 1.2 hectares (2%) of dry marginal grassland. 

Effects on designated landscapes 
Several designated landscapes and landscape features are located in 
relatively close proximity to the site including: 
 Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; 
 Earthworks Scheduled Monument at Stowe; 
 Clearwell Castle Registered Park and Garden; 
 Clearwell Conservation Area; and 
 Slade Brook Site of Special Scientific Interest. 

The proposals are not inter-visible with and do not significantly affect any of 
these landscapes or landscape features. 

Measures employed to mitigate the adverse visual effects throughout the life 
of the quarry extension include: 
 Careful consideration of extraction phasing and direction of working, from 

the higher ground outwards; 
 Keeping extraction to the west side of the hill ridge; 
 Operating where possible below the level of the upper faces; 
 Construction of relatively low-level grassed soil storage mounds that will 

only adversely affect a small area around Shop House Corner; 
 Returning all the peripheral areas to original levels and open agricultural 

fields; 
 Leaving substantial standoff margins to Orles Wood/Bearse Common 

woodland; 
 Progressive restoration to agriculture with hedges and woodland blocks to 

recreate a varied landscape appropriate to the surrounding character; and 
 Retention of hedges around the proposed Extension Area and creating a 

new hedge and woodland perimeter enclosure from the outset. 

Page 64



No visual effects were judged to be majorly adverse at any stage. This was 
probably because the visual intrusion of the revised Extension Site and 
proposed peripheral storage mounds is considerably less than in previous 
proposals and because the sensitivity of many of the receptors is diminished 
by long term exposure to the existing quarries. 

Overall, with the inclusion of the above mitigation measures, the proposals are 
not considered to have a significantly detrimental effect on visual amenity”. 

3.0 PLANNING HISTORY

3.1 Quarrying operations at Clearwell and Stowe Hill quarries have a long 
planning history dating from the 1940s. The current main planning permission, 
DF/2238/X, was granted on 5th January 2007 for the Extension of Stowe Hill 
Quarry and Consolidation of the Existing consents, at  Clearwell and Stowe 
Hill quarries.  Table A lists the planning decisions at both the Quarries since 
1997.

3.2 Table A: Planning Permissions at Stowe Hill and Clearwell Quarry since 1997

Planning 
Ref

Development Decision & Date

DF/2238/K Consolidation of Mineral Planning 
Permission incorporating quarry extension, 
tunnel, new access, ancillary facilities and 
landscaping

Approved 
22 Jan 1997

DF/2238/L Concrete Block Manufacturing Plant Approved
1 Oct 1997

DF/2238/M Variation of Working Hours Granted on 
Appeal
5 Jan 1998

DF/2238/N Variation of Annual Output Limit (to 
400,000 tpa)

Granted
30 Sept 1997

DF/2238/P Variation of condition to extend 
commencement date for DF/2238/L

Approved 
5 Sept  2000

DF/2238/R Operation of Coated Roadstone Plant Approved 
29 July 2002

DF/2238/S Concrete Batching Plant Withdrawn
22 Oct 2002

DF/2238/T Concrete Manufacturing Plant & Amenity 
Buildings

Withdrawn
5 Nov 2002

DF/2238/V Concrete Block Plant and Ancillary 
Facilities

Approved 
28 Nov 2002

DF/2238/W Concrete Batching Plant Approved 
19 Dec 2002

DF/2238/Y The Development of Land without 
complying with Condition 4 of the Planning 
Permission DF/2238/R (Operation of 
Coated Roadstone Plant) and the 
Variation of Condition 4 to amend the 

Refused 13 Feb 
2004

Page 65



hours of Operation. 
05/0066/FD
FUL

The development of land (ie the continued 
operation of the Coated Roadstone Plant) 
without complying with Condition 1 of 
planning permission 
APP/T1600/A/04/1143450 (application 
DF.2238/Y) (which permits the Coated 
Roadstone Plant to start operations at 
6.00am for a trial period of one year until 
9th September 2005) so that the Coated 
Roadstone Plant may continue operating 
the extended hours until the cessation of 
quarrying at Clearwell and Stowe Hill 
Quarries

Approved 01 
November 2005

05/0097/FD
FUL/
DF.2238/1/
B

Recycling Facility with associated storage 
and ancillary activities.

Approved 2nd 
February 2006

DF/2238/X Extension of Stowe Hill Quarry and 
Consolidation of the Existing consents

Approved 5th 
January 2007

08/0027/FD
MAJM

Variation of conditions 3 and 8 of planning 
permission DF.2238/1/A to allow the 
importation of high polished stone value 
("PSV") aggregates for the production of 
coated roadstone products

Approved 23rd 
June 2008

09/0016/FD
MNRM

Relocation and replacement of the Asphalt 
Plant.

Approved 14th 
May 2009

09/0072/FD
MAJM

Phased relocation and replacement of the 
stone processing plant, office, staff 
facilities and workshop from Clearwell 
Quarry to Stowe Hill Quarry, erection of an 
environmental bund to attenuate noise, a 
new haul road and road access onto the 
B4228 and accompanying 
weighbridge/wheel wash facilities.

Approved 
4th April 2013

09/0073/FD
MAJM

Non-compliance with conditions 2, 45, & 
48 of planning permission DF/2238/X 
dated 5th January 2007 and variation of 
these conditions to permit a change in the 
restoration plans following the phased 
relocation of the stone processing plant, 
office, staff facilities and workshop from 
Clearwell Quarry to Stowe Hill Quarry, 
erection of an environmental bund to 
attenuate noise, a new haul road and road 
access onto the B4228 and accompanying 
weighbridge/wheel wash facilities.

Withdrawn 30th 
November 2017

12/0011/FD
MAJM

The erection of a dust shed to store the 
4mm to powder aggregate.

Consent 25th 
March 2013

14/0077/FD Proposed timber, acoustic, screen fence Consent 1st 

Page 66



MAJM 2.85 metres high mounted on galvanised 
steel posts at 3 metres intervals and set 
into concrete bases.

December 2014

14/0118/FD
MAJM

Erection and operation of a washing plant. Withdrawn 16th 
December 2015

14/0119/FD
MAJM

Extension of Stowe Hill Quarry and 
retention of mineral processing plant at 
Clearwell Quarry.

Withdrawn 7th 
December 2015

15/0180/FD
MAJM

Extension of Stowe Hill Quarry, the 
phased relocation of the mineral 
processing plant from Clearwell Quarry to 
Stowe Hill Quarry including a coating and 
replacement concrete plants and a road 
access onto the B4228, increase in the 
maximum output of material leaving Stowe 
Hill Quarry and revised restoration of 
Clearwell Quarry.

Pending – held in 
abeyance at the 
request of the 
operator subject 
to the outcome of 
17/0122/FD 
MAJM 

17/0110/FD
MAJM

Variation of condition 2 (Approved working 
programme) of planning consent 
DF/2238/X dated 05/01/2007.

Pending Decision

(due now)

4.0 PLANNING POLICY

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
4.1 The latest update of the NPPF published in February 2019 provides national 

policy for local planning authorities and is a material consideration in 
determining the application.  In assessing and determining planning proposals, 
Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) should apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development (NPPF Paragraph 11), which is the main focus of the 
NPPF in relation to both the plan-making and decision making process.  
However, the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
apply where development requires an appropriate assessment under the Birds 
Directive 2009 and the Habitats Directive 1992. The NPPF does not contain 
specific waste policies since national waste planning policy are included within 
the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW).

4.2 NPPF Chapter 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities requires that the 
planning system helps to build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places 
and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; 
and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure.

4.3 NPPF Chapter 9 Promoting sustainable transport Paragraph 109 states that 
‘development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 

Page 67



there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’. 

4.4 NPPF Chapter 15 ‘Conserving and enhancing the natural environment’ at 
Paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local economy by: 

a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or 
geological value and soils; 

b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 
wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural 
land, and of trees and woodland;…… 

d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current 
and future pressures; 

e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable 
levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development 
should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions 
such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such 
as river basin management plans. …..

4.5 NPPF Chapter 17 ‘Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals’ at Paragraph 
203 states that “ It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals  to 
provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. 
Since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where 
they are found, best use needs to be made of them to secure their long-term 
conservation”.

4.6 Paragraph 205 states that when determining planning applications, great 
weight should be given to the benefits of mineral extraction, including the 
economy….. Mineral planning authorities should: 
…
b) ensure that there are no unacceptable adverse impacts on the natural and 
historic environment, human health, and take into account the cumulative 
effect of multiple impacts from individual sites and/or from a number of sites in 
a locality; 

c) ensure that any unavoidable noise, dust and particle emissions and any 
blasting vibrations are controlled, mitigated or removed at source, and 
establish appropriate noise limits for extraction in proximity to noise sensitive 
properties;…… 

e) provide for restoration and aftercare at the earliest opportunity, to be carried 
out to high environmental standards, through the application of appropriate 
conditions……. 

4.7 Paragraph 207 Maintaining supply states that mineral planning authorities
 ‘should plan for a steady and adequate supply of aggregates by: 

……

Page 68



(f) maintaining landbanks of at least 7 years for sand and gravel and at least 
10 years for crushed rock, whilst ensuring that the capacity of operations to 
supply a wide range of materials is not compromised..........

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG)
4.8 The national PPG provides guidance to be taken into account on factors for 

planning applications including for minerals development applications. The 
‘Minerals’ section of the PPG, in particular provides detailed guidance on 
‘Assessing environmental impacts from mineral extraction’, such as 
operational noise, dust, air quality, traffic, impacts on ecology and protects 
landscapes. There is also a section providing detailed guidance on 
‘Restoration and aftercare of mineral sites’, such as the use of appropriate 
restoration and aftercare conditions and landscape strategies.  The relevant 
paragraphs are quoted below.

PPG Paragraph: 018 - Are separation distances/buffer zones 
appropriate?

4.9 Separation distances/buffer zones may be appropriate in specific 
circumstances where it is clear that, based on site specific assessments and 
other forms of mitigation measures (such as working scheme design and 
landscaping) a certain distance is required between the boundary of the 
minerals extraction area and occupied residential property. Any proposed 
separation distance should be established on a site-specific basis and should 
be effective, properly justified, and reasonable. It should take into account:
 the nature of the mineral extraction activity;
 the need to avoid undue sterilisation of mineral resources,
 location and topography;
 the characteristics of the various environmental effects likely to arise; and
 the various mitigation measures that can be applied.

PPG Paragraph: 021 – What are the appropriate noise standards for 
mineral operators for normal operations? 

4.10 Mineral planning authorities should aim to establish a noise limit, through a 
planning condition, at the noise-sensitive property that does not exceed the 
background noise level (LA90,1h) by more than 10dB(A) during normal 
working hours (0700-1900). Where it will be difficult not to exceed the 
background level by more than 10dB (A) without imposing unreasonable 
burdens on the mineral operator, the limit set should be as near that level as 
practicable. In any event, the total noise from the operations should not 
exceed 55dB (A) LAeq, 1h (free field). For operations during the evening 
(1900-2200) the noise limits should not exceed the background noise level 
(LA90,1h) by more than 10dB(A) and should not exceed 55dB(A) LAeq, 1h 
(free field ). For any operations during the period 22.00 – 07.00 noise limits 
should be set to reduce to a minimum any adverse impacts, without imposing 
unreasonable burdens on the mineral operator. In any event the noise limit 
should not exceed 42dB (A) LAeq, 1h (free field) at a noise sensitive property.

Where the site noise has a significant tonal element, it may be appropriate to 
set specific limits to control this aspect. Peak or impulsive noise, which may 

Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/minerals#Restoration-and-aftercare-of-minerals


include some reversing bleepers, may also require separate limits that are 
independent of background noise (eg Lmax in specific octave or third-octave 
frequency bands – and that should not be allowed to occur regularly at night.)
Care should be taken, however, to avoid any of these suggested values being 
implemented as fixed thresholds as specific circumstances may justify some 
small variation being allowed.

PPG Paragraph: 022 - What type of operations may give rise to 
particularly noisy short-term activities and what noise limits may be 
appropriate?

4.11 Activities such as soil-stripping, the construction and removal of baffle 
mounds, soil storage mounds and spoil heaps, construction of new permanent 
landforms and aspects of site road construction and maintenance. increased 
temporary daytime noise limits of up to 70dB (A) LAeq 1h (free field) for 
periods of up to 8 weeks in a year at specified noise-sensitive properties 
should be considered to facilitate essential site preparation and restoration 
work and construction of baffle mounds where it is clear that this will bring 
longer-term environmental benefits to the site or its environs. Where work is 
likely to take longer than 8 weeks, a lower limit over a longer period should be 
considered. In some wholly exceptional cases, where there is no viable 
alternative, a higher limit for a very limited period may be appropriate in order 
to attain the environmental benefits. Within this framework, the 70 dB (A) LAeq 
1h (free field) limit referred to above should be regarded as the normal 
maximum

National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) 
4.12   The NPPW was published in October 2014 and sets out national waste 

planning policies. It should be read in conjunction with the NPPF, the Waste 
Management Plan for England and National Policy Statement for Waste Water 
and Hazardous Waste, or any successor documents. All waste and local 
planning authorities should have regard to its policies when discharging their 
responsibilities to the extent that they are appropriate to waste management. 

Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032)
4.13 Under Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 

planning applications must  be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For 
minerals development and adopted minerals local plan will be the starting 
point for consideration and determination of any planning planning 
applications submitted to the Minerals Planning Authority (MPA). The County 
Council adopted the Minerals Local Plan (MLP) for Gloucestershire (2018 – 
2032) on the 20th March 2020. The new plan forms part of the development 
plan for Gloucestershire and replaces all of the saved policies of the 
previously adopted Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan (1997 – 2006). The 
MLP policies relevant to the current application are set out below:

          Policy SR01 | Maximising the use of secondary and recycled aggregates
          Part a | Mineral developments

Mineral development proposals will be permitted where they adopt best 
practice in the extraction, processing and transportation of primary minerals in 

Page 70



order to minimise the amount of waste generated and make provision for the 
sustainable production of secondary and recycled aggregates, subject to the 
requirements of Policy MW06 | Ancillary minerals development

Policy MW01 | Aggregate provision
 Mineral development proposals for aggregate working will be permitted, 
where it can be demonstrated: -

I. they will make a contribution towards maintaining throughout and at the end 
of the plan period an aggregate landbank requirement of at least 10 years 
for crushed rock or at least 7 years for sand and gravel, based on the LAA 
rate published in the most recent annual Gloucestershire Local Aggregates 
Assessment; and

II. the requirements of policy MA01 (Aggregate working within allocations can 
be satisfactorily met;

Policy MW06 | Ancillary minerals development
Ancillary minerals development within mineral sites will be permitted, where it 
can be demonstrated: -

 the best use of minerals worked from within the boundary of the site in 
which they are located will be facilitated; and / or

 any importation of minerals and other materials used to produce 
secondary and / or recycled aggregates from elsewhere will represent 
an environmentally acceptable and sustainable option; and

 all operations will be for a temporary period of time restricted to the life 
of the mineral site in which they are located and the removal of all built 
structures will occur at the earliest opportunity once mineral working 
has ceased; and

 the requirements of policy MR01 (Restoration, aftercare and facilitating 
beneficial after-uses) can be satisfactorily met; and

 a positive contribution will be made to sustaining or growing the local 
economy and / or upholding cultural heritage throughout 
Gloucestershire.

Policy MA01 | Aggregate working within allocations
The principle of mineral working for aggregates has been accepted within the 
following allocations: -

 Allocation 01: Land east of Stowe Hill Quarry.

Mineral development proposals for the working of aggregates within 
allocations will be permitted, subject to satisfying the detailed development 
requirements set out in the plan for each allocation (see appendix 4) and 
where it can be demonstrated: -
I. existing permitted reserves are inadequate, or are likely to be so in the 

near future to maintain minimum landbank levels in accordance with policy 
MW01; or

II. where minimum landbank levels are being sustained: -

Page 71



 constraints on the availability of existing permitted reserves and/ or 
productive capacity are likely to limit output or restrict the range of 
available products over the plan period; or

 increases in demand for aggregate are forecast with a reasonable 
degree of certainty to the extent that minimum landbank levels will not 
be able to be maintained throughout or at the end of the plan period.

           Policy DM01 | Amenity
Mineral development proposals will be permitted only where it can be 
demonstrated adverse impacts on the amenity of local communities within 
Gloucestershire and those of neighbouring administrative areas will be 
avoided, strictly controlled or mitigated so as to ensure unacceptable impacts 
will not arise in respect of noise, vibration, air pollution and visual intrusion.

          Policy DM02 | Cumulative impact
Mineral development proposals will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated: -

I. unacceptable cumulative adverse impacts will not be generated from within 
the mineral site for which the proposal is located and / or from a number of 
minerals and non-mineral developments in the locality; or

II. the benefits of development will clearly outweigh unacceptable cumulative 
adverse impacts to justify the grant of planning permission.

Policy DM03 | Transport
Part a | Sustainable transport
Mineral development proposals that minimise the miles travelled by minerals 
and demonstrate how road-based transport will also be kept to a minimum will 
be permitted. Wherever possible alternative and more sustainable, modes of
non-road transport must be used along with fuel efficient and / or low, ultra-low 
or zero greenhouse gas emitting haulage vehicles.

Part b Highway Network
Mineral development proposals will only be permitted where public safety is 
not adversely affected and it can be demonstrated: -
I. unacceptable impacts on the capacity and function of the strategic and 

local highway networks will be avoided or satisfactorily mitigated; and
II.    any unavoidable adverse impacts on the capacity and function of the 

strategic and local highway networks will not be severe.
Part c | Public Rights of Way (PROW) Network and open access land
Mineral development proposals will only be permitted where it can be
demonstrated: -
I. public rights of way routes and / or open access land will be retained and 

their safe use maintained, and unacceptable adverse impacts will be 
avoided or satisfactorily mitigated; and / or

II. the temporary or permanent diversion of public rights of way routes and / or 
the temporary restriction or permanent exclusion of access to open access 
land is justified and that such changes will not affect public safety and 
cause unacceptable impacts on the integrity and enjoyment of the wider 

Page 72



public rights of way network and / or open access land in the locality; and / 
or

III. the formal closure of public right of way routes represents a very
exceptional circumstance where replacement routes are no longer required    
and that unacceptable impacts on the wider public rights of way network will 
be avoided.

Mineral development proposals affecting National Trails will be permitted only
where unacceptable adverse impacts are avoided or satisfactory mitigated.

Policy DM04 Flood Risk
Mineral development proposals will be permitted, where it can be
demonstrated: -
I.   there will be no increase in the risk of flooding on site and elsewhere
     from all sources of flooding now and in the future;
II.  wherever possible, flood risk reduction initiatives will be incorporated
     that will achieve a reduction in the risk of flooding overall;
III. appropriate measures will be put in place to manage and wherever
     possible, reduce surface water run-off including through the use of
     sustainable drainage systems (SuDS);
IV. wherever possible, a net increase in flood water storage capacity will be
     achieved;

Policy DM05 | Water resources

Mineral development proposals will be permitted where it can be
demonstrated: -
I. there will be no decline in water quality that would lead to a 

deterioration of EU Water Framework Directive (WFD) water body 
status and that measures to improve water quality and water body 
status will be incorporated wherever possible to help achieve good 
ecological status;

II. measures will be incorporated to enhance and protect water quality, 
including Gloucestershire’s groundwater resources;

III. the actions and objectives set out in the Severn and / or Thames River 
Basin Management Plan (RBMP) will be supported in striving to protect 
and improve the quality of water bodies;

IV. unless justifiable and agreeable change is achievable to the physical 
integrity of watercourses175, they will be preserved and wherever 
possible enhanced, including riverside habitats. Where necessary, 
management and mitigation measures will be incorporated to improve 
and / or enhance water quality and habitats of aquatic environments in 
or adjoining the development site; and

V. wherever possible, measures to achieve the efficient use of water will 
be delivered including incorporating appropriate water conservation 
techniques.

Policy DM06 | Biodiversity and geodiversity
Part a | Biodiversity and geodiversity outside of designated areas

Page 73



Mineral development proposals that demonstrate the conservation of 
biodiversity and/or geodiversity, in addition to providing net gains where
possible, will normally be permitted. Potential adverse impacts on natural 
environment assets must be avoided or satisfactorily mitigated in line with 
Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership objectives. Exceptionally , where an 
impact cannot be avoided or mitigated, then compensatory measures 
including the use of offsets for habitat or geological feature losses will be 
considered Irreplaceable habitat and geological assets must be retained and 
protected from deterioration unless this cannot be avoided because there are 
exceptional overriding reasons of demonstrable public benefit.

Part b | Designated sites and protected species
          Mineral development proposals which, alone or in combination with other plans 

and projects, are likely to have a significant effect on any Internationally
Important Site designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special
Protection Area (SPA) or Ramsar site will only be permitted, where they have
been subject to an Appropriate Assessment, which has determined that 
either:-

I. there will be no adverse affect upon the integrity of such designated
sites; or
II. where adverse effects on integrity have been concluded, has
satisfactorily addressed the subsequent stages in the Habitats
Regulations Assessment (HRA) process as set out in table 3, which
present imperative reasons of overriding public interest.

Mineral development proposals will only be permitted within designated Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), National Nature Reserves (NNR) and in
localities that could have an impact upon such designations, where it can be
demonstrated: -

I. there will be no conflict with the conservation, management and
enhancement of a designation;
II. that any potentially harmful aspects of mineral development can be
satisfactorily mitigated; and
III. there would be no wider indirect and/or cumulative impact on the
national network of SSSIs; or where the benefits of mineral development
clearly outweigh the potential adverse impacts upon the key features of
any designation.

Mineral development proposals on local sites that include Local Nature
Reserves (LNR), Gloucestershire Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) and Regionally
Important Geological Sites (RIGS) and in localities that could have an impact
upon such designations will be permitted where it can be demonstrated: -

I. adverse impacts can be avoided and /or satisfactorily mitigated; or
II.  where the benefits of minerals development clearly outweigh the

potential adverse impacts upon the key features of any designation.

Mineral development proposals that could adversely affect legally protected

Page 74



species will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that suitable
safeguarding measures will be provided.

Policy DM07 | Soil resources
Mineral development proposals will be permitted where they have been
informed by and are sympathetic to the protection of soil resources by
demonstrating: -
I. unacceptable adverse impacts on the quality of soil including as a result
of disturbance and / or from contamination will be avoided or satisfactorily 
mitigated; and
II. wherever possible, measures to achieve improvements in soil quality will
be delivered; and
III. where Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMVAL) is present, it
will be avoided, or where this is not possible, it will be restored to the highest 
quality grade possible unless in doing so, beneficial restoration that outweighs 
the importance of protecting soil resources would be compromised; or
IV. the overall benefits of minerals development will clearly outweigh
unacceptable adverse impacts on the quality of soil and / or opportunities to 
achieve soil quality improvements to justify of planning permission being 
granted.

Policy DM08 | Historic environment
           Mineral development proposals will be permitted where they conserve, 

and where appropriate, enhance the significance of any affected heritage 
asset.
 The Gloucestershire Historic Environment Record should be used to 

inform the consideration of future development including potential 
conservation and enhancement measures.

     Where relevant, archaeological excavation and / or the recording of 
historic buildings will be required, followed by analysis and publication of 
the results.

 Scheduled Monuments and other non-designated assets of archaeological 
interest of equivalent importance.

Scheduled monuments and other non-designated archaeological assets of
equivalent importance will be expected to be preserved in situ.
 Where there are no alternative options which will reduce or eliminate any 

adverse impact, or where scheduled monuments and other non-
designated archaeological assets of equivalent importance cannot be 
preserved in situ, and harm is therefore unavoidable, then measures to 
mitigate and minimise the impact will be considered.

Policy DM09 | Landscape
Mineral development proposals will be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated they have been informed by, are sympathetic to, and wherever 
practicable, will support the enhancement of the character, features and 
qualities of the landscape character areas or types of the relevant NCAs and 
LCAs that form the Gloucestershire Landscape Character Assessment.

Part a | Outside of AONB landscape designations (excluding those areas that

Page 75



form part of the setting of an AONB)

Within undesignated valued landscapes or landscape designations other than
AONBs unacceptable adverse impacts on the defining character, features and 
qualities of these areas must be avoided or satisfactorily mitigated.

Part b | AONB designations and other areas that form part of the setting 
of an AONB
Mineral development proposals within or that affect the setting of the 
Cotswolds, Wye Valley or Malvern Hills AONBs will only be permitted where it
can be demonstrated: -
I. they will not prejudice the conservation of the character, features and 
qualities of the landscapes and scenic beauty of the AONB and that account 
will have been given to the conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage;

II. adverse impacts on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the
AONB Management Plan (specifically concerning the environment,
landscape and recreational opportunities) will be avoided or satisfactorily 
mitigated; and

III. opportunities will be taken to support the enhancement of the character,
features and qualities of the landscapes and scenic beauty of the AONB
as promoted through the relevant AONB Management Plan.

Mineral development proposals within or that affect the setting of the
Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills AONBs, that are defined as major
development will only be permitted under exceptional circumstances. All of
the relevant criteria set out above in part b must be satisfied. In addition,
proposals must be in the public interest by demonstrating: -

I. there is an overriding need to work and / or process the mineral, including 
national considerations;
II. the local economy will not be subject to unacceptable adverse impacts;
and
III. alternative non-AONB sources of mineral supply, which are no more
constrained, will not be available on practicality and viability grounds.

Policy MR01 | Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses
Mineral development proposals will be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated high quality restoration and aftercare will: -

I. takes place at the earliest opportunity and without generating
unacceptable adverse impacts; and
II. be delivered to a high environmental standard; and
III. facilitate beneficial after-uses that will contribute to the delivery of
sustainable development.

Forest of Dean Core Strategy is the principal document in the new Local 
Development Framework for the Forest of Dean. Adopted February 2012

Page 76

https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf


4.14 The Forest of Dean Core Strategy, adopted in February 2012 also forms part 
of the Development Plan relevant to the consideration of this application.  
There are no ‘saved’ policies in the Forest of Dean District Local Plan Review 
2005 considered to be relevant to the proposed development. The following 
Core Strategy policies are considered most relevant to the determination of 
this application:

Policy CSP. 1 Design, environmental protection and enhancement
The design and construction of new development must take into account 
important characteristics of the environment and conserve, preserve or 
otherwise respect them in a manner that maintains or enhances their 
contribution to the environment, including their wider context. New 
development should demonstrate an efficient use of resources. It should 
respect wider natural corridors and other natural areas, providing green 
infrastructure where necessary.

In achieving the above, the following will be considered as summarised: effect 
of the development on the landscape and protected ecological and historical 
sites; the adequacy of existing infrastructure; any risk of flooding; impact on 
any land contamination; potential to cause pollution and mitigation measures; 
and impact on groundwater, watercourses and any protected abstractions. 

Policy CSP. 2 Climate Change Adaptation
Proposals for development will be required to demonstrate that their design 
and layout will reduce the impacts of climatic change as identified in national, 
regional and local predictions over the lifetime of the development concerned. 
The following should be addressed by proposals as summarised: 
 Water Management 
 Managing surface run off- Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) and 

measures to reduce or avoid water contamination and safeguard ground 
water supply should be incorporated, unless it can be demonstrated that 
this is not appropriate in a specific location.

Biodiversity
1. Developments must support green infrastructure corridors and show 

that nature conservation sites are not compromised. Proposals that 
prevent or restrict network connections will not be supported.

2. Developments will be required to make long lasting biodiversity 
enhancements which could include the creation of new habitats where 
these would be appropriate. They should support existing features 
(trees, ponds, hedgerows etc.), provide and manage public open space 
and should also provide additional features for a wide variety of species 
and habitats in appropriate locations throughout the development. 
Additional features provided should be consistent with the 
characteristics of the surrounding area.

Policy CSP. 7 Economy
Economic development will be promoted throughout the district in accordance 
with the spatial strategy and its allocations. This will encourage new and more 

Page 77



diverse types of employment and supporting infrastructure to be established 
by making land and premises available. 

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS and CONSULTATIONS

5.1 The proposal was first advertised by way of site notice and by a newspaper
Advertisement on 6th December 2017. Twelve near neighbours were notified 
of the application. 

5.2 In response to the above consultation and two further EIA Regulation 25 
consultations, 271 letters of representation (all objecting) were received in 
relation the application and accompanying Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA). These included residents from Stowe, Stowe Green, St Briavels and 
Coleford. 

5.3 Coleford Town Council, Stowe Green residents association and the Campaign 
for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE) also objected.

5.4 The main concerns raised from the objections relate to the integrity of the 
Slade Brook SSSI, effects on horseshoe bats, 150m buffer zones, perimeter 
bund size, the condition of the plant, dust, noise, HGV movements and visual 
impact.

5.5 The damaging impact of the proposal on the important, rare geological feature 
of tufa dams located at the Slade Brook with its European priority to protect it 
and its importance nationally was cited as an objection. Comments were made 
about the uncertainly over hydrology, the inadequacy of data and the need for 
conclusive proof that the proposals would not damage the tufa dams as if 
damage occurred it would not be possible to do anything after the event.  
Additionally it was considered that damaging the Slade Brook would have 
knock on impacts to the detriment of other flora and fauna.

5.6 Traffic safety on the local roads was also raised as a concern, for all other 
road users including cars, pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders, both at the 
immediate access onto the highway, with lorries entering the highway without 
stopping, and at the Shop House junction.  Reference was made to the failure 
of the operator to adhere to existing restrictions with allegations that some 
lorries leaving the quarry being un-sheeted, mud and dust being brought onto 
the local highway by the lorries, the existing wheel cleaning facilities being 
inadequate and early morning traffic outside the permitted hours.  Mention 
was also made that quarry lorries continued to go down the Mork Road 
despite the weight restriction being in place.  

5.7 Reference was made to noise and dust being a continual source of complaint 
with the existing conditions considered by some objectors to be inadequate to 
ameliorate the situation and the failure of the operator to adhere to conditions.  

5.8 Further points raised by objectors include:
 The proximity of the site to the Wye Valley and that the site is worthy of 

designation itself;

Page 78



 Impact of blasting damaging property as working will be nearer and the 
loss of light from the proximity of the screening bunds has been raised 
by the residents of Brick Cottage in their objection;

 Impact of property values;
 Damage to tourism from quarrying (noise, dust and HGVs);
 Need to stop quarrying in Forest of Dean.
 Unemployment due to the impacts of the quarries development;
 Restoration. Of Stowe Hill and the extention area and its potential 

impacts;
 No benefit to community;
 Loss of amenity in quiet rural area; and 
 Compensation due to the effect of the quarrying.

5.9      Objections were also received from both St Briavels & Newland Parish 
Councils on the grounds of hydrogeology, noise and dust, landscape, ecology, 
lack of buffer zones, need, traffic impact, unsatisfactory roads, impact on air 
quality, impact on employment and the local economy, heritage, alternative 
sources, properties and housing, company track record, recent precedents, 
public opinion, conditioning and enforcement and the status of the proposed 
new MLP.

5.10 Forest of Dean District Council objected on the grounds of impacts on 
landscape character. 

5.11 In addition the County Landscape Advisor (CLA) requested more information 
in relation to sourcing restoration material and time scales, footpath and 
greater woodland connectivity with Bearse Common and Orles Wood and 
visual impact.

5.12 To address issues raised by statutory consultees (see Chapter 6 of the report) 
and objectors the MPA requested in March 2018 that the applicant submit 
further information in regard to issues related to hydrology, Health, 
Environmental pollution, landscape, buffer zones and improvements/proposals 
to existing Plant and new plant.

5.13 In response to the request for further information the applicant submitted the 
following to the MPA, which can be viewed in full in Public Access. 

 Environmental Statement: Additional Environmental Information Report 
May 2018. Including the following:
 Environmental Statement Chapter 10 v3 Hydrology May 2018; 
 Appendix  10A Technical Report May 2018;
 Appendix 10B Monitoring Summary May 2018;
 Appendix 10C Hydrographs;
 Appendix 10E  RA Tables;
 Appendix 10F, Monitoring Strategy;
 Env Stat Chapter 10: Env.Agency Flood Map for Planning;
 Env Stat Chapter 10: Env.Agency Risk of Surface Water Flood;
 Env Stat Chapter 10: Drainage Routes to Sinkhole;

Page 79

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_APPDX_10A_MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_APPDX_10B_MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_APPDX_10C_MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_APPDX_10E_MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_APPDX_10F_MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_19.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_20.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_21.pdf


 Env Stat Chapter 10: Restoration Cross Section; and 
 Environmental Statement Chapter 12: Supplement to Landscape & 

Visual Impact Assessment.

5.14 In compliance with Town and County Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 (EIA Regulations) the MPA carried out a 
Regulation 25 consultation with consultees and contributors on the 21st May 
2018 and via a site notice and newspaper advertisements on the 30th May 
2018 on the submitted information detailed above.

5.15 In response to the May 2018 Regulation 25 consultation five consultees and 
26 near neighbours and members of the public objected to the proposal. 

5.16 The Environment Agency (EA) and Natural England (NE) did not respond to 
the initial consultation due to ongoing negotiations with the applicant directly.
However the EA and NE did object to the proposal further to the May 2018 
Regulation 25 consultation.

The EA objected on the following grounds; 
 Working depth beyond 176m AOD (which is the level currently approved 

in Stowe Hill Quarry);
 Ground Water/unsaturated zones;
 Epikarst recreation is an unproven mitigation measure and the consultees  

have concerns this may not work as intended, with the potential for 
irreversible impact, unless further data is provided to demonstrate this 
acceptability;

 Cumulative impacts on the area;
 Monitoring of the Slade Brook springs and data collection;
 Irreversible environmental impacts; and 
 Alternative sites and locations.

Further information was requested in relation to the Water Framework 
Directive and Biodiversity. (The EA response can be seen in full via this link 
Letter received 29/6/18 and in Public Access).

5.17 NE objected to the proposal on grounds that they considered there is a high 
risk that the proposal would damage or destroy the interest features for which 
Slade Brook SSSI has been notified.

5.18 Their objection was based on the grounds that there would be impacts on 
hydrology, epikarst restoration, inability of monitoring to adequately protect the 
Slade Brook SSSI and inability of restoration to repair damage.

5.19 NE also raised issues and offered advice in regard to the proposed 
restoration, water monitoring regime, ecology and the proposed MLP. (The 
objection received from NE can be seen in full via this link Letter received 
29/6/18 and in Public Access). 

Page 80

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_22.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_EASEVE_COMM_29JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NATENG_COMM_29JUN18.pdf


5.20 Newlands Parish Council (NPC) continued to object to the proposal, on the 
grounds outlined in its previous consultation responses that can be viewed in 
public access dated June 2018. Their response concluded:

 The conclusion we draw from these revised documents is that they 
change nothing so far as the application is concerned. The applicant 
has been allowed more than ample opportunity to come forward with 
acceptable proposals but has clearly failed to do so. The responses do 
not address concerns previously expressed; furthermore, as time 
passes more anomalies and uncertainties are revealed and concerns 
raised. 

Our original response remains that the application should be REFUSED.

5.21 The Local County Council Member objected on the following grounds:
“Please record my full support for the position of Newland Parish Council in 
relation to the Stowe Hill Quarry application.

I fully endorse the Parish Council response and I firmly object to the 
application for the reasons therein”.

5.22 The CPRE maintains its view that the application should be refused on the 
grounds it would have adverse consequences for landscape and public 
amenity. It re-iterated that photographic depictions of the visual consequences 
can be deceptive and are no substitute for directly viewing with the human 
eye.

Public objections
5.23 The 26 objections received in response to the May 2018 Regulation 25 

consultation objected to the proposal on the following subject matters:

 The proximity to the Wye Valley and that the site is worthy of 
designation itself;

 Impacts on the SSSI Slade Brook;
 Impact of blasting damaging property;
 Impact of property values;  
 Restoration and impacts of the environment;
 No benefit to community;
 Negative impacts on the local amenity (noise, dust, pollution and 

transport);
 Landscape ( planting, perimeter bunds and buffer zones);
 Ecology – negative impacts on wildlife;
 Mineral Local Plan status; and 
 MPA lack of resources causing a lack of Enforcement/Monitoring.

5.24 Consultee comments were also received from the following:

5.25 The CLA was satisfied that the proposal met the specific landscape 
requirements subject to their recommended conditions being included in any 

Page 81



recommendation for approval. Their consultation response can be seen in 
Public Access or via this link Technical note. 

5.26 Ecology: The County Principal Ecologist (CPE) was still satisfied with the 
proposal subject to his recommended conditions being included in any 
recommendation for approval. He did however add 1 additional Pre-
determination request which read a follows:

‘For landscape and ecological enhancement the final restoration scheme 
drawing 251L-01-12 should be revised (Revision A). This is to additionally 
show a new planted tree belt between the eastern end of the sink hole 
enclosure and the northern end of Bearse Common where the new farm 
access track bears east towards Longley Farm. Effectively this is an extension 
of the new planting already proposed for the western side of the new farm 
track’.
 
The consultation response can be seen in full in Public Access or via the 
Memo link.

5.27 Archaeologist – existing comments still stand.

5.28 Highways Development Management – no objection received 6/7/18 Letter. 

5.29 To address further issues raised by statutory consultees and objectors in 
response to the first EIA Regulation 25 consultation in May 2018 the MPA 
requested further EIA Regulation information in December 2018 in regard to 
the following:
 Data Quality
 Pipe Hydraulics/Mannings Analysis
 Groundwater Hydrograph Data
 Flow Duration Approach
 Potential fast flow karstic solutional features
 Working Depth 
 Analysis Of Monitoring Data
 Site Drainage
 Air Quality/Dust
 Noise & Vibration
 Details of any new restoration scheme including phasing and biodiversity 

gains.
 Extraction/Hydrology - Analysis of the April 2018 rainfall and its likely 

impacts of the proposed extraction depth of 170mAOD with a possible 
reduced unsaturated zone at times;

 Proposed mitigation to address the issue of the cumulative impacts
 A revised Monitoring regime to include the following:

 details for the proposal to have data loggers at certain boreholes;
 the location of all proposed boreholes ;
 the proposed monitoring of the quarry lagoons and ponds;
 monitoring of the Slade Brook, including equipment to be used;
 changes to groundwater flows ;

Page 82

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ATKINS_COMM_13JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ATKINS_COMM_13JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNEC_COMM_22MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNEC_COMM_22MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNHI_COMM_06JUL18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNHI_COMM_06JUL18.pdf


 how any detrimental changes to the tufa will be identified and 
addressed.

 Hydrological characteristics and the hydrogeochemical environment of Slade 
Brook and biological features;

 Further information in relation to the Water Framework Directive and 
Biodiversity;

 Details on the make up of the proposed Management Group and the 
development of terms of reference.

5.30 In response to the request for further information the applicant submitted the 
following which can be viewed in Public Access.

 Environmental Statement: Additional Environmental Info Report 19 Dec 
2018  Dec 2018.

 Environmental Statement: Non-Technical Summary (NTS), version 3, 
19/12/18 19 Dec 2018.

5.31 In compliance with the EIA Regulations the MPA carried out a further 
Regulation 25 consultation with consultees and contributors in January 2019 
via a site notice and newspaper advertisements on the submitted information. 

5.32 In response to this consultation the MPA received the following responses 
which can be seen in full in Public Access with a summary in the consultations 
Chapter 6 of this report.

 An objection was received from Newland Parish Council dated 5th July 
2019.

 An objection was received from St. Briavels Parish Council dated 18th 
February 2019. 

 The County Air Quality Advisor raised no objection subject to their 
recommendations (comments received 5/2/19).

 The CLA (landscape) raised no objection (comments received 28/1/19).
 Archaeology – no objection (comments received 11/1/19).
 Ecology - no objection (comments received 22/1/19).
 Mineral & Waste Policy – made no objection subject to their recommended 

actions (comments received 10/2/20).
 PROW – welcomed the proposals in relation to the footpath diversions 

(comments received 1/4/20).

 Forest of Dean District - ‘It is noted that the additional information provided 
by the applicant is in relation to the issues raised by Natural England and 
the Environment Agency. As such, the FODDC, has no further comments to 
make on this matter, as it is expected that both Natural England and the EA 
will assess the details to ensure that the details address their objection’ 
(comments received 16/1/19).

 NE stated in their response dated 7th June 2019 that they no longer 
objected to the proposal stating that they were satisfied that the specific 

Page 83

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_ADDIT_INFO_19DEC18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_ADDIT_INFO_19DEC18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_ADDIT_INFO_19DEC18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_ADDIT_INFO_19DEC18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NTS_19DEC18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NTS_19DEC18.pdf


issues they had previously raised had been resolved, provided appropriate 
planning conditions and / or S106 agreement can be defined. 

 The EA stated in their response dated 7th June 2019 that ‘As part of the 
proposed mitigation/suggested betterment, subject of this submission, we 
would not be in a position to object’

 Planning Casework Unit had no comments to make on the environmental 
statement (comments received 21/1/19).

 CPRE continued to object to the proposal and stated that their existing 
comments still stand (comments received 28/1/19).

 Wye Valley AONB Manager objects on policy grounds (comments received 
10/2/20).

Public 
5.33 Six members of the public objected to the proposal on the grounds of 

hydrology, SSSI Slade Brook, public amenity (noise & dust) traffic, tourism, 
breach of human rights and visual impact.

6. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

6.1 The following consultation responses from statutory and non statutory 
consultees cover the original submitted application and the EIA Regulation 25 
consultations carried out on further/additional information submitted by the 
applicant at the request of the MPA.

6.2 All the consultation responses can be viewed in full in Public Access or by 
clicking on the underlined hyperlinks in the summaries below:

Forest Of Dean District Council (FODDC)
6.3 In their consultation response dated 8/2/2018 the FODDC objected to the 

proposal which can be seen via this hypa link Letter with a summary below: 
‘You will note that the Sustainability Team is objecting to the proposal due to 
the impact on landscape character and insufficient restoration and 
implementation proposals. I have attached their response for your information. 
I have also attached the consultation response from Environmental Regulatory 
Services (ERS).

You will note that they are objecting on the grounds of potential pollution and 
nuisance to residents. However, the response makes a series of 
recommendations in relation to conditions. You will note the response 
identifies there would be no objection from this consultee if the conditions 
were imposed. I have also included this information which the County Council 
may wish to consider further. I would also highlight concerns regarding the 
proximity of the proposed bunds to the existing dwelling, Shop House Farm 
and am concerned that the height of the bunds, due to their proximity would 
be oppressive and have unacceptable impacts on the living conditions of the 
occupiers of this property.

In relation to this application, taking into account comments from these 
consultees, this Authority raises an objection to the scheme due to the impacts 
on landscape character, particularly as a result of the perimeter bunding. In 

Page 84

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_FORES_COMM_08FEB18.pdf


addition, on completion of the development, the current ridge line would be 
replaced by an undulating bowl, re-profiled bunds and the current agricultural 
field system pattern would be lost and consequently the proposal would be 
contrary to paragraph 109 of the NPPF in addition, the County Council should 
satisfy themselves that the appropriate surveys and assessment (Section 41, 
protected species, BAP habitat and Habitat Regulations) have been 
satisfactorily completed. If it were not possible to impose conditions to provide 
satisfactory protection for residents from potential pollution and nuisance, then 
an objection would also be raised on these grounds as the proposal would be 
contrary to paragraph 17 of the NPPF’.

Comments received on the 16/1/19
6.4 ‘It is noted that the additional information provided by the applicant is in 

relation to the issues raised by NE and the EA. As such, the FODDC, has no 
further comments to make on this matter, as it is expected that both NE and 
the EA will assess the details to ensure that the details address their 
objections’.

Newland Parish Council (NPC):   
6.5 NPC has submitted 6 consultation responses at different consultation stages 

all objecting to the proposed development on the following grounds:

Hydrogeology, noise and dust, landscape, ecology, buffer zones, need, traffic, 
roads, air quality, employment and the local economy,  heritage, alternative 
sources of stone, properties and housing, company track record, recent 
precedents, public opinion, conditioning and enforcement and the MLP. 

The comments can be seen in full in Public Access or via the underlined hypa 
links:
 Comments received 7/2/18 Response by Newland Parish Council. 

Uploaded 15-FEB-2018
 Hydrogeological Impacts Review for Newlands Parish Council (2018) 

written by Hydrogeo 26/1/18 Uploaded 15-FEB-2018
 Comments received 16/3/18 Supplementary Response by Newland 

Parish Council March 2018 Uploaded 29-MAR-2018
 Comments June 2018 Response by Newland Parish Council to further 

information supplied as a result of Regulation 25 request Uploaded 09-
JUL-2018

 Comments received 30/1/2019 Letter Uploaded 29-MAR-2018
 Supporting Table 30/1/19 Uploaded 29-MAR-2018
 Comments received 5/7/19 Letter Uploaded 10-JUL-2019

6.6 A summary of Newland Parish Council’s latest consultation response objecting 
to the proposal dated 5/7/19 can be read below:

Representatives of the Parish Council met with the EA and NE earlier in the 
week to discuss, and better understand the removal of the objections to the 
above application by those two authorities.

Page 85

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_PC_COMM_07FEB18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_PC_COMM_07FEB18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_CONTAM_NEWLAND_07FEB18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_PC_COMM_16MAR18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_PC_COMM_16MAR18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_COMM_JUNE18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_COMM_JUNE18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_COM.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_COM.pdf
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/login/?redirectUrl=%2f
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NEWLAND_COMM_05JUL19.pdf


The EA & NE are still seriously concerned at the method by which Breedon’s 
propose to restore the quarry, acknowledging that it is an untried and 
unproven system which cannot guarantee that there will be no damage to the 
Slad Brook SSSI.

The system suggested by Breedon’s is to use limestone from the application 
area i.e. the area to the northeast of the existing extraction boundary to 
restore the earlier quarry workings. Had the company fulfilled its existing 
restoration commitment (we understand that only 33% of the worked area has 
in fact been restored) then this situation would not have arisen, however we 
assume what they have done is to sell the limestone which should have been 
used for that purpose; thus, they are the victim of their own actions.

The suggestion put forward by Breedon’s creates two issues: (1) the use of an 
untried, unproven and very risky strategy for restoring areas which should 
already have been restored, and (2) gives Breedon’s the “excuse” that they 
need the existing application to be permitted to enable this to take place.

Bearing in mind that the catchment area could take a minimum 2 years, and 
probably as long as 5 years to percolate in to the SSSI (acknowledged by 
EA/NE), then monitoring for that period of time is essential to determine 
whether or not there has been any adverse effect on the SSSI. Monitoring of 
the SSSI must be independent, robust and transparent and we agree with the 
EA/NE that they should be represented on the monitoring body. If at any time 
during that 5 year period there is evidence of adverse effect then a stop order 
should be imposed because even in that situation damage would likely 
continue for a further 5 years and that damage is catastrophic and irreversible.

The Parish Council’s position on the application is to maintain its OBJECTION 
on the following grounds:

 Bearing in mind the very strong likelihood that Allocation Area 01 will be 
removed from the MLP there should be no decision on this application 
until the MLP is adopted.

 If Area 01 Is removed from the MLP, this application must be refused 
as it would not be in an area allocated for extraction.

 Even if Area 01 is retained in the MLP, the application should be 
refused and all the previously worked areas restored by the import of 
suitable material from elsewhere in accordance with conditions 
attached to earlier permissions and imposed by yourselves. There 
should then be a period of 5 years to allow monitoring of the restored 
area.

 Only when and if, after 5 years, it is demonstrated that there has been 
no effect on the SSSI, then any application to extend the quarry in to 
the same area as this application should be conditioned that it is 
worked in 3 small phases and that monitoring of the SSSI continues. 
This will ensure protection for the SSSI as the quarry expands and 
moves closer to the watercourse, and also that restoration occurs at the 
proper time.

This approach will ensure that the Precautionary Principle is applied.

Page 86



Notwithstanding the forgoing, please do not lose sight of the other legitimate, 
substantiated and evidence-based objections we have put forward earlier:
 Hydrogeology – the evidence from Hydrogeo Ltd the Professors expert 

advice;
 Dust and Noise;
 Landscape – the irreversible change to the landscape adjacent to the Wye 

Valley AONB and various SSSIs;
 Ecology – the effect of bat populations;
 Buffer zones – a minimum of 250m from property thresholds;
 Air quality;
 Heritage assets – Listed Buildings in Clearwell;
 The local economy in and around Clearwell;
 Alternative sources (as suggested by NE);
 The Twyning decision (ref 13/0017/TWMAJM);
 The weight of public opinion;
 The lack of enforcement of existing conditions;
 And, if all fails, the European Convention of Human Rights.

There is an additional concern we have about the latest submissions by 
Breedon’s, which seem to be supported by EA/NE which relates to a 
suggestion to have any permission granted subject to s.106 agreements 
rather than by conditions (although, we accept, they are also suggesting 
conditions). As you are aware, s.106 agreements are known as planning 
obligations – as opposed to conditions.

We would respectfully remind you that NPPF 54 states that “Planning 
obligations [i.e. s.106 agreements] should only be used where it is not 
possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning 
condition”. Is there any good reason why conditions would not be appropriate 
in this case? If there is not, then s.106 arrangements surely must not be used.

The Planning Portal states that “Planning obligations (s.106 agreements) 
… can be attached to planning permissions to make acceptable 
development which would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms. 
The land itself, rather that the developer is bound by the agreement”. It 
goes on to say that “authorities must take this guidance into account … 
and must have good reason from departing from it”.

We maintain that conditioning is the more appropriate - indeed only – 
approach should you be minded to recommend permission to the committee, if 
for no other reason than should Breedon’s dispose of the land then, if a s.106 
agreement is in force, they can simply walk away from it with no recourse 
available to the MPA against them.

St Briavels Parish Council (SBPC)
6.7 SBPC submitted two consultation responses objecting to the proposed 

development. The first response dated February 2018 was in partnership with 
NPC and can be viewed in Public Access via the underlined hypa link  St 
Briavels Parish Council in partnership with Newland Parish Council. 

Page 87

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_STBRIAVELS_PC_09FEB18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_STBRIAVELS_PC_09FEB18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_STBRIAVELS_PC_09FEB18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_STBRIAVELS_PC_09FEB18.pdf


6.8 The two parishes objected on the grounds of hydrogeology, noise and dust, 
landscape, ecology, buffer zones, need, traffic, roads, air quality, employment 
and the local economy, heritage, alternative sources, properties and housing, 
company track record, recent precedents, public opinion, conditioning and 
enforcement and the MLP.

6.9 The second response dated 18th February 2019 was submitted from SBPC 
alone and objected to the proposal on the following grounds:

“We write with reference to the response by Breedon Southern Ltd (BSL) to 
concerns raised by Natural England (NE) and the Environment Agency (EA) to 
the application to extend Stowe Hill Quarry and retain the mineral processing 
plant at Clearwell Quarry.

We consider that the submission by BSL to NE and EA’s objections has 
numerous inaccuracies, omissions and flaws. We would challenge the integrity 
of this submission and continue to support the objections made by NE and the 
EA in their endeavours to point out the likely environmental harm that will be 
created by this application to extend quarrying.

We fully endorse the letter sent to you by Newland Parish Council, reiterating 
the numerous issues common to both Parishes in our continued objection to 
this application over recent years.

Of particular note is the possibility that harm has already been caused by the 
existing quarrying on the critical flow rate and hydrochemistry of the water 
feeding the Slade Brook and its nationally important cascading tufa dams. The 
monitoring schedule is unreliable, and unable to provide the accurate bench 
mark upon which further changes to the Slade Brook can be assessed.

Furthermore, we understand that until a proven method of replacing the 
epikarst removed can be shown, without affecting catchment flow rates and 
solute concentrations negatively, harm to the Slade Brook will be irreversible. 
We cannot allow damage to such a unique part of our local, and national, 
natural heritage to take place.

We are also aware that the emerging MLP contains a recommendation that a 
likely modification be included resulting in the total exclusion of Allocation Area 
01 from the plan. This area includes the application area in its entirety. If this is 
confirmed, then surely the application is undermined by this strategic removal 
of the site's suitability for quarrying both now and in the future? 

We remind you that St. Briavels Parish Council renews its strong OBJECTION 
to this application and request that in the light of all the evidence submitted, 
the application be recommended for REFUSAL”.

Natural England 
6.10 NE submitted 3 consultation responses to the application. They objected to 

the proposal in their response dated 29/6/18 Letter which can be viewed in full 

Page 88

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NATENG_COMM_29JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NATENG_COMM_29JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NATENG_COMM_29JUN18.pdf


via the underlined Hypa link in Public Access. A summary of their comments 
follow: 

“Natural England objects to this proposal. As submitted we consider there is 
a high risk it will:

 damage or destroy the interest features for which Slade Brook Site of 
Special Scientific Interest has been notified”.

This objection was based on the following grounds:
 Impacts on hydrology 
 Impacts on epikarst 
 Inability of monitoring to adequately protect SSSI 
 Inability of restoration to repair damage 

Restoration Strategy 
NE did not have confidence in the proposed restoration strategy involving an 
‘epikarst recreation scheme’. With the major impact of the quarry being that it 
removes the epikarst, and thus having an impact on the hydro geochemical 
environment that supports tufa formation in Slade Brook, confidence in the 
restoration scheme is critical to the consideration of the environmental impact 
of the application. This type of restoration is currently untested, especially as, 
the existing quarry has not yet been restored.  It is therefore unclear whether 
the proposed restoration methodology can work. It is also not clear whether 
there is sufficient indigenous materials available to restore both the existing 
and proposed quarry areas as proposed. 

Extraction 
The groundwater monitoring data does not currently support working to 
170mAOD in the proposed extension, given the high water levels recorded in 
April 2018. We note that there is a proposal to only work the first bench initially 
and progress to the second once further data has been acquired on 
groundwater levels and a depth of working agreed based on this. This is 
welcome, however we still have concerns about the limited depth of limestone 
remaining if the full depth is worked.

Ecology 
We have concerns that the ecology of Slade Brook has not been considered 
in enough detail. While the SSSI is notified for the actively forming tufa dams, 
additional biological features have been identified such as alkaline fen. 
Proposals to protect the hydrological characteristics and hydro geochemical 
environment of Slade Brook should also help to protect the biological features, 
but it is important that the applicant is aware and takes account of any 
additional biological features of significance.

6.11 In their response dated 7/6/19 which can be viewed via the underlined Hypa 
link Letter and in Public Access, NE stated that they no longer objected to the 
proposed development subject to securing the relevant planning conditions 
and S106 agreement as detailed below:

Page 89

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NATENG_COMM_07JUN19.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NATENG_COMM_07JUN19.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_NATENG_COMM_07JUN19.pdf


“Following receipt of further information, NE is satisfied that the specific issues 
we have raised in previous correspondence relating to this development have 
been resolved, provided appropriate planning conditions and / or S106 
agreement can be defined. 

We consider that there is still uncertainty over the smaller proposed extension 
in relation to potential impacts on Slade Brook SSSI, resulting in concern 
regarding suitable mitigation. Subject to securing the relevant planning 
conditions/S106 agreement, to allow Slade Brook SSSI to be appropriately 
mitigated against the previously identified impacts, NE does not object to the 
proposal. It is the responsibility of the Local Authority to consider all risks and 
uncertainties on the designated site in deciding whether to grant planning 
permission and make sure all conditions are robust to prevent undue impacts”.

6.12 A summary of NE comments are as follows:

‘Our understanding is that various schemes of work are to be agreed prior to 
commencement of development, including a revised restoration scheme, a 
monitoring scheme, a means of ensuring the control of phased working (e.g. 
requirements necessary for working phase 2), a karst conduit protection 
scheme and timescales around these elements. We are willing to be part of 
the discussions around the schemes of work. 

Written agreement will be required, through a Section 106 or conditions or a 
combination of both in order to ensure the most appropriate legal and 
enforceable way of achieving the required outcomes.

S106 agreement 
 Slade Brook SSSI is located outside of the current planning boundary, and 

this will form a significant part of the monitoring scheme to identify changes in 
the environmental conditions supporting the SSSI and a S106 is the most 
appropriate mechanism to ensure this monitoring scheme is put in place. 
Initially more frequent meetings of MMSG to assess how the monitoring is 
going, will be required rather than annually, through agreement of terms.  

Conditions proposed 
 It is essential that there conditions ensure robust protection. 
 If the monitoring demonstrates that the proposed restoration methods 

(epikarst recreation) do not work, we would recommend that work should 
stop and either alternative measures implemented or work on the quarry 
cease to prevent further potential impact. Phase 2 will not be able to 
commence. We will need a written agreement should this scenario occur, 
in order to provide us with certainty. 

 The phased restoration of the existing quarry must take place within a two 
year period to ensure that the area of open quarry floor is minimised and 
that the proposed restoration scheme can be tested through 
implementation. 

 A review of the restoration works to date should take place to inform a 
scheme for next phase of restoration 

Page 90



 A scheme of monitoring should be agreed prior to commencement of 
development. NE will expect to be part of those discussions with the EA. 

 Development should not progress beyond 176mAOD without agreement, 
as this relates to protection of the aquifer as well as Slade Brook SSSI. 

 requirement for a karst conduit protection scheme 

The proposed restoration for the extension takes the form of an ‘epikarst 
recreation scheme’. With the major impact of the quarry being that it removes 
the epikarst, and thus having the potential to have an impact on the 
hydrogeochemical environment that supports tufa formation in Slade Brook, 
confidence in the restoration scheme is critical to the consideration of the 
environmental impact of the application. This type of restoration is currently 
untested, primarily because the majority of the existing quarry has not yet 
been restored. The majority of the area which has been restored consists of 
placing of materials against the quarry walls rather than restoration of the 
quarry floor. 

The data submitted to date does not appear to indicate impacts on tufa 
formation from quarrying. However, it cannot be assumed that this will 
continue and it is important that caution is still applied to any proposals in the 
vicinity of Slade Brook SSSI. 

The proposed restoration methodology in the existing quarry will have a 
greater depth of limestone beneath the replaced material (quarry overburden 
mixture and soils), as the maximum depth is 176mAOD. In the proposed 
extension the extraction depth proposed is to 170mAOD. Given the evidence 
of more recent rainfall data (April 2018) there may be no unsaturated zone at 
times of higher rainfall, and the depth of limestone remaining will be less than 
in the existing quarry. This means that the starting conditions for restoration 
using epikarst recreation techniques will be different, with less material 
available to enable the appropriate hydrogeochemical conditions to develop to 
support tufa formation in Slade Brook. This will need to be taken into account 
as the restoration proposals are developed.

The application states that it should be agreed before development can 
commence and that initial phases of restoration, including the quarry floor, 
should be completed within two years. This is important as it will ensure that 
the area of open quarry floor is minimised. However, Plan 251L-01-16 
indicates areas that will be restored at the end of phase 1. We believe that 
these areas should be restored within two years of commencement. 

The monitoring of the epikarst recreation / restoration should include chemical 
and hydrological functioning, via proposed lysimeters for detailed monitoring 
but also visual inspection of the wider restoration area (infiltration being the 
primary concern).The monitoring should include hydrological functioning as 
well as chemical & gaseous monitoring. If the water doesn’t infiltrate into and 
through the material the restoration scheme will not be working. This should 
be monitored throughout the life of the quarry to ensure it continues to function 
as intended’.

Page 91



6.13 In their response dated 26/02/20 NE and the EA submitted joint comments 
concerning draft planning conditions that had been sent to them by the MPA 
on the 12/12/19 for their input and agreement as previously requested. The 
response can be viewed via the underlined Hypa link 26/02/2020 and in Public 
Access. A summary of their comment can be read below:

‘Following receipt of the draft conditions, please see joint comments from both 
EA and NE. We have provided initial comments in relation to the draft 
conditions for Stowe Hill, as well as a new epikarst condition, which is felt to 
be an essential component. As previously stated, it is the responsibility of the 
Local Authority to consider all risks and uncertainties on the designated site in 
deciding whether to grant planning permission and make sure all conditions 
are robust to prevent undue impacts.

 “Draft Condition 
We previously sought some wider ecological/biodiversity (net gain) benefits. A 
biodiversity mitigation and enhancement scheme is welcomed, however draft 
condition 9 may need some additional wording to further secure the ecological 
benefits.

A further consideration could be to introduce net gain/biodiversity 
enhancement into the planning conditions, as a way of securement. A 
commitment towards mitigation and enhancement has been previously 
mentioned and would be welcomed.

NE & EA would strongly recommend a consideration of Net Gain as part of the 
planning conditions, as a robust way of being able to implement this through 
the planning application and development process and leave biodiversity in a 
better state than before the development started.

We would advise that any approved scheme could incorporate well designed 
green infrastructure (GI) so the development is able to be accommodated 
within its landscape setting.

Restoration conditions
Restoration conditions needs clarity so it works in chronological order and 
joins up/meets the needs of epikarst construction. We would also recommend 
an additional condition for Final restoration of the restoration area with 
consultation with EA and NE.

EPIKARST CONSTRUCTION 
If you are minded to approve the application, the key issue for you to consider 
is the inclusion of an epikarst construction condition. As highlighted in our last 
formal planning responses of 7 June 2019, the epikarst recreation 
(construction) is an area of concern and there is still uncertainty at this stage 
as it is unproven/unmonitored as part of the EIA. 

With the major impact of the quarry being that it removes the epikarst, and 
thus having the potential to have an impact on the hydrogeochemical 
environment that supports tufa formation in Slade Brook, confidence in the 

Page 92

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_JOINT_RESP_26FEB20.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_JOINT_RESP_26FEB20.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_JOINT_RESP_26FEB20.pdf


restoration scheme is critical to the consideration of the environmental impact 
of the application. This type of restoration is currently untested, primarily 
because the majority of the existing quarry has not yet been restored despite 
the extant planning conditions which apply to it. The majority of the area which 
has been restored consists of placing of materials against the quarry walls 
rather than restoration of the quarry floor. 

If you are granting permission to secure this post permission then the 
following should be considered. The detail may need to be verified by you and 
your legal team to ensure the wording is precise and sound but it is provided 
to assist your understanding and decision making.

EPIKARST CONDITION: 
Prior to commencement of extraction under this permission a scheme for 
epikarst ‘Construction’ shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in consultation with the EA and NE. The scheme will 
include but not be limited to: 

Pre-extraction lysimeter trial testing and reporting 
Details of the lysimeter trial methodology that will be undertaken in the 

quarry to evaluate different methods for construction of a functioning 
epikarst. The trials shall commence prior to any extraction for a minimum 
12 month period and consist of a minimum of 10 lysimeters. 

The types and combinations of material, layering and thickness of 
materials to be used in each lysimeter. 

Methods for measuring carbon dioxide concentrations within the soil 
horizon of each lysimeter and the solute concentrations in water draining 
from the base of each lysimeter. 

Target concentrations for carbon dioxide, calcium and hydrogen 
carbonate that have to be met (for the trials to be judged 
successful/effective). 

Reporting - Details of how the lysimeter trials will be implemented, 
including reporting and review of monitoring data to demonstrate to the 
LPA in consultation with EA/NE that the target concentrations can be 
consistently achieved and that epikarst construction is a viable technique 
to avoid/mitigate risks to Slade Brook SSSI. 

Post reporting actions: 
 If the reporting regime approved under point ‘x’ above demonstrates that 

the epikarst trials are not effective (i.e. the target concentrations for carbon 
dioxide and solute concentrations cannot be achieved then extraction 
works shall not commence until new trials are initiated using different 
combinations and / or thicknesses of materials to give the desired 
outcome. 

 If the reporting regime demonstrates an effective epikarst construction 
system, a final soil-epikarst construction scheme, including thickness and 
layering of materials shall be agreed for use in the restored areas of the 
quarry. The scheme shall also provide for monitoring of the final epikarst 

Page 93



construction. This shall be implemented and carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans. 

Epikarst construction monitoring 
Prior to any restoration, Details of how the restored areas will be 

monitored, (into the longer term) so as to ensure that the soil carbon 
dioxide concentrations and the solute concentrations at the base of the 
constructed epikarst meet the targets specified from the lysimeter trials. 
The Monitoring scheme, including frequency of reporting to the MPA, shall 
be implemented in full as approved for the duration of the development. 

If monitoring results from the approved water monitoring scheme for 
epikarst construction monitoring, provides evidence that the target 
concentrations are not being achieved, or any adverse risk of deterioration 
to groundwater and surface water flows and quality, extraction of mineral 
on site shall cease until a programme to investigate (so the problem is 
understood) and implementation of effective alternative options are put in 
place to remedy and ensure compliance with the approved scheme.

Hydrology - Water Monitoring 
Prior to commencement of extraction a Scheme of Water Monitoring for 
Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension as shown in plan 251L-01-07 shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing and in advance by the Mineral 
Planning Authority, in consultation with the EA and NE. The scheme will 
include, but not be restricted to: 

 frequency of reporting to the MPA 
 frequency and location of monitoring boreholes; 
 method and nature of sampling; 
 criteria by which any adverse changes in surface water and 

groundwater flows and quality will be identified 
 Methods and analysis for investigating the causes of these changes 

and for remediating them. 
 Monitoring failures of any remediation works carried out. 

The Monitoring scheme shall be implemented in full as approved for the 
duration of the development.

Condition 
If monitoring results from the approved water monitoring scheme provides 
evidence of any adverse risk of deterioration to groundwater and surface 
water flows and quality, extraction of mineral on site shall cease until a 
programme to investigate (so the problem is understood) and implementation 
of effective alternative options are put in place to avoid and remedy impacts, 
to the satisfaction of the MPA, in consultation with the EA and NE, to remedy 
and ensure compliance with the approved scheme. 

Condition - Extraction Depth 
Development will not proceed below 176m AOD (Phase 1) without the 
agreement of the Mineral Planning Authority, Natural England and 

Page 94



Environment Agency. Any modified working depth beyond Phase 1 shall be 
informed by the monitoring carried out under condition ‘x’ above and thereafter 
be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 

With regard to the above monitoring and reporting - as mentioned previously 
we would welcome thoughts on how the review of reported information would 
be undertaken. Some form of funding, or use of our cost recovery process 
may be necessary to assist similar to your enforcement programme”.

Environment Agency (Lower Severn) (EA)
6.14 In their response dated 29/6/18 which can be viewed via the underlined Hypa 

link Letter in Public Access, the EA stated they had concerns with the 
application and objected to the proposed development as originally submitted.

The EA objected to the proposal on the following grounds; 

 The proposed operational working depth versus groundwater table high 
depth and what is an appropriate realistic operational working depth to 
leave an appropriate unsaturated zone;

 working depth beyond 176m AOD (which is the level currently 
approved in Stowe Hill Quarry);

 Restoration proposals such as the epikarst recreation is an unproven 
mitigation measure and we have concerns this may not work as 
intended, with the potential for irreversible impact, unless further data is 
provided to demonstrate this acceptability. 

 The ongoing analysis of the monitoring programme data during quarry 
operations needs to be confirmed especially how impacts will be 
realistically measured, confirmed and acted upon before any changes 
are observed in the Slade Brook springs. 

 Cumulative impacts from having a large existing quarry and now an 
extension within the defined slow flow catchment of Slade Brook 
springs. 

 We also seek further information in relation to the Water Framework 
Directive and Biodiversity.

Irreversible impact and Alternatives: 
On the basis of current key concerns there may be irreversible adverse 
environmental impacts in EIA terms. 

6.15 In addition the EA made comments and asked for clarification on the following:

 Potential alternatives and consideration of technical, cost, environmental 
(our emphasis) and legal grounds, there may be more sustainable 
locations/sites for future extraction purposes noting the shortfall in 
aggregates supply.

 The issue of data quality is particularly concerning with the flow data within 
the Slade Brook and lack of baseline groundwater data within the extension 
area.  Data is key to deriving the water balance, catchment area 
determination and conceptual understanding and so we acknowledge that 
the best available data is far from perfect in that respect and there are a 

Page 95

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_EASEVE_COMM_29JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_EASEVE_COMM_29JUN18.pdf


number of limitations with these datasets. Key decisions on the quarry 
operation, monitoring and mitigation for the quarry application are based on 
these datasets so it is a far from an ideal situation at this stage in the 
process.

 This proposed working depth of 170m AOD is also deeper than previous 
planning permissions within existing quarry areas, we would like an 
explanation as to why this would be any different for this extension 
application? We would assume this is to access more mineral within a 
smaller area, however this would be a lot closer to the groundwater table 
and therefore, has a greater chance of impacting water resources and 
geochemical processes feeding the Slade Brook springs. 

 It is our view that the working depth proposed carries too high a risk and so 
the applicant should reconsider their approach, perhaps with an appropriate 
planning condition to restrict working depth etc. Section 10.5.46 within 
Chapter 10 v3 recognises: ‘The proposed restoration strategy across the 
Site and existing quarry area will seek to maintain an unsaturated zone 
within the karst limestone and recharge to the deep limestone aquifer. The 
groundwater table is therefore not expected to be altered to a 
significant degree.’ 

 We have concerns over this statement based on the discussion above as 
the unsaturated zone would be so thin to non-existent and therefore will 
affect the success of the mitigation being proposed, i.e. epikarst recreation 
would be much less effective under these circumstances? And pumping 
might be required to enable quarrying operations at times? In our view this 
is an area which needs to be focussed on in more detail by the quarry 
operator as this working depth will underpin the success of the operation in 
general and whether Slade Brook springs are effectively protected. Defining 
the working depth of 170m AOD will not work based on the groundwater 
level data.

 The EA request that a figure (plan and relevant cross-sections) are 
provided of the quarry level Vs thickness of limestone left post quarrying to 
the proposed bench 2 of 170m AOD across the entire extension area so an 
assessment can be made of how much limestone will be left. On these 
figure(s) the epikarst laying should also be indicated. We have very real 
concerns that working to the second bench of 170m AOD will in fact be 6m 
deeper than previous permissions and presents a real risk to the water 
chemistry and water storage in the aquifer leading to impacts of Slade 
Brook springs despite the indications that monitoring has not shown any 
issues to date. This could have long term impacts upon Slade Brook SSSI.

 There has been no mention of this aspect in terms of the potential for 
dewatering to take place during the life time of the quarrying? 

Restoration (notably Epikarst recreation)
 Epikarst recreation is a main mitigation/ restoration proposal for this 

application yet on the face of it is a relatively unproven technique. We do 
not object in principle to the use of this technique, however we have 
reservations about where and when it is going to be implemented;

 Very little detail is provided on restoration in general within Chapter 10 and 
there is also mention of progressive restoration with quarrying. But how 
would this work in practice the progressive restoration?

Page 96



 Section 10.6.18 states: ‘Progressive restoration to a land use consistent 
with the rest of the catchment will return the soil profile as soon as 
practically possible, while a minimum 2m epikarst recreation will allow 
continued calcium carbonate dissolution.’ How long is ‘as soon as 
practically possible’? And is 2m thickness sufficient and adequate enough 
for the continued longevity of carbonate dissolution/ solute processes years 
down the line when the quarrying has ended to mimic natural epikarst 
processes pre-quarrying? Why 2m for this reactive layer? The thickness of 
epikarst is also contradicted within the report in places with 1.5m, 2m and 
within a total profile of 2.7m. Please clarify which is the correct thickness in 
light of previous questions? 

 We have concerns that sections 10.2.128 and 10.2.135 refer to using 
limestone dust to help achieve calcium carbonate dissolution. In our view, 
dust (at the <1mm size scale) could turn to cement with addition of water 
and block fissures which defeats the objective in the first place. Surely 
during emplacement under dry conditions it will blow away? Is there enough 
limestone based materials available in the local quarry for epikarst 
recreation which will give the right chemistry into the longer term as the 
Slade Brook will need this especially after quarrying operations are long 
finished? Could these materials become exhausted of Ca? What is the 
longer term efficacy of such materials?

 We would assume that the operator would want to avoid the more clayey 
based materials being used but how would this be quality assured during 
site operations? Clayey materials will impede infiltration and alter flows/ 
chemistry. 

 We need more evidence that epikarst recreation will indeed be effective 
and work as intended even with such a small proposed unsaturated zone 
which at certain times of the year the groundwater table would inundate the 
quarry floor. As a mitigation for the geochemistry aspect this, in our opinion, 
is crucial yet we are still not convinced this technique will work in practice 
here. So the proof that it will actually work has yet to be demonstrated and 
yet under this planning application it is presented as the main mitigation/ 
restoration proposal for geochemical aspects. We need more validation and 
demonstration that this will indeed work as intended before it can be 
accepted as a valid option for this application. 

 We would also like to see the areas where epikarst recreation is proposed 
within the extension area on a plan as this is not clear, but also the existing 
quarry area where it has already been recreated and areas where it has still 
yet to be implemented.

 We would query if enough of the restoration materials discussed are 
available for the full restoration of both the existing quarries and the 
proposed extension at a later date? Will enough material be available for 
the quarry extension further down the line after full restoration of the 
existing quarry (Stowe Hill and Clearwell quarries?) with epikarst? Surely 
the existing quarries have much excess materials waiting for the purposes 
of restoration? From reading the reports it would appear that material from 
the extension phase is needed for restoration within the other quarries 
hence our concerns that not enough restoration materials are currently 

Page 97



available. Please can the amounts of materials be quantified for all quarries 
in relation to the epikarst recreation? 

 The restoration scheme for the extension phase could ultimately form part 
of a planning condition. However, at this stage we would seek certainty as 
part of the EIA, through additional field trials, that epikarst recreation is 
appropriate and will work as intended

 The EIA should provide sufficient detail to confirm the likelihood of 
mitigation being appropriate, linked to the significance of the impact. 
However, you may be satisfied that a planning condition could be imposed 
to restrict development until epikarst trials have demonstrated the approach 
is viable.

 We do not believe that enough groundwater level data in particular has 
been collected for baseline purposes notably showing background seasonal 
trends and identifying the groundwater high level sufficiently for baseline as 
the monitoring boreholes within the extension area have only been in for a 
few years if that.

Soil CO2 and Epikarst Recreation 
 To demonstrate the success of epikarst recreation, it is essential that the 

constructed epikarst is monitored with appropriate methods as discussed 
previously epikarst has been neither tried nor tested to our knowledge. 
Epikarst field trial areas will need to be setup before the larger scale 
reconstruction is even attempted to demonstrate its applicability.

 It is also recommended that a series of infiltration tests should be 
undertaken to assess the ability of the soils and constructed epikarst to 
accept the water as intended. The monitoring undertaken in the field trials 
should also be carried through into the larger scale epikarst recreation 
areas to demonstrate its longer term efficacy.

 This monitoring needs to include CO2 concentrations in the soils overlying 
the constructed epikarst and in soils beneath surrounding farmland. Solute 
concentrations in the constructed epikarst should be measured by 
extracting water samples and determining, as a minimum, Ca and HCO3 
concentrations. Without this monitoring it will be impossible to assess 
whether or not the constructed epikarst is functioning in a similar way to the 
natural epikarst and is delivering solute to the groundwater system and 
ultimately to Slade Brook.

 The ongoing analysis of the monitoring programme data needs to be 
confirmed especially how impacts (changes in data trends) will be 
realistically measured, confirmed and acted upon before any changes are 
observed in the Slade Brook springs.

 Discussions need to focus on:
 how changes would be identified especially with the limitations of the 

datasets discussed and what actions would be taken by the operator to 
report such deviations.?

 What would trigger an investigation during operations and what 
mitigation?

 Changes could be a more gradual onset rather than immediate so this 
would have to be built in.

Page 98



 whether there is currently enough seasonal data to identify this change 
with certainty? 

 For chemistry how would you therefore identify an impact with long time 
gaps? Discussion is required around this aspect. We also understood 
that for flow site FG1 on Slade Brook this had automated data 
collection for chemistry, however Chapter 10 does not include this now 
and moved to monthly.

 Impacts of the Access Road 
 Cumulative Impact of the quarry
 Site drainage

6.16 In their response dated 7/6/19 which can be viewed via the underlined Hypa 
link Letter in Public Access, the EA stated that they would not now be in a 
position to object to the proposal but highlighted that there were still aspects of 
uncertainty and suggested that their proposed control measures were taken 
into account in order to be robust ensuring no impact upon controlled waters 
and importantly the Slade Brook SSSI. A summary of their response follows:

‘There will be some important details to discuss as part of any control 
measures – section 106 and planning condition wording, including the 
parameters for epikarst recreation (prior to development works to demonstrate 
effectiveness etc.) and how we ensure certainty on that approach, and 
sufficient testing/avoidance of any impact upon Slade Brook SSSI and 
groundwater in the underlying aquifer. 

The enhanced proposals to collect monitoring data is welcomed in 
understanding any ongoing risk and it is agreed that a S106 proposal maybe 
the most appropriate mechanism to secure this.

To date it has been stated that approximately 33% of the existing quarry has 
been restored and that little has been undertaken in the quarry floor bringing 
the effectiveness of the restoration into question to date, linked to the existing 
permission. However, we understand that the materials required for ongoing 
restoration will come from the Phase 1 extension application area and could 
provide a betterment to the current restoration strategy which we support.

The epikarst recreation is a key requirement for the mitigation of quarrying into 
the extension area and the trials proposed will greatly assist in understanding 
the best approach for constructing the epikarst in the right way to make it most 
effective in providing the right chemistry for the receiving groundwater’s. 
Whilst it is currently unproven and not demonstrated up front within the EIA 
and/or assisted by the limited programme of restoration works carried out as 
part of the extant permission, the applicant is proposing to agree this as part 
of a scheme for epikarst recreation (restoration). This will help provide 
certainty or otherwise works in the extension area should cease.

Comments on suggested planning conditions from the applicant:

Condition F – Scheme of restoration including Epikarst recreation 

Page 99

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_EASEVE_COMM_07JUN19.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_EASEVE_COMM_07JUN19.pdf


This needs to tie up with the scheme of monitoring (condition H) perhaps 
through the programme of implementation) and provide for a sequencing plan, 
and itself have some control measures to demonstrate the effectiveness of the 
epikarst recreation. The scheme should have measures to stop work If it is not 
working and to either remedy through alternatives or cease works to prevent 
further possible potential impact (perhaps linked to condition G to ‘review’ the 
epikarst works). This should be used along with a section 106.
 
We consider that before development can commence initial phases of 
restoration, including quarry floor (noting exclusion of drainage channels, haul 
roads etc.) should be completed within two years to ensure areas of open 
quarry floor are minimised.  Plan 251L-01-16 indicates areas that will be 
restored at the end of phase 1, however, we believe that these areas should 
be restored within two years of commencement. 

The Management and Monitoring Steering Group (MMSG) should meet 
initially more frequently than annually to assess how the monitoring 
programme and extraction is going and to discuss site issues. 

Conditions F and H (monitoring scheme) needs to include for a ‘what if…?’ 
scenario. If it doesn’t work or shows impact then works should perhaps cease, 
proposals to look at alternatives, remedy of such should be undertaken. 

A Scheme for monitoring could consider: “frequency and location of 
monitoring boreholes; method and nature of sampling. Thereafter monitoring 
shall be carried out and reviewed in accordance with the approved scheme 
and It should include the following: 
‘If the restoration scheme and/or monitoring scheme approved under 
‘condition x’ shows any adverse risk of deterioration to …water features 
(groundwater and surface water quality) including the Slade Brook SSSI, 
development should cease until proposals: 
 to investigate the cause of deterioration;
 to remediate any such risks;
 to monitor and amend any failures of the remediation undertaken, shall be 

submitted to the MPA  for their approval in consultation with the EA.

Condition H - a scheme of monitoring should be agreed prior to 
commencement of development with the MMSG (including the EA and NE).

Working Depth (suggested condition I) 
The revised submission acknowledges our previous concerns and accepts 
that groundwater level data collected in April 2018 exceeds 170m AOD. 
We are satisfied that the working depth is controlled by two phases of 
operations and that further groundwater level data is to be collected to 
determine a safe lower working depth. 

Phase 2 should only commence to final working depth (to be agreed) following 
assessment of longer term groundwater level & rainfall data over a longer 
period of time. The depth of 170m AOD may not be appropriate but monitoring 
data will demonstrate this and final working depth will be agreed through the 

Page 100



MMSG to ensure protection of the aquifer and the Slade Brook SSSI tufa 
formations and spring outflows. Until demonstrated we would wish to see a 
condition imposed to ensure that the working depth shall be no lower than 
176m AOD unless monitoring demonstrates an impact and to inform a 
maximum potential working depth of 170m AOD. 

Condition L: The details of the karst conduit protection scheme should be 
agreed up front. The above is in the interest of protection of the water 
environment and Slade Brook springs SSSI.

Section 106 
The combination of enhanced monitoring data collection and S106/ planning 
condition controls through the MMSG process will make sure adequate 
monitoring, mitigation and appropriate assessment is undertaken to protect 
the Slade Brook SSSI on an ongoing basis throughout the lifetime of the 
quarrying into the Phase 1 extension area. 

We would wish to be part of the Management and Monitoring Steering Group 
(MMSG).

Monitoring of Slade Brook ecology
Linked to the monitoring of the quality of the brook, if you are minded to 
approve the application, we would recommend that the following be included, 
in the absence of the EIA providing this information. 

 Ecological survey of the Slade Brook to provide for baseline and monitoring 
of effects and future trends’

6.17 In response to a request by the MPA the EA submitted an e-mail dated 27th 
June 2019 clarifying a number of points relating to their consultation response 
dated 7th June 2019. The e-mail containing the questions from the MPA and 
the EA response in red text can be seen in public access.

6.18 In their response dated 26/2/20 the EA and NE submitted joint comments 
concerning draft planning conditions that had been sent to them on the 
12/12/19 for their input and agreement as previously requested. The response 
can be viewed via the underlined Hypa link 26/02/2020 or in Public Access. 

Campaign to Protect Rural England Gloucestershire (CPRE)
6.19 The CPRE objected to the proposal on the following grounds dated 19/2/18 

which can be seen in full via this underlined hypa link Letter with a summary 
below:
 Visual impact, amenity, agricultural land quality, need and planning 

policy with the following conclusion:

CPRE acknowledges the need to provide a continuing and reliable supply of 
aggregates for Gloucestershire. In this case there are adverse consequences 
for landscape and its appreciation, local amenity and, we understand, risk of 
irreversible damage to a rare type of SSSI. To outweigh those constraints it 
should be demonstrable that the public (not just commercial) need cannot 

Page 101

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_JOINT_RESP_26FEB20.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_JOINT_RESP_26FEB20.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_CPRE_COMM_19FEB18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_CPRE_COMM_19FEB18.pdf


reasonably be met by a less damaging option. It is CPRE’s view that such 
alternative options have not been effectively explored as is required by
National planning policy, or, if they have, the evidence and analysis has not 
been made publicly available.

In these circumstances we consider that it is unjustifiable to give planning 
consent to the proposals. Particularly just in advance of an Inquiry into the 
new Minerals Local Plan where some of the reasons for objection will need to 
be considered in detail. The proposal is therefore additionally ‘premature’.

6.20 To further support and update their comments originally made dated 19/2/18, 
the CPRE submitted the following dated 15th July 2018:

“A substantial part of CPRE's case for refusing the application related to 'need' 
and the inadequate implementation of the Duty to Co-operate (DtC) 
requirement in the evolving Minerals Local Plan (MLP). That case is not 
affected by the new material produced by the applicants. (CPRE has 
re-iterated its concern about the DtC shortcomings in its response to the 
Publication version of the MLP).

CPRE maintains its views on the adverse consequences for landscape and 
public amenity. We re-iterate that photographic depictions of the visual 
consequences can be deceptive and are no substitute for directly viewing with 
the human eye.

With regard to the hydro-geological issue, CPRE notes that both Natural 
England and the Environment Agency have now indicated that they maintain 
previous objections. CPRE is not qualified to comment on the potential hydro-
geological consequences. However, we confirm our view that the 
'precautionary principle' should be followed in this case. It would be 
unjustifiable to permit any operations which might risk degrading the special 
qualities of the Slad Brook SSSI and for which effective remedial action could 
not be guaranteed”.

6.21 In response to the January 2019 Regulation 25 consultation, CPRE submitted 
further Comments objecting to the proposal dated 28/1/19 which can be 
viewed in Public Access with a summary below:

“There is nothing in version 3 of the Non-Technical Summary (N-TS) which 
justifies changing the comments in our previous representations on this 
application. I confirm that those comments stand. 

We note the re-iteration in paragraph 2.5 of the N-TS that meeting 
Gloucestershire's aggregate needs from outside the county 'would have a 
negative economic impact on construction costs' and 'would also have a 
negative environmental impact by increasing vehicular emissions, road wear 
and tear and traffic congestion'. We re-iterate our view that this is a facile 
statement which does not bear evidential examination. Economic and 
environmental consequences of transporting aggregates by road are not 
determined by local government boundaries but by the length of journey from 

Page 102



source to usage point and on the nature of the roads used. There is clearly 
both import and export of aggregates across the county's border, driven by 
commercial considerations without regard to administrative boundaries.

The County Council has now submitted its draft Minerals Local Plan (MLP) to 
the Planning Inspectorate for examination in public. CPRE expects that the 
supply of Carboniferous limestone aggregates will be a key issue and should 
be subject to rigorous, rational and evidence based examination”. 

In our letter dated 19 February 2018 we contended that approving this 
application prior to formal examination of the draft MLP would be premature. 
The current situation in respect of the draft MLP and associated documents 
submitted for consideration by a planning inspector reinforce the prematurity 
argument”

Planning Casework Unit:
6.22 In their consultation response dated 21/01/2019 the National Casework Unit 

submitted the following comments:
“I acknowledge receipt of the environmental statement relating to the above 
proposal.

I confirm that we have no comments to make on the environmental 
statement”.

7.0 STRATEGIC INFASTRUCTURE OBSERVATIONS

County Landscape Advisor (CLA)  
7.1 In their consultation response dated 12/02/2018 which can be viewed in the 

comments section of Public Access, the CLA did not object to the proposal but 
did raise issues relating to the proposed footpath diversion, greater woodland 
connectivity with Bearse Common and Orles Wood and possible additional 
planting as part of the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area.

7.2 In their Technical note (hyperlink) dated 13/6/18 the CLA was satisfied that the 
proposal met the specific landscape requirements subject to their 
recommended conditions being included in any approval. A summary of their 
response can be read below:

“The further montages confirm that in some views from, in particular the north, 
the existing skyline and profile will be changed with views at completion of the 
upper levels of the worked-out quarry face.

The winter photographs are helpful in demonstrating the more open views of 
the workings from the relevant viewpoints at those times.

The sections through the bunding adequately demonstrate that the bunding 
will not physically or be perceived as overshadowing the adjacent residential 
properties. The slack outward facing slopes will help assimilate these into the 
landscape. It is also important to recognise that relatively short-term visual 
impact must be set against the mitigation of other potential adverse impacts 

Page 103

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ATKINS_COMM_13JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ATKINS_COMM_13JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ATKINS_COMM_13JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ATKINS_COMM_13JUN18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ATKINS_COMM_13JUN18.pdf


e.g. noise.

I note in 5.6 of the Additional Environmental Information Report (May 2018), 
that the applicant is willing to consider my request for additional woodland 
planting to improve connectivity but have asked for the views of the County 
Ecologist on this. I am content to leave the final decision on the 
appropriateness of such planting to him.

I understand that potentially the EA are now reassured about the potential 
impacts on the water table and stream(s) fed from this, subject to monitoring. 
There remains however the case that if monitoring were to show adverse 
impacts and quarrying had to stop, then the phased restoration as proposed 
would not be achieved. Assuming there would be a condition to provide for 
ongoing quarrying to be subject to acceptable monitoring results, I would 
suggest that, as discussed, this should include provision for the submission 
and approval of a revised final restoration scheme and landscaping to ensure 
an acceptable final landscape and visual solution. This, it should be accepted, 
might include some further reprofiling to achieve acceptable restoration 
landform.

The application area is included within land identified as preferred for 
limestone extraction within the emerging County Minerals plan and meets the 
specific landscape requirements set out in that document. Given this 
presumption in favour of extraction, if you are minded to recommend approval 
of the application I would ask for the following conditions to be considered.

 Prior to the commencement of works, a tree retention and protection plan 
(as per appendix 5 of Chapter 12 of the Environmental Statement (ES)) 
should be submitted and approved in writing by the Authority. Tree 
protection should be in accordance with that shown in Appendix 6 of 
Chapter 12 of the ES and should be installed prior to the commencement 
of the approved works. An Arboricultural Method Statement should be 
submitted for approval in writing by the Authority. This should be based on 
Section 6 of the LVIA Appendix A and should include for the 
recommended regular re-inspection recommended in section 6.10 of 
Appendix A. Where such inspections give rise to recommendations to vary 
the approved proposals or arboricultural works, this should be agreed in 
writing with the authority.

Reason: to ensure the adequate protection of existing trees and woodland 
to be retained and which form an important part of the existing and 
restored landscape.

 The screen bunds shown on Phase 1 drawings (Plan No: 251L-01-06 and 
sections 251L-01-22) and as set out in section 3.4 of the Planning 
Statement, should be formed and seeded prior to commencement of any 
stone extraction works. Thereafter these should be maintained to ensure 
establishment of the grassland and integrity of the screening.

Page 104



Reason: to ensure appropriate screening to adjoining residential 
properties and potential receptors on PROWs.

 Within 6 months of this approval, a detailed landscape restoration scheme 
for Phase 1 should be submitted for approval in writing by the Authority. 
This should be in accordance with the submitted Plan 251L-01-11. It 
should detail species, sizes, spacing and areas of tree and shrub planting; 
details of seed mixes and areas of seeding; restoration levels, soil depths 
and types and should be accompanied by an Aftercare and Management 
Report as set out in section 4 of the Planning Statement. Where possible, 
restoration should be a progressive activity throughout the life of the 
approved quarry operations but in any event the Phase 1 restoration 
should be completed within 12 months of the agreed Phase 1 quarrying 
end date. Thereafter the landscape should be maintained in accordance 
with the approved management plan and any plants or areas of seeding 
which die or fail to establish for a period of 5 years after the agreed 
completion date shall be replaced.

Reason: To ensure the effective progressive restoration of the quarry to 
meet the landscape and visual mitigation set out in the submitted 
Environmental Statement.

 The applicant should submit an annual report setting out progress against 
the Phasing proposals within the permitted 5-year quarry period. This 
should provide for potential site inspection with the County officers in year 
3 when the applicant anticipates the completion of Phase 1 quarrying.

Reason: to ensure the proposed phased restoration of the works is 
implemented.

 A detailed methodology for the translocation of the hedgerow at the new 
access onto the B4228 (Plan 251L-01-08should be submitted for approval 
in writing. Translocation should only be undertaken when the hedgerow is 
dormant. Thereafter any sections of hedgerow which fail to thrive or die for 
a period of 5 years should be cut back to ground level and new hedgerow 
planting with appropriate protection undertaken. The detail of this and 
maintenance and management of the hedgerow should be set out as part 
of the submitted methodology. 

Reason: to ensure the existing landscape and visual character of the 
B4228 is maintained.

 Within 6 months of the agreed date for the completion of Phase 1 
quarrying, a detailed landscape restoration scheme for the completed 
works should be submitted for approval in writing by the Authority. This 
should be in accordance with the submitted Plan 251L-01-12. It should 
detail species, sizes, spacing and areas of tree and shrub planting; details 
of seed mixes and areas of seeding; restoration levels, soil depths and 
types and should be accompanied by an Aftercare and Management 
Report as set out in section 4 of the Planning Statement. Final restoration 

Page 105



should be completed within 12 months of the quarrying end date as set 
out in this approval. Thereafter the landscape, including that completed in 
Phase 1 should be maintained in accordance with the approved 
management plan and any plants or areas of seeding which die or fail to 
establish for a period of 5 years after the agreed completion date shall be 
replaced.

Reason: To ensure the effective progressive restoration of the quarry to 
meet the landscape and visual mitigation set out in the submitted 
Environmental Statement.

 A detailed landscaping scheme for the phased restoration of Clearwell 
Quarry should be submitted for approval in writing by the Authority. This 
should be in accordance with the submitted Plans 251-01, 251-02 and 
251-03. It should detail species, sizes, spacing and areas of tree and 
shrub planting; details of seed mixes and areas of seeding; restoration 
levels, soil depths and types and should be accompanied by an Aftercare 
and Management Report as set out in section 4 of the Planning 
Statement. Final restoration should be completed within 12 months of the 
quarrying end date as set out in this approval. Thereafter the landscape, 
including that completed in Phase 1 should be maintained in accordance 
with the approved management plan and any plants or areas of seeding 
which die or fail to establish for a period of 5 years after the agreed 
completion date shall be replaced.

Reason: To ensure the effective progressive restoration of the quarry to 
meet the landscape and visual mitigation set out in the submitted ES”.

7.3 Comments received on the 30/1/19 
“In terms of Landscape and Visual impacts, there appears from my reading of 
the documents to be no substantive change to that previously proposed. As 
such I am content for my comments and recommendations for conditions set 
out in my email to you of 13th June last year can stand”.

County Air Quality Advisor (CAQA)
7.4 The CAQA submitted comments dated 05/2/19 which can be viewed in full via 

the underlined hypa link Comments  in Public access. A summary of their 
comments are as follows:

The extant permission for extraction at the quarry was granted in 2007, prior to 
declaration of the Lydney AQMA in July 2010. The applicant states that they 
are not increasing the currently consented rate of output from the quarry or 
extending quarry operations beyond the December 2024 end date currently 
permitted.

The Traffic and Highways chapter of the EA submitted in November 2017 
provides a breakdown of transport routes taken by quarry traffic.  Accepting 
the traffic data as presented, they demonstrate that the volume of quarry traffic 
routed on the B4231 into Lydney (AQMA) is only a small proportion of HGV 
movements generated by quarry operations (18 of 294 movements, or 6%), 

Page 106

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ATKINS_AIR_QUAL_05FEB19.pdf


with traffic data showing that the quarry traffic comprises only a small 
proportion of total average traffic (<1%), and total average HGV flows (12%), 
using this route.

With reference to IAQM Land Use Planning Guidance 
(http://iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/air-qualityplanning-guidance.pdf), the 
threshold above which a proposal requires air quality assessment is a change 
in HDV flows of 25 AADT within or adjacent to an AQMA. The quarry traffic 
routed via Lydney of 18 daily HGV movements falls below this threshold and, 
as existing traffic flows does not constitute a change in traffic flows. Therefore, 
it is not considered that the low number of quarry vehicle movements via 
Lydney are of any material concern in terms of air quality.

Mitigation in terms of reducing overall HGV movements is already provided 
through adoption of backhauling where possible. Mitigation of vehicle 
movements and emissions within the Lydney AQMA is addressed by the 
routing of the majority of quarry traffic via alternate routes, (e.g. via Coleford).
Finally, the proposed improvements to plant (Section 7 of the Additional 
Environmental Information Report) will serve to further control dust emissions 
associated with those aspects of quarry operations

Recommendations
We note the applicant’s proposals in Section 7 of Appendix F to the Additional 
Environmental Information Report (December 2018) for improvements to plant 
‘within 3 months of the grant of Planning Permission’.

We would advise that, should the application be consented, the applicant is 
bound by planning condition to implement these measures in advance of any 
newly consented operations commencing.

Since Atkins’ (sic CAQA) previous comment on air quality aspects of the 
application, a number of public representations have been made strongly 
objecting to the proposal on numerous grounds including visual impact and air 
quality (traffic emissions and deposited dust).

Should the application be consented, we would recommend planning 
conditions with regard to submission and approval of a dust management plan 
(DMP) to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (M&WPA) for all 
operations in advance of extended extraction operations commencing 
including:
 appropriate dust monitoring (daily on-site and off-site inspections as a 

minimum, with frequency adjusted according to dust risk, e.g. higher 
frequency in dry and windy conditions, with records available for
inspection by the MPA);

 maintenance of a daily log on weather conditions and incidents;
 appropriate measures for management of operational processes 

(materials handling and processing) to minimise dust emissions;
 provision of measures for the management of trackout (for example, but 

not limited to, sheeting of vehicles before leaving site and effective use of 
wheel wash facilities);

Page 107



 regular audit of effectiveness of the DMP and revision as appropriate; and
 all works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved dust 

management plan and implemented in full through the life of the 
consented operations.

Reason: To ensure implementation of appropriate dust control measures in 
the interests of good site management and the protection of amenities of 
surrounding occupiers.

Highways Authority (HA) 
7.5 The HA comments dated 6/7/18 can be viewed in full in Public Access via the 

underlined hypa link Letter with a summary below:
‘The existing access for Stowehill Quarry will be the only access used for 
quarry traffic throughout the extraction and restoration of the quarry. 

The new proposed access to serve the dwelling on site will be created off of 
the B4228, which is subject to the sign posted 60mph national speed limit. A 
speed survey undertaken in accordance with DMRB TA22/81 has determined 
that the 85th percentile speed of vehicles travelling along the B4228 is 45.9m 
northbound and 47.4 southbound. The required Sight Stopping Distances 
(SSD) commensurate with the 85th percentile speed would require visibility 
splays of 127m to the right and 134m to the left from a 2.4m setback of the 
site access centre line. The required visibility can be achieved within land 
under the applicants control and within highway verge, however; the visibility 
splays would need to be maintained clear of obstruction and by doing so will 
require some removal of boundary vegetation. This can be dealt with by way 
of planning condition.

The addition of the new proposed access will not facilitate thorough traffic of 
any vehicles in either direction.

The LPA has also confirmed that the proposal will not contribute to any 
additional vehicle movements to that which are already approved.

Recommendation
The Highway Authority recommends that no highway objection be raised 
subject to the following conditions being attached to any permission granted:

Visibility
The vehicular access hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
existing roadside frontage boundaries have been set back to provide visibility 
splays extending from a point 2.4m back along the centre of the access 
measured from the public road carriageway edge (the X point) to a point on 
the nearer carriageway edge of the public road 127m right and 134m left (the 
Y points). The area between those splays and the carriageway shall be 
reduced in level and thereafter maintained so as to provide clear visibility 
between 1.05m and 2.0m at the X point and between 0.26m and 2.0m at the Y 
point above the adjacent carriageway level.

Page 108

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNHI_COMM_06JUL18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNHI_COMM_06JUL18.pdf


Reason: - To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate 
visibility is provided and maintained and to ensure that a safe, suitable and 
secure means of access for all people that minimises the conflict between 
traffic and cyclists and pedestrians is provided in accordance with the NPPF.

Access Construction
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular 
access shall be laid out and constructed in accordance with the submitted plan 
ref. 251L-01-08.

Reason: - To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that there is a safe, 
suitable and secure means of access for all people that minimises the conflict 
between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

Junction Completion
No works shall commence on site (other than those required by this condition) 
on the development hereby permitted until the first 20m of the proposed 
access road, including the junction with the existing public road and 
associated visibility splays, has been completed to at least binder course level.

Reason: - To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the 
development by ensuring that there is a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists 
and pedestrians in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Informatives:
Note I: The proposed development will involve works to be carried out on the 
public highway and the applicant/developer is required to enter into a legally 
binding Highway Works Agreement (Including appropriate bond) with the 
county council before commencing works.

Note II: The proposed development will require the provision of a 
footway/verge crossing and the Applicant/Developer is required to obtain the 
permission of the Amey Gloucestershire (08000 514 514) before commencing 
any works on the highway’.

Public Rights of Way (PROW) comments dated 1/4/20
7.6 “Our Diversions Officer and a PROW Officer met with the quarry manager and 

their agent at site a couple of years ago to discuss their proposals.

The diversion as shown on plan 251L-01-11 is what we all discussed and 
agreed on at the time.

The second diversion of the Public Footpaths as shown on plan 251L-01-12 is 
certainly a new idea but I welcome what is being suggested there.

I interpret that as Public Footpath RNE66 being terminated at ‘Shop House’ 
which will enable a better connection with Public Footpath RNE59.

Page 109



Also a new Public Footpath (number tbd) will be created which will start / end 
at the current western end of RNE66”.

County Archaeologist 
7.7 Comments from the County Archaeologist dated 7/12/17 can be viewed in full 

in Public access via the underlined hypa link Memorandum with a summary 
below:
‘I note that this planning application is supported by an ES in which 
archaeology is considered along with Cultural Heritage in Chapter 5.

The programme of geophysical survey and trial-trenching found no
evidence for archaeological remains within the proposed extension
area. However the evidence needs to be treated with some caution.
There is a range of small archaeological features (such as pits, post settings, 
linear gullies and graves) which may elude detection by geophysical survey, 
and such features will also elude detection if they are outside the small sample 
of trial trenching.

It should also be noted that a number of the trial-trenches investigated were 
machine-excavated well below the level of archaeological preservation, with 
the result that some archaeological remains may not have been identified 
during the investigation. In my view unpredicted archaeological remains are 
therefore likely to be present within the proposed development area.

The Environmental Statement (paragraph 5.8.5) recognises that there is 
potential for the proposed development area to contain currently unknown 
archaeological remains, and it is proposed (paragraph 5.7.2) to mitigate that 
potential impact by undertaking archaeological mitigation. In my view that 
mitigation should comprise archaeological monitoring of the removal of top-
soils, with a contingency for the investigation and recording of any 
archaeological remains which may be revealed.

On that basis I am pleased to confirm that I have no objection in principle to 
the development of this site.

To facilitate the archaeological mitigation I recommend that a condition based 
on model condition 55 from Appendix A of Circular 11/95 is attached to any 
planning permission which may be given for this development, ie;
‘No development shall take place within the application site until the applicant, 
or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority’.

Reason: It is important to agree a programme of archaeological work in 
advance of the commencement of development, so as to make provision for 
the investigation and recording of any archaeological remains that may be 
destroyed by ground works required for the scheme. The archaeological 
programme will advance understanding of any heritage assets which will be 

Page 110

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNAR_COMM_07DEC17.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNAR_COMM_07DEC17.pdf


lost, in accordance with paragraph 141 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.’

Additional Comments received 22.5.18
7.8 “I note that the new information does not relate to archaeological issues. 

Therefore, I confirm that position regarding archaeology remains as described 
in my memo to you of 7.12.2017. I have no further observations”.

Additional Comments received 11.1.19
7.9 I note that the application is now supported by a revised Non-technical 

summary of the ES (dated 19.12.2018). I advise that the Section 5 dealing 
with Cultural Heritage remains unchanged. Therefore, I confirm that the 
position regarding archaeology remains as described in my memo to you of 
7.12.2017. I have no further observations.

County Principal Ecologist (CPE)
7.10 The CPE in their consultation response received on the 7/12/17 which can be 

viewed in full via this link Memo, requested that several issues needed to be 
addressed prior to determination which are included below:

‘The extension area under consideration is relatively small with very few 
features of biodiversity value.  Despite this there are some biodiversity matters 
to address. No significant impacts on biodiversity have occurred at 
Clearwell/Stowe Hill in the past and some benefits are now starting to accrue 
through ongoing restoration under other consents. It is my view that with 
safeguards and final scheme details approved that a real net gain for 
biodiversity can be achieved in the short, medium and long term. Extended 
habitat features including new grassland, ponds, hedgerows and woodland 
planting (drawings 251L-01-12 & 251L- 01-13) will be able to support 
improved populations of a range of species including protected and priority 
ones. This makes the proposal consistent with existing adopted Minerals 
Policy E10 plus the proposed biodiversity and geodiversity policy in the 
emerging replacement MLP.

Recommendations

Pre-determination 
Before this application is determined the following items must be addressed:

1. The Gloucestershire Geology Trust (GGT) should be consulted if there are 
any new implications for the Stowe Green RIGS situated within the planning 
application site. However one recent application for a much larger extension 
and restoration of the quarries the MPA was presented with email 
correspondence confirming that development, in the view of the 
Gloucestershire Geology Trust, would not adversely affect the Stowe Green 
RIGS.
2. The MPA should seek agreement from Natural England on the MPA's HRA 
conclusions. An HRA document is to be drafted shortly for the MPA to adopt.
3. After considering Natural England's advice on the planning application a 

Page 111

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNEC_COMM_06DEC17.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNEC_COMM_06DEC17.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNEC_COMM_06DEC17.pdf


recommendation to consent 17/0122/FDMAJM could only be possible if it can 
be determined that there would be no likely significant effect on the Slade 
Brook SSSI or any international (European) site.

If the above items can be satisfied then consent could be granted for 
17/0122/FDMAJM subject to the recommend conditions and advisory notes 
that can be viewed in Public Access.

7.11 The CPE consultation response received on 22/5/18 can be viewed in full via 
this underlined link Memo in Public Access. A summary is outlined below:

‘The provision of additional information has provided the opportunity to 
summarise and update my previous comments in my memo dated 6/12/2017.

There may be a need to control invasive weeds on soil or screening mounds 
(8.6.25). An advisory note will suffice to any consent granted for the proposed 
development to cover this. On the temporary mounds there will need to be a 
check for possible protected species occupation (e.g. reptiles, nesting birds 
and badgers) before they are removed and utilised in the restoration process.
It is recommended that in relation to the County Council’s Service Level 
Agreement with the Local Biological Records Centre (and to assist in the 
strategic conservation of countywide biodiversity) records from the ecological 
survey work commissioned from the applicant should be copied electronically 
to Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records (GCER). An advice note 
is recommended to cover this.

Paragraph 5.6 of the Additional Information Report to the ES dated May 2018 
answers a request (on landscape grounds) on the possibility of greater 
woodland connectivity with Bearse Common and Orles Wood (KWS). 
Additional off-site tree belt planting “between the northern point of Bearse 
Common and the sink hole enclosure” would in my view be a small action but 
would provide some additional ecological connectivity between Bearse 
Common (Orles Wood Key Wildlife Site). Currently the restoration drawing 
does show there is already an existing single but wide tree belt connection but 
this could be usefully augmented given the new planting proposed around the 
southern part of the quarry and visible hedgerows through it. I propose that the 
Final Restoration Scheme drawing 251L-01-12is revised appropriately.

The additional information being consulted on does not change my previous 
conclusion which is repeated below but does require extra pre-determination 
action.

Pre-determination
For landscape and ecological enhancement the final restoration scheme 
drawing 251L-01-12 should be revised (Revision A). This is to additionally 
show a new planted tree belt between the eastern end of the sink hole 
enclosure and the northern end of Bearse Common where the new farm 
access track bears east towards Longley Farm. Effectively this is an extension 
of the new planting already proposed for the western side of the new farm 
track.

Page 112

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNEC_COMM_22MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNEC_COMM_22MAY18.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNEC_COMM_22MAY18.pdf


If the above items can be satisfied then consent could be granted for 
17/0122/FDMAJM. The below conditions and advisory notes are 
recommended.

Condition –No development shall take place in each phase 1 and 2 of the 
development until an appropriate Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement 
Scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the MPA for each 
phase of the development. The scheme shall be based on Section 8.6 of 
Chapter 8 of the Environmental Statement and also the confirmed restoration, 
aftercare and management scheme which is to be submitted under separate 
condition. The Scheme should include details of measures for necessary 
precautionary pre-works survey, biodiversity mitigation, enhancement, 
aftercare, monitoring and contingency measures. The scheme shall be 
compiled by a suitably qualified ecologist and include appropriate measures 
for:

(a) hedgerows
(b) bats
(c) badger
(d) nesting birds
(e) any other protected species that is reasonably likely to be present
(f) organisation or personnel responsible for implementation and supervision 
of the scheme.

The scheme shall be implemented as approved by the MPA. Any 
modifications to the approved details for example as a result of requirements 
of a protected species license must be submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the MPA.

Condition - Not later than six months after the date of the commencement of 
extraction operations within each phase a detailed restoration, aftercare and 
management scheme for the that phase or all phases of the quarry shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The 
detailed scheme shall be based on drawing 251L-01-12 (Revision A), drawing 
251L-01-13, the content of Section 8.6 of Chapter 8 of the ES and The 
scheme shall provide for the following:

(i) A summary of all restoration and aftercare processes planned, in progress 
or completed across the whole quarry site;
(ii) Ecological trends and identified or new constraints on site that might 
influence management;
(ii) The purpose, aims and objectives for the restoration and aftercare and 
management of the phase;
(iii) Selection of appropriate measures (including establishment, enhancement 
and after-care) for achieving the aims and objectives of management for 
maintaining or introducing target habitats and landscape features including 
agricultural land, hedgerows, woodland, grassland, ponds and seasonal 
wetland and any exposed rock or scree faces;

Page 113



(iv) Description of any opportunities to retain or re-expose earth heritage 
features;
(v) Details for ground forming, soil, substrate, mineral, rock preparation and 
habitat and species establishment;
(vi) Sources of soil forming materials, plant stock and other species 
introductions;
(vii) Provisions for any public access or interpretation;
(viii) Extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale plans;
(ix) Prescriptions and programme for initial aftercare of 5 years and long term 
management of a further 5 or more years;
(x) The organisation, body or personnel responsible for the work;
(xi) Timing of the restoration operations in relation to phased working of the 
mineral site overall;
(xii) Proposals for monitoring the success of all restoration works;
(xiii) Disposal of wastes arising from the restoration.

The Scheme shall also include details of the mechanisms by which the long-
term implementation of the scheme will be secured including with those 
organisations or persons responsible for its delivery. The scheme shall be 
implemented as approved by the MPA. 

Condition - Prior to the commencement of development an Arboricultural 
Method Statement incorporating a Tree Protection Plan based on the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment of the Environmental Statement at Appendix 
12C shall be submitted for approval in writing by the MPA. The Statement and 
Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. All 
protective structures installed shall be maintained until all construction or 
excavation work has been completed. No materials, soils, or equipment shall 
be stored under the canopy of any retained tree within the application site.

Condition – There shall be boundary stand-offs of at least 5 metres either side 
for all retained woodland and hedgerows which should be maintained and 
protected from disturbance or compaction including from vehicle movements 
or storage of materials or heavy plant. There shall be no activity ancillary to 
the development within 5 metres of any of these boundary features.

Reason: To protect the landscape and biodiversity importance of boundary 
features and in accordance with relevant MPA Policy plus National Planning 
Policy Framework paragraphs 109 and 118.

Condition - No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs or soil stripping works of 
ground shall take place between 1st March and 31st August inclusive, unless 
a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check of the vicinity 
of the vegetation or ground concerned for active birds’ nests. No such woody 
vegetation should be cleared or soils stripped unless the ecologist has given 
confirmation that no birds will be harmed or that there are appropriate 
measures in place to protect any identified nesting birds on the site. Any such 
measures should also be copied in writing to the MPA for information and then 
implemented.

Page 114



Reason: To ensure that wild birds building or using their nests are protected 
as required by law and in accordance with plus National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 109 and 118.

Advice Note - Under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the 
Weeds Act 1959 (as amended) and Ragwort Control Act 2003 (as amended) 
you may need to take action to prevent the spread of certain plants onto 
surrounding areas that could cause a nuisance. These plants include non-
native invasive species and also harmful or injurious weeds. Further 
information is available on Defra’s section of the government website currently 
at https://www.gov.uk/prevent-the-spread-ofharmful-invasive-and-non-native-
plants .

Advice Note – If a protected species (such as any bat, great crested newt, 
dormouse, badger, reptile, barn owl or any nesting bird) is discovered using a 
feature on site that would be affected by the development or construction work 
all activity which might affect the species at the locality should cease. If the 
discovery can be dealt with satisfactorily by the implementation of biodiversity 
mitigation measures already approved by the Mineral Planning Authority then 
these should be implemented. Otherwise a suitably qualified ecological 
consultant or Natural England should be contacted and the situation assessed 
before operations can proceed. This action is necessary to avoid possible 
prosecution and ensure compliance with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
(as amended) and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992. This advice note 
should be passed on to any persons or contractors carrying out the 
development/works.

Advice Note – In relation to the County Council’s Service Level Agreement 
with the Local Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic 
conservation of countywide biodiversity, all species and habitat records from 
the ecological work commissioned from the applicant should be copied 
[preferably in electronic format] to the Gloucestershire Centre for 
Environmental Records (GCER).

It is my view that the above advice is in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Natural England’s Standing Advice on protected species 
(as published on their website), and with Section 40 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 which confers a general 
biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst exercising their functions.

7.12 The CPE comments dated 22/1/2019 which can be viewed in full in the 
comments section of Public Access with a summary below:

‘Environmental Statement: Additional Environmental Information Report 
December 2018 seeks to address the objections made by Natural England 
and the Environment Agency both dated 29/06/2018.

I have examined these documents and in terms of ecological observations I 
note the discussion on biodiversity present within the SSSI such as microbes, 

Page 115



lower plants and invertebrates (Annex 3 Water Framework Directive (WFD) 
and Biodiversity). If the geological interest of the Slade Brook can be 
conserved then this would also be very likely to do so for much of its 
associated ecological interest. If measures proposed by the developer remain 
insufficient to remove Natural England’s objections on potential adverse 
impact on the SSSI then I could support this on biodiversity grounds. Likely 
adverse impact on Slade Brook SSSI would also mean that the planning 
authority’s draft HRA (AA) conclusions that the development would not 
adversely affect the integrity of the River Wye SAC would need to be reviewed 
before it could be possible to make a decision on the planning application’. 

Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)
7.13 The LLFA submitted the following response dated 30/11/2017.

“This development could have significant implications for the management of 
ground water and surface water. Due to the complex nature of this 
development in terms of how it could interact with existing hydrology and 
hydrogeology we would recommend that you obtain specialist advice. We are 
aware that the planning authority has arrangements in place to receive advice 
on flood risk associated with mineral extraction and quarry infilling from an 
experienced and competent consulting engineer, the LLFA is satisfied that this 
advice is of a high standard and that the consulting engineer can be relied 
upon as a proxy acting on behalf of the LLFA for this application”.

Minerals Policy 
7.14 Minerals Policy comments dated 23rd March 2020 can be viewed in full in 

Public Access and via the hyperlink Policy Comment dated 23/03/2020 with a 
summary below:

‘Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 - 2032)

The County Council adopted the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 
(2018 – 2032) on the 20th March 2020. It replaces in full the previously 
adopted Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan (1997 – 2006). The new plan 
forms part of the development plan for Gloucestershire and replaces all of the 
saved policies of the previously adopted Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 
(1997 – 2006).

It is understood by policy officers that the application is seeking to extend the 
established mineral working operations at the Clearwell and Stowe Hill 
Quarries complex by 13.56ha in order to release 2.5 million tonnes of primary 
mineral. The proposal will retain the existing maximum extraction rate of 
600,000 tpa. It will also include a haul road and changes to the ancillary 
infrastructure. Both the existing Clearwell and Stowe Hill Quarry units will be 
used to accommodate processing plant. A new access will be constructed 
onto the B4228 to serve Longley Farm. A restoration scheme has also been 
proposed.

Status of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan

Page 116

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNPO_COMM_23MAR20.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_COUNPO_COMM_23MAR20.pdf


As of 20th March 2020 Gloucestershire County Council adopted the Minerals 
Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032). The new plan forms part of the 
development plan for Gloucestershire and replaces all of the saved policies of 
the previously adopted Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan (1997 – 2006). 
The new plan should be the primary consideration in determining mineral 
planning-related applications from the 20th March 2020 onwards including 
those already received by the County Council before the 20th March 2020 but 
which have yet to be determined. The case officer should be satisfied that the 
relevant and sufficient information has been submitted with the application to 
arrive at a determination based upon the careful consideration of the policies 
of the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) and not the 
previously adopted Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan (1997 – 2006).

Key Minerals Local Plan policies that should be assessed
The application is largely concerned with extending the existing and well-
established quarrying operations at the Clearwell / Stow Quarry complex. The 
extension is equivalent to an estimated 2.5 million tonnes of primary limestone 
mineral. Policy MW01 sets out the specific provision-related requirements that 
should be met if the application is to be considered favourable. The case 
officer will need to be satisfied that the application’s supporting information is 
sufficient to respond to the policy requirements. Of critical importance will be 
any evidence demonstrating the theoretical contribution that will be made 
towards maintaining the crushed rock aggregate landbank for Goucestershire. 
The level of contribution should be an influential factor in how much weight is 
given to policy MW01 in the final planning balance. Based on the Local 
Aggregate Assessment (LAA) rate which is contained in the most recently 
published LAA (6th LAA), the application, if approved, could contribute up to 
an equivalent of 1.72 additional years to the overall crushed rock aggregate 
countywide Landbank. The estimated 2.5 million tonnes of reserves that could 
be released would also equate to a contribution of just fewer than 20% of the 
total shortfall in crushed rock aggregate provision that has been presented in 
the Minerals Local Plan1. A draft version of the 7th LAA has been prepared 
and may well be ready for publication prior to the determination of the 
application. Based on the draft 7th LAA figures, the application, if approved, 
could contribute up to an equivalent of just over 1.75 additional years to the 
overall crushed rock  aggregate countywide Landbank. The small rise in 
contribution by ‘years-of-working’ is recognition of a slightly reduced LAA rate 
in the 7th LAA. The 7th LAA is due for public release in late spring 2020.

At the countywide level, the contribution that could be made by the application 
is in the view of policy officers noteworthy and of material significance. At a 
resource area level (i.e. the Forest of Dean Limestone resource area) the 
contribution will be more significant. However, due to commercial 
confidentiality reasons it is not possible to present a full appraisal including the 
relevant calculations at the resource area level. Nevertheless, policy officers 
can confirm that the contribution of the estimated 2.5 million tonnes does 
equate to around 24% of the shortfall in crushed rock aggregate provision 
identified for the Forest of Dean Limestone resource area as presented in the 
Minerals Local Plan.

Page 117



The second or third criteria for policy MW01 are of equal importance to the 
consideration of the landbank. Their applicableness is dependant upon 
whether the application falls within or outside of an allocated area for future 
aggregate working within the Minerals Local Plan. The application lies within 
Allocation 01: Land east of Stowe Hill Quarry, therefore the second criteria 
must be satisfied. This requires a demonstration that policy MA01 | Aggregate 
working with allocations can be met. Policy MA01 contains several elements – 
the ability to should how a proposal will meet the Detailed Development 
Requirements for the allocation as set out in Appendix 4 of the Minerals Local 
Plan; and evidence that existing permitted reserves are: - i) inadequate in 
numerical terms to maintain the relevant landbank in line with policy MW01 or 
ii) that existing permitted reserves are constrained in some manner or that 
there is a reasonable prospect that reserves in the future will not be able to 
keep up with the demand aggregate. The case officer should be sufficiently 
confident that enough favourable evidence to demonstrate either matter under 
points i) or ii) has been provided with the application. In respect of the Detailed 
Development Requirements, the case officer is strongly encouraged to 
familiarise themselves with the areas identified in Allocation 01 of the Minerals 
Local Plan which may be relevant to the application and ensure that a 
sufficiently rigorous review of any submitted evidence is carried out. The 
content of the relevant ‘themes’ will need to be addressed. Special technical 
advice should be sought where to determine a) whether sufficient information 
has been provided; and b) whether that information demonstrates with 
sufficient confidence that the standards and / requirements set out will be met. 
A prominent and highly contentious matter requiring considerable attention is 
the potential risk of adverse hydrological and hydrogeological impacts 
resulting from mineral working and restoration on the integrity of the nearby 
Slade Brook SSSI designation. The case officer, supported by technical input 
will need to be confident that sufficient evidence has been presented and 
subjected to scrutiny in terms of: - a) establish what the significance of the 
potential adverse impacts could be; b) what the likelihood is of the potential 
risk becoming unacceptable adverse impacts; c) to what extent any mitigation 
that has been proposed could reasonably be employed and d) to what extent 
the proposed mitigation would be able to sufficiently overcome the potential for 
adversity to occur.

Moving on from the provision and allocation-specific policy requirements, the 
case officer must also satisfy themselves that all of the relevant Development 
Management policy standards and requirements have been met. Policy officer 
can advise that policies DM01 (Amenity) through to DM09 (Landscape) are 
likely to be applicable in varying degrees of significance. It is also pointed out 
that meeting the allocation-specific requirements should have a major 
influence upon determining accordance with the corresponding DM policies. 
Specialist technical advice will be needed to help determine a) whether 
sufficient information has been provided; and b) whether that information 
demonstrates with sufficient confidence that the standards and / requirements 
set out for each policy will be met. It is understood that amenity concerns 
covering the operations of the site and also highway movements associated 
with transporting minerals and other materials on and off-site have been 
raised by members of the local resident community. In arriving at a 

Page 118



recommendation it is advised that these concerns will need to be carefully 
considered to establish their significance and to ensure that the measures 
proposed within the application are going to be sufficient to satisfactorily 
mitigate any risk of unacceptable adverse impacts.

The final policy matter needing attention is concerned with restoration. This is 
covered by policy MR01Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-
uses. In light of the substantial and long-term working of minerals in the 
locality at Stowe Hill and Clearwell quarries, it is extremely likely that a holistic 
approach will need to be adopted for the restoration of the proposed extension 
area. A strong relationship to the previously-agreed restoration proposals 
covering both the existing quarry operations should be forthcoming. Of critical 
importance will be the ability to show how the new working will at the very 
least, not prejudice the desirable outcomes of the previously-agreed 
restoration proposals. Although, it may be materially significant if the proposed 
restoration is able to facilitate changes that could go further than previous 
schemes and enable the delivery of wider enhancement opportunities. 
Furthermore, in light of the fact the application only partially covers an 
allocated area (Allocation 01) set out in the Minerals Local Plan some 
consideration should be given to ensuring that the future potential
deliverability of the remainder of the allocation will not be unduly 
compromised.

Recommended action
Policy officers are aware of the amount of scrutiny that has taken place with 
the application and accompanying supporting information. This includes with 
specialist technical support and other key environmental regulators. At this 
time no further specific clarifications or additional information requests are 
sought from a local policy perspective.

Conditions recommended by officers on behalf of the MWPA (if advised)
In the event that a favourable recommendation is brought forward, careful 
consideration should be given to the potential imposition of conditions to 
ensure that key policy requirements and standards are achieved and then 
sustained so that the development will be acceptable in planning terms 
throughout its duration.

It is advised that that the use of conditions should accord with national policy 
set out in paragraph 55 of the NPPF 2019. National policy is reinforced by 
national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), which confirms the use of the ‘6 
tests’ for conditions - necessity; relevance (to planning); relevance (to the 
development); enforceability; precision; and reasonableness’.

Local County Council Member 
Cllr Patrick Molyneux - Forest of Dean: Sedbury

7.15 In their consultation response received on the 29/6/2018 they made the 
following comments: 

“Please record my full support for the position of Newland Parish Council in 
relation to the Stowe Hill Quarry application.

Page 119



I fully endorse the Parish Council response and I firmly object to the 
application for the reasons therein”.

7.16 The following organisations were consulted as part of the consultation process 
including the Regulation 25 consultations but provided no response; 

 Public Health England;
 Public Health (Gloucestershire County Council);
 Gloucestershire Geology Trust.

Planning Considerations  

7.17 The proposed extension will provide an estimated 2.5 million tonnes of mineral 
and shall be extracted in two phases over a 5 year period from the date of 
commencement of extraction. This additional mineral is required by the 
applicant to maintain the operation of the quarry as the current permitted 
reserves are near exhaustion and to provide material to restore the existing 
Stow Hill Quarry as proposed in application 17/0110/FDMAJM and the 
proposed extension area once quarried.

7.18 It is proposed that once extraction has ceased in the proposed extension area 
an additional 12 months will be required to restore it as approved. The 
proposed restoration of the extraction area and of Stowe Hill Quarry will take 6 
years from the date of commencement.

7.19 The main issues to be considered with this application are as follows:
 Development Plan (Forest of Dean Core Strategy);
 Compliance with Mineral Planning Policy;
 Crushed Rock Requirement/Mineral Landbank;
 Alternative sites;
 Plant location, improvements;
 Amenity;
 Dust/Air Quality;
 Noise;
 Blasting (noise)
 Vibrations from plant and blasting;
 HGV movements;
 Landscape impact and restoration;
 Hydrology;
 Water Flow monitoring (pre-extraction);
 Potential impacts on the SSSI Slade Brook;
 Restoration of Stowe Hill, the Extension Area and Clearwell       

Quarry;
 Epikarst construction for the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry 

including water flow monitoring;
 Impacts on tourism;
 Monitoring the effects of the restoration;

Page 120



 Consideration of the issues in the planning balance.

Development plan

7.20 The local policy which forms the Development Plan that are of particular
relevance to the consideration and determination of this application is the 
Forest of Dean Core Strategy which is the principal document in the new Local 
Development Framework for the Forest of Dean adopted February 2012 and 
the MLP for Gloucestershire (2018 - 2032). 
 

7.21 The proposal is considered to comply with Policies CSP.2 Climate Change 
Adaptation as the proposal will not increase HGV movements in the forest of 
Dean including the Lydney AQMA and they have stated that they intend to 
move towards greener transport by replacing their HGVs when required with 
Euro 6 standard HGVs (European Union directive to reduce harmful pollutants 
from vehicle exhausts) reducing carbon emissions.  

7.22 The applicant is also proposing environmental improvements to their plant 
reducing dust pollution in accordance with policies CPs.1 and 2 of the Forest 
of Dean Core Strategy.
 
Compliance with minerals policy - Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 
(2018 - 2032)

7.23 Gloucestershire County Council adopted the MLP for Gloucestershire (2018 – 
2032) on the 20th March 2020 and replaced the previously adopted MLP (1997 
– 2006) including its saved policies.  

7.24 The policies within the new adopted plan are a primary consideration in 
determining mineral planning related applications. All mineral applications 
including those that were being considered by the MPA before the 20th March 
2020 and not determined, are now to be determined under the policies of the 
new adopted MLP which can be seen in full on the County Council web 
(Planning Policy) or via this Hyperlink MLP . The relevant mineral policies are 
summarised in paragraph 4.13 of this report.

Allocated sites within the adopted MLP

7.25 Within appendix 4 of the adopted MLP the 7 allocation sites are listed and for 
each site there is a table with the following headings, Local communities 
Economic development Operational matters / site infrastructure and 
Highways. Each section under the particular heading provides details on what 
assessments should be carried out prior to or part of a planning application 
and any limitations on the sites mineral capacity. 

7.26 In the case of ‘Allocation 01 Land East of Stowe Hill Quarry’ which covers 
approximately 54ha and may yield in the region of 10 to 17mt of crushed rock 
limestone an application for extraction from the Allocation area should 
consider local health and well being impacts and appropriate mitigation. The 
economic impact of the proposed development on the local communities and 

Page 121

https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2096569/mlp-for-glos-adopted-mar-2020.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2096569/mlp-for-glos-adopted-mar-2020.pdf


highways issues through a transport assessment or equivalent. The plan also 
puts a production limit of 600,000 tonnes per annum or 60,000 tonnes per 
calendar month on extraction within the allocation with a preference that all 
infrastructure stays in Clearwell and Stowe Hill quarries.

Crushed Rock Requirement (need and minerals landbank)

7.27 The current aggregate apportionment of crushed rock for the South West of 
England which includes Gloucestershire covers the period from 2005 to 2020. 
This apportionment equates to 412 million tonnes of crushed rock with 
approximately 36.01 million tonnes coming from Gloucestershire as 
recommended by the South West Aggregate Working Party. The annual 
expression of this apportioned provision equates to 2.25 mtpa.

 
7.28 To maintain the aim of Policy MW01 the adopted MLP based on the data set 

out within the 6th version LAA, Gloucestershire will need to make provision for 
approximately 1.452 million tonnes of crushed rock aggregate per annum 
through to the end of 2032 and ensure that a sufficient landbank of reserves is 
maintained for 10 years. This equates to 37.752 million tonnes of crushed rock 
being required.

7.29 The existing permitted reserves of crushed rock in Gloucestershire (aggregate 
landbanks are made up of the remaining mineral reserves within valid 
planning permissions for a type of aggregate within the mineral planning 
authority area) from the existing permitted consents are insufficient to meet 
the requirements of the LAA for Gloucestershire causing a shortfall within the 
landbank of approximately 13.432 million tonnes. 

7.30 However, based on the landbank reserves as of 31/12/2016 there is a 
requirement from the Forest of Dean to provide 10.426 million tonnes of 
crushed rock to contribute to reducing this shortfall.

7.31 To meet this requirement the adopted MLP has allocated the following 
locations within the Forest of Dean as being acceptable in principle for mineral 
working. The proposed site is within allocation 01.
 Allocation 01: Land east of Stowe Hill Quarry;
 Allocation 02: Land west of Drybrook Quarry;
 Allocation 03: Depth extension to Stowfield Quarry;

7.32 As the proposed site is within allocation 01 of the adopted MLP and the 
proposal would contribute to the crushed rock land bank the MPA is of the 
opinion that the proposed development is in accordance with Policies MA01 
and MW01 of the adopted MLP.

Alternative Sites

7.33 Unlike many developments, minerals can only be extracted from where they 
exist, with the extension of existing quarries to meet continued demand 
preferable to the creation of new quarries on virgin sites.
  

Page 122



7.34 As detailed in this report the proposed site is in allocation site (01) of the 
adopted MLP. In allocating the site in the MLP the MPA have considered 
alternative sites and after a long and detailed process have established that 
the proposed site is suitable in principle for mineral extraction subject to any 
application meeting the requirements of the MLP and in particular the detailed 
development requirements in accordance with Policy MA01. 

7.35 The adopted MLP outlines the requirement of Gloucestershire and the Forest 
of Dean to provide crushed rock aggregate from its mineral reserves to 
contribute to its landbank which currently has a predicted shortfall (see 
above). The MLP takes account of the contribution from recycled aggregates 
which are limited in availability and will also be required to contribute to the 
demand for aggregate in accordance with Policy MW01 of the adopted MLP.

7.36 Although aggregates could feasibly be imported from outside of 
Gloucestershire, this could result in undesirable economic and environmental 
impacts on the environment through transportation and carbon emissions. 
Gloucestershire is, therefore, reliant on and needs primary won construction 
materials from its allocated sites. 

7.37 The proposed development is a logical extension to an established extraction 
area within Stowe Hill Quarry, is allocated as a site within the MLP and will 
contribute to meeting Gloucestershire’s crushed rock requirements. Therefore 
in terms of need and contribution to the landbank the proposal is in 
accordance with Policy MW01 of the adopted MLP. However to fully comply 
with all the policies in the MLP consideration of other environmental concerns 
as outlined further in the officers discussions in the remainder of this report.

7.38 NPC, SBPC and other objectors considered that the proposal was in conflict 
with the proposed (now adopted) MLP in regard to the site not being allocated 
and the need to contribute to the crushed rock land bank. As already 
addressed above, the proposed site is part of MLP allocation 01 and the 
proposal will contribute to the Gloucestershire land bank and therefore the 
proposal is deemed to be in accordance with the policies of the adopted MLP. 
Those matters and others such as concerns about duty to co-operate were all 
considered through the Examination in Public of the MLP and are not material 
in the consideration of this planning application.

7.39 The applicant’s proposal to extract limestone from the extension area will yield 
approximately 2.5 million tonnes of limestone and extend the life of Stowe Hill 
Quarry by approximately 5 years. The proposed extraction will contribute 
towards Gloucestershire’s aggregate landbank in accordance with Policies 
MA01 and MW01 of the adopted MLP.

Archaeological and Heritage issues 

7.40 To assist the application the applicant commissioned Wessex Archaeology to 
produce a report on the potential effects of the proposed development on the 
cultural heritage within a 2km radius of the site’s boundary to assess the 

Page 123



potential effects on the settings of designated heritage assets. The report can 
be viewed in Public Access under Chapter 5 of the ES or via this hyperlink 
Cultural Heritage.

 
7.41 The report analysed the potential effects of the proposed development on the 

following:
 identified visible historic or archaeological features; 
 the potential for the proposed development to affect the settings of 

heritage assets and statutorily designated assets;
 Prehistoric and Romano-British, Saxon and medieval, Post-medieval, 

19th century and modern archaeology; and 
 Historic landscape character.

7.42 The report found that the proposed extension would result in the removal of 
potentially historic hedgerows associated with the historic landscape character 
of the site and that the construction and operation of the proposed extension 
would result in a change to the landscape settings of the statutorily designated 
Clearwell Castle, Clearwell Park and Toll House at Trow Green.

7.43 To mitigate this the applicant is proposing additional planting to the pre-
extraction landscaping and restoration and on cessation of operations will 
return Stowe Hill Quarry, the extension area and Clearwell Quarry to a rural 
character limiting its effects on its historic landscape setting in accordance 
with Policy DM08 of the adopted MLP. 

7.44 The Wessex Archaeology report found that after analysing the potential effects 
of the proposal on the setting of the statutorily designated sites and historic 
landscape that the change to their setting would result in a very low impact 
leading to a minor adverse effect, which is not considered ‘significant’.

7.45 The same report concluded that there would be no physical impacts upon any 
designated heritage assets from works associated with the proposed 
extension and that the assessment had established that the proposed 
extension would not lead to any significant effects on the historic environment, 
after mitigation. 

7.46 NPC and SBPC objected to the application on the grounds that the proposal 
would affect heritage sites and that the proposal was in conflict with the NPPF 
and local plan policies.

7.47 The County Archaeologist and FODDC did not raise any concerns in relation 
to the heritage sites in the vicinity of the proposed site in their consultation 
responses. 

7.48 The County Archaeologist did not object to the proposed development subject 
to his recommended condition being included in the planning consent. This 
would require the applicant to submit a programme of archaeology prior to 
development commencing on the proposed extension area in accordance 
Paragraph 141 of the NPPF and Policy DM08 of the adopted MLP. 

Page 124

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C5.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C5.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C5.pdf


7.49 In regard to MLP policy the MPA considers that the proposed development 
would not directly effect the heritage designations and there are no additional 
risks associated with the proposed mineral working to the direct loss of 
buildings, their partial damage, indirect damage or degradation caused by 
vehicular or machinery emissions. Therefore the proposal is in accordance 
with Policy DM08 of the adopted MLP.

Soil resources

7.50 To address the issues relating to agriculture land use and soil use the 
applicant commissioned land Research Associates to assess the proposed 
extension area in relation to its effect on agricultural land and soil resources. 
The report can be viewed in Public Access under chapter 4 of the ES or via 
the hyperlink  Land Use & Agriculture.

7.51 The proposed quarry extension area contains 11.1ha of agricultural land 
categorised as best and most versatile (grade 2 and sub-grade 3a land). 

7.52 The applicant is planning on stripping the soils and storing it in the perimeter 
bunds making sure they are spread correctly to avoid any long term damage.

7.53 Once the extraction has finished the soils and sub soils will be used to restore 
the extension area to mostly best and most versatile and lower quality 
standard agricultural land similar to the standard before quarrying.  The 
restored site will be able to support a similar mix of arable cropping and 
grassland without any significant change in capability. Overall, including the 
restoration of the Stowe Hill Quarry void the agricultural productive capacity of 
the site would either be unchanged after restoration, or represent a slight 
increase resulting in a negligible impact on the agricultural land and soils.

7.54 The proposed restoration of the extension area and Stowe Hill Quarry will 
restore the area to the highest quality grade possible while protecting soil 
resources by re-using the original soils in accordance with Policy DM07 of the 
adopted MLP.

7.55 The MPA is of the considered opinion that, as the extraction of the limestone 
will have a negligible impact on the agricultural land and soils once restored 
while providing valuable mineral, the proposal is in accordance with Policy 
DM07 of the adopted MLP.

Mineral Processing and Plant

7.56 The applicant is proposing to keep the existing processing plant in its current 
location within Clearwell Quarry and the primary crusher in Stowe Hill Quarry. 

7.57 However to address the concerns of local residents and issues raised by 
FODDC ERS and NPC about noise, vibrations and dust during the quarries 
operations from complaints to the quarry operator and through the Quarry 
Liaison Group the applicant is proposing to make a range of environmental 
improvements necessary to address these issues and protect the local 

Page 125

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C4.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C4.pdf


amenity in accordance with Policy DM01 and MW06 of the adopted MLP. 

7.58 The significant operational and environmental improvements proposed are 
outlined below:
 Enclosing the primary dump hopper; 
 Re-cladding the buildings which enclose the plant; 
 Reorientation of conveyor discharge points further away from residential 

properties; 
 Investigation of dust curtain as recommended by FODDC ERS; 
 Erection of a screen bund and fence in Stowe Hill Quarry between the 

quarry and the Travellers’ Rest which is subject to a Section 73 Planning 
Application;

 Enclosing the primary crusher in Stowe Hill.

Clearwell Quarry plant area 

7.59 The applicant proposes that the retained plant in Clearwell Quarry will 
continue to be used for the further processing, storage and distribution of the 
stone extracted from the proposed extension area. The proposed 
improvements to the plant are being implemented to better mitigate and 
control noise and dust associated with the mineral processing operations in 
Clearwell and Stowe Hill Quarries to address issues raised by NPC, local 
residents and FODDC ERS.  

Stowe Hill Quarry plant area

7.60 The proposed environmental improvements will include modifications to the 
primary crusher which is proposed to still be located in Stowe Hill Quarry with 
the operator planning on enclosing it in a clad structure to reduce noise and 
adding a ‘scalping screener’. The screener will be used to generate restoration 
materials to be used in restoring the existing extraction area in Stowe Hill 
Quarry and the proposed extension area. 

7.61 The proposed, enclosed scalping screener will be located within the primary 
crusher pit with only the output conveyor and stockpile being visible which will 
aid the management of dust, noise and visual amenity in accordance with 
Policy DM01 and MW06 of the adopted MLP.

7.62 Sectional views of the enclosed primary crusher and scalpings screener are 
detailed in Plan Nos: 251L-01-09 and 251L-01-10 (which can be viewed in 
Public Access). The ability to operate a scalpings plant in Stowe Hill Quarry 
will predominantly remove a noise and dust source from Clearwell Quarry 
where the existing scalpings plant operates in accordance with Policy DM01 of 
the adopted MLP. The MPA considers that alongside the improvements to the 
plant in Clearwell Quarry there will be a positive improvement to the overall 
amenity of the area and will be in accordance with policies DM01 and MW06 of 
the Gloucestershire MLP.

7.63 The MPA welcomes the proposed environmental improvements to the plant in 
Clearwell and Stowe Hill Quarries and believes that they will contribute to 

Page 126



reducing noise and dust levels from the plants operation. They will also 
address some of the matters raised by the FODDC ERS in their consultation 
response dated 8th February 2018 which can be viewed in Public Access.  

Quarry operations
7.64 It is proposed that the method of extraction will remain the same as currently 

approved for Stowe Hill Quarry in accordance with consent DF/2238/X which 
involves initially drilling and blasting of the in-situ rock from the rock face to 
create a rock pile. The resulting stone is then loaded by a tracked, hydraulic 
shovel into dump trucks and hauled via an internal road, to the primary 
crusher located on the floor of Stowe Hill Quarry at its southern end. The 
crushed material is then transported to Clearwell Quarry for further processing 
(crushing and screening into various sizes) on the conveyor which passes 
through a tunnel under the Stowe Road. The proposal is for the current rate of 
extraction from the extension area to continue as currently permitted with a 
production limit of 600,000 tonnes per annum. Therefore the operational 
matters effectively remain the same other than quarrying faces and working 
would move into the new extension area. However the following paragraphs 
discuss the operational changes and their merits.

Amenity

Air Quality/Dust

7.65 To assess the potential impacts on air quality from particulate matter (dust) 
resulting from the extraction of limestone, processing in the quarries plant and 
restoration as proposed, an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) was carried out by 
DustScan Ltd which formed part of the ES (Chapter 7) dated November 2017. 
That can be seen in full in Public Access. 

7.66 The AQA was carried out in accordance with the NPPF, the associated PPG 
relating to Air Quality and guidance regarding dust and air quality assessment 
for minerals sites produced by the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM), 
Environmental Protection UK (EPUK) and the FODDC Air Quality Technical 
Planning Guidance.

7.67 The AQA was carried out in relation to the Air Quality Objectives (AQO) for 
PM10 (essentially particles less than 10 μm (micron) aerodynamic diameter) 
and for nitrogen dioxide (NO2), which is associated with exhaust emissions 
(such as from mobile plant and HGV traffic at the quarry). 

7.68 To establish the potential levels of PM10 from the proposal, the AQA 
considered the existing and background, levels of PM10 and NO2 at the 
quarries and surrounding area.

7.69 Defra provides predictions of background PM10 levels associated with mineral 
operations for every local authority in the UK. Average background PM10 
levels in the locality of Stowe Hill Quarry and Clearwell Quarry were estimated 
to be 13.86 μg/m3.

Page 127



7.70 The IAQM states that ‘If the long-term background PM10 concentration is less 
than 17 μg/m3 there is little risk that the Process Contribution (PC) would lead 
to an exceedance of the annual-mean objective and such a finding can be put 
forward qualitatively, without the need for further consideration, in most cases.

7.71 Under the IAQM guidance and definitions as detailed in the AQA it can be 
perceived that the PM10 emissions associated with the existing quarry 
operations are not considered to be significant therefore are in accordance 
with Policy DM01 of the adopted MLP.

7.72 In addition to the technical assessments the AQA, considered the impacts 
from ‘nuisance’ dust on the public, near neighbours and surrounding area in 
accordance with guidance developed by IAQM for the minerals industry.

7.73 The assessment found that for all aspects of the proposed operation there 
could be no greater than Slight Adverse effects at any off-site receptor from 
nuisance dust and consequently, the overall impact of the development was 
considered not to significant. 

7.74 The AQA using guidance from Environmental Protection UK (together with the 
Institute of Air Quality Management), and FODDC determined the following:

 As there would be no change to the existing volume of production or to 
HGV movements at Stowe Hill Quarry, HGV emissions for NO2 or 
PM10 associated with the development would be insignificant. 

 The dust effects from the stockpiles at both Clearwell and Stowe Hill 
were determined to be Negligible at all relevant receptor locations 
except Cockshed Barn, Rose Cottage and Mount Pleasant from 
Clearwell Quarry where it was determined to be Slight Adverse; 

 For soil and/or overburden handling the dust effects was determined to 
be Negligible at all relevant receptor locations except Shop House 
Farm, where it was determined to be Slight Adverse during screening 
bund formation and removal and during Phase 2 in Stowe Hill Quarry; 

 For quarry processes including mobile plant movements the dust 
effects was determined to be Negligible at all relevant receptor 
locations except Shop House Farm where it was determined to be 
Slight Adverse during Phase 2 in Stowe Hill Quarry.

 As there will be no change to the volume of production at Stowe Hill 
Quarry, there is unlikely to be any increase in the emissions from 
NRMM at Stowe Hill Quarry. It is therefore considered that existing 
levels of NO2 emissions arising from NRMM will be insignificant due to 
the site’s location within a rural area where, from above NO2 is not a 
concern for FDDC. 

7.75 Consequently, the AQA with reference to IAQM guidance concluded that the 
overall impact of the proposed development with appropriate mitigation 

Page 128



including an approved Dust Management Plan (DMP) was considered to be 
not significant. 

7.76 The CAQA in their consultation response dated 5/2/19 was of the opinion that 
a DMP was required to be completed by the applicant and submitted to the 
MPA for approval to provide appropriate mitigation measures for the control of 
dust.   

Dust Mitigation 

Mineral Processing (Clearwell Quarry) 
7.77 In general, the risk of airborne dust from mineral processing depends on the 

process involved and the mitigation in place. At present, the majority of the 
dust generated by mineral processing at Clearwell Quarry is understood to 
arise from the crushing and screening facilities, stock piles and site traffic 
using the largely unpaved internal routes. 

7.78 To address the historic issues of dust problems experienced by near 
neighbours generated from the quarrying and processing of stone in Clearwell 
and Stowe Hill quarries as part of the development the applicant is proposing 
several improvements to the existing plant and operating procedures that the 
MPA considers would be in accordance with Policy DM01 of the adopted MLP. 
These include the following:

  Enclosing the primary dump hopper; 
 Re-cladding the buildings which enclose the plant; 
 Reorientation of conveyor discharge points further away from residential 

properties; 
 Investigation of dust curtain as recommended by the EHO; 
 Erection of a screen bund and fence in Stowe Hill Quarry between the 

quarry and the Travellers’ Rest; and
 The existing scalpings plant which is currently located approximately 

120m to the north of the Traveller’s Rest will not be used for most of the 
proposed development period due to the new proposed scalpings screen 
that will be located in Stowe Hill Quarry. The existing scalpings plant will 
only be used in the final two months of the proposed extraction of Phase 2 
when the scalpings screen in Stowe Hill Quarry will not be able to be 
used. 

Stowe Hill Quarry

7.79 The primary crusher will have a ‘scalping screener’ added to it which will be 
enclosed in a clad structure to reduce noise and will be located in a pit within 
Stowe Hill Quarry. 

7.80 To address the subject of air quality and specifically dust nuisance raised by 
objections from the public and NPC, the MPA sought advice from the CAQA to 
review the applicant’s submitted information relating to air quality impacts from 
the development and the air quality management area in Lydney which is 
covered in paragraph 7.4 of this report.

Page 129



7.81 In relation to the air quality issues arising from the proposed development the 
CAQA were of the opinion that if the MPA were minded to recommend 
approval of the proposed development that a DMP should be completed and 
submitted to the MPA for written approval in advance of any extraction 
operations commencing. The approved DMP would ensure appropriate 
measures for the control of dust were implemented in the interests of good site 
management and the amenity of surrounding occupiers. The CAQA 
recommended that the following should be included in the proposed DMP and 
or proposed planning conditions:

 effective site management practices;
 staff training;
 appropriate dust monitoring (daily on-site and off-site inspections as a 

minimum, with frequency adjusted according to dust risk, e.g. higher 
frequency in dry and windy conditions, with records available for 
inspection by the MPA);

 maintenance of a daily log on weather conditions and incidents;
 appropriate measures for management of operational processes 

(materials handling and processing) to minimise dust emissions;
 provision of measures for the management of traffic out (for example, but 

not limited to, sheeting of vehicles before leaving site and effective use of 
wheel wash facilities);

 regular audit of effectiveness of the DMP and revision as appropriate; and
 all works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved dust 

management plan and implemented in full through the life of the 
consented operations.

Dust Sources 

7.82 From issues raised from existing operations, submitted information from the 
applicant, consultee responses and representations relating to the proposed 
development the MPA has identified the following potential sources that may 
create dust particles and be a nuisance to near neighbours and local area.

 Soil stripping;
 Overburden removal and storage;
 Bund construction;
 Dry bunds;
 Wind scouring mineral stock piles (Clearwell and Stowe Hill)
 Drilling and blasting; 
 Mineral transportation via the conveyor;
 Mineral extraction, loading into dump trucks and tipping; 
 Mineral processing (at both Clearwell and Stowe Hill Quarries); 
 Mobile plant (screening)
 on-site and off-site vehicle movements;
 Internal haul roads including the access;
 External roads leading to the quarries;
 Wind scouring of exposed surfaces; and

Page 130



 Restoration (including backfill with quarry waste); (Clearwell & Stowe 
Hill).

7.83 FODDC ERS objected to the proposal on the grounds of potential pollution 
and nuisance to residents. However, the response made a series of 
recommendations in relation to conditions to be included in an approved 
consent. It is noted however that FODDC in their formal consultation response 
only objected on impacts to landscape character. 

7.84 ERS were of the opinion that if their proposed conditions were included and 
implemented they would provide satisfactory protection for residents from 
potential pollution and nuisance and they would no longer object.

7.85 The ERS recommendations covered the following areas:
 Visible emissions of dust; 
 Real time dust monitoring and recordings kept for inspection by FODDC 

and regulators;
 Continuous wind speed and wind direction monitoring kept for inspection 

by FODDC and regulators;
 Locations of dust, wind speed and wind direction monitoring equipment 

shall be agreed with FODDC ERS department prior to installation;
 Potentially odorous operations mitigation;
 Crushing, screening, conveying and any other operations with the 

potential to give rise to airborne dust across the boundary, shall be 
contained within appropriate housing, fitted with suitable dust extraction 
and filtration and to be camouflaged as appropriate if visible from the 
boundary;

 Haul roads, stockpiles and general operations shall be sited away from 
adjacent sensitive receptors; 

 Haul road maintenance and wheel wash facilities;
 An amended dust suppression scheme to be submitted for approval prior 

to any new operations or roadways;
 Sheeted HGV vehicles leaving the site or entering if loaded; and 
 Impact upon air quality from HGV vehicle movements, particularly in the 

nearby Lydney Air Quality Management Area and possible restrictions 
such as a minimal number of HGVs to be routed through the AQMA during 
the rush hour periods of 08.30 - 9.30h and 17.00 - 18.30h.

7.86 The existing operations at Clearwell and Stowe Hill quarries operate to an 
approved DMP and conditions relating to dust mitigation. It is the MPA’s view 
that the proposed development in regard to air quality and dust mitigation 
should be regulated by a new DMP and relevant conditions.

7.87 The MPA considers that these matters can be controlled through conditions 
and the applicant will be required to provide a DMP which will include 
mitigation measures to address dust and airborne particles emanating from 
the sources listed in paragraph 7.82 of this report. The DMP shall include and 
cover the recommendations from FODDC ERS and the CAQA in order for the 
development to be in accordance with Policy DM01 of the adopted MLP.

Page 131



7.88 The DMP will be required to be submitted prior to any extraction commencing 
in the extension area of Stowe Hill Quarry if so approved. Prior to approval of 
the submitted DMP, the relevant consultees (including FODDC ERS) will be 
consulted on its content for their comments and consideration by the MPA.  

7.89 Taking into account the mitigation measures proposed by the applicant in 
accordance with IAQM guidance and the recommended mitigation/conditions 
from consultees the MPA considers that with the requirement of a DMP to be 
submitted and approved by the MPA and the imposition of appropriate 
conditions the proposed air quality mitigation would then accord with Policy 
DM01 of the adopted MLP.

Air Quality Management Area in Lydney (AQMA) 

7.90 In the applicant’s Traffic & Highways Report (THR) dated May 2018 it was 
found that HGV traffic associated with quarrying at Clearwell/Stowe Hill 
quarries do travel through the Lydney AQMA which is in place due to NO2 
levels that are associated with exhaust emissions, especially from HGVs. 

7.91 At a national level, guidance from the IAQM suggests that a change in 25 
Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT) HGV movements per day within or 
adjacent to an AQMA, can be an indicative trigger level for when the 
operational traffic of a development could have a significant effect on air 
quality. At a local level, the FODDC guidance complements the IAQM 
guidance. 

7.92 The submitted information from the applicant has stated that there will be no 
increase in HGV movements through the Lydney AQMA if the proposed 
development was approved than currently occur. 

7.93 The proposed development if approved would result in approximately 18 two-
way movements per day (9 in/9 out) through the Lydney AQMA.

7.94 Based on flow data from the B4231 the daily HGV flow was 154 movements 
over 7 days and 196 Monday to Friday.  As a result, the development traffic 
represents just 9 - 12% of the daily HGV flow. 

7.95 Due to the fact that there will not be an increase in vehicle movements driving 
through the Lydney AQMA from the proposed development and with reference 
to both the IAQM and FODDC guidance, there should be no changes in 
emissions arising as a consequence of the development and if there were to 
be a change it would not be significant. 

7.96 To support the move towards greener transport the applicant in their submitted 
Additional Environmental Information Report (AEIR) chapter 4 dated May 
2018 stated ‘that they intended when necessary to replace any of the HGVs in 
the ownership of the Applicant, to conform to Euro 6 standards’ (European 
Union directive to reduce harmful pollutants from vehicle exhausts). This 
proposal when actioned would reduce carbon emissions from the HGVs.

Page 132



7.97 FODDC ERS have requested that a condition is included in any recommended 
consent that if there is an increase in vehicle movements than currently occur 
from Clearwell Quarry traveling through the Lydney AQMA, that new 
measures designed to minimise the impact upon air quality will have to be 
submitted to the MPA for approval. 

7.98 The CAQA was of the opinion that as the quarry traffic routed via Lydney 
AQMA consisted on average of only 18 daily HGV movements that it was 
considered that this low number of quarry vehicle movements would not be a 
material concern in terms of air quality.

7.99 The CAQA also ‘welcomed the applicant’s commitment to ensure that the 
future purchase of any replacement vehicles within their ownership will meet 
with Euro 6 standards is welcomed.’

7.100 Taking into consideration the comments from the applicant, FODDC ERS and 
the CAQA the MPA is of the opinion that the requirements of the proposed 
condition from FODDC ERS can be recommended to be included in a 
condition to contribute towards reducing any potential impacts on the Lydney 
AQMA from pollution. The MPA is of the view that as the proposal does not 
increase HGV movements through the Lydney AQMA the proposal, will not be 
detrimental to the Lydney AQMA.

Noise

7.101 Noise levels for mineral operations such as quarries are regulated by the 
NPPF and the National PPG which can be seen in paragraphs 4.10-4.11 of 
this report.

7.102 Paragraph 021 of the PPG Minerals Chapter states that the MPA should aim 
to establish a noise limit, through a planning condition, at the noise-sensitive 
property that does not exceed 55dB(A) LAeq, 1h (free field) during normal 
working hours (0700-1900).

7.103 Paragraph 022 of the PPG states that certain temporary activities such as the 
construction of soil storage mounds can operate to a maximum daytime noise 
limits of up to 70dB(A) LAeq 1h (free field) for periods of up to 8 weeks in a 
year at specified noise-sensitive properties.

7.104 To assess the potential noise issues from the proposed development and 
required mitigation a noise assessment was carried out by AECOM on behalf 
of the applicant which evaluated the potential environmental noise impacts 
from the proposed extension to Stowe Hill Quarry and ongoing operations of 
the plant in Clearwell Quarry on sensitive receptors. The assessment used
Sound Plan (v7.4) acoustic modelling software. Sound Plan predicts the sound 
propagation from operational activities associated with the proposed extension 
(and the processing site) towards the closest sensitive receptors using back 
ground noise levels and monitoring results. (The noise assessment formed 
part of the ES (Chapter 11) (Noise & Vibration) and can be seen in full in 
Public Access). 

Page 133

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C11.pdf


7.105 The Baseline noise surveys were carried out at 6 noise sensitive receptors 
which were considered representative of the residential receptors closest to 
the planning application boundary at the following locations: 
Margery Corner (R1), Longley Cottage (Crown Cottages) (R2), Shop House 
Farm (R3), Pike Cottage (R4), Travellers Rest (R5) and Longley Farm (R6). 
(The measured baseline noise at Longley Cottage was considered 
representative of other properties in the immediate vicinity, including Brick 
Cottage and Mount Pleasant). All the receptor locations in relation to the two 
quarries can be seen in Chapter 11 (Noise & Vibration) Paragraph 11.3.1 of 
the ES in Public Access.

7.106 The noise monitoring surveys were undertaken with reference to the 
requirements specified within BS 7445. The equipment was set to measure 
the LAeq and LA90 values, logging at contiguous periods of 1-minute, 15-
minutes, or 1-hour throughout the monitoring period.

7.107 The monitoring results showed that current and predicted noise levels at 
several receptors may exceed 55dB on occasions during quarrying and 
operations from both quarries albeit at different periods and different 
receptors.  

7.108 Under the terms defined by SOAEL (Significant Observed Adverse Effect 
Level) which is described as the level of noise above significant adverse 
effects on health and quality of life would be caused the report concluded that 
no receptors would exceed this level during proposed extraction phases. 

7.109 However the report did find that under the LOAEL (Lowest Observed Adverse 
Effect Level) which is the level of noise above which adverse effects on health 
and quality of life could occur were detected at Margery Corner and the 
Travellers Rest and could be repeated during all phases of the proposed 
extraction.  

7.110 The predicted noise levels for the proposal included in the report were 
modelled on the assumption that the screening mounds around the proposed 
extraction area and to the north of the primary crusher’s current location were 
in place to further screen the properties at Stowe. The modelling did not take 
into account the additional proposed measures from that applicant to help 
mitigate noise levels from the proposed site in accordance with best practice 
and Paragraph 021 of Mineral PPG. 

7.111 The main improvements proposed by the applicant to mitigate noise are as 
follows:

 Relocation of the scalpings plant to Stowe Hill from Clearwell;
 Enclosing of the primary crusher and scalpings plant,
 Policy to switch plant off when not in use;
 To start-up of plant and vehicles sequentially rather than all together;  
 Drop height of materials onto vehicles and conveyors to be minimised;
 Enclosing the primary dump hopper; 
 Re-cladding the buildings which enclose the plant; 

Page 134

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C11.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C11.pdf


 Reorientation of conveyor discharge points further away from 
residential properties; and 

 Erection of a screen bund and 2.85m close boarded, timber fence at 
the northern and eastern boundaries of the Travellers Rest in Clearwell 
Quarry. 

7.112 FODDC did not object to the proposal on noise grounds but FODDC ERS who 
have the remit to regulate noise issues in the FODDC did request that a 
number of conditions were included to regulate noise levels if the MPA were 
minded to recommend approval for the proposed development. However if 
those conditions were not attached they might object on noise grounds.

7.113 The measures requested by FODDC ERS included the following:

 Provisions to be made for the control of noise and vibration from fixed 
and mobile plant or machinery;

 Noise and vibration control measures from new plant;
 Scheme of plant maintenance;
 Boundary noise levels of no more than 55db;
 Measured Noise limits at neighbouring properties;
 Soil stripping noise levels;
 Blasting;
 Location and orientation of noise source/s;
 Haul road maintenance;
 Reduction of noise at source;
 Reduction of vibration at source;
 Use of buildings and enclosures to reduce noise emissions;
 Provision of barriers as necessary to reduce noise emissions; and 
 Provision of anti vibration solutions.

7.114 With these measures in place the MPA considers that the development can be 
made acceptable through the imposition of planning conditions. The applicant 
will be required via planning condition to submit a Noise Mitigation Scheme 
(NMS) prior to commencement of extraction in the proposed extension area.

7.115 The NMS will include the proposed mitigation from the applicant and the 
measures requested by the FODDC ERS. The MPA will seek the advice of the 
FODDC ERS as part of the condition compliance procedure. The proposals 
are therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy DM01 of the MLP. 

Proposed Noise Attenuation Bund and Fence

7.116 The applicant, following advice from a local Environmental Health Officer 
(EHO) working for ERS on behalf of the FODDC submitted details proposing 
to erect a bund and fence at the northern boundary of the quarry opposite the 
Travellers Rest. The bund and fence is being proposed in order to help reduce 
noise levels to near neighbours within the hamlet of Stowe during the 
operation of the primary crusher and quarrying operations. 

Page 135



7.117 Plan No: 17-01-01 shows the location of the bund which will be 2m in height 
with a 1.8m high wooden panelled fence erected on top. Plan No: 17-01-02 
provides a section through the bund and the fence. It is proposed that the 
bund and fence will be removed following the cessation of mineral extraction 
and primary crushing operations in Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area
(both plans can be viewed via this hyper link Noise Attenuation Bund & 
Section or in  Public Access).

7.118 The proposed bund was approved as part of the mitigation measures for 
application 17/0110/FDMAJM (which is determined subject to the completion 
of S106 Agreement) for the variation of the restoration schemes for Clearwell 
and Stowe Hill quarries in accordance with Policy DM09 of the adopted MLP. 

7.119 As the proposed bund is identical to the bund determined under application 
17/0110/FDMAJM (which is determined subject to the completion of S106 
Agreement), the MPA is minded to recommend that the conditions applied to 
determination 17/0110/FDM are included in any recommendation for approval 
of this application.

7.120 The recommended conditions will require the applicant to submit details of all 
proposed planting for the noise attenuation bund and carry out an 
arboricultural report on the area where the bund is to be constructed prior to 
its construction in accordance with Policy DM09 of the MLP. 

Health Impact Assessment (HIA)
7.121 In response to comments raised in the consultation and requests made by the 

MPA the applicant submitted an explanation to why an HIA had not been 
submitted as part of this application even though the submitted ES, both 
singularly and cumulatively assesses the impacts of the development 
proposals on human health, air quality, noise and traffic.

7.122 This explanation was submitted as part of the Additional Environmental 
Information Report to the ES dated December 2018 (Appendix F) which can 
be viewed in full in Public Access or via the hyper link 19 Dec 2018 . A 
summary of their submitted information is as follows:

 As part of a previous application 15/0108/FDMAJM which was a for a 
larger quarry extension with an increase in HGV movements Public 
Health England and Public Health Gloucestershire County Council were 
consulted and both responded saying a Public Health Impact 
Assessment was not required. 

It therefore follows that it would not be necessary or reasonable to 
require a Public Health Impact Assessment for a smaller development 
such as that proposed. 

7.123 Public Health England and Public Health (Gloucestershire) did not request a 
HIA to be submitted when consulted on this application or any of the 
subsequent Regulation 25 consultations. Therefore the MPA considers that 
the issue has been considered as far as it is appropriate in the context of this 

Page 136

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_APPENDIX_3_PLN_17_01_02.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_APPENDIX_3_PLN_17_01_02.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_ADDIT_INFO_19DEC18.pdf


application. However it should be noted, that the impacts of air quality and 
dust are considered in paragraphs 7.65 - 7.90 of this report. 

Proposed extraction area 

Blasting

7.124 For the extraction of limestone from the proposed extension area the applicant 
is proposing to continue to work to the approved blasting regime that they use 
currently for Stowe Hill Quarry in accordance with consent DF/2238/X. 

7.125 However to address comments that have been submitted to the MPA through 
the consultation process relating to noise levels and vibrations the MPA will 
recommend that conditions are included in any recommended consent 
requiring the submission of a blasting scheme. The applicant will be required 
to take into consideration the relevant British standards relating to blasting in 
the mineral industry and the existing regime operated for Stowe Hill Quarry. 
Once completed the scheme will be required to be submitted to the MPA for 
written approval prior to any extraction in the extension area as approved.

7.126 This will enable the applicant to consider the comments made by contributors 
and introduce any additional mitigation measures to the blasting scheme they 
feel appropriate to address the matters raised in accordance with Policy 
DM01of the adopted MLP.

Phased extraction

7.127 The applicant initially proposed that Phase 1 of the extraction area would 
consist of two benches which would be worked to a maximum depth of 170m 
AOD as detailed in Plan 251L-01-06 dated Oct 2017 and would release 
approximately 1.78 mt of saleable limestone. 

7.128 With the current production limit of 600,000 tonnes per annum, phase 1 would 
take approximately 3 years to be fully exhausted of stone. 

7.129 Phase 2 of the extension area as shown in Plan 251L-01-07 dated Oct 2017  
as proposed would take the extraction area in a north easterly direction and 
would provide and estimated 720,000 tonnes of limestone of which an 
estimated 0.69 tonnes will be saleable limestone after the removal of shales 
and poor quality stone.

7.130 Prior to mineral extraction of phase 2, it is proposed that stripped soils will be 
used with overburden and quarry waste in the progressive restoration of the 
existing Stowe Hill Quarry once approved under consent 17/0110/FDMAJM 
and phase 1 once extracted under 17/0122/DFDMAJM. Application 
17/0110/FDMAJM has been determined subject to the completion of a S106 
legal agreement which relates to the restoration of the existing quarries.

7.131 It is proposed that the removed shale and poor quality limestone from both 
phases will be used in the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension 

Page 137



area for epikarst construction as proposed and in accordance with Policy 
MR01 of the Gloucestershire MLP. 

7.132 It is proposed that with the current production limit of 600,000 tonnes per 
annum both extraction phases working to a maximum depth of 170m AOD 
would take approximately 48 months to complete the extraction of available 
limestone.

7.133 However the EA and NE in their final consultation response dated 7th June 
2019 and clarification e-mail dated 27th June 2019 raised a number of issues 
relating to the proposed extraction and specifically the proposal to extract lime 
stone to a depth of 170m AOD in the extension area.

7.134 The EA and NE requested in their responses that conditions should be put in 
place to prevent the applicant from extracting to a depth of 170m AOD in 
either phase 1 or 2 with out the prior agreement of the EA, NE and MPA 
based on evidence from monitoring results. 

7.135 In their responses NE and the EA stated the following:

 ‘NE: Development should not progress beyond 176mAOD (condition I) 
without agreement, as this relates to protection of the aquifer as well as 
Slade Brook SSSI. 

 EA: Until demonstrated we would wish to see a condition imposed to 
ensure that the working depth shall be no lower than 176m AOD unless 
monitoring demonstrates an impact and to inform a maximum potential 
working depth of 170m AOD. Monitoring may be carried out to inform a 
revised depth.

7.136 The EA and NE stated that they would require evidence to be provided from 
an approved water monitoring scheme/model to justify any increase in the 
depth of extraction beyond 176m AOD in phases 1 and 2 and without this 
evidence the applicant should be restricted to 176m AOD as previously 
approved for Stowe Hill Quarry.

7.137 The MPA is of the opinion that the depth of extraction can be addressed via a 
recommended appropriate planning condition to satisfy the requirements of 
the EA and NE. The requirement of an appropriate water monitoring scheme 
acceptable to the applicant, EA, NE and MPA can be addressed via a 
proposed planning condition that will need the approval of all parties before its 
implementation and be in accordance with Policy DM05 and DM06 of the 
adopted MLP.  The recommended condition will take into consideration the 
comments of the EA and NE from their consultation responses which should 
provide them with the robustness they require to protect the SSSI Slade Brook 
water environment.  

7.138 The EA and NE have requested that the requirement for the submission of a 
monitoring scheme/model, how it would operate and be implemented should 
also be included in a proposed S106 Agreement as currently operates for 

Page 138



Stowe Hill Quarry under the existing planning permission DF/2238/X. 
Therefore a fundamental component to this recommendation is that any 
planning permission is subject to a S106 planning obligation to ensure a 
monitoring regime is put in place to ensure the safeguarding of the off-site 
SSSI Slade Brook. A more detailed discussion of specific hydrological matters 
within the planning application itself is discussed later in this report.  

Prior to the Proposed Extraction of Limestone in Phase 1 

Perimeter landscaped screening bunds

7.139 Prior to mineral extraction in phase 1, the applicant is proposing to strip the 
area of top soil which, combined with overburden and quarry waste, will be 
used to create landscaped screening mounds in accordance with Plan No: 
251L-01-06 and sections 251L-01-22 in accordance with Policy DM07 of the 
adopted MLP. These bunds will be constructed to minimise visual impact on 
the surrounding area looking towards the site and protect the landscape 
character and visual amenity of near neighbours in accordance with Policy 
DM01 and DM09 of the adopted MLP.

7.140 The proposed perimeter landscaped bunds will be progressively constructed 
around the northern corner of the extension area, continuing the existing line 
of bunds for Stowe Hill Quarry adjacent to Stowe Lane. The screening bunds 
will be 5m high and located between the extension area boundary and the 
Shop House Farm boundary. The perimeter soil bunds have been designed to 
mitigate visual and acoustic effects on Shop House Farm without being 
adversely visually intrusive in their own right on the wider visual setting.

7.141 It is envisaged that the construction of these bunds would be completed within 
eight weeks of commencement limiting the impact on near neighbours from 
noise and visual intrusion. Once constructed, it is proposed to immediately 
have them sown with a low maintenance grass seed and managed for the 
duration of their existence to avoid the ingress of weeds.

7.142 Any remaining material will be used to contribute to the restoration of Stowe 
Hill Quarry as approved in accordance with Policy MR01 of the MLP.

7.143 The proposed perimeter bunds were assessed in the applicant’s Landscape & 
Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) which concluded that the bunds would 
mitigate visual and acoustic effects on Shop House Farm without being 
adversely visually intrusive.  

7.144 The CLA was of the opinion that the proposed perimeter screening bunds 
should be formed and seeded prior to commencement of any stone extraction 
works and that the subsequate greenery (grass and additional planting) should 
be maintained to ensure their establishment and provide appropriate 
screening.

Page 139



7.145 FODDC objected to the proposed development due to the proximity of the 
proposed bunds to the existing dwelling, Shop House Farm which they 
considered would be oppressive and have unacceptable impacts on the living 
conditions of the occupiers due to their proposed height and also that the 
bunds would have an impact on the surrounding landscape character.  

7.146 NPC were in agreement with the FODDC and objected to size of the bunds for 
being intrusive and out of character.

7.147 The CLA considers that the proposed bunding would not physically or be 
perceived to overshadow the adjacent residential properties including Shop 
House Farm and that the bund’s design should assimilate into the landscape 
with the suggested conditions in place and their implementation.

7.148 In order for the bunds to be acceptable in landscape terms and if the MPA was 
minded to approve the application the CLA recommends that the following 
condition be included in any proposed consent.

 The screen bunds shown on Phase 1 drawings (Plan No: 251L-01-06 
and sections 251L-01-22) and as set out in section 3.4 of the Planning 
Statement, should be formed and seeded prior to commencement of 
any stone extraction works. Thereafter these should be maintained to 
ensure establishment of the grassland and integrity of the screening.

Reason: to ensure appropriate screening to adjoining residential 
properties and potential receptors on PROWs”.

7.149 Such a condition requiring the submission of a planting scheme for the bund 
and its implementation once approved would also meet a request from 
FODDC who would like a scheme in place that would control invasive weeds 
on soil or screening mounds. 

7.150 The MPA and CLA consider that the requirement of a planting scheme for the 
perimeter bunds would be appropriate and therefore such a condition would 
be appropriate to be included in a recommendation for approval and would be 
in accordance with Policy DM01 and DM09 of the adopted MLP. 
 
Ecology 

7.151 In their consultation response dated 22/5/18 the CPE welcomed the proposed 
additional planting and bunding, additional off-site tree belt planting between 
the northern point of Bearse Common and the sink hole enclosure that would 
provide some additional ecological connectivity between Bearse Common and 
Orles Wood Key Wildlife Site in accordance with Policy DM06 and MR01 of 
the adopted MLP.

7.152 He was also of the opinion that there may be a need to control invasive weeds 
on the soil or screening mounds and that this could be addressed via an 
advisory note to any consent granted. 

Page 140



7.153 To address the issues of bund planting, biodiversity, tree protection and 
wildlife protection (pre-development and pre-extraction) the CPE 
recommended several conditions and advisory notes which should be 
included in any recommended consent. A summary of the recommendations 
are below:  

 Prior to development commencing in phase 1 and 2 the applicant must 
submit a Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme (BMES) to 
the MPA for written approval. 

The BMES will cover precautionary a pre-works survey, biodiversity 
mitigation, enhancement including measures for (hedgerows, bats, 
badgers, nesting birds and any other protected species that is 
reasonably likely to be present.

The BMES will cover the measures above for pre-development, pre 
extraction, maintenance, restoration and aftercare.

 Prior to the commencement of development an Arboricultural Method 
Statement incorporating a Tree Protection Plan based on the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment of the Environmental Statement at 
Appendix 12C shall be submitted for approval in writing by the MPA.

 There shall be boundary stand-offs of at least 5 metres either side for 
all retained woodland and hedgerows which should be maintained and 
protected from disturbance or compaction including from vehicle 
movements or storage of materials or heavy plant. There shall be no 
activity ancillary to the development within 5 metres of any of these 
boundary features.

7.154 The CPE was satisfied in relation to the pre-development and pre-extraction of 
the proposed development subject to his recommended conditions and 
advisory notes above being including in any recommended consent and 
subsequently complied with. On this basis, he was satisfied that consent could 
be recommended for the proposal.

7.155 The FODDC also requested that a condition be included to require a scheme 
to be submitted that would include the requirement to check for possible 
protected species occupation (e.g. reptiles, nesting birds and badgers) before 
the bunds are removed and utilised in the restoration process.

7.156 This can be addressed via a planning condition and the MPA is of the opinion 
that this would be appropriate and in accordance with Policies DM06 and 
MR01 of the adopted MLP.

7.157 The MPA consider that with the inclusion of the recommendations from the 
CPE, FODDC and the CLA in the proposed consent that the proposed 
perimeter bunds landscaping and ecology are acceptable and in accordance 
with Policies DM06, DM09 and MR01 of the adopted MLP.

Page 141



Buffer Zone

7.158 To provide appropriate mitigation measures for Shop House Farm from any 
potential noise and dust emanating from the proposed extraction of mineral 
from the extension area (specifically phase 2) the applicant is proposing a 
150m Buffer zone from the boundary of Shop House Farm to the proposed 
perimeter screening bunds. 

7.159 In accordance with the guidance in the Minerals section of PPG 018 the 
applicant has taken into account the following:

 the nature of the mineral extraction activity;
 the need to avoid undue sterilisation of mineral resources;
 location and topography;
 the characteristics of the various environmental effects likely to arise; and
 the various mitigation measures that can be applied.

7.160 Subsequently the applicant has concluded that a 150m buffer zone would be 
appropriate as it will provide Shop House Farm with mitigation while limiting 
the sterilisation of potential limestone in the proposed extension area.

7.161 The applicant is proposing to establish the buffer zone by locating perimeter 
bunds approximately 150m away from the boundary of Shop House Farm and 
the boundary of phase 2 of the proposed extraction area.

7.162 The proposed landscaped bunds have been designed to protect the amenity 
of Shop House Farm from potential noise and dust impacts from quarry 
operations.

7.163 The applicant is proposing that, if permitted, the perimeter bunds will be kept 
in place for a maximum of 5 years which, if necessary, could be regulated via 
a proposed planning condition.

7.164 NPC objected to the proposed buffer zone on the grounds that there should 
be a buffer zone of at least 250m to protect the amenity of Shop House Farm 
and adjacent dwellings. However after visiting the site I was of the opinion that  
no additional properties to Shop House Farm were affected by the proposed 
extension area as they are shielded by existing bunds associated with Stowe 
Hill Quarry and do not have a buffer zone of 150m in place.

7.165 The MPA considers that as the proposed buffer zone is in accordance with 
PPG 018 the bund’s design has already been shown to be acceptable in 
landscape and ecology terms and with the appropriate conditions in place any 
perceived impact on local residents can be addressed by an approved 
landscape scheme for the bunds to limit any impact on the visual amenity of 
the residents of Shop House Farm and the landscape character of the area in 
accordance with Policy DM01 and DM09 of the adopted MLP.

Landscape issues

Page 142



7.166 To limit any adverse impacts on the proposed development the applicant 
commissioned ESP Ltd to complete a LVIA for the application which can be 
viewed in full in public access with updated views and text.

7.167 The landscape setting of the site is characterised to the west by the existing 
quarrying operations at Clearwell Quarry and Stowe Hill Quarry to the south. 
Farmland of medium to large arable and pasture fields extends to the north 
and east with field boundaries partially defined by hedges. The landscape to 
the north east and south east is dominated by the dense mixed woodland of 
the Forest of Dean. 

7.168 The boundary of the Wye Valley AONB is located in close proximity to the 
existing quarry boundary and was considered to be low-lying and not inter-
visible with the extension site by the LVIA.

7.169 The LVIA identified the following visual receptors that could be affected by the 
proposed development:  

 users of public footpath within the site; 
 users of adjacent roads and residents at neighbouring dwellings; and 
 users of public footpaths and roads flanking the site, located on higher 

ground to the northwest, northeast, southwest and southeast

Landscape issue of Stowe Hill Quarry proposed extension area

7.170 To limit the visual impacts of the proposed development during its pre- 
commencement and commencement of extraction stages the applicant 
proposed a new network of native hedges and woodland blocks and belts to 
be planted around the perimeter of the extension area and Stowe Hill Quarry, 
including filling of any gaps of existing internal and perimeter hedges that are 
to be retained.

7.171 The CLA raised issues relating to the proposed footpath diversion, the need 
for greater woodland connectivity with Bearse Common and Orles Wood and 
restoration planting. 

7.172 To address these matters and other issues raised by objectors and NPC the 
applicant identified in Chapter 5 of the Additional Environmental Information 
Report dated May 2018 and Chapter 12 Environmental Statement Non-
Technical summary dated May 2018, that they would make the following 
improvements to the proposed landscape, planting and mitigation for the 
extension area and Stowe Hill Quarry. The proposals will include the following:

 Retention of hedges around the proposed extension area and creating 
a new hedge and woodland perimeter enclosure from the outset; 

 Additional hedges to be planted to reinforce the field patterns and 
woodland belts to help soften the edges with the quarry; 

 The provision of more open agricultural land designed to accurately 
reflect the character of the proposed site and its setting; 

Page 143



 Maintaining footpath access via an on-site diversion and provision for 
re-connection in the final restoration scheme; 

 Planting a substantial belt of native woodland around Orles 
Wood/Bearse Common that will aim to improve the woodland edge and 
connectivity with the wider landscape;

 Improvements to biodiversity and geodiversity by restoration of species-
rich native hedgerows, floristically rich calcareous grassland, ditches 
and retained rock crags; and 

 A footpath diversion to maintain a cross site route whilst minimising 
direct views of quarrying operations by diverting it around the site 
perimeter on the outside of existing hedges and grassed soil storage 
mounds. 

7.173 The CLA was satisfied that with the proposed additional woodland planting 
and improved connectivity with Bearse Common and Orles Wood that the  
proposal met the specific landscape requirements subject to conditions being 
included in any recommendation for approval.

7.174 The proposed footpath diversion and the proposed planting were acceptable 
to the PROW Officer, the CLA and CPE with the addition that it provided for 
the re-connection of the footpath in the final restoration scheme.

7.175 The CLA concluded that as the application area was included within land 
identified as a preferred site for limestone extraction within the (then 
emerging) MLP (now adopted) and met the specific landscape requirements 
set out in that document, if the MPA were minded to recommend approval of 
the application he would recommend that his proposed conditions (see 
paragraph 7.2 of this report) were included.

7.176 FODDC objected to the proposed development on landscape grounds stating 
that “If it were not possible to impose conditions to provide satisfactory 
protection for residents from potential pollution and nuisance, then an 
objection would also be raised on these grounds as the proposal would be 
contrary to paragraph 17 of the NPPF”.

7.177 The MPA assumes the reference was meant as Chapter 17 of the NPPF (as 
Paragraph 17 of the NPPF does not cover these issues). Chapter 17 relates to 
mineral supply and with the relevant conditions proposed to protect nearby 
residents from pollution and nuisance such as dust and noise (covered in this 
report) including the use of the perimeter bunds the MPA are of the opinion 
that the proposal is not contrary to Paragraph 17 of the NPPF.  

7.178 The MPA after taking into consideration the submitted information from the 
applicant including the LVIA, comments from the CLA and other objectors, the 
proposed mitigation measures in place regulated through attached conditions, 
concludes that it is not considered that the proposal will have a significantly 
detrimental effect upon the character of the landscape or have a significant 
adverse effect on visual receptors for the period of the proposed development 
in accordance with Policies DM01 and DM09 of the adopted MLP.

Page 144



Landscape impact of Clearwell Quarry

7.179 The applicant is proposing that the main processing plant, stockyards, 
weighbridge and offices for the use of the extracted stone from proposed 
quarry extension will remain at Clearwell Quarry for the duration of the 
proposed development.  The existing plant is long established in this location 
and is well screened from the road network and dwellings by surrounding 
landform and established vegetation. 

7.180 Clearwell Quarry is only visible from small areas located on Public Footpath 
Newland 57 and from elevated areas around Clearwell Farm to the north 
where there are no dwellings or PROWs. The main feature within Clearwell 
Quarry that is partially visible is approximately 2 metres of the building housing 
the aggregates screening plant on the western boundary of the quarry. 

7.181 In their consultation response the CLA did not raise any issues in relation to 
the visibility of the existing and proposed plant within Clearwell Quarry.

7.182 As the plant is well established within Clearwell Quarry and well screened with 
existing vegetation the MPA considers that the proposal to keep the plant 
within Clearwell Quarry is not visually intrusive to the public, near neighbours 
nor the surrounding environments and is in accordance with Policy DM09 of 
the adopted MLP.

Wye Valley Area of Natural Outstanding Beauty (AONB)

7.183 The proposed site and existing Stowe Hill and Clearwell Quarries are located 
close to the boundary of the Wye Valley AONB. The views from the AONB 
towards the site are separated by Orles Wood and Bearse Common as well as 
the lay of the topography which forms a prominent feature on the ridgeline 
between the AONB boundaries. 

7.184 To provide greater screening for the proposed extension area and the existing 
Stowe Hill Quarry from the ANOB the applicant, in response to requests from 
the CLA and the CPE, has proposed additional planting. The proposed 
planting will be towards Orles Wood and Bearse Common with existing gaps 
in hedges and tree lines being filled.

7.185 The CLA and CPE did not raise any issues in relation to the proposed 
development affecting the setting of the AONB and was of the view that the 
proposal was in accordance with Policy DM09 of the adopted MLP.

7.186 The LVIA included to support the application concluded that the proposed 
application site is not inter-visible with, and does not significantly interact with, 
any of the landscapes or landscape features including the AONB. The LVIA 
concluded the effects of the proposed sites on the designated landscapes 
were judged to be negligible.

Page 145



7.187 The Wye Valley AONB (WVAONB) objected to the proposal on the grounds 
that it was in breach of their Strategic Development Objective WV-D3 which 
states "if it damages Special Qualities in the AONB, including through high 
levels of noise and/or light pollution or any SAC, SPA or Ramsar site or other 
sites designated as environmentally important". 

7.188 The issues raised by the WVAONB will be addressed through approved noise 
mitigation required through proposed planning conditions relating to noise, 
landscaping and visual amenity.

7.189 Taking into consideration the applicant’s LVIA, comments from consultees, 
contributors including the CLA and CPE and the fact that the proposed site is 
within Allocation 01, the MPA considers that the proposal will not have a 
detrimental effect on the Wye Valley AONB or its setting and that the proposal 
is in accordance with Policy DM09 of the adopted MLP. 

Wheel Wash facilities

7.190 Clearwell Quarry has an existing wheel wash in place that was approved 
under consent DF2238/X which vehicles leaving the quarry (apart from cars) 
are required to go through.  However historically there have been complaints 
and issues regarding the condition of the road leading to the access of 
Clearwell Quarry. The issue has been related to vehicles entering the highway 
from Clearwell Quarry still wet from the wheel wash and dripping onto a dusty 
and dirty road. To address this issue the applicant will be required to submit a 
scheme on how they intend to clean vehicles leaving the site. The MPA 
considers that this should be recommended to be dealt with via a planning 
condition. 

Public Rights of Way (PROW)

7.191 The proposed site has a PROW (Ref: Footpath Newland 66) which crosses 
the extension area, as shown on Plan 251L-01-05  (which can be viewed in 
Public Access). It is proposed that Newland 66 is temporally diverted to the 
north of the extension area as shown on Plan No. 251L-01-11 (hyperlink 
Restoration) prior to the extraction of Phase 1.

7.192 In their consultation response dated 1/04/20 the PROW Officer confirmed that 
the diversion shown on plan 251L-01-11 was discussed and agreed upon 
during a site meeting and that they would not object to the proposal if the 
applicant submitted an application to divert the footpath as proposed.  

7.193 The applicant is proposing, once the quarry has been restored as approved, to 
apply to divert Newland 66 as shown on Plan No: 251L-01-12 (which can be 
viewed in Public Access or via this hyperlink Restoration at Phase 1) by 
constructing a new PROW from west of Longley Farm across side slopes and 
the restored quarry floor to meet up with the original path junction with Stowe 
Lane.

Page 146

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_PLN_251L01_05.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_PLN_251L01_11.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_PLN_251L01_11.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_PLN_251L01_12.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_PLN_251L01_11.pdf


7.194 A PROW Officer confirmed in their consultation response that they would 
welcome the suggested proposal and would not object to the diversion and 
constructed new PROW if the applicant applied for its diversion as proposed.

7.195 A number of objectors including NPC raised issues relating to the proposed 
footpath diversions and assurances the applicant will act as proposed. 

7.196 The proposed footpaths will have to be diverted if consent is granted. The 
applicant will have to make a separate application for a footpath order to divert 
the PROW as this not part of the approval process for this planning 
application. The PROW team have the relevant authority to take enforcement 
action if the applicant does not apply to formally divert the footpaths and 
receive approval.

Highways and Transportation

7.197 To support the proposed development the applicant commissioned Hurlstone 
Partnership to compete a THR which can be viewed, in full, in Public Access 
under Chapter 9 of the ES and via the hyperlink  Traffic & Highways.

7.198 The applicant is proposing to continue using the existing access in Clearwell 
Quarry to export the saleable limestone extracted from the proposed 
extension area to its customers. This existing access joins the Shop House to 
Stowe Road which directly links to the B4228 which is a recognised freight 
route. This existing route is considered suitable for the existing operations 
through its current planning permission (DF/2238/X).

7.199 In accordance with current practice and signage, the applicant is proposing 
that all HGVs over 17 tonnes will have to turn left from Clearwell Quarry when 
leaving the site and will use the established approved route leading to Shop 
House.

7.200 The applicant is proposing that, as currently operated by the company, 18 
tonne HGVs will export limestone for sale and import inert materials required 
for the restoration of Clearwell Quarry only via the existing access. This 
practice should enable the same vehicles, where possible, to be used for 
exporting stone and importing (back hauling) restoration material. This 
procedure enables the operator to transport mineral and inert products in an 
efficient way keeping vehicle movements to a minimum in accordance with 
Policy DM03 of the adopted MLP. 

7.201 Clearwell Quarry also has a Manufactured Concrete Plant and Concrete 
Batching Plant on site which has a separate planning permission regulating 
their operation. The applicant is proposing to keep both plants in situ as part of 
this application.

7.202 The Concrete Batching plant, (based on the production of up to 50,000 m3 of 
concrete at the concrete batching plant per annum) will require approximately 
15,000 tonnes of sand and 15,000 tonnes of cement per annum to be 

Page 147

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C9.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C9.pdf


imported. These materials are typically transported in bulk loads of 27 tonnes, 
resulting in 4 loads / 8 movements per day. 

7.203 The manufactured concrete is distributed in truck mixers with an average 
payload of 6 m3. Therefore, the distribution of 50,000 m3 of concrete results in 
31 loads / 62 movements per day from Clearwell Quarry.

7.204 The THR calculated that the combined HGV movements from the mineral 
exporting, importation and concrete operations contributes to approximately 
162 HGVs (324 movements) per day. The current back hauling activity 
removes 15 loads / 30 movements from the 162 HGVs (324 movements) per 
day, leaving approximately 147 loads / 294 movements per day. 

7.205 The applicant has stated that they do not intend to import any material for the 
restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry or the extension area or increase production 
from the quarry and, therefore, there will be no increase in traffic movements 
on the highway network from what is currently generated in accordance with 
Policy DM02.

7.206 As a result, there will be no additional impacts on the intensity of use, capacity 
or safety of the highway network contributing to no cumulative adverse 
impacts and would therefore be in accordance with Policies DM02 and DM03 
of the adopted MLP.

Longley Farm access

7.207 As the existing access to Longley Farm runs along the northeast boundary of 
the existing working area and within the extension area the applicant is 
proposing to construct a new replacement access road off the B4228 directly 
to the farm as shown in plans 251L-01-06 and 251L-01-08. The proposed 
access will be used solely for traffic associated with Longley farm and will not 
facilitate through traffic of any vehicles in either direction including quarry 
traffic.

7.208 An identical access road to the proposed access was previously granted 
consent as part of planning permission 09/0072/FDMAJM (phased relocation 
and replacement of the stone processing plant, office, staff facilities and 
workshop from Clearwell Quarry to Stowe Hill Quarry, erection of an 
environmental bund to attenuate noise, a new haul road and road access onto 
the B4228 and accompanying weighbridge/wheel wash facilities) but was 
never implemented.

7.209 The Highway Authority (HA) was of the opinion that the proposed replacement 
access is suitable to accommodate the movements of traffic travelling to/from 
Longley Farm and would achieve the required visibility splays if maintained 
and clear of obstruction which can be addressed by way of planning condition 
and would therefore be in accordance with Policy DM03 of the adopted MLP.

Highway Safety

Page 148



7.210 The THR reviewed the safety performance of the local highway network, by 
analysing the collision data obtained from Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC) as the HA covering the local road network covering a 7 year period 
between 1 June 2010 and 31 May 2017.

7.211 The data was analysed to establish those collisions which were reported to 
involve HGVs over 7.5 tonnes, which are the type normally used to service the 
quarry. It was found that there had been a recorded injury collision involving a 
HGV, which occurred in February 2011 at the junction between Para well Lane 
and the B4321 at Bream and that it did not involve a HGV associated with 
activities at the quarry. There was an additional collision involving a HGV over 
7.5 tonnes near Puzzle Wood on the B4228 in August 2016 which appeared 
to be the fault of the HGV driver (no details regarding whether the driver was 
associated with the quarries were available). 

7.212 Having considered the evidence-based approach advocated in current 
highway design guidance,  The Hurlstone Partnership concluded that the 
existing site access and local road network was of an acceptable standard to 
safely accommodate HGV traffic associated with the both the quarries and 
other activities in the area.

7.213 NPC, SBPC and members of the public objected on the grounds that the 
proposal does not comply with MLP policy and that there is currently too much 
traffic on the road and to maintain the existing levels is not acceptable. 

7.214 The HA considers that the proposal would not contribute to any additional 
vehicle movements to that which are already approved and that the proposal 
would not increase traffic levels on the highway network.

7.215 The HA did not raise any issues in regard to highways including highway 
capacity and, subject to the inclusion of their recommended conditions 
covering visibility and access construction, they had no objection to the 
proposal and it would therefore be in accordance with Policy DM03 of the 
adopted MLP.

7.216 Taking into consideration the submitted HA consultation responses and the 
objections received, the MPA considers that the proposal would not result in 
any additional impacts on the intensity of use, capacity or safety of the 
highway network and is in accordance with Policy DM03 of MLP.

Hydrology

7.217 To support the proposed development the applicant submitted a 
Hydrogeological Impact Assessment & Flood Risk Assessment (HIAFRA) 
which was subsequently updated twice in response to consultation responses 
made by the EA and NE. (The final version is dated May 2018). To further 
respond to the objections and issues raised by the EA and NE, the applicant 
submitted an Additional Environmental Information Report (AEIR) dated 
December 2018 which accompanies the May 2018 HIAFRA and an ES Non-
Technical Summary V3 dated 19/12/2018. All the reports can be viewed in 

Page 149



Public Access. The HIAFRA is listed in Chapter 10 of the ES with the AEIR 
listed separately. The May 2018 HIAFRA and AEIR dated 19/12/2018 were 
produced by Envireau Water on behalf of the applicant.

7.218 Stowe Hill Quarry and the proposed extension area are situated in the surface 
water catchment divide between the River Wye and River Severn.  The 
catchment to the River Wye is drained by several minor watercourses; 
relevant to the application this includes the Slade Brook, Mork Brook and a 
watercourse herein referred to as Stowe Brook (Figure 251L-10-02 which can 
be viewed in Public Access or via the hyperlink Hydrology ). 

7.219 The Slade Brook SSSI is a first order stream which flows in a predominately 
westerly direction joining the Mork Brook at Brook Farm and flowing into the 
regional hydrological base, the River Wye, at Bigsweir Bridge (NGR SO 537 
048), approximately 3km downstream of its origin. The Mork Brook has further 
tributaries, the Stowe Brook which originates at the village of Stowe and other 
small streams draining through local woodland.

 
Hydrogeological Impact Assessment (HIA)

7.220 The HIA aspect of the report assessed the potential effects that the proposed 
extraction of the extension area and its restoration combined with the 
restoration of the existing Stowe Hill Quarry, may have on hydrogeology and 
hydrology of the water environment within the catchment area. The 
assessment included the potential effects on the Slade Brook SSSI which is 
the most sensitive groundwater dependent receptor considered in the 
assessment.

7.221 The Slade Brook is located approximately 800m south of the extension area 
boundary and is a designated a SSSI due to a system of tufa dams that have 
formed across the watercourse over 700m of the channel, downstream of the 
spring resurgences on its northern tributary arm and below the confluence with 
the southern tributary arm. This represents the longest length of actively 
forming tufa dams in Britain. Tufa is a natural form of calcium carbonate that is 
deposited under certain conditions from groundwater discharging from a 
limestone aquifer system.  

7.222 The tufa dams located in the Slade Brook SSSI are formed from groundwater 
enriched with calcium carbonate through the development of CO2 
concentrations in excess of atmospheric concentrations and a concomitant 
dissolution of the limestone bedrock. Microbiological activity in the soil and 
epikarst, together with the residency time of the water results in more 
interaction between groundwater and the bedrock material, allowing the high 
levels of calcium carbonate required in the groundwater to be reached. 

7.223 The groundwater then emerges as a spring into the Slade Brook where 
degassing of carbon dioxide causes the precipitation of calcium carbonate 
which forms tufa dams. 

Page 150

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_02.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_02.pdf


7.224 In the case of Slade Brook SSSI the tufa is mixed with the accumulated 
vegetation, mosses and detritus which have fallen into the brook and 
agglomerated into the tufa on the gradual slopes to create a series of tufa 
dams. 

7.225 The existing Stowe Hill Quarry has in place an approved water monitoring 
regime that measures surface water and ground water flows and their 
chemistry make up and levels. 

7.226 The HIA assessed the water monitoring results from 2005 for Stowe Hill 
Quarry and found that they had so far not demonstrated any detrimental 
effects on the carbonate chemistry in the Slade Brook SSSI and/or tufa 
forming potential or any deterioration of the water environment as a result of 
historical limestone extraction.  

The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) 

7.227 The objectives of the FRA are to demonstrate that the proposed extraction of 
the proposed extension area and restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry will not 
result in a net loss of floodplain storage, impede water flows and not increase 
the risk of flooding at the quarry or elsewhere. 

7.228 The extraction area would be classified as ‘water compatible’ which is the 
least flood-vulnerable of all vulnerability categories and as such a high degree 
of flood resilience is expected throughout the extraction operations. 

7.229 This FRA concluded that the proposed mineral extraction and progressive 
restoration will not reduce existing floodplain storage, will not impede 
groundwater, surface water or flood flows beyond the current scenario; and 
will not increase the risk of flooding at the extension area or elsewhere. 

7.230 Taking into consideration the submitted FRA and comments from the EA and 
NE in their consultation responses in relation to surface run off and 
groundwater flows while raising no issues relating to flood risk, the MPA 
consider that the proposal is in accordance with Policy DM04 of the adopted 
MLP. 

Drainage 

7.231 The proposed drainage for the extension area will be designed to maintain the 
drainage characteristics of the land in relation to the movement of surface and 
run off water in a north to south direction as would naturally occur. It is 
intended that the surface water will be collected in temporary sump areas, 
either by pumping or gravity drainage. The water within these sumps would 
then be pumped or gravity drained into the existing still water lagoon located 
close to the primary crusher in Stowe Hill Quarry as shown in Figure 251L-10-
21 (which can be seen in Public Access or via the hyperlink Surface Water 
Flood). Currently this lagoon is part of the existing surface drainage system for 
Stowe Hill Quarry and is unlined and allowing seepage through the limestone 
into the bedrock. 

Page 151

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_20.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_20.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_ENV_STAT_C10_PLN_251L10_20.pdf


7.232 Currently as part of the Stowe Hill Quarry surface water drainage system 
surface water is collected and pumped through the existing drainage channel 
within the floor of the quarry, parallel to the principal haul road to the main 
quarry drainage sump.

7.233 The existing sinkholes within the quarries must be protected and fully 
functioning during restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and post restoration in 
order to maintain the existing groundwater and surface water pathways into 
the aquifer to Slade Brook Springs.

7.234 The drainage of the proposed extraction area has not been raised as a matter 
of concern by any of the consultees. However as the applicant has not 
submitted details on how these sink holes will be protected the MPA will 
require, through a planning condition, that the applicant submits a scheme 
detailing appropriate protection measures in order to be in accordance with 
Policy DM05 of the adopted MLP. 

7.235 The proposed scheme should include measures to protect and maintain the 
sink holes and criteria identifying the composition of any materials placed 
around the sinkholes during ground works to ensure they are limestone rich to 
enable the creation of a natural landform and provide the appropriate 
geochemistry for percolating ground water.

7.236 The applicant has stated that they would submit a Pollution Prevention and 
Control Scheme (PPCS) and a Site Water Management Plan (SWMP) if 
consent was granted which would address the issues of water protection and 
surface water drainage for the extension area. 

7.237 However no details of the content of the proposed PPCS or SWMP have so 
far been submitted or any information on how the proposed and current 
drainage would operate while Stowe Hill Quarry is being restored.  In order to 
ensure that the applicant submits and implements the proposed schemes the 
MPA will require that conditions are included in any recommended consent to 
request that the applicant submits the following to the MPA: 

 A scheme detailing the design of the proposed drainage scheme for 
surface water and how it will be engineered to run off in a north to south 
direction towards the proposed temporary sump areas prior to being 
pumped into the still water lagoon from the proposed extension area;

 Analysis of the naturally occurring Karst drainage;
 The design of the temporary sump areas;
 Details of the still water lagoon;
 A scheme detailing a comprehensive drainage and lagoon system to be 

installed/used to intercept and treat any contaminated surface water 
run-off from extension area;

 Details of how the existing sink hole in Stowe Hill Quarry is intended to 
be used as part of the drainage system for the proposed extension area 
and how it will be protected; and 

Page 152



 Details of how the drainage for the extraction area will be ameliorated 
with the phased restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry.

Restoration                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

Stowe Hill Quarry and Clearwell Quarry 

7.238 The current approved restoration scheme for Stowe Hill Quarry is drawing 
C29.L/6D ‘Restoration Concept Scheme Revised December 2007’ (which can 
be viewed in Public Access) detailing the areas to be restored to woodland 
agriculture, grassland, hedgerows, wetland features and Calcareous 
Limestone Grassland incorporating epikarst layer creation. 

7.239 However Stowe Hill Quarry was not fully restored as approved and 
subsequently the operator applied to the MPA to vary planning condition 2 
(Approved working programme and plans) of planning consent DF/2238/X 
dated 5/1/2007 in order to vary the approved restoration schemes for Stowe 
Hill and Clearwell Quarries.

7.240 The proposed restoration scheme for Stowe Hill Quarry via the variation 
application now proposes to restore the site to a combination of agricultural 
land, new woodland and hedgerows, calcareous grassland, and wetland 
features including a lagoon pond, wet marginal grassland/reed marsh and 
retained rock faces. 

7.241 The restoration also incorporates epikarst creation layers within the quarry 
floor to help restore carbonate in the restored area to create the geochemistry 
which is important to the Slade Brook SSSI. 

7.242 The proposed Stowe Hill Quarry restoration scheme for this application (plan 
251L-01-12 ‘Final Restoration Scheme’ dated Oct 2017) to a epikarst based 
restoration including a combination of agriculture, grassland, woodland, 
hedgerows and wetland features is based on the proposed restoration plan 
251L-01-12 rev A ‘Final Restoration Scheme’ dated May 2019 of the variation 
application with the only difference being differences of land included within 
the red line for both applications.

7.243 The variation application 17/0110/FDMAJM was determined in June 2020 
subject to compliance with a Section 106  Agreement being agreed and can 
be viewed in Public Access.17/0110/FDMAJM can operate and be 
implemented unilaterally to this application. However, if this application is 
approved, the restoration for each planning application area would be 
implemented through a common scheme which applies to both.

Stowe Hill Quarry Epikarst restoration

Page 153



7.244 Stowe Hill Quarry currently is still regulated by consent DF/2238/X and its 
restoration scheme as 17/0110/FDMAJM cannot be implemented until the 
Section 106 Agreement is agreed and signed by all interested parties.

7.245 The proposed revised restoration scheme for Stowe Hill Quarry shown in 
drawing 251L-01-12 Rev A ‘Final Restoration Scheme’, dated March 2019 
details how the applicant proposes to restore the site to a combination of 
agricultural land, new woodland and hedgerows, calcareous grassland based 
on epikarst layers, and wetland features including a lagoon pond, wet marginal 
grassland/reed marsh and retained rock faces. 

7.246 The plan covers both the red line area of this application and the blue lined 
area of Stowe Hill Quarry as shown in drawing 251L-01-01 ‘Proposed 
Extension to Stowe Hill Quarry Location Plan’ dated Oct 2017 which can be 
viewed in Public Access or via the hyperlink Application Site.

7.247 The submitted AEIR provided further information on the proposed epikarst 
restoration for Stowe Hill Quarry, ongoing and proposed monitoring of the 
water environments and proposals to protect the Slade Brook SSSI from any 
detrimental impacts resulting from quarrying restoration and quarry operations.

7.248 The proposed restoration for Stowe Hill Quarry proposes an improved 
restoration scheme than previously approved providing betterment with 
increased planting, biodiversity gain and the construction of thicker epikarst 
layers within the quarry floor to help return the quarry floor to a similar 
geochemistry that was present before extraction. This would be in accordance 
with Policy DM05 of the adopted MLP.

7.249 In order to construct epikarst layers as part of the restoration of Stowe Hill 
Quarry, limestone shale is required as it is a principal component. The 
applicant is proposing that the limestone shale will be sourced from the 
extraction of the proposed extension area as it should provide shale with the 
same geochemistry as the limestone that had previously been extracted.

7.250 This shale will be combined with limestone dust to produce a restoration 
material that will increase the reactive surface area within the epikarst 
recreation when compared to a natural, fracture dominated epikarst system 
according to the HIA.

7.251 The greater availability of limestone shale from the proposed extension area 
will provide a variety in the grain size of the restoration. According to the 
submitted AEIR the variety of grain size is considered important for successful 
epikarst recreation as the finer limestone shale fraction is important to create a 
large reactive surface area to maximise infiltration. 

7.252 The applicant is proposing that no material will be imported for the purposes of 
restoring Stowe Hill Quarry or the extension area. The MPA can make this a 
requirement through a planning condition.

Page 154

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_PLN_251L01_02.pdf
http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_PLN_251L01_02.pdf


7.253 The restoration scheme proposes to increase the depth of the shale on the 
floor of Stowe Hill Quarry from the previously approved of 0.32m to 0.8m to 
better help with epikarst creation which will be an improvement on the 
currently approved restoration scheme as confirmed in the NE response dated 
7th June 2019.

7.254 The proposed restoration scheme for Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension 
area will be designed to place restoration materials and soils in such a way so 
as to minimise surface water runoff and maximise infiltration into the recreated 
calcareous subsoil, ensuring that recharge to the underlying limestone aquifer 
and movement of groundwater is maintained. The base of the extension area 
will be restored to free draining agricultural land, enhancing recharge through 
the epikarst restoration layer.

7.255 As shown in 251L-01-11 (hyperlink Phase 1) ‘Proposed Restoration at end of 
Phase 1’ dated September 2018 the applicant is planning on restoring 65% of 
Stowe Hill Quarry as approved by the time phase1 has been completed.  

7.256 In line with existing monitoring at Stowe Hill Quarry the operator will continue 
to monitor surface and ground water flows through out Stowe Hill Quarry with 
the addition of new lysimeters to increase monitoring points. The new 
lysimeters will be created and monitored prior to extraction commencing. 

7.257 To further address issues raised by NE and the EA the applicant has 
proposed setting up a Management and Monitoring Steering Group (MMSG) 
which the NE, EA and the MPA will be asked to join. Once established all 
monitoring results will be reported to the group for analysis on how restoration 
is progressing and especially to report any changes to the water management 
of the Slade Brook SSSI.

7.258 The applicant is proposing that the MMSG will be a key component in 
optimising the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the proposed extension 
area as it will be the regulator for how restoration progresses as a result of the 
monitoring data. The applicant is proposing that the MMSG will regulate this 
through a Section 106 Agreement. The MPA agrees that a S106 planning 
obligation is an appropriate mechanism to ensure a monitoring regime is put in 
place involving other parties to ensure the safeguarding of the offsite SSSI of 
Slade Brook.

7.259 To assist with the regulation of the proposed development the applicant 
proposes that the restoration, monitoring and management of the restoration 
water management are regulated by both planning conditions and a Section 
106 planning obligation.

7.260 The applicant’s AEIR included proposed draft planning conditions and a draft 
S106 obligation which can be viewed in the AEIR in Public Access. The EA 
and NE response to these documents are outlined earlier in the report. 

7.261 The proposed S106 Agreement includes the following:

Page 155

http://caps.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gcc_images/17_0122_FDMAJM_PLN_251L01_11.pdf


 Phased restoration and epikarst recreation of the whole Stowe Hill 
Quarry working area as far as it relates to the monitoring regime for 
Slade Brook SSSI;

 That evidence is provided as to the functioning of the epikarst 
restoration and that monitoring is undertaken of different epikarst 
restoration profiles and that assessment and analysis from this 
monitoring shall be discussed and agreed with the MMSG and then 
incorporated into the restoration scheme; and 

 Details of the MMSG structure, its responsibilities and how it is 
implemented.

7.262 The draft planning conditions within the AEIR are proposed to be applied to 
the extension area and Stowe Hill Quarry as land in the applicant’s control and 
within the blue line area as shown in Plan 251L-01-02 dated Oct 2017. These 
conditions seek to:

 “Ensure that the proposed extension is controlled with respect to depth;
 Allow additional data on groundwater levels below the extension area to 

be collected and analysed;
 Ensure that the scheme of monitoring takes accounts of concerns and 

queries raised by the statutory consultees;
 Ensure that if significant conduit flow structures are intercepted by the

extension that measures are taken to ensure prevention of water 
contamination and that impacts on the fast flow nature of the karst 
system are mitigated; and

 These conditions also include the submission of and adherence to a 
phased restoration and epikarst recreation scheme. Although these 
requirements are included in the proposed new Section 106 
Agreement, it is anticipated that the MPA will also require restoration to 
be controlled by planning condition”.

7.263 In their consultation response of 7th June 2019 NE stated that they no longer 
objected to the proposed development and that they were satisfied that the 
specific issues they had raised in previous correspondence relating to this 
development had been resolved, provided appropriate planning conditions 
and / or S106 Agreement can be defined.

7.264 These issues included the proposed epikarst restoration for Stowe Hill Quarry 
and the extension area and its associated water management monitoring 
scheme. 

7.265 In summary NE were of the opinion that as detailed in paragraph 6.10-6.13 of 
this report, if all their recommended conditions were included in the proposed 
consent, including the following measures they would be satisfied with the 
proposed development as follows:

Page 156



 That pre-development conditions be included requiring the applicant to 
submit the following a revised restoration scheme, a monitoring 
scheme, a means of ensuring the control of phased working (e.g. 
requirements necessary for working phase 2), a karst conduit protection 
scheme and timescales around these elements.

 If it is found that the monitoring demonstrates that the proposed 
restoration methods (epikarst recreation) do not work, NE would 
recommend that work should stop and either alternative measures 
implemented or work on the quarry cease to prevent further potential 
impact. Phase 2 would then not be able to commence. NE will need a 
written agreement that this condition is in place should this scenario 
occur, in order to provide certainty. 

 The phased restoration of the existing quarry (condition F) must take 
place within a two year period to ensure that the area of open quarry 
floor is minimised and that the proposed restoration scheme can be 
tested through implementation. 

 NE should be part of the discussions around the submitted schemes in 
how they approved and implemented.

 The formation of the MMSG with the EA also included as member.
 A S106 Agreement should support proposed conditions to ensure their 

implementation. 

7.266 The EA in their consultation response of 7th June 2019 and detailed in 
paragraphs 6.14-6.18 of this report states that “As part of the proposed 
mitigation/suggested betterment, subject of this submission, we would not be 
in a position to object”. 

7.267 As detailed in this report the EA were of the opinion that, in relation to the 
proposed restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area, for them to 
maintain no objection to the proposed restoration that their consultation 
responses including recommended conditions must be considered and 
included. The following is a summary of their recommendations:

 That key conditions and appropriate mechanisms are in place and that the 
EA have the ability to react appropriately to any impact or concern that 
may be encountered.  For example this may include stop mechanisms 
being in place to protect the water environment, including groundwater 
and the Slade Brook SSSI springs from impact. 

 This is especially important concerning the proposed phased restoration of 
the existing quarry (Stowe Hill) which should take place within a two year 
period, with epikarst recreation a major part of this strategy. 

 Conditions relating to restoration and epikarst recreation need to be tied 
up with the scheme of monitoring perhaps through the programme of 
implementation) and provide for a sequencing plan and itself have some 
control measures to demonstrate the effectiveness of the epikarst 
recreation.

Page 157



 The monitoring scheme should have some measures to stop work if it is 
not working and to either remedy through alternatives or cease works to 
prevent further possible potential impacts possibly through epikarst 
review;

 Conditions should be used along with a Section 106 Agreement. This 
should include appropriate clauses to cover the above scenarios and 
options;

 Freqency of the MMSG should be agreed by all the members of the group 
and the EA, NE and MPA should be members;

 That the EA are part of the approvals process for conditions in the consent 
if approved;

 That if the restoration scheme and/or monitoring scheme approved under 
a proposed monitoring condition shows any adverse risk of deterioration 
water features (groundwater and surface water quality) including the Slade 
Brook SSSI, development should cease until proposals are submitted to 
the MPA for approval in consultation with EA to:

1. investigate the cause of deterioration;
2. remediate any such risks; and 
3. monitor and amend any failures of the remediation undertaken.  

 A scheme of monitoring should be agreed prior to commencement of 
development. The EA would expect to be part of those discussions along 
with NE as part of the MMSG;

7.268 The EA were of the opinion that although there may still be some uncertainties 
in the datasets held, the combination of enhanced monitoring data collection, 
planning conditions, Section 106 obligations and controls through the MMSG 
will make sure adequate monitoring, mitigation and appropriate assessment is 
undertaken to protect the Slade Brook SSSI. With these conditions in place 
and providing the monitoring regime can be secured through a S106 planning 
obligation the MPA considers that the epikarst restoration proposed will be in 
accordance with policies DM05 and DM06 of the MLP. 

 
7.269 The CLA was in favour of the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the 

extension area subject to a condition being included in a recommended 
consent requiring the applicant to submit a revised final restoration scheme 
and landscaping to the MPA for approval. This would ensure an acceptable 
final landscape and visual solution with further profiling considered to achieve 
acceptable restoration landform.

7.270 The CPE was of the opinion that with the proposed safeguards in place and 
an approved final restoration scheme a real net gain for biodiversity could be 
achieved in the short, medium and long term. The approved scheme should 
provide extended habitat features including new grassland, ponds, hedgerows 

Page 158



and woodland planting (drawings 251L-01-12 & 251L-01-13) that will be able 
to support improved populations of a range of species including protected
and priority ones. This makes the proposal consistent with Policy DM06 of the 
adopted MLP.

7.271 The CPE recommended that a condition should be put in place if a 
recommendation for approval was made requiring the applicant to submit ‘a 
detailed restoration, aftercare and management scheme 6 months after the 
commencement of extraction of Phase 1 and a final after detailed restoration, 
aftercare and management scheme 6 months after commencement of Phase 
2’.

7.272 NPC maintained their objection to the proposed restoration of Stowe Hill 
Quarry and the proposed extension area on the following grounds:

 Even if Area 01 is retained in the MLP, the application should be refused 
and all the previously worked areas restored by the import of suitable 
material from elsewhere in accordance with conditions attached to earlier 
permissions and imposed by yourselves. There should then be a period of 
5 years to allow monitoring of the restored area.

 Only when and if, after 5 years, it is demonstrated that there has been no 
effect on the SSSI, then any application to extend the quarry in to the 
same area as this application should be conditioned that it is worked in 3 
small phases and that monitoring of the SSSI continues. This will ensure 
protection for the SSSI as the quarry expands and moves closer to the 
watercourse, and also that restoration occurs at the proper time.

7.273 The applicant is proposing to restore Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area 
using limestone shale from the extension area to maintain the right 
geochemistry for epikarst recreation. The applicant is of the opinion that it is 
unlikely that suitable limestone from elsewhere would consist of the same 
geochemistry. However if the application is refused the applicant would have 
to apply to import some suitable limestone (as currently importation into Stowe 
Hill Quarry is not permitted) in order to implement the potential consent 
17/0110/FDMAJM.

7.274 The MPA are of the opinion that 5 years worth of monitoring prior to 
commencement of extraction if approved does not meet the 6 tests for 
planning conditions and there is no requirement from the EA or NE for 5 years 
of monitoring prior to extraction.

7.275 The FODDC Sustainability Team (FODDCST) (who advised FODDC on 
landscape) objected to the proposal, on the grounds that the proposed 
restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area would cause ‘the 
current ridge line to be replaced by an undulating bowl, re-profiled bunds and 
the current agricultural field system pattern would be lost’. 

7.276 However FODDCST were of the opinion that, if the restoration scheme was to 
be recommended for approval, that the ‘landscaping phasing plan should be 
revised prior to commencement in order to bring forward final restoration 

Page 159



strategic landscaping to the NE and the new B84228 road access upon 
commencement’. 

7.277 The MPA are of the opinion that the applicant should be required to submit a 
landscaping phasing plan prior to commencement of extraction and this 
should include a timetable for the landscaping of the new Longley Farm 
access on to the B4228. This can be required via condition if consent is 
granted and would address the FODDC objection. 

7.278 FODDC will be consulted as part of the condition compliance process if 
consent is granted on such a scheme once submitted.

7.279 The WVAONB Manager objected to the proposed restoration on the grounds it 
was in conflict with their policy WV-M2 which states as follows:

"Encourage quarries to be operated and restored to a standard that is 
appropriate to the landscape character, geodiversity and biodiversity of the 
AONB”.

7.280 Taking into consideration the comments and recommended conditions from 
the CPE and the CLA, the MPA considers that, with the proposed conditions in 
place, the subsequent restoration schemes would provide a restoration 
standard appropriate to the landscape character, geodiversity and biodiversity 
of the AONB and is in accordance with Policies DM06, DM04 and MR01 of the 
adopted MLP.

7.281 Taking into consideration the recommendations and comments of the EA, NE, 
the advice of the CPE and CLA and the objections of NPC, FODDC the 
WVAONB, the MPA will impose planning conditions on the planning 
permission (if granted) that will require the operator to submit schemes 
relating to phased restoration, final landscaping, final restoration, aftercare, 
epikarst recreation and water management monitoring.

7.282 All the above schemes submitted will be prior to commencement of 
development/extraction and the MPA will seek the advice of the relevant 
consultees such as the EA, NE, ecology, landscape and FODDC as part of the 
condition compliance process.

7.283 The proposed S106 Agreement should include the formation of the MMSG 
and mitigation measures relating to monitoring results if it is found that the 
SSSI is being affected by the proposed development and measures to protect 
the SSSI. 

7.284 Taking into consideration the proposed recommended conditions and subject 
to the S106 obligation, the MPA considers that with these safe guards in place 
that the approved restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area will 
not have a detrimental effect on the Slade Brook SSSI and that the proposed 
restoration scheme is in accordance with Policies DM06, DM05, DM09 and 
MR01 of the adopted MLP.

Page 160



Clearwell Quarry Restoration

7.285 The restoration of Clearwell Quarry is currently regulated by drawing 
665/SK1B ‘Clearwell Quarry Interim Concept\restoration Plan’ dated 2nd 
October 2002 of planning permission DF/2238/X which can be seen in Public 
Access.

7.286 Drawing 665/SK1B required the northern area of Clearwell Quarry to be 
restored to grassland, scrub, woodland, and hedges to create an improved 
and enhanced habitat that provided a positive contribution to the area’s visual 
landscape. 

7.287 The scheme covered parts of the site where mineral had at that time been 
extracted and was not required to be used for the operation of the quarry’s 
processing plant, offices, access road and ancillary operations such as the 
concrete block and ready mix plant. However the scheme only covered the 
restoration of the northern part of the quarry and not the plant area located in 
the southern part of the quarry. 

7.288 The northern part of the quarry is currently undergoing progressive restoration 
to agriculture with associated landscaping and planting, using both indigenous 
materials and imported inert materials to raise the land and provide a growing 
medium. 

7.289 To regularise restoration works currently being carried out in Clearwell Quarry 
the applicant is proposing a 3 phase restoration scheme and final restoration 
providing agricultural grassland, hedgerows, woodland, wetland features and 
dry marginal grassland for the whole quarry. The scheme will address the 
removal of the existing plant once cessation of mineral extraction has occurred 
in Stowe Hill Quarry and its subsequent restoration in accordance with the 
following drawings:

 Drawing 251-01 ‘Clearwell Quarry, Revised Restoration Scheme phase 
1’, dated Oct 2017;

 Drawing 251-02 ‘Clearwell Quarry, Revised Restoration Scheme phase 
2’, dated Oct 2017;

 Drawing 251-03 ‘Clearwell Quarry, Revised Restoration Scheme phase 
3’, dated Oct 2017; and 

 Drawing 251-04 ‘Stowe Hill Quarry, Revised Restoration Scheme’, 
dated Oct 2017.

7.290 The proposed restoration schemes address the requirement of the plant area 
to be restored once quarrying has ceased in the extension area and takes into 
account the existing restoration landform in the northern area of Clearwell 
Quarry, which takes account of the volume of indigenous waste materials 
available for restoration. 

Page 161



7.291 The submitted phased restoration scheme for Clearwell Quarry has taken into 
account the operator’s current restoration works and proposed restoration that 
has been carried out partly retrospectively to prevent the need to transport the 
quarry waste off-site. 

7.292 The restoration works that have been completed in Clearwell Quarry have 
been carried out in accordance with Phase 1 of the quarry’s proposed 
restoration scheme as detailed in drw.251-01 to agricultural grassland with a 
new hedgerow created and to the correct landform in accordance with Policies 
MR01 and DM09 of the adopted MLP.

7.293 The applicant is proposing that phases 2 and 3 of the quarry’s proposed 
restoration scheme will cover the parts of the quarry still requiring restoration 
including the southern area of the quarry (plant area) which currently does not 
have an approved restoration scheme.

7.294 It is proposed that phase 2 as detailed in drawing 251-02, will be restored to a 
combination of dry marginal grassland, woodland and wetland features, as 
shown on Plan No: 251-02 and would be in accordance with Policies MR01, 
DM09, DM06 and DM05 of the MLP.

7.295 Phase 3, which covers the existing plant area, will be restored once the plant 
has been decommissioned and removed from the quarry, to a combination of 
agricultural grassland, dry marginal grassland, woodland and wetland features 
including an agricultural track, as shown on drw.251-03. 

7.296 The plant within Clearwell Quarry will be required to be removed and Clearwell 
Quarry fully restored within 8 years from the date of commencement of 
development.  

7.297 The CLA was of the view that the applicant should submit a detailed 
landscaping scheme for the phased restoration of Clearwell Quarry in 
accordance with the submitted Plans 251-01, 251-02 and 251-03. The plan 
should detail species, sizes, spacing and areas of tree and shrub planting, 
details of seed mixes and areas of seeding; restoration levels, soil depths and 
types and should be accompanied by an aftercare and management plan.
He was also of the opinion that the quarry should be fully restored within 12 
months of the cessation of quarrying in the Stowe Hill extension area.  

7.298 In regard to the proposed restoration of Clearwell Quarry the applicant has 
submitted limited details about the proposed restoration except for what is 
included in the submitted drawings. However there have been no objections to 
the proposed restoration in Clearwell Quarry with consultees being positive
regarding the whole quarry having a proposed restoration scheme including 
the plant area once it is dismantled. 

7.299 To address this issue and taking into consideration the recommendations of 
the CLA the MPA considers that the applicant should be required to submit a 
revised restoration and landscape scheme for each phase of the proposed 

Page 162



restoration and a 5 year after care scheme for the final restoration of the whole 
of Clearwell Quarry as detailed in drw 251-02 dated Oct 2017.

7.300 Taking into consideration the requirement of the applicant to submit revised 
restoration details and the fact that the proposal now provides proposed 
restoration for the whole quarry the MPA considers that the proposed 
restoration scheme is in accordance with Policy MR01 of the adopted MLP.

 Cumulative impact 

7.301 In respect of cumulative impact from mineral development and traffic, 
particularly from HGVs, and their impact upon the local highway network, the 
MPA has become increasingly aware of greater weight and focus that national 
and development plan policies are placing on cumulative impacts and the 
impact that HGV traffic and quarry operations have on the amenity of the area 
and the highway network. 

7.302 The proposed development has a restricted production limit and is not 
proposing to increase HGV movements from what has previously been 
approved for the operation of Stowe Hill and Clearwell quarries meaning there 
will be no additional impact on the highway network.

7.303 The proposal has conditions in place to mitigate issues relating to local 
amenity from the quarry operations and the proposed restoration for the 
extension area, Stowe Hill and Clearwell will provide a biodiversity gain.

7.304 Taking into consideration the fact that the proposal avoids the sterilisation of 
valuable mineral resources and will not contribute to an increase in HGV 
movements the MPA is of the opinion that the proposal would not result in an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety and the local highway network or 
contribute to cumulative adverse impacts on the local area and therefore the 
proposal is in accordance with Policy DM02 of the adopted MLP. 

Consideration of other objections 

CPRE

7.305 The CPRE objected on the basis that it would be premature to make a 
decision on the application while the MLP was being considered and the 
Stowe Hill allocation could be removed. However the Stowe Hill allocation was 
kept in the adopted MLP as Allocation 01 and the application will be 
considered in accordance with the policies of the adopted MLP. This 
addresses the CPRE representation concerning prematurity.

7.306 The CPRE also objected on the grounds that limestone should be imported 
from outside the county to provide stone to the market. However one of the 
purposes of this application is to obtain limestone shale with the right 
geochemistry to restore Stowe Hill Quarry, as well as extracting limestone for 
local requirements from a site allocated in the adopted MLP. As detailed in this 

Page 163



report, the MPA consider that the proposal to extract stone from the proposed 
site is in accordance with Policies MW01 and MA01 of the adopted MLP. 

Tourism

7.307 A number of objectors raised comments about the impacts of the proposal on 
tourism especially views from the B4228 and noise on nearby camping sites. 
The proposed extraction is a relatively small extension of an existing quarry 
and will be well screened from view points including the B4228. The applicant 
is proposing to improve the plant operations reducing the potential noise levels 
and the proposed consent includes conditions relating to noise and dust 
mitigation. The proposal also includes an improved restoration scheme for 
Stowe Hill and Clearwell Quarries, including a scheme to restore the plant site 
once it is no longer required and removed. 

7.308 Taking the submitted information and consultees’ responses into 
consideration, the MPA considers that the proposed development is unlikely to 
have a detrimental effect on the tourism of the area and is in accordance with 
Policy DM01 of the adopted MLP.

Objections - general

7.309 A total 271 objections were received objecting to the proposal with a summary 
below:

 Integrity/damage of the Slade Brook SSSI and the  tufa dams, hydrology 
detriment of other flora and fauna, traffic safety, existing wheel cleaning 
facilities being inadequate, noise and dust were particular concerns by the 
local residents, effects on horseshoe bats, 150m buffer zones, loss of 
amenity in quiet rural area, perimeter bund size, the condition of the plant,  
HGV movements, visual impact, the proximity to the Wye Valley and that 
the site is worthy of designation itself, impact of blasting, loss of light from 
the proximity of the screening bunds and restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry.

7.310 All of the matters above have been addressed in this report and the MPA 
considers that, with the recommended conditions and provided that a S106 
obligation is in place, the above public amenity and concerns will be 
addressed and mitigated.

7.311 The MPA also received objections relating to impact of property values, the 
need to stop quarrying in the Forest of Dean, unemployment, no benefit to the 
community and compensation.
 

7.312 There is no evidence that the proposal will cause unemployment, the only 
unemployment that may occur will be employees who work at Stowe Hill and 
Clearwell Quarries should Members refuse this application, as the site would 
move to reserve exhaustion and early restoration and closure.

7.313 Property values, compensation disputes and no benefit to community are not 
planning matters material to the consideration of this application.  

Page 164



Development Plan

7.314 The local policy which forms the Development Plan that is of particular
relevance to the consideration and determination of this application is the 
Forest of Dean Core Strategy - the principal document in the new Local 
Development Framework for the Forest of Dean adopted in February 2012.

7.315 The proposal is considered to comply with Policies CSP.2 Climate Change 
Adaptation as the proposal will not increase HGV movements in the Forest of 
Dean including the Lydney AQMA and the applicant has stated that they 
intend to move towards greener transport by replacing their HGVs when 
required with Euro 6 standard HGVs (European Union directive to reduce 
harmful pollutants from vehicle exhausts).

7.316 The applicant is also proposing environmental improvements to their plant 
which will reduce dust and noise pollution in accordance with CPS.1 and 2 of 
the Plan.
 

7.317 Overall the MPA are of the considered opinion that the proposal is in 
accordance with the Development Plan and its policies.

Climate Change

 7.318 On the 15th May 2019, GCC endorsed the UK Parliament’s declaration of an 
environment and climate change emergency by committing the Council to: an 
80% reduction in its corporate carbon emissions by no later than 2030 when 
compared to 2005, with a 100% reduction ambition by the same time inclusive 
of carbon off-setting; contributing to the delivery of a carbon neutral county by 
2050; ensuring major Council plans have clearly identified strategies to reduce 
carbon emissions; and apply the scientific advice published by The Committee 
on Climate Change (CCC). 

7.319 On the 20th December 2019, GCC’s Cabinet agreed to: approve the 
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 incorporating 
an immediate action plan; and to endorse the Gloucestershire Climate Change 
manifesto. The 2019/20 to 2024/25 Strategy sets out an immediate action plan 
for delivery by April 2020 and a suite of medium and long-term measures that 
are to be implemented as part of a five-year rolling programme, which will be 
reviewed and updated annually. The immediate action plan is made up of 10 
key actions that incorporate commitments to: joint-working to bring about a 
coordinated response to climate change; dedicated staff and financial 
resources to tackling climate change; and targeted climate change 
procurement practices. It also specifically supports the planting of 1 million 
trees by 2030 and commencement of a review of the local transport plan to 
reflect the climate change emergency declaration. The medium and long-term 
measures consist of a further 14 actions that cover such matters as: dedicated 
local climate change research, assessment and monitoring; targeted climate 

Page 165

https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf


change communication and campaigning initiatives;  carbon reduction 
transport-related actions; exploration of renewable energy potential on public 
sector land and the development of at least one District Heating Networks by 
2025; offering of support for both future public and private sector 
developments that are zero carbon and will contribute towards improvements 
in climate change resilience; and making provision for green infrastructure in 
line with Building with Nature (BwN) standards.

7.320 The Gloucestershire Climate Change Manifesto which has presently been 
endorsed by the County Council, seeks a wider pledge from the Council’s 
partners to commit to the headline ambitions outlined in the Council’s climate 
change emergency resolution and Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 
2024/25. It seeks for a partnership approach to be taken to grow a low carbon 
economy, help residents, businesses and partners to radically reduce carbon; 
and to maintain and enhance the quality of our natural environment by 
protecting and enhancing the county’s biodiversity.

7.321 The commitments set out in the climate change emergency resolution, 
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 and 
Gloucestershire Climate Change Manifesto that contain a land use planning 
element is a material consideration in the assessment of planning applications 
determined by GCC. In particular, weight should be given to measures 
contained within individual proposals that are likely to make a positive 
contribution to the implementation of either the resolution, strategy and/or the 
manifesto.

7.322 The proposal was submitted prior to the adoption of the Gloucestershire 
Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 by GCC. However the applicant has 
included a number of strategies to contribute to reducing their carbon 
emissions and working to sustainable stategies where possible.  

7.323 The applicant has committed in their application to make environmental 
improvements to their fixed and mobile plant reducing pollutants such as dust, 
leading to them operating in a more efficient and environmentally friendly way. 

7.324 Clearwell and Stowe Hill quarries both rely on water as part of their dust 
mitigation and this is sourced from their own naturally filled ponds removing 
the need for the quarry to use main water supplies.

7.325 The proposed development will produce aggregates for the local market and 
will be used to feed the concrete plant in Clearwell Quarry removing the need 
to import aggregates using HGVs.

7.326 To support the move towards greener transport the applicant in their submitted 
Additional Environmental Information Report stated that they intend, when 
necessary, to replace their HGVs with HGVs that conform to Euro 6 standards 
(European Union directive to reduce harmful pollutants from vehicle exhausts) 
to reduce their carbon emission level outputs.

Page 166



7.327 The material required for the proposed restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and 
the extension area will be sourced from the extraction of the extension area 
and will remove the need to import material removing any undesirable 
economic and environmental impacts on the environment through 
transportation and carbon emissions. 

7.328 The proposed restoration for Stowe Hill, Clearwell quarries and the extension 
area will involve the planting of additional trees and hedges contributing to 
Gloucestershire’s climate change strategy of planting a million trees by 2030.

7.329 The proposed development will not contribute to an increase in HGV 
movements from the quarries and will not increase its movements through the 
Lydney AQMA.

7.330 Overall the applicant is aiming to reduce their carbon emissions, limit HGV 
movements and operate their plant and operations as environmentally friendly 
as feasible and have worked towards the strategies outlined in 
Gloucestershire’s Climate Change Strategy (December 2019).

Human Rights 

7.331 From 2nd October 2000, the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of 
enshrining much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law. 
Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a right to respect for 
private and family life and Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the right to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  Article 8 also provides that there shall be 
no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except in the 
interests of national security, public safety, or the economic well-being of the 
country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or 
morals, or for the protection of the freedom of others. 

7.332 271 near neighbours and members of the public, Newland Parish Council, St. 
Briavels Parish Council and FODDC have objected to the proposed 
development on the grounds of the impact the proposal will have on nearby 
residents’ amenity, public amenity, Slade Brook SSSI and landscape 
character. For the reasons set out in the Planning Considerations above it is 
not considered that there would not be any breach of the Convention rights.  
Even if there was to be an interference with Convention rights then, in this 
case, it is considered that the interference would be justified in the interests of 
economic well-being and be proportionate.  Accordingly, it would not be 
unlawful to grant planning permission for this development.  

Conclusions and summary reasons for grant of planning permission and 
relevant development plan policies

7.333 The proposal is to extend Stowe Hill Quarry to the north-east by 13.56 Ha 
while keeping the haul road to the primary crusher, the primary crusher and 

Page 167



conveyor in Stowe Hill Quarry, providing improved processing plant in 
Clearwell Quarry and the improved restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry, the 
extension area and Clearwell Quarry. 

7.334 The proposed extension of Stowe Hill Quarry will yield approximately 2.5 
million tonnes of limestone by extracting to a depth of approximately 170m 
AOD. The proposal is to keep the haul road to the primary crusher, primary 
crusher and conveyor in Stowe Hill Quarry until phase 1 is fully extracted in 
accordance with Policies MW06 and MA01 and of the MLP. 

7.335 The application also includes an improved epikarst based restoration for the 
quarry floor with a combination of agriculture, grassland, woodland, 
hedgerows and wetland features for Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension  area 
in accordance with Policies DM05, DM06 DM09 and MR01 of the MLP.

7.336 The site offices, workshop, staff facilities, weighbridge, wheel wash facilities 
and proposed improved plant will remain in Clearwell Quarry during the 
extraction of the proposed extension area providing the necessary plant to 
process the extracted mineral. The new proposed restoration scheme for the 
whole of Clearwell Quarry will restore the quarry to agricultural grassland, 
hedgerows, woodland, wetland features and dry marginal grassland. The 
proposed scheme will provide improved biodiversity through additional 
planting and restoration to the plant area once the plant is dismantled and 
removed accordance with Policies DM06, DM09 and MR01 of the MLP.

7.337 Clearwell Quarry currently only has an approved restoration scheme for the 
northern part of the quarry as detailed in Plan No: 665/SK1B. It does not cover 
the southern half of the quarry where the processing plant is currently located. 
The proposed development will enable Clearwell Quarry to be fully restored 
once the plant is dismantled and removed providing an improved landscape 
and biodiversity gain for the quarry in accordance with Policies MW06, DM06, 
DM09 and MR01 of the MLP. 

7.338 The proposed extension area lies within Allocation 01 of the adopted MLP. It is 
noted that minerals can only be extracted where they are found. The 
extraction of the proposed extension area of Stowe Hill Quarry will provide 
approximately 2.5m tonnes of limestone extracted in two phases over a 5 year 
period. This stone will contribute towards reducing the current crushed rock 
landbank shortfall for Gloucestershire and the requirement of the Forest of 
Dean to provide 10.426 million tonnes of crushed rock in accordance with the 
LAAs through to the end of 2032. 

7.339 The extension, if permitted, would enable the quarry to continue operating as 
the current consent area for Stowe Hill Quarry is all but exhausted and without 
permission to extract stone from the extension area quarrying will cease at 
Stowe Hill Quarry. 

7.340 The proposed restoration for Stowe Hill Quarry and the extension area will 
provide for an improved epikarst based restoration including a combination of 
agriculture, grassland, woodland, hedgerows and wetland features. 

Page 168



7.341 The proposed improved epikarst recreation restoration requires limestone 
shale and dust which the applicant is proposing to extract from the extension 
area as the shale should have the same geochemistry as the limestone that 
has been previously extracted creating a similar epikarst environment for the 
water to travel through. It would be difficult for the applicant to obtain the 
required shale with a similar geochemistry from elsewhere.

7.342 To further improve the epikarst recreation the applicant is proposing to 
increase the depth of the epikarst layers from 0.32m (previously approved in 
the current consent) to 0.8m as they will have a greater supply of shale from 
the extension area if permitted.

7.343 The proposed extraction of stone from the extension area and the monitoring 
of the potential impacts of both the existing and proposed restoration of Stowe 
Hill Quarry on the Slade Brook SSSI, has been a concern of the EA and NE. 
Therefore this has been an important matter which has required careful and 
protracted ongoing negotiations between the MPA with the applicant, the EA 
and NE. However the EA and NE have now come to the opinion that, with 
their recommended conditions included within any approval (including limiting 
the extraction level to 176 AOD until monitoring results are acceptable in 
accordance with approved schemes) and the safeguards that an agreed 
Section 106 Agreement provides, they are satisfied for the proposal to be 
recommended for approval. 

7.344 The application received one statutory objection from FODDC and a total of 
271 objections from near neighbours and members of the public, Newland 
Parish Council and St. Briavels Parish Councils. All the objections have been 
considered and addressed in this report and dealt with as appropriate by 
recommended planning conditions and/or the proposed S106 planning 
obligations.  

7.345 The proposed extension area is located wholly within Allocation 01 of the 
adopted MLP. The proposed extraction area is an extension of an established 
limestone quarry with all the infrastructure required in place in Clearwell 
Quarry. The whole operation will be fully restored within 8 years of 
commencement of development including the removal of the plant in Clearwell 
Quarry and its full restoration.

7.346 The proposal provides an improved restoration scheme for both Clearwell and 
Stowe Hill quarries which are both required to monitor ongoing restoration 
works and improve the biodiversity and landscape character of the area. 

7.347 It is considered that, with the proposed planning conditions in place protecting 
the amenity of the surrounding area including the Slade Brook SSSI, the 
proposal gives no rise to any adverse impacts in terms of visual impact, water 
environment and public amenity or have a detrimental effect on the site’s 
surrounding environment and is in accordance with the Development Plan as 
outlined within this report. In addition, prior to the issuing of consent, a S106 

Page 169



agreement is required in order to ensure the monitoring and safeguarding of 
the Slade Brook SSSI.

Positive and Proactive Statement
7.348 In determining this planning application, the MPA has worked with the 

applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions to 
any potential problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning 
application by liaising with consultees and the agent, and by discussing 
outcomes, findings and comments with the applicant where considered 
appropriate or necessary.  This approach has been taken positively and 
proactively in accordance with the requirement in the NPPF, as set out in the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) (Amendment No.2) Order 2012.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

8.1 It is recommended that planning permission is granted for the reasons set out 
within this report and summarised at paragraphs 7.333 to 7.347, subject to the 
prior completion of a S106 planning agreement to secure the long term 
monitoring and safeguarding of Slade Brook SSSI and subject to the following 
conditions

Commencement
1. The development hereby authorised shall begin no later than the expiration of 

3 years from the date of this permission.  Written notification of the date of 
commencement of development shall be sent to the Mineral Planning 
Authority within 7 days of such commencement. 

Reason:  To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

2. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction in Phase 1 of the development, 
as shown in approved plan 251L-01-06 dated Oct 2017, written approval must 
be obtained from the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of nature conservation and water resources and in 
accordance with Policy CSP.2 of the Forest of Dean Core Strategy 
Adopted Version February 2012 and Policies DM05 DM06 and MA01 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018- 2032.

Time Limit
3. The development hereby permitted shall cease mineral extraction and Stowe 

Hill Quarry fully restored in accordance with the approved restoration scheme 
within 6 years from the date of commencement as notified in Condition 1.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 72(5) of and Paragraph 1 
of Part 1 of Schedule 5 to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
to ensure the effective progressive restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry and in 
accordance with Policies MR01, DM06 and DM09 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Page 170

https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf


 
4. Clearwell Quarry shall be fully restored in accordance with the approved 

restoration scheme within 8 years from the date of this permission as notified 
in Condition 1 or within 12 months of the cessation of quarrying in Stowe Hill 
Quarry extension area, as shown on approved plan 251-01-07 dated Oct 2017 
(‘the Extension Area’), whichever is the earlier.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 72(5) of and paragraph 1 
of Part 1 of Schedule 5 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
to ensure the effective progressive restoration of  Clearwell Quarry and in 
accordance with Policies MR01, DM06 and DM09 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032. 

5. Scope of Development 
Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority or 
varied by other condition(s) attached to this permission, the development 
hereby permitted, shall be carried out within the site edged red on the 
‘Application Site Plan 251L-01-02’ dated Oct 2017(‘the Site’) and in 
accordance with its accompanying documentation as follows: 

 Planning Statement dated November 2017;
 Location Plan 251L-01-01 dated Oct 2017;
 Environmental Statement, Non-Technical Summary v3 dated 

19/12/2018;
 Environmental Statement, Additional Environmental Information Report 

dated December 2018;
 Topographical Site Survey Plan ‘251L-01-05’ dated October 2017;
 Extraction Phase 1and  Phase 2 ‘251L-01-06 and 251L-01-07 dated 

October 2017;
 Proposed Longley Farm Access Route ‘251L-01-08’ dated October 

2017;
 Proposed Plant Amendment, proposed Plant (Sections) 251L-01-10 

and 251L-01-09;
 Proposed Restoration Scheme at the End of Phase 1;
 Final Restoration Scheme (proposed) 251L-01-12 dated October 2017;
 Appendix 1 Site Investigation & Geological Report;
 Restoration Phase 1,  Phase 2 and Phase 3, Stowe Hill Revised 

Restoration;
 Restoration sections for Stowe Hill Quarry and extension area

‘251L -01-13’ dated October 2017;
 Scheme and Proposed Noise Attenuation Bund & Section ’17-01-02’;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 1: Introduction dated November 

2017;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 2:Alternatives dated November 

2017;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 3:Cumulative Impacts dated 

November 2017;

Page 171



 Environmental Statement Chapter 4:Land Use and Agriculture dated 
October 2017, Longley Farm Survey Observations, Longley Farm 
Generalised Soil Types, Longley Farm Agricultural Quality;

 Environmental Statement Chapter 5: Cultural Heritage dated November 
2017, Desk Based Assessment, Geophysical Survey Report, 
Geophysical Survey Plans 1, Environmental Statement Geophysical 
Survey Plans 2, Archaeological Evaluation; 

 Environmental Statement Chapter 6: Community & Social Effects dated 
November 2017;

 Environmental Statement Chapter 7: Air Quality dated November 2017;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 8: Ecology dated August 2017,  

Appendix 8A to 8C Survey Maps;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 9: Traffic & Highways, Appendix 

9ATraffic Survey Results dated September 2017;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 10:Site Setting, Hydrology, Regional 

Geology, Land use, Soils, Local Geology,  Limestone Interface, 
Hydrogeological Cross Section, Karst Features Large, Karst Features 
Small, Environmental Setting, Groundwater and Surface Monitoring 
Plan, Groundwater Contours All Boreholes, Groundwater Contours 
Removed Boreholes, Groundwater Contours Seasonal High, Soil CO2 
Survey Results, Environment. Agency Flood Map, Environment. 
Agency Risk of Surface Water Flood,  Hydrology May 2018, Appendix 
10A Technical Report May 2018, Appendix 10B Monitoring Summary 
May 2018, Appendix 10C Hydrographs, Appendix 10E RA Tables, 
Appendix 10F Monitoring Strategy, Env. Agency Flood Map for 
Planning, EA Risk of Surface Water Flooding, Drainage Routes to 
Sinkhole, Restoration Cross Section;

 Environmental Statement Chapter 10:Appendix 10D Geochemical 
Assess dated May 2017;

 Environmental Statement Chapter 10 Hydrology dated May 2018;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 11: Noise and Vibration dated 

November 2017;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 11:Appendices 11A to 11D dated 

November 2017;
 Environmental Statement: Additional Environmental Info Report May 

2018;
 DRAFT Habitats Regulations Assessment December 2017;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 12: Landscape dated November 

2017;
 Environmental Statement Chapter 12: Landscape part 1 -7 dated 

February 2018;

and specifications with any scheme, working programme or other details 
submitted for the prior written approval of and subsequently approved by the 
Mineral Planning Authority in pursuance of any condition attached to this 
permission.

Reason: To ensure that the permission is implemented in all respects in 
accordance with the submitted details and in accordance with Policies 

Page 172



DM01 to DM09, MW1, MA01 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018-2032.

Permitted Development 
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 no buildings or external floodlighting or 
other illumination or fixed or mobile plant shall be erected on any part of the 
Site without the prior written approval of the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: There is a need to secure control over additional plant and 
machinery in the interests of the amenity of the area and in accordance with 
Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018- 2032.

Archaeology
7. No development shall take place within the Site until a programme of 

archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority. The programme of archaeological works shall be implemented in full 
as approved.

Reason: It is important to agree a programme of archaeological work in 
advance of the commencement of development, so as to make provision for 
the investigation and recording of any archaeological remains that may be 
destroyed by ground works required for the development. The archaeological 
programme will advance understanding of any heritage assets which will be 
lost, in accordance with Paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework – February 2019 and Policy DM08 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018- 2032.

Extraction
8. The extraction of mineral from the Extension Area hereby permitted shall be 

carried out in 2 phases as detailed in plans 251-01-06 and 251L-01-07 dated 
Oct 2017 and the planning statement dated November 2017 (‘Phase 1’ and 
‘Phase 2’).

Reason: In the interests of nature conservation and water resources and in 
accordance with Policy CSP.2 of the Forest of Dean Core Strategy 
Adopted Version February 2012 and Policies DM05 DM06 and MA01 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018- 2032.

Extraction Depth
9.        No mineral extraction hereby permitted shall take place below 176m AOD in the 

Extension Area until the results of the monitoring in accordance with the 
approved Epikarst construction monitoring scheme required in accordance with 
Condition 73 of this permission have been met to the satisfaction of the Mineral 
Planning Authority. 

Page 173

https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf


Reason: In the interests of nature conservation and water resources and in 
accordance with Policy CSP.2 of the Forest of Dean Core Strategy 
Adopted Version February 2012 and Policies DM05, MA01 and DM06 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018- 2032.

Clearwell and Stowe Hill Quarry Plant
10.  Prior to commencement of mineral extraction in the Extension Area hereby 

permitted, details and plans of the improvements to the plant in both Clearwell 
Quarry and Stowe Hill Quarry shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for written prior approval. The details shall include the plant to be 
improved/replaced and timescales for implementation in accordance with the 
following:

 The cladding to be used on the Primary crusher;
 The erection of Scalpings Screen in Stowe Hill Quarry and cladding of 

Primary Crusher will be completed within 6 months of grant of this 
permission;

 Re-sheeting of door accesses to Scalping Plant building in Clearwell 
Quarry shall be completed within 3 months of the commencement of 
development as notified in condition 1 of this this permission;

 Installation of automatic shutting doors to scalping plant building in 
Clearwell Quarry shall be completed within 3 months of 
commencement of development as notified in condition 1 of this 
permission;

 Improvements to  dust suppression on Stockpile Conveyor in Clearwell 
Quarry shall be completed within 3 months of commencement of 
development as notified in condition 1 of this this permission;

 Encapsulation of transfer point on Secondary Plant in Clearwell Quarry 
shall be completed within 3 months of commencement of development 
as notified in condition 1 of this this permission; and

 Improvements to dust suppression on load out for Heavy Good 
Vehicles (‘HGVs’) in Clearwell Quarry shall be completed within 3 
months of commencement of development as notified in condition 1 of 
this this permission.

The above details shall be implemented in full as approved in accordance with 
the approved timescales.

Reason: To ensure appropriate measures for the control of dust and noise are 
implemented in the interests of good site management and the protection of 
amenities of surrounding occupiers in accordance with Policy DM01 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018- 2032. 

11. A weighbridge shall be used and maintained on the Site for the duration of the 
development.

Reason: In order that the Mineral Planning Authority can monitor the site in 
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance in accordance with 
Policies DM01 and MW01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 

Page 174

https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/2487/cs-adopted-version-february-2012.pdf


2018- 2032.

12.     No maintenance of plant and machinery shall be carried out except between 
the hours of 07:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday (inclusive) and the hours of 
08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and no such working shall take place on 
Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays.

Reason: To protect the amenity of the local environment and in accordance 
with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018- 2032. 

Throughput

 Limit of Production
13.   The development hereby permitted is subject to an annual production limit of 

not more than 600,000 tonnes of mineral per annum from the Site over a 5 
year period.

Reason: To define the scope of the application and in the interests of 
highway and aggregate supply in accordance with Policies DM01 and 
DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Record Keeping 
14.      From the date of this permission a record shall be kept by the operator of the 

Site, showing the annual amount of mineral extracted from the Site and that 
record shall be made available for inspection to the Mineral Planning Authority 
within 2 weeks of such a request.  All such records shall be kept for at least 12 
months from the date they were recorded.

Reason: In order that the Mineral Planning Authority can monitor the site in 
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy DM01 and 
DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan.

15. From the date of this permission the operators of the Site shall maintain 
records of all site monthly sales and shall make them available to the 
Mineral Planning Authority within 1 week of such a request. All such 
records shall be kept for at least 12 months from the date they were 
recorded.

Reason: In order that the Mineral Planning Authority can monitor the site in 
the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Policy DM01 and 
DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan.

Operating Hours
16.  Any operations authorised by this permission shall only be carried out on the 

Site between the following hours:

07:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays 
08:00 to 13:00 Saturdays

There shall be no working on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.

Page 175



Reason: There is a need to safeguard the amenities of the area and in 
accordance with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 
2018 – 2032.

Highways 
17. The sole means of vehicular access to and from the Site for HGVs shall be 

from the existing access at Clearwell Quarry other than with the prior written 
agreement of the Mineral Planning Authority for the purposes of installing or 
removing quarry plant and equipment.

Reason: To define the scope of the application and in the interests of traffic 
safety in accordance with Policies DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

18.      No loaded lorries shall leave the site unsheeted except those only carrying 
stone in excess of 500mm.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032. 

19. Prior to commencement of development a wheel wash scheme shall be 
submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for written approval and 
implemented in full as approved.  The approved wheel wash scheme shall be 
operated and maintained for the duration of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

20. No commercial vehicles shall enter the public highway from the Site unless 
their wheels and chassis have been cleaned to prevent materials being 
deposited on the public highway. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

21. No mud, debris or materials shall be deposited on the highway from 
commercial vehicles entering or leaving the Site. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

22. All reasonable steps shall be taken to minimise noise from vehicles and 
machinery and, in particular silencers shall be fitted to and used by all 
vehicles, plant and machinery used in operations on the Site.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Page 176



23. All HGVs, plant and machinery shall be fitted with white noise reversing 
warning devices.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

24. Within six months of the date of this permission a schedule of advisory          
signs, advising drivers of vehicular routes shall be submitted for the written 
approval of the Mineral Planning Authority.  The schedule shall be 
implemented in full within two months of its approval and maintained for the 
duration of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

25. Prior to the commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted, a scheme 
detailing transport measures designed to minimise the impact upon air quality 
in the designated Lydney Air Quality Management Area shall be submitted to 
the Mineral Planning Authority for approval. The scheme shall be implemented 
within 3 months of its approval in full and maintained for the duration of this 
permission.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Farm Access track

Visibility
26. The vehicular access hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 

existing roadside frontage boundaries have been set back to provide visibility 
splays extending from a point 2.4m back along the centre of the access 
measured from the public road carriageway edge (the X point) to a point on 
the nearer carriageway edge of the public road 127m right and 134m left (the 
Y points). The area between those splays and the carriageway shall be 
reduced in level and thereafter maintained so as to provide clear visibility 
between 1.05m and 2.0m at the X point and between 0.26m and 2.0m at the Y 
point above the adjacent carriageway level.

Reason: - To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate 
visibility is provided and maintained and to ensure that a safe, suitable and 
secure means of access for all people that minimises the conflict between 
traffic and cyclists and pedestrians is provided in accordance with the NPPF in 
accordance with Policy DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 
2018 – 2032.

Farm Access Construction
27. Prior to commencement of extraction of minerals hereby permitted, the 

vehicular access hereby permitted shall be laid out and constructed in 
accordance with the submitted plan ref. 251L-01-08 and thereafter maintained 
for the duration of this permission.

Page 177



Reason: - To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that there is a 
safe, suitable and secure means of access for all people that minimises the 
conflict between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with the 
NPPF and in accordance with Policy DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Junction Completion
28. No works shall commence on Site (other than those required by this condition) 

for  the development hereby permitted until the first 20m of the proposed farm 
access road hereby permitted, including the junction with the existing public 
road and associated visibility splays, has been completed to at least binder 
course level.

Reason: To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the 
development by ensuring that there is a safe, suitable and secure means of 
access for all people that minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists 
and pedestrians in accordance with the NPPF and in accordance with Policy 
DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

29. Prior to commencement of development a detailed methodology and 
timescale for the translocation of the hedgerow at the new access onto the 
B4228 (Plan 251L-01-08) shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority 
for approval in writing and implemented in full as approved. Translocation 
should only be undertaken when the hedgerow is dormant. Thereafter any 
sections of hedgerow which fail to thrive or die for a period of 5 years should 
be cut back to ground level and new hedgerow planting with appropriate 
protection undertaken. The detail of this and maintenance and management of 
the hedgerow should be set out as part of the approved methodology.

Reason: to ensure the existing landscape and visual character of the B4228 is 
maintained in accordance with Policies DM03 and DM09 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Environmental Protection
30. No materials shall be burnt on the Site at any time. 

Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area and in accordance with Policy 
DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Air quality /dust
31. Prior to commencement of development, a dust management plan (DMP) for 

the said Extension Area, Clearwell Quarry and Stowe Hill Quarry shall be 
submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for approval in writing and 
implemented thereafter as approved in full and maintained thereafter for the 
duration of this permission. The DMP should include the following:
 dust monitoring (daily on-site and off-site inspections as a minimum, with 

frequency adjusted according to dust risk, e.g. higher frequency in dry and 
windy conditions, with records available for inspection by the Mineral 
Planning Authority);

Page 178



 maintenance of a daily log on weather conditions and incidents;
 appropriate measures for management of operational processes 

(materials handling and processing) to minimise dust emissions;
 provision of measures for the management of track out (for example, but 

not limited to, sheeting of vehicles before leaving site and effective use of 
wheel wash facilities);

 regular audit of effectiveness of the DMP and revision as appropriate; 
 all works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved dust 

management plan and implemented in full through the life of the 
consented operations;

 locations of dust, wind speed and wind direction monitoring equipment;
 measures to dampen down the haul roads and stockpiles when dusty; and
 installation of sprinklers.

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the area and local residents and in
accordance with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 
2018 – 2032.

Noise
32. Prior to the commencement of development a noise and vibration mitigation 

scheme shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for written 
approval specifying the provisions to be made for the control of noise and 
vibration from fixed and mobile plant or machinery. The scheme shall be 
implemented in full as approved for the duration of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of local residential amenity and Policy DM01 and 
DM03 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

33. Prior to the construction of the noise attenuation bund and fence as detailed in 
approved Plans No: 17-01-01 and 17-01-02, a scheme of planting using 
native tree, shrub, grass and herbaceous species and details of how the bund 
and fence will be maintained shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for approval in writing. The approved scheme shall be implemented 
in full as approved for the duration of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure satisfactory 
restoration and management of the landscape and biodiversity features in 
accordance with Policies DM06 and DM09  of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

34. Prior to commencement of the construction of the bund as detailed in 
approved drawing 17-01-01 an arboricultural report shall be produced 
assessing whether any trees may be affected thereby and if so the measures 
that will be put in place to address the issue and the timescales for doing so. 
The report shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for written 
approval and implemented in full as approved.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure satisfactory 
management of the landscape and biodiversity features in accordance with 

Page 179



Policies DM06 and  DM09  of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 
2018 – 2032.

35. Prior to commencement of extraction of minerals in the Extension Area hereby 
permitted the noise attenuation bund and fence shall be constructed as 
detailed in approved Plans No: 17-01-01 and 17-01-02 and maintained for the 
duration of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of local residential amenity and Policy DM01 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

36. Between the hours of 07:00 to 18:00 on Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 to 
13:00 on Saturdays, the noise levels arising from the development shall not 
exceed 55dB(A)1hr Leq, freefield at the properties’ boundaries at Stowe and 
52dB(A)1hr Leq freefield at the properties’ boundaries at Stowe Green.

Reason: In the interests of local residential amenity and Policy DM01 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

37.     Prior to commencement of development, a scheme for the monitoring of 
noise levels arising from the Site shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Mineral Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for:
 Measurements to be taken by a competent person of Leaq 5 minute 

noise levels over 1 hour period at the boundaries of the Travellers Inn, 
Crown Cottages and Brick Cottage. 

 Measurements to be taken at six monthly intervals or such other 
frequency as may be agreed in writing with the Mineral Planning 
Authority;

 Details of equipment proposed to be used for monitoring;
 That monitoring is carried out during typical working hours with the 

main items of plant and machinery in operation including the primary 
crusher;

 The logging of all weather conditions, approximate wind speed and 
direction and both on site and off site events occurring during 
measurements including 'phased out' extraneous noise events;

 Monitoring results to be made available to the Mineral Planning 
Authority upon request within 7 days. 

The scheme shall be implemented as approved in full and maintained for the 
duration of this permission.

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032. 

38.     Noise levels from temporary operations involving the removal and 
placement of soils and creation of screening bunds hereby approved shall not 
exceed 70 dB (A)... LAeq, lh at any noise sensitive residential property during 
the permitted working hours specified in Condition 10 and shall not exceed 
the levels specified in this condition for more than 8 weeks in any 12 

Page 180



month period at any noise sensitive residential property.

Reason: In the interests of local residential amenity and Policy DM01 of the 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Blasting
39. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted a scheme for 

the implementation of blasting at Stowe Hill Quarry for the purposes of 
mineral extraction shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for 
written approval and implemented in full as approved for the duration of this 
permission. The scheme shall include:

a) The methods to be employed to minimise the effects of air overpressure 
arising from blasting, having regard to blast design, methods of initiation 
and the weather conditions prevailing at the time;

b) Agreed limits on air overpressure levels at specified properties;
c) Monitoring arrangements of the agreed limits, including frequency, 

reporting and remedial proposals if levels are exceeded;
d) Details of the procedures for blasting; 
e) Maximum Instantaneous Charge and relevant percentile charge;
f)    Number of holes and total charge; and
g) Detonation technique and procedures. 

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

40. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted a scheme for 
the monitoring of blasting including the location of monitoring points and 
equipment to be used shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for 
written approval and implemented in full as approved for the duration of this 
permission. 

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

41. Each blasting operation carried out at the Extension Area shall be monitored in 
accordance with the monitoring scheme approved under Condition 40.  Upon 
request the updated results and regression curves of Peak Particle 
Velocity against Scale distance shall be supplied to the Mineral Planning 
Authority. The regression curves supplied shall be the Mean curve and 
the 95 percentile limit curves.

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

42. No blast shall be designed such that the Maximum Instantaneous Charge
exceeds the relevant 95 percentile limit corresponding with 6mm/sec Peak

Page 181



Particle Velocity, as measured at the nearest residential and other vibration
sensitive property and Best Practicable means shall be employed to minimise 
air overpressure from all blasting operations. Evidence that every blast has 
been designed to comply with the above limit, shall be supplied to the Mineral 
Planning Authority in writing upon request.

Reason: In the interests of amenity, and to minimise any disturbance or
nuisance that may be caused by noise, dust or vibration to local residents and
users of the area, and to accord with British in accordance with Policy DM01 
of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

43. No blasting shall take place within 100 metres of any residential property.

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

44. Blasting shall only be carried out between the hours of 10:00 to 12:30 and 14:00 
to 16:00pm Mondays to Fridays inclusive. Blasting times shall be clearly 
advertised at the Clearwell Quarry entrance at least 1 hour before each blast. An 
audible warning shall be sounded at least 30 minutes before each programme of 
blasting to alert personnel, local residents and visitors to the area.

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

45. A record of each blast at the Site shall be maintained showing the Maximum 
Instantaneous Charge, the number of holes and total charge and detonation 
technique, together with details of the location of the blast. The record shall 
also show the minimum distance to the nearest noise vibration sensitive 
residential property.  

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

46. The blasting records shall be made available to the Mineral Planning 
Authority in writing within 5 days of such a request detailing the blasting 
operations. 

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

47. Ground vibration as a result of blasting operations shall not exceed a peak 
particle velocity of 6 rnms-1 in 95% of all blasts measured over any period of 
6 months and no individual blast shall exceed a peak particle velocity of 
12 mms-1 as measured at vibration sensitive buildings. The measurement 
to be the maximum of 3 mutually perpendicular directions taken at the 

Page 182



ground surface at any vibration sensitive building.

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

48. No secondary blasting shall take place on the Site. Any work necessary for 
the breaking of stone shall be by the drop-ball method or by hydraulic 
hammer. 

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

49.     Drilling of shot holes on the site shall only take place between 08:00
and 17:00 Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 and 13:00 on Saturdays 
inclusive.

Reason: to ensure the minimum disturbance from operations to the local 
community and to accord with Policy DM01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Soils & Soil Storage
50. Prior to commencement of the mineral extraction hereby permitted details of 

the location of where topsoil, subsoil, overburden and waste rock extracted 
from the Extension Area shall be stored within Stowe Hill Quarry prior to its 
use in accordance with the approved restoration scheme and landscaping 
scheme shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for written 
approval and implemented as approved for the duration of this permission. 

Reason: To ensure that suitable material is available for the restoration 
and in accordance with Policies DM07 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

51. No topsoil, subsoil, overburden or waste rock shall be removed from the 
Stowe Hill Quarry or the Extension Area as shown in plan 251L-01-02 dated 
Oct 2017.

Reason: To ensure that suitable material is available for the restoration 
and in accordance with Policies DM07 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

52. Soil, stripping, stockpiling and reinstatement within the Site shall only be 
carried out when the said material is in a dry and friable condition.

Reason: To ensure that suitable material is available for the restoration 
and in accordance with Policies DM01 and MR01 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Ecology

Page 183



53. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted a Biodiversity 
Mitigation and Enhancement Scheme for the Extension Area and Stowe Hill 
Quarry shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for written 
approval and subsequently prior to each extraction phase commencing. The 
said scheme shall be based on Section 8.6 of Chapter 8 of the Environmental 
Statement. The scheme should include details of measures for necessary 
precautionary pre-works survey, biodiversity mitigation, enhancement, 
aftercare, monitoring and contingency measures. The scheme shall be 
compiled by a suitably qualified ecologist and include appropriate measures 
for:
(a) hedgerows
(b) bats
(c) badgers
(d) nesting birds
(e) any other protected species that is reasonably likely to be present
(f) organisation or personnel responsible for implementation and supervision 
of the scheme.

The scheme shall be implemented in full as approved by the Mineral Planning 
Authority for the duration of this permission. Any modifications to the approved 
scheme, such as results of requirements of a protected species license, must 
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority and 
implemented as approved.

Reason: To ensure that important biodiversity is conserved in accordance with 
NPPF paragraphs 109 and 118 and in accordance with Policy DM06 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

54. Prior to the commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted, an 
Arboricultural Method Statement shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for written approval based on the Tree Protection Plan incorporating 
the Arboricultural Impact Assessment of the Environmental Statement at 
Appendix 12C dated September 2014 and Section 6 of the LVIA Appendix A 
and should include regular inspections as recommended in Section 6.10 of the 
LVIA. The Statement and Plan shall be implemented in full and in accordance 
with the approved details. All protective structures installed shall be 
maintained until all construction or excavation work has ceased. No materials, 
soils, or equipment shall be stored under the canopy of any retained tree 
within the application site.

Reason: To prevent loss of amenity and biodiversity value of trees and shrubs 
to be retained in accordance with the NPPF and in accordance with Policy 
DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

55. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted, details of 
boundary stand-offs of at least 5 metres either side for all retained woodland 
and hedgerows and a scheme of maintenance to protect them from 
disturbance or compaction, including from vehicle movements or storage of 
materials or heavy plant shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority 
for approval. There shall be no activity including activities ancillary to the 

Page 184



development within 5 metres of any of these identified boundary features. The 
said scheme of maintenance shall be implemented in full and in accordance 
with the approved details.

Reason: To protect the landscape and biodiversity importance of boundary 
features and in accordance with Mineral Local Plan Policy DM0 plus NPPF 
Paragraphs 109 and 118 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 
2032.

Restoration, Landscape and Aftercare
56. Within six months from the date of the commencement of mineral extraction 

hereby permitted, a detailed restoration, landscape and aftercare 
management scheme for each phase of extraction and a final restoration 
scheme for Stowe Hill Quarry shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for written approval. The detailed schemes shall be based on 
approved drawings 251L-01-12 Revision A, drawing 251L-01-13 and the 
content of Section 8.6 of Chapter 8 of the Environmental Statement and shall 
provide the following:

 A summary of all restoration and aftercare processes planned, in progress 
or completed across the whole Site;

 Ecological trends and identified or new constraints on Site that might 
influence management;

 The purpose, aims and objectives for the restoration and aftercare and
             management of the phase;

 Detail of species, sizes, spacing and areas of tree and shrub planting;
 Details of seed mixes and areas of seeding to be used;
 Restoration levels;
 Selection of appropriate measures (including establishment, enhancement 

and after-care) for achieving the aims and objectives of management for 
maintaining or introducing target habitats and landscape features including 
agricultural land, hedgerows, woodland, grassland, ponds and seasonal 
wetland and any exposed rock or scree faces;

 Description of any opportunities to retain or re-expose earth heritage 
features;

 Details for ground forming, soil, substrate, mineral, rock preparation and 
habitat and species establishment;

 timetable for the landscaping of the new Longley Farm access on to the 
B4228;

 Sources of soil forming materials, plant stock and other species 
introductions;

 Provisions for any public access or interpretation;
 Extent and location of proposed works shown on appropriate scale plans;
 Prescriptions and programme for initial aftercare of 5 years and long term 

management of a further 5 or more years;
 The organisation, body or personnel responsible for the work;
 Timing of the restoration operations in relation to phased working of the

            Site overall;
 Proposals for monitoring the success of all restoration works; and 

Page 185



 Disposal of wastes arising from the restoration.

Submitted details shall also include the mechanisms by which the long-term 
implementation of the scheme will be secured including with those 
organisations or persons responsible for its delivery. The said scheme shall be 
implemented in full as approved by the Mineral Planning Authority for the 
duration of this permission and the approved Aftercare Scheme.

Reason: To conserve, restore and enhance the environmental value and 
amenity of the land and in accordance with Policies DM06, DM09 and MR01 of 
the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

57.      No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs or soil stripping works of ground 
shall take place between 1st March and 31st August inclusive, unless a 
competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, detailed check of the vicinity of 
the vegetation or ground concerned for active birds’ nests. No such woody 
vegetation should be cleared or soils stripped unless the ecologist has given 
confirmation in writing that no birds will be harmed or that there are 
appropriate measures in place to protect any identified nesting birds on the 
Site. Any such measures should also be copied in writing to the Mineral 
Planning Authority for information and then implemented.

Reason: To ensure that wild birds building or using their nests are protected 
as required and in accordance with Policy DM06 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Landscape
58. Prior to commencement of development a landscape scheme for the 

Extension Area and Stowe Hill Quarry based on Chapter 12 of the 
Environmental Statement  and the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment 
(LVIA) dated November 2017 shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for written approval and implemented as approved for the duration of 
this permission.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory restoration and management of the landscape 
and biodiversity features in accordance with Minerals Local Plan Policies 
DM01, DM06, DM09 and MR01.

Perimeter Screening Bunds
59. Prior to commencement of development, details including cross sections of 

the screening bunds as shown on approved Plan No: 251L-01-06 shall be 
submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for written approval and 
constructed as approved prior to commencement of mineral extraction in the 
Extension Area hereby permitted. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory management of the landscape and 
biodiversity features in accordance with Mineral Local Plan Policies DM01, 
DM06 and DM09.

Page 186



60. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted a planting and 
maintenance scheme for the screen bunds shown as detailed on Phase 1 
drawings (Plan No: 251L-01-06) shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for written approval and implemented in full as approved for the 
duration of the permission to ensure establishment of the grassland and 
integrity of the screening.

Reason: to ensure appropriate screening to adjoining residential properties 
and potential receptors on PROW in accordance with Policy DM09 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

61. The approved perimeter screening bunds shown in drawings 251L-01-06 shall 
be located at least 150 metres away from the boundary of Shop House Farm. 

Reason: to ensure appropriate screening to adjoining residential properties 
and potential receptors on PROW in accordance with Policy DM09 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

62. Prior to the said perimeter screening bunds being removed in accordance with 
the approved restoration scheme for the extension area, a scheme requiring 
the bunds to be surveyed for protected species occupation (e.g. reptiles, 
nesting birds and badgers) shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for written approval and implemented as approved. 

Reason: To protect the landscape and biodiversity of the area in accordance 
with Policy DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Hydrology

Water Monitoring
63. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby permitted a Scheme of 

Water Monitoring (‘Scheme of Water Monitoring’) for Stowe Hill Quarry and 
the Extension Area as shown in approved plan 251L-01-07 shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The Scheme of 
Water Monitoring will include, but not be restricted to:

 frequency and location of monitoring boreholes;
 method and nature of sampling;
 methods on how any deterioration of groundwater level and surface 

water flows and quality will be evaluated;
 risks to be mitigated; and
 monitoring failures of any remediation works carried out.

The Scheme of Water Monitoring shall be implemented in full as approved 
and maintained for the duration of the development. 

Reason: To ensure a water monitoring scheme is maintained in accordance 
with Policy DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Page 187



64. If monitoring results from the approved Scheme of Water Monitoring provides 
evidence of any of deterioration to groundwater and surface water flows and 
quality, extraction of mineral on Site shall forthwith cease and shall not 
recommence until the said monitoring results are to the satisfaction of the 
Mineral Planning Authority.

Reason: To maintain the water levels and geochemical make entering the 
Slade Brook SSSI in accordance Policy DM05 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

65. Prior to commencement of extraction, a Pollution, Prevention and Control 
Scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority. The said scheme will cover the following:

o Karst Conduit Protection;
o Definition of a significant conduit;
o Actions to be taken on intersecting a significant conduit;
o Protection measures to be taken to minimise / prevent contaminated 

water entering the conduit;
o Measures to be taken to maintain the quick flow functioning of the 

karst system represented by conduit flow;
o Details of potential contaminants used and stored on site; 
o Details of spill response protocols; and 
o Details of surface water run-off control and mitigation.

Once approved, the scheme shall be implemented in full and maintained for 
the duration of the development.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance Policy 
DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Water Protection/drainage
66. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby approved a scheme for 

the Site Water Management Plan for Stowe Hill Quarry and the Extension 
Area shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning 
Authority and implemented in full as approved.  The scheme will cover the 
following:

 Details on how the surface water shall first be passed through a 
collection and settlement system of appropriate design and capacity to 
settle suspended solids from the drainage water prior to discharge; 

 A scheme is submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority detailing the 
design the proposed drainage scheme for surface water and how it will 
be engineered to run off in a north to south direction towards the 
proposed temporary sump areas prior to being pumped into the still 
water lagoon from the proposed extension area;

 Analysis of the naturally occurring Karst drainage;
 The design of the temporary sump areas;
 Details of the still water lagoon;

Page 188



 A scheme detailing a comprehensive drainage and lagoon system to be 
installed/used to intercept and treat any contaminated surface water 
run-off from extension area;

 Details of how the existing sink hole in Stowe Hill Quarry is intended to 
be used as part of the drainage system for the proposed extension area 
and how it will be protected;

 Details of how the drainage for the extraction area will be ameliorated 
with the phased restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry; and 

 Surface water run-off limitation.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance Policy 
DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

67. Prior to the commencement of mineral extraction hereby approved within the 
Extension Area a plan detailing a comprehensive drainage and lagoon system 
to be installed to intercept and treat any contaminated surface water run-off 
from this area shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral 
Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be implemented in full and 
maintained for the duration of the permission.

Reason: Prevention of pollution in accordance with Policy DM05 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

68. Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals comprised in the 
development shall be sited on impervious bases and surrounded by 
impervious bund walls.  The volume of the bunded compound should be at 
least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%.  If there is multiple 
tankage, the compound should be at least equivalent to the capacity of the 
largest tank, or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks, plus 10%.  All 
filling points, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund.  
The drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any 
watercourse, land or underground strata.  Associated pipework should be 
located above ground and protected from accidental damage.  All filling points 
and tank overflow pip outlets should be detailed to discharge downwards into 
the bund.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and accordance Policy 
DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

69. Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water sewer or 
soakaway system, all surface water drainage from parking areas and 
hardstandings on the Site shall be passed through an oil interceptor designed 
and constructed to have a capacity and details shall be compatible with the 
site being drained.  

Reason: to prevent pollution of the water environment accordance Policy 
DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Contamination/Pollution Control.

Page 189



70. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the Site then no further development shall be carried out until the 
developer has submitted to and obtained written approval from the Mineral 
Planning Authority for a mitigation and remediation strategy detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and thereafter the scheme shall 
be implemented as approved. 

Reason: To protect controlled waters in accordance with Policy DM05 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Epikarst Construction trials 
71. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby approved a scheme for 

Epikarst Construction Trials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Mineral Planning Authority. The trials will be undertaken according to the 
approved scheme and will extend over a period of at least 12 months. The 
scheme will include but not be limited to: 
 Details of the lysimeter trial methodology that will be undertaken in the 

quarry to evaluate different methods for construction of a functioning 
epikarst. The trials shall run for a minimum 12 month period and consist of 
a minimum of 10 lysimeters;

 The types and combinations of material, layering and thickness of 
materials to be used in each lysimeter;

 Methods for measuring carbon dioxide concentrations within the soil 
horizon of each lysimeter and the solute concentrations in water draining 
from the base of each lysimeter; 

 Target values for carbon dioxide concentrations in the soil horizon and for 
calcium and hydrogen carbonate concentrations in water draining form the 
lysimeters that have to be met for the trials to be judged successful and 
effective; 

 Reporting - Details of how the lysimeter trials will be implemented, 
including reporting and review of monitoring data to demonstrate to the 
Mineral Planning Authority that the target concentrations can be 
consistently achieved and that epikarst construction is a viable technique 
to avoid/mitigate risks to Slade Brook SSSI; and 

 No mineral extraction will commence until the 12 month monitoring is 
completed and the results have been provided for written approval by the 
Mineral Planning Authority.

If the reporting regime approved above demonstrates that the epikarst trials 
are not effective (i.e. the target concentrations for carbon dioxide and solute 
concentrations cannot be achieved) then mineral extraction works shall not 
commence until new trials are initiated and completed using different 
combinations and/or thicknesses of materials and is submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. No mineral extraction 
shall commence until the reported monitoring data from the epikarst trials have 
been approved by the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Reason: To secure epikarst construction trials that will inform and demonstrate 
that a functioning soil-epikarst system can be constructed across the restored 

Page 190



quarry areas. This will avoid/mitigate against the impacts of epikarst removal by 
stone extraction and protect the Slade Brook SSSI water chemistry and 
groundwater chemistry in accordance with Policy DM05 of the Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Restoration

Stowe Hill
72.      Not to commence the mineral extraction hereby approved until a scheme for 

the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Mineral Planning Authority. The scheme will include but not be 
limited to: 

 Details of land required for operational purposes to accommodate the 
field conveyor, drainage channel, haul roads and plant areas. The 
scheme shall accord with Plan No: 251L-01-16;

 Details of the phasing for the restoration of Stowe Hill quarry over a two 
year period to accommodate the field conveyor, drainage channel, haul 
roads and plant areas as detailed in Plan No: 251L-01-16; 

 Details of how an epikarst will be constructed on the floor of the quarry. 
Epikarst construction should take place after, and be informed by the 
results of, the epikarst construction trials.

 Details of how the constructed epikarst in the restored areas in Stowe 
Hill Quarry will be monitored, (into the longer term) so as to ensure that 
the soil carbon dioxide concentrations and the solute concentrations at 
the base of the constructed epikarst meet the targets specified from the 
lysimeter trials required by Condition 71;

 Delineation of restoration phases; 
 Ecological trends and identified or new constraints on Site that might 

influence management; 
 Selection of appropriate measures (including establishment, 

enhancement and after-care) for achieving the aims and objectives of 
management for maintaining or introducing target habitats and 
landscape features including agricultural land, hedgerows, woodland, 
grassland, ponds and seasonal wetland and any exposed rock or 
screen faces; 

 Description of any opportunities to retain or re-expose earth heritage 
features; 

 Details for ground forming, soil, substrate, mineral, rock preparation 
and habitat and species establishment; 

 Sources of soil forming materials, plant stock and other species 
introductions; and 

 A programme for an initial aftercare period of 5 years from completion 
of restoration and long term management for a further 5 or more years.

The submitted restoration scheme shall also include details of the 
mechanisms by which the long-term implementation of the scheme will be 

Page 191



secured including with those organisations or persons responsible for its 
delivery. The scheme shall be implemented in full as approved by the Mineral 
Planning Authority for the duration of this permission and approved Aftercare 
Scheme. 

Reason: To ensure that a soil-epikarst system is constructed in line with the 
epikarst construction trial results. This will avoid/mitigate against the impacts of 
epikarst removal by stone extraction and protect the Slade Brook SSSI water 
chemistry and groundwater chemistry. To ensure satisfactory restoration and 
management of the landscape and biodiversity features in accordance with 
Policies DM05 and DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 
2032.

Epikarst construction monitoring 
73. Prior to commencement of development, details of how the restored areas in 

Stowe Hill Quarry and the Extension Area will be monitored (into the longer 
term) so as to ensure that the soil carbon dioxide concentrations and the 
solute concentrations at the base of the constructed epikarst meet the targets 
specified from the lysimeter trials required by Condition 71. The monitoring 
scheme, including frequency of reporting to the Mineral Planning Authority, 
shall be implemented in full as approved for the duration of the development. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory monitoring, restoration and water 
management, and protect the Slade Brook SSSI water chemistry and 
groundwater chemistry in accordance with Policies DM05 and DM06 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032. 

74. If results from the approved monitoring scheme for the epikarst constructed on 
the floor of Stowe Hill Quarry (as required by Condition 73) provide evidence 
that the target soil gas and solute concentrations are not being achieved, or that 
there is evidence of deterioration to groundwater and surface water quality, 
extraction of mineral on site shall cease forthwith and not re-commence until a 
programme to investigate (so the problem is understood) and implement 
effective alternative options is put in place to remedy the same in accordance 
with Policy DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032. 

Reason: To ensure a water monitoring scheme is maintained in accordance 
with Policy DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.
This will avoid/mitigate against the impacts of epikarst removal by stone 
extraction and protect the Slade Brook SSSI water chemistry and groundwater 
chemistry in accordance with Policy DM05 of the Gloucestershire Minerals 
Local Plan 2018 – 2032. 

Extension Area 
75. Prior to commencement of mineral extraction hereby approved a scheme for 

the restoration of the Extension Area shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing and in advance by the Mineral Planning Authority. The scheme will 
include but not be limited to:

Page 192



 Details of how an epikarst will be constructed on the floor of the quarry. 
Epikarst construction should take place after, and be informed by the 
results of, the epikarst construction trials.

 Details of how the constructed epikarst in the restored areas will be 
monitored (into the longer term) so as to ensure that the soil carbon 
dioxide concentrations and the solute concentrations at the base of the 
constructed epikarst meet the targets specified from the lysimeter trials 
required by Condition 71. 

Reason: To secure epikarst construction trials that will inform and demonstrate 
that a functioning soil-epikarst system can be constructed across the restored 
quarry areas and to ensure that a soil-epikarst system is constructed in line with 
the trial results. This will avoid/mitigate against the impacts of epikarst removal 
by stone extraction and protect the Slade Brook SSSI water chemistry and 
groundwater chemistry in accordance with in accordance with Policy DM05 of 
the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032. 

76. Prior to commencement of development a scheme to review restoration works 
carried out in Stowe Hill Quarry to date and a scheme/phasing plan for the 
remainder of the restoration works to be completed shall be submitted to the 
Mineral Planning Authority for written approval and implemented in full as 
approved. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory restoration, water management, landscape 
development and biodiversity features in accordance with Policies DM05 and 
DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

77.      Prior to commencement of development, the restoration of Stowe Hill Quarry
to date shall be reviewed in accordance with the review scheme as approved 
in Condition 76 of this consent. The next restoration phase will only progress 
once the scheme’s criteria have been met.

 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory restoration, water management, landscape 
development and biodiversity features in accordance with Policies DM05 and 
DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

78. Prior to commencement of extraction in Phase 2 of the Extension Area as 
shown in approved Plan 251L-01-07 dated Oct 2017 Stowe Hill Quarry will be 
fully restored as detailed in approved Plan 251L-01-11 dated October 2017.

Reason: to ensure Stowe Hill Quarry is fully restored as approved in 
accordance with Policy MR01 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 
2018 – 2032.

79.      No waste materials shall be imported into Stowe Hill for the use of restoring  
Stowe Hill Quarry and the Extension Area as shown on approved Plan 251L-
01-02 dated Oct 2017.

Page 193



Reason: To ensure satisfactory restoration and management of the landscape 
and biodiversity features in accordance with Mineral Local Plan Policies 
DM01, DM06, DM09 and MR01.

Clearwell Restoration and Landscape
80. Within 3 months of commencement of development as notified in accordance 

Condition 1) a detailed Restoration and Landscaping and Aftercare Scheme 
for the phased restoration of Clearwell Quarry shall be submitted to the 
Mineral Planning Authority for written approval. The scheme should be in 
accordance with the approved Plans 251-01, 251-02 and 251-03 dated Oct 17 
and detail the following:

 species, sizes, spacing and areas of tree and shrub planting; 
 seed mixes and areas of seeding; and 
 restoration levels, soil depths and types.

Reason: To ensure the effective progressive restoration of Clearwell Quarry 
to meet the landscape and visual mitigation set out in the submitted 
Environmental Statement and in accordance with Policies MR01, DM06 and 
DM09 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

81.   Any trees, plants or areas of seeding which die or fail to establish for a period 
of 5 years after the full restoration of Clearwell Quarry and/or Stowe Hill Quarry 
shall be replaced in accordance with the approved restoration schemes.

Reason: to protect planting within Clearwell Quarry and Stowe Hill Quarry in 
accordance with Policy DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 
2018 – 2032.

Review and Liaison Arrangements
82. The Site operator shall organize Management and Monitoring Review Group 

meetings to consider the hydrological monitoring information and quarrying 
operations including restoration. The Management and Monitoring Review 
Group shall include representatives of the quarry operator, Mineral Planning 
Authority, Natural England and the Environment Agency. The first two review 
meetings shall be held at six monthly intervals, the first within six months after the 
date of this permission. Thereafter the review meetings will be held annually 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Mineral Planning Authority. At least 
one week before to any meeting of the Management and Monitoring Review 
Group the Site operator shall supply details of the quarry working log and water 
monitoring results to all attendees.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory working and restoration practices which do 
not prejudice nature conservation interests in accordance with policies DM01, 
MR01, DM09 and DM06 of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 
2032.

Page 194



INFORMATIVES to the applicant:
Decision is subject to a S106 Agreement legal agreement.

Net Gain 
Opportunities for further off site betterment as a way to help deliver 
environmental net gain and/or wider enhancement/protection for the Slade 
Brook SSSI should be considered and would be welcomed. This could be 
secured via a planning contribution towards a site condition report update 
programme and/or land management measures to help improve the 
catchment. 

An option for biodiversity enhancement and/or as part of net biodiversity gain, 
the applicant as part of restoration could put forward the inclusion of suitably 
open water for white-clawed crayfish habitat as an ark site, given the above. 
The ‘Ark Sites for White-Clawed Crayfish – guidance for the aggregates 
industry’, Buglife, The Invertebrate Conservation Trust should be utilised to 
help plan this habitat. 
https://www.buglife.org.uk/sites/default/files/Crayfish%20Ark%20sites%20guid
ance%20for%20the% 20aggregates%20industry.pdf....” 

Enhancement 
The most recent condition assessment for Slade Brook SSSI was completed 
in 2009. The applicant is requested to consider undertaking a condition 
assessment of the site, as a part of the stated commitment towards mitigation 
and enhancement. This would benefit the applicant by providing a baseline 
against which to assess changes and monitor whether the site is still in a 
favourable condition. 

It is felt that an approach towards net gain would use the development 
process to leave biodiversity in a better state than before the development 
started. 

Natural England/Environment Agency would strongly recommend a 
consideration of Net Gain as part of the Section 106, as a robust way of being 
able to implement this through the planning application and development 
process. 

Any approved scheme could incorporate well designed green infrastructure 
(GI) to help ensure that the development is better able to be accommodated 
within its landscape setting.

Ecology

Page 195



Advice Note - Under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the 
Weeds Act 1959 (as amended) and Ragwort Control Act 2003 (as amended) 
you may need to take action to prevent the spread of certain plants onto 
surrounding areas that could cause a nuisance. These plants include non-
native invasive species and also harmful or injurious weeds. Further 
information is available on Defra’s section of the government website currently 
at https://www.gov.uk/prevent-the-spread-ofharmful-invasive-and-non-native-
plants
.
Advice Note – If a protected species (such as any bat, great crested newt, 
dormouse, badger, reptile, barn owl or any nesting bird) is discovered using a 
feature on Site that would be affected by the development or construction 
work all activity which might affect the species at the locality should cease. If 
the discovery can be dealt with satisfactorily by the implementation of 
biodiversity mitigation measures already approved by the Mineral Planning 
Authority then these should be implemented. Otherwise a suitably qualified 
ecological consultant or Natural England should be contacted and the 
situation assessed before operations can proceed. This action is necessary to 
avoid possible prosecution and ensure compliance with the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) and the Protection of Badgers Act 
1992. This advice note should be passed on to any persons or contractors 
carrying out the development/works.

Advice Note – In relation to the County Council’s Service Level Agreement 
with the Local Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic 
conservation of countywide biodiversity, all species and habitat records from 
the ecological work commissioned from the applicant should be copied 
(preferably in electronic format) to the Gloucestershire Centre for 
Environmental Records (GCER).

The above advice is in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, ODPM Circular 06/2005, Natural England’s Standing Advice on 
protected species (as published on their website), and with Section 40 of the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 which confers a 
general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst exercising their 
functions.

Highways
Note I: The proposed development will involve works to be carried out on the 
public highway and the applicant/developer is required to enter into a legally 
binding Highway Works Agreement (including appropriate bond) with the 
Highway Authority before commencing works.

Note II: The proposed development will require the provision of a 
footway/verge crossing and the Applicant/Developer is required to obtain the 
permission of the Ringway Gloucestershire (08000 514 514) before 
commencing any works on the highway.

Page 196

https://www.gov.uk/prevent-the-spread-ofharmful-invasive-and-non-native-plants
https://www.gov.uk/prevent-the-spread-ofharmful-invasive-and-non-native-plants


Note III: You are advised to contact Ringway Gloucestershire 08000 514 514 
to discuss whether your development will require traffic management 
measures on the public highway.

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



Amended Conditions/Paragraph

Paragraph 1.10 should read 
The nearest residential properties to the proposed Extraction Area are Shop 
House Farm which its boundary lies approximately 105 metres to the north of 
the Phase 1 boundary and approximately 170m to the Shop House (dwelling) 
and approximately 105 metres from the Phase 2 boundary and approximately 
220m to the dwelling. Longley Farm lies approximately 220 metres from the 
Phase 1 boundary.

The MPA wishes to amend condition 59 and 61 for Planning application 
17/0122/FDMAJM being considered at July Planning Committee

Condition 59 currently reads as follows:

Perimeter Screening Bunds
Prior to commencement of development, details including cross sections of 
the screening bunds as shown on approved Plan No: 251L-01-06 shall be 
submitted to the Mineral Planning Authority for written approval and 
constructed as approved prior to commencement of mineral extraction in the 
Extension Area hereby permitted. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory management of the landscape and 
biodiversity features in accordance with Mineral Local Plan Policies DM01, 
DM06 and DM09.

The MPA recommend that condition 59 is amended as follows:

Perimeter Screening Bunds
Prior to commencement of development, details including the location of the 
perimeter bunds and cross sections of the screening bunds as shown on 
Plans  251L-01-06 and 251L-01-07 shall be submitted to the Mineral Planning 
Authority for written approval and constructed as approved prior to 
commencement of mineral extraction in the Extension Area hereby permitted. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory management of the landscape and 
biodiversity features in accordance with Mineral Local Plan Policies DM01, 
DM06 and DM09.

Condition 61 currently reads as follows:

The approved perimeter screening bunds shown in drawings 251L-01-06 shall 
be located at least 150 metres away from the boundary of Shop House Farm. 

Reason: to ensure appropriate screening to adjoining residential properties 
and potential receptors on PROW in accordance with Policy DM09 of the 

Page 199



Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

The MPA recommends that condition 61 is amended to read as follows:

The approved perimeter screening bunds shown in drawings 251L-01-06 shall 
be located at least 150 metres away from Shop House Farm. 

Reason: to ensure appropriate screening to adjoining residential properties 
and potential receptors on PROW in accordance with Policy DM09 of the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 2018 – 2032.

Page 200


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 APPLICATION NO: 17/0122/FDMAJM      Site: Clearwell Quarries Ltd, Stowe, St Briavels, Lydney, GL15 6QW
	Amended Conditions Reports


